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$71,530,000 
CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 

GENERAL OBLIGATION PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING BONDS 
SERIES 2017A 

 
Serial Bonds 

 
April 1 

Maturity 
 

Principal 
  Amount   

Interest 
Rate 

 
Yield 

CUSIP 
Number* 

2022 $3,765,000 5.000% 1.650% 927734 G31 
2023 7,080,000 5.000 1.720 927734 G49 
2024 7,135,000 5.000 1.810 927734 G56 
2025 7,180,000 5.000 1.880 927734 G64 
2026 7,225,000 5.000 1.940 927734 G72 
2027 7,245,000 5.000 2.040 927734 G80 
2028 7,275,000 5.000 2.140 927734 G98 
2029 7,305,000 5.000 2.200** 927734 H22 
2030 7,315,000 5.000 2.270** 927734 H30 
2031 7,310,000 2.875 2.880 927734 H48 
2032 2,695,000 3.000 3.010 927734 H55 

     
**Priced to the first optional redemption date of April 1, 2028. 

 
 

Summary of Optional Redemption Provisions 
 

The Series 2017A Bonds maturing on and after April 1, 2029 are subject to redemption at the 
option of the City, in whole or in part, on any date on and after April 1, 2028 at the redemption price of 
100% of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, plus interest accrued to the redemption date.  See 
“Redemption” in Section Two. 

 
 

                                                 
* A registered trademark of the American Bankers Association (“ABA”), used by Standard & Poor’s in its operation of the 
CUSIP Service Bureau for the ABA.  The above CUSIP (Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures) numbers 
have been assigned by an organization not affiliated with the City, and the City is not responsible for the selection or use of the 
CUSIP numbers.  The CUSIP numbers are included solely for the convenience of bondholders and no representation is made as 
to the correctness of such CUSIP numbers.  CUSIP numbers assigned to securities may be changed during the term of such 
securities based on a number of factors including, but not limited to, the refunding or defeasance of such securities or the use of 
secondary market financial products.  The City has not agreed to, and there is no duty or obligation to, update this Official 
Statement to reflect any change or correction in the CUSIP numbers set forth above. 
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 The Bonds will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  As 
obligations of a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, the Bonds will also be exempt 
from registration under the securities laws of Virginia. 
 
 No dealer, broker, salesman, or other person has been authorized by the City to give any 
information to or make any representations with respect to the City, or the Bonds issued thereby, other 
than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other information or 
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City.  This Official Statement 
does not constitute an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any 
jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. 
 
 All quotations from and summaries and explanations of provisions of law and documents herein 
do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete 
statements of their provisions. Any statements made in this Official Statement involving estimates or 
matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates or matters of 
opinion, and not as representations of fact.  The information and expression of opinion herein are subject 
to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder 
shall, under any circumstances, create any implications that there has been no change in the affairs of the 
City since the respective dates as of which information is given herein. 
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
$71,530,000  

GENERAL OBLIGATION PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING 
BONDS, SERIES 2017A 

SECTION ONE:  INTRODUCTION 

 The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page and Appendices, is to furnish 
information in connection with the sale by the City of Virginia Beach, Virginia (the “City” or “Virginia 
Beach”) of  its $71,530,000 General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2017A (the 
“Bonds”), dated the date of their delivery. Issuance of the Bonds has been authorized by the City Council 
of the City of Virginia Beach (the “City Council”) as described herein.  This information speaks as of its 
date and is not intended to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial or economic position of the 
City.  The following material is qualified in its entirety by the detailed information and financial 
statements appearing elsewhere in this Official Statement, reference to which is hereby made for all 
purposes. 

The City 

 The issuer of the Bonds is the City of Virginia Beach, which is located in the southeastern portion 
of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”).  Virginia Beach is the most populous city in 
the Commonwealth, with a population of 453,628 according to the July 1, 2016 estimate of the Weldon 
Cooper Center for Public Service.  Additional information concerning the City can be found in Sections 
Two, Three, Four and Five.  The audited financial statements for the City for the Fiscal Year ended June 
30, 2017, are set forth in Appendix A hereto.  

The Bonds 

 The Bonds are dated the date of their delivery.  The Bonds mature annually on April 1 from 2022 
through 2032.  The Bonds will be held by The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), or its nominee, as 
securities depository with respect to the Bonds.    
 
 Interest on the Bonds will be payable on each April 1 and October 1, commencing April 1, 2018, 
until their respective maturities or prior redemption.  As long as the Bonds are held by DTC or its 
nominee, interest will be paid to Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, in same day funds on each interest 
payment date. 
 
 The Bonds are subject to optional redemption prior to maturity at the option of the City upon the 
terms provided in the Resolution and described herein. 
 
 For further information regarding the Bonds, the book-entry system for the registration and 
transfer of the Bonds, the optional redemption provisions of the Bonds and tax status of the Bonds, see 
Section Two. 

Security for the Bonds 

 The Bonds will be general obligations of the City to which the full faith and credit of the City will 
be pledged for payment.  For further information regarding the security for the Bonds, see “Security and 
Sources of Payment for the Bonds” in Section Two. 
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Use of Proceeds 

Proceeds of the Bonds will be used to refund certain previously issued general obligation bonds 
of the City herein described and may also be used to pay a portion of the costs of issuance of the Bonds.  
See “Authorization and Purpose of the Bonds” in Section Two for a more complete description of the 
authorization and purpose of the Bonds. 

Redemption 

The Bonds maturing on and after April 1, 2029 are subject to redemption at the option of the City, 
in whole or in part, on any date on and after April 1, 2028 at the redemption price of 100% of the 
principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus interest accrued to the redemption date.   
 

See “Redemption” in Section Two for a more complete description of the redemption provisions 
of the Bonds. 

Tax Exemption 

Under current law, interest on the Bonds will be exempt or excludable from income taxation by 
the Commonwealth of Virginia and the United States of America.  See “Tax Exemption” in Section Two 
for a more complete description of the significant elements of the federal and state income tax status of 
interest on the Bonds. 

Bond Counsel 

Kutak Rock LLP, Richmond, Virginia, serves as Bond Counsel to the City in connection with the 
issuance of the Bonds.  The opinion of Bond Counsel will be dated and given on, and will speak only as 
of, the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds.  The proposed form of Bond Counsel’s opinion is 
attached as Appendix B. 

 
The scope of engagement of Bond Counsel does not extend to passing upon or assuming 

responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of any statements made in this Official Statement other than 
matters expressly set forth in the opinion of Bond Counsel.  Bond Counsel makes no representation that it 
has independently verified the same. 

Financial Advisor 

Public Resources Advisory Group serves as independent financial advisor to the City in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  The financial advisor’s fee for services rendered with respect 
to the sale of the Bonds is not contingent upon the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. 

Auditors 

The City’s financial statements for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2017 are attached as 
Appendix A to this Official Statement and have been audited by the independent public accounting firm 
of CliftonLarsonAllen LLP.  These financial statements, together with the related Notes to Financial 
Statements, are intended to provide a broad overview of the financial position and operating results of the 
City’s governmental activities, business-type activities and major funds.  Such financial statements have 
been included in reliance upon the report of CliftonLarsonAllen LLP., who will not be reviewing any 
matters in this Official Statement or otherwise in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 
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Ratings 

The City has applied and received ratings from Fitch Ratings, 33 Whitehall Street, New York, 
New York 10004, Moody’s Investors Service, 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, 
New York 10007, and S&P Global Ratings, a division of McGraw-Hill Financial, Inc., 55 Water Street, 
New York, New York 10041, as shown on the front cover.  See “Ratings” in Section Two for a more 
complete description of the ratings. 

Investment Policies and Practices 

The City, as a political subdivision of the Commonwealth, is limited to investments permitted by 
Section 2.2-4500 et seq. of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended.  In addition, various bond 
resolutions further restrict the types of allowable investments.  The City’s investment practices are 
generally described in footnote 8 of the City’s financial statements, attached as Appendix A.  More detail 
on the City’s investment practices is provided in Section Five. 

Official Statement 

This Official Statement has been approved and authorized by the City for use in connection with 
the sale of the Bonds.  Its purpose is to supply information to prospective buyers of the Bonds.  Financial 
and other information contained in this Official Statement has been prepared by the City from its records, 
except where other sources are noted.  The information is not intended to indicate future or continuing 
trends in the financial or economic position of the City. 

Continuing Disclosure 

The City has agreed to execute a Continuing Disclosure Agreement at closing to assist the 
successful bidder in complying with the provisions of Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule 15c2-12”), promulgated 
by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and as in effect on the date hereof, by providing 
annual financial information and event notices required by Rule 15c2-12.  The City has established 
procedures to monitor compliance with its continuing disclosure undertaking.  See “Continuing 
Disclosure” in Section Two and see the proposed form of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement attached 
as Appendix C. 

Post-Issuance Compliance 

 In compliance with Internal Revenue Service recommended practices, the City has established 
procedures to monitor compliance after the issuance of the Bonds and other tax-advantaged obligations 
with Federal tax law requirements related to the qualified use of bond proceeds and property financed 
with such proceeds and requirements related to arbitrage yield restriction and rebate.  See “Post-Issuance 
Compliance” in Section Two. 

Verification of Mathematical Computations 

The arithmetical accuracy of certain computations made in connection with the general obligation 
bonds to be refunded shown on Appendix E (the “Refunded Bonds”) and included in supporting 
schedules have been verified by Samuel Klein and Company, Certified Public Accountants (the 
“Verification Agent”) relating to (i) computations of forecasted receipts of principal and interest on the 
investments in the Government Obligations (herein defined) and cash deposited in the escrow fund 
established for the Refunded Bonds and the scheduled payments of principal, interest and premium 
required to redeem the Refunded Bonds, and (ii) computation of the yield on the Bonds and the related 
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Government Obligations.  Such computations are based solely on assumptions and information supplied 
by the City’s financial advisor, Public Resources Advisory Group.  The Verification Agent restricted its 
procedures to verifying the arithmetical accuracy of certain computations and did not make any study or 
evaluation of the assumptions and information on which the computations are based and, accordingly, did 
not express an opinion on the data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions or the achievability of the 
forecasted outcome. 

Additional Information 

Any questions concerning the contents of this Official Statement should be directed to the 
following:  Department of Finance, Municipal Center, Virginia Beach, Virginia, 23456 (757) 385-4681; 
or the City's financial advisor, Public Resources Advisory Group (212) 566-7800. 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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SECTION TWO:  THE BONDS 

General Description of the Bonds 

 The Bonds will be issued in the aggregate principal amount of $71,530,000.  The Bonds will be 
dated the date of their issuance and delivery.  The Bonds will mature on April 1 from 2022 through 2032.  
The Bonds will be registered as to principal and interest in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, 
or otherwise as hereinafter described.  Beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds will be available only 
in book-entry form.  Beneficial Owners (as hereinafter defined) will not receive physical bond certificates 
representing their interests in the Bonds purchased.  So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered 
owner of the Bonds, references in this Official Statement to the owners of the Bonds shall mean DTC or 
its nominee and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners.  The Resolution contains provisions applicable to 
periods when DTC or its nominee is not the registered owner. 
 
 As long as the Bonds are held by DTC or its nominee, interest will be paid to Cede & Co., as 
nominee of DTC, in same day funds on each interest payment date.  Interest on the Bonds will be payable 
April 1, 2018 and on each April 1 and October 1 thereafter until their respective maturities or earlier 
redemption by check or draft mailed to the registered owners at their addresses as they appear on the 
registration books on the March 15 and September 15 immediately preceding each interest payment date.  
If any such interest payment date is not a business day, such payment will be made on the next succeeding 
business day with the same effect as if made on the interest payment date, and no additional interest will 
accrue.  The registration books are kept by the City Treasurer, who has been appointed paying agent and 
registrar (the “Registrar”).  Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day 
months. 

Redemption 

 Optional Redemption.  The Bonds maturing on or before April 1, 2028 are not subject to 
redemption prior to maturity.  The Bonds maturing on or after April 1, 2029, are subject to redemption 
beginning April 1, 2028, in whole or in part (in any multiple of $5,000) at any time, at the option of the 
City, upon payment of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed plus interest accrued 
and unpaid to the date fixed for redemption.   

 Selection of Bonds for Redemption.  If less than all of the Bonds are called for optional 
redemption, the maturities of the Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by the City’s Director of Finance 
in such manner as may be determined to be in the best interest of the City.  If less than all of the Bonds of 
a particular maturity are called for redemption, DTC or any successor securities depository will select the 
Bonds to be redeemed pursuant to its rules and procedures or, if the book-entry system is discontinued, 
the Bonds to be redeemed will be selected by the Registrar by lot in such manner as the Registrar in its 
discretion may determine.  In either case, each portion of the $5,000 principal amount is counted as one 
Bond for such purpose.  If a portion of a Bond is called for redemption, a new Bond in principal amount 
equal to the unredeemed portion shall be issued to the registered owner upon the surrender thereof. 

 Notice of Redemption.  The City will cause notice of the call for redemption identifying the 
Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed to be sent by electronic transmission, facsimile transmission, 
registered or certified mail or overnight express delivery, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to 
the redemption date, to the registered owner thereof.  The City shall not be responsible for providing 
notice of redemption to anyone other than DTC or another qualified securities depository or its nominee 
unless no qualified securities depository is the registered owner of the Bonds.  If no qualified securities 
depository is the registered owner of the Bonds, notice of redemption shall be mailed to the registered 
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owners of the Bonds.  The City will also cause notice of redemption to be posted on EMMA (as 
hereinafter defined). 

Book-Entry System 

 A description of DTC, of procedures and record keeping on beneficial ownership interests in the 
Bonds, payment of interest and other payments on the Bonds to DTC Participants (as hereinafter defined) 
or to Beneficial Owners, confirmation and transfer of beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds and 
other transactions by and between DTC, DTC Participants and Beneficial Owners is attached as 
Appendix D and is based on information furnished by DTC. 

Authorization and Purpose of the Bonds 

The Bonds are authorized by a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City on December 
12, 2017 (the “Resolution”), and will be used to refund and redeem in advance of their stated maturities 
the Refunded Bonds shown in Appendix E.  Proceeds of the Bonds may also be used to pay costs of 
issuance of the Bonds. The Refunded Bonds are subject to change based on market conditions.  The 
refunding will be accomplished by depositing in an escrow fund (the “Escrow Fund”), with U.S. Bank 
National Association, as escrow agent (the “Escrow Agent”), cash and/or noncallable obligations of the 
United States government (“Government Obligations”) sufficient to pay all principal, interest and 
premium when due on such Refunded Bonds through and until the date that they are irrevocably called 
for redemption by the City.  See Appendix E for a summary of maturities, principal amounts, redemption 
dates and redemption prices for bonds constituting the Refunded Bonds.  Upon deposit of such amounts 
in the Escrow Fund, such Refunded Bonds will no longer constitute outstanding obligations of the City, 
but will be payable solely from the Escrow Fund. 

Security for and Sources of Payment for the Bonds 

 Pledge of Full Faith and Credit.  The Bonds will be general obligations of the City to which the 
full faith and credit of the City are irrevocably pledged for the payment of principal of and interest on the 
Bonds.  Section 15.2-2624 of the Virginia Code requires, and the Resolution provides, that the City 
Council will, in each year while any of the Bonds are outstanding, levy and collect an ad valorem tax, 
over and above all other taxes authorized or limited by law and without limitation as to the rate or 
amount, upon all property in the City subject to local taxation, sufficient to pay the principal of and 
interest on the Bonds as the same shall come due, unless other funds are lawfully available and 
appropriated for timely payment of the Bonds. 

 Bondholders’ Remedies in the Event of Default.  Section 15.2-2659 of the Virginia Code 
provides that upon affidavit filed with the Governor of Virginia by or on behalf of any owner of a general 
obligation bond, or by any paying agent therefor, in default as to payment of principal or interest, the 
Governor shall immediately conduct a summary investigation.  If it is established to the Governor’s 
satisfaction that payment of the bond or interest thereon is in default, the Governor shall order the State 
Comptroller to withhold all funds appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth to the political 
subdivision so in default and apply the amount so withheld to payment of the defaulted principal and 
interest. 

 Section 15.2-2659 also provides for notice to the registered owners of such bonds of the default 
and the availability of withheld funds.  The State Comptroller advises that to date no order to withhold 
funds pursuant to Section 15.1-227.61 or Section 15.1-225, the predecessor provisions of 15.2-2659, has 
ever been issued.  Although Section 15.2-2659 has not been approved by a Virginia Court, the Attorney 
General of Virginia has ruled that appropriated funds may be withheld by the Commonwealth pursuant to 
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its predecessor section.  In the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2017, the Commonwealth provided 
$204,822,326 to the City, not including its discretely presented component units, of which $157,279,575 
was deposited in the City’s General Fund. 
 
 Neither the Bonds nor the proceedings with respect thereto specifically provide any remedies to 
Bondholders if the City defaults in the payment of principal of or interest thereon, nor do they contain any 
provision for the appointment of a trustee to enforce the interest of the Bondholders upon the occurrence 
of such a default.  Upon any default in the payment of principal or interest, a Bondholder could, among 
other things, seek to obtain from an appropriate court a writ of mandamus requiring the City Council to 
levy and collect taxes as described above.  The mandamus remedy, however, may be impracticable and 
difficult to enforce.  Furthermore, the right to enforce payment of the Bonds may be limited by 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and similar laws and equitable principles, which 
may limit the specific enforcement of certain remedies. 
 
 Chapter 9 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) permits a municipality 
such as the City, if insolvent or otherwise unable to pay its debts as they become due, to file a voluntary 
petition for the adjustment of debts provided that such municipality is “specifically authorized, in its 
capacity as a municipality or by name, to be a debtor....” Bankruptcy Code, Section 109(c)(2).  Current 
Virginia statutes do not expressly authorize the City or municipalities generally to file for bankruptcy 
under Chapter 9.  Chapter 9 does not authorize the filing of involuntary petitions against municipalities 
such as the City. 
 
 Bankruptcy proceedings by the City could have adverse effects on Bondholders including (a) 
delay in the enforcement of their remedies, (b) subordination of their claims to claims of those supplying 
goods and services to the City after the initiation of bankruptcy proceedings and to the administrative 
expenses of bankruptcy proceedings, and (c) imposition without their consent of a reorganization plan 
reducing or delaying payment of the Bonds.  The Bankruptcy Code contains provisions intended to ensure 
that, in any reorganization plan not accepted by at least a majority of a class of creditors such as the 
holders of general obligation bonds, such creditors will have the benefit of their original claims or the 
“indubitable equivalent.”  The effect of these and other provisions of the Bankruptcy Code cannot be 
predicted and may be significantly affected by judicial interpretations. 

Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds 

 The proceeds of the Bonds, exclusive of other available funds of the City, are to be used as 
follows: 
 

Sources of Funds:  
  

Par Amount  $71,530,000.00 
Net Original Issue Premium  13,599,307.20 

Total Sources of Funds $85,129,307.20 
  
Use of Funds:  

  
Escrow Fund $84,900,654.55 
Underwriter’s Compensation  227,037.01 
Issuance Costs             1,615.64 

Total Uses of Funds $85,129,307.20 
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Litigation 

 Concerning the Bonds.  According to the City Attorney, there is no litigation of any kind now 
pending or, to the best of his information, knowledge and belief, threatened against the City to restrain or 
enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Bonds or in any manner questioning the proceedings and authority 
under which the Bonds are issued or affecting the ability of the City to levy or collect ad valorem taxes 
without limitation as to rate or amount for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds. 

 General Fund.  The City is a named defendant in various litigation matters filed by parties 
concerning alleged personal injuries, property damage and other causes of action which are being 
vigorously defended by the City.  In the opinion of the City Attorney, none of the pending litigation, if 
decided adversely to the City, would materially affect the City’s financial position. 

Legal Matters 

 Certain legal matters relating to the authorization and validity of the Bonds will be subject to the 
approving opinion of Kutak Rock LLP, Richmond, Virginia, as Bond Counsel, which will be furnished at 
the expense of the City upon delivery of the Bonds, in substantially the form set forth as Appendix B.  
Bond Counsel’s opinion will be limited to matters relating to authorization and validity of the Bonds and 
to the tax-exempt status of interest thereon as described below in the section “Tax Exemption.”  Bond 
Counsel has not been engaged to investigate the financial resources of the City or its ability to provide for 
payment of the Bonds.  Bond Counsel’s opinion will make no statement as to such matters or as to the 
accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any other information that may have been relied on 
by anyone in making the decision to purchase Bonds. 

Tax Exemption 

 Opinion of Bond Counsel.  The scope of engagement of Bond Counsel does not extend to 
passing upon or assuming responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of any statements made in this 
Official Statement other than matters expressly set forth in Bond Counsel’s opinion, and Bond Counsel 
makes no representation that it has independently verified the same.  The opinion of Bond Counsel will be 
dated and given on, and will speak only as of, the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds. 

General. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing laws, regulations, rulings and judicial 
decisions, interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is 
not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. The opinions described 
in the preceding sentence assume the accuracy of certain representations and compliance by the City with 
covenants designed to satisfy the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”), that must be met subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds. Failure to comply with such 
requirements could cause interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The City has covenanted to comply with such 
requirements. Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising 
with respect to the Bonds. 
 

Notwithstanding Bond Counsel's opinion that interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference 
item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax, such interest will be included in adjusted 
current earnings of certain corporations, and such corporations are required to include in the calculation of 
alternative minimum taxable income 75% of the excess of such corporations' adjusted current earnings 
over their alternative minimum taxable income (determined without regard to such adjustment and prior 
to reduction for certain net operating losses).  
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In order to comply with the requirements of the Code, the City will execute and deliver a Non-
Arbitrage and Tax Compliance Certificate (“Tax Agreement”) on the date of delivery of the Bonds. The 
covenants and agreements in the Tax Agreement are designed to satisfy the requirements of Section 103 
and Sections 141 through 150, inclusive, of the Code, and the income tax regulations issued thereunder. 
However, Bond Counsel assumes no responsibility for, and will not monitor, compliance with the 
covenants and agreements in the Tax Agreement. In the event of noncompliance with such covenants and 
agreements, the available enforcement remedies may be limited by applicable provisions of law and, 
therefore, may not be adequate to prevent interest on the Bonds from becoming includable in gross 
income for federal income tax purposes. 
 

The accrual or receipt of interest on the Bonds may otherwise affect the federal income tax 
liability of the owners of Bonds. The extent of these other tax consequences will depend upon such 
owner's particular tax status and other items of income or deduction. Bond Counsel has expressed no 
opinion regarding any such consequences. Purchasers of the Bonds, particularly purchasers that are 
corporations (including S corporations and foreign corporations operating branches in the United States), 
property or casualty insurance companies, banks, thrifts or other financial institutions, certain recipients 
of social security or railroad retirement benefits, taxpayers otherwise entitled to claim the earned income 
credit, taxpayers entitled to claim the refundable credit in Section 36B of the Code for coverage under a 
qualified health plan or taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to 
purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations, should consult their tax advisors as to the tax consequences of 
purchasing or owning the Bonds. 
 

Original Issue Discount.  The Bonds that have an original yield above their respective interest 
rates, as shown on the inside cover of this Official Statement (collectively, the “Discount Bonds”), are 
being sold at an original issue discount.  The difference between the initial public offering prices of such 
Discount Bonds and their stated amounts to be paid at maturity constitutes original issue discount treated 
in the same manner for federal income tax purposes as interest, as described above. 

The amount of original issue discount that is treated as having accrued with respect to a Discount 
Bond is added to the cost basis of the owner of the bond in determining, for federal income tax purposes, 
gain or loss upon disposition of such Discount Bond (including its sale, redemption or payment at 
maturity).  Amounts received upon disposition of such Discount Bond that are attributable to accrued 
original issue discount will be treated as tax-exempt interest, rather than as taxable gain, for federal 
income tax purposes. 

Original issue discount is treated as compounding semiannually, at a rate determined by reference 
to the yield to maturity of each individual Discount Bond, on days that are determined by reference to the 
maturity date of such Discount Bond.  The amount treated as original issue discount on such Discount 
Bond for a particular semiannual accrual period is equal to (a) the product of (i) the yield to maturity for 
such Discount Bond (determined by compounding at the close of each accrual period) and (ii) the amount 
that would have been the tax basis of such Discount Bond at the beginning of the particular accrual period 
if held by the original purchaser, (b) less the amount of any interest payable for such Discount Bond 
during the accrual period.  The tax basis for purposes of the preceding sentence is determined by adding 
to the initial public offering price on such Discount Bond the sum of the amounts that have been treated 
as original issue discount for such purposes during all prior periods.  If such Discount Bond is sold 
between semiannual compounding dates, original issue discount that would have been accrued for that 
semiannual compounding period for federal income tax purposes is to be apportioned in equal amounts 
among the days in such compounding period.   

Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their tax advisors with respect to the determination and 
treatment of original issue discount accrued as of any date and with respect to the state and local tax 
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consequences of owning a Discount Bond.  Subsequent purchasers of Discount Bonds that purchase such 
bonds for a price that is higher or lower than the “adjusted issue price” of the bonds at the time of 
purchase should consult their tax advisors as to the effect on the accrual of original issue discount. 

Original Issue Premium.  The Bonds that have an original yield below their respective interest 
rates, as shown on the inside cover of this Official Statement (collectively, the “Premium Bonds”), are 
being sold at a premium.  An amount equal to the excess of the issue price of a Premium Bond over its 
stated redemption price at maturity constitutes premium on such Premium Bond.  A purchaser of a 
Premium Bond must amortize any premium over such Premium Bond’s term using constant yield 
principles, based on the purchaser’s yield to maturity (or, in the case of Premium Bonds callable prior to 
their maturity, generally by amortizing the premium to the call date, based on the purchaser’s yield to the 
call date and giving effect to any call premium).  As premium is amortized, the amount of the 
amortization offsets a corresponding amount of interest for the period, and the purchaser’s basis in such 
Premium Bond is reduced by a corresponding amount resulting in an increase in the gain (or decrease in 
the loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes upon a sale or disposition of such Premium 
Bond prior to its maturity.  Even though the purchaser’s basis may be reduced, no federal income tax 
deduction is allowed.  Purchasers of the Premium Bonds should consult their tax advisors with respect to 
the determination and treatment of premium for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state 
and local tax consequences of owning a Premium Bond. 

Backup Withholding.  As a result of the enactment of the Tax Increase Prevention and 
Reconciliation Act of 2005, interest on tax-exempt obligations such as the Bonds is subject to information 
reporting in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations.  Backup withholding may be 
imposed on payments to any owner of the Bonds that fails to provide certain required information 
including an accurate taxpayer identification number to any person required to collect such information 
pursuant to Section 6049 of the Code.  The reporting requirement does not in and of itself affect or alter 
the excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes or any other 
federal tax consequence of purchasing, holding or selling tax-exempt obligations. 

Virginia Income Taxation.  In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, interest on the Bonds is exempt from income taxation by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia. Interest on the Bonds may be subject to state or local income taxes in jurisdictions other than 
the Commonwealth of Virginia under applicable state or local tax laws. Prospective purchasers of the 
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of 
ownership of the Bonds, including the taxable status of the Bonds and the interest payable on such 
obligations in a particular state or local jurisdiction other than the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

Changes in Federal and State Tax Law.  From time to time, there are legislative proposals in 
the Congress and in the states that, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal and state tax matters 
referred to herein or adversely affect the market value of the Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether or in 
what form any such proposal might be enacted or whether if enacted it would apply to bonds issued prior 
to enactment. In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time announced or proposed and litigation is 
threatened or commenced which, if implemented or concluded in a particular manner, could adversely 
affect the market value of the Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether any such regulatory action will be 
implemented, how any particular litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or whether the Bonds or the 
market value thereof would be impacted thereby. Purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax 
advisors regarding any pending or proposed legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation. The opinions 
expressed by Bond Counsel are based upon existing legislation and regulations as interpreted by relevant 
judicial and regulatory authorities as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds, and Bond Counsel 
has expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent thereto or with respect to any pending legislation, 
regulatory initiatives or litigation. 
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Ratings 

Fitch Ratings, 33 Whitehall Street, New York, New York 10004, Moody’s Investors Service, 
7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007, and S&P Global Ratings, a 
division of McGraw-Hill Financial, Inc., 55 Water Street, New York, New York 10041, have given the 
Bonds the ratings of “AAA” (stable outlook), “Aaa” (stable outlook) and “AAA” (stable outlook), 
respectively.  The City requested that the Bonds be rated and furnished certain information to Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, including certain information that may not be included in this Official 
Statement. 

Each rating reflects only the view of such organization and any desired explanation of the 
significance of any ratings should be obtained from the respective rating agency. Generally, a rating 
agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and 
assumptions of its own.  The rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Bonds and should be 
evaluated independently.  There is no assurance such rating will continue for any given period of time or 
that such rating will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the rating agency, if in the 
judgment of such rating agency, circumstances so warrant.  Any such downward revision or withdrawal 
of such rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. 

Sale at Competitive Bidding 

The Bonds were offered for sale at competitive bidding at 10:30 a.m., Eastern Time, on 
December 19, 2017.  The Bonds were awarded to the winning bidder, Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC (the 
“Underwriter”).  The Underwriter has supplied the information as to the public offering yields of the 
Bonds as set forth on the inside cover.  If all of the Bonds are resold to the public at such yields, the 
Underwriter has informed the City that it anticipates a total underwriting compensation of $227,037.01.  
The Underwriter may change the public offering yields from time to time. 

Certificates of City Officials 

 Concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds, the City will furnish to the successful bidder (a) a 
certificate dated the date of delivery of the Bonds, signed by the appropriate City officials and stating that 
no litigation of any kind is then pending or, to the best of their information, knowledge and belief, 
threatened against the City to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Bonds or the levy or 
collection of ad valorem taxes, over and above all other taxes authorized or limited by law and without 
limitation as to rate or amount on all locally taxable property within the City sufficient to pay when due 
the principal of or interest on the Bonds, or in any manner questioning the proceedings and authority 
under which the Bonds are issued, and (b) a certificate dated the date of delivery of the Bonds, stating that 
the descriptions and statements in this Official Statement (except in Appendix D, in the section above 
entitled “Tax Exemption,” in the section above entitled “Litigation,” and in the information as to 
prices/yields and CUSIP numbers on the inside cover page), on the date of this Official Statement and on 
the date of delivery of the Bonds, were and are true and correct in all material respects, did not and do not 
contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein 
or necessary to make such descriptions and statements, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading, and that no material adverse change has occurred in the financial condition of 
the City between the date of this Official Statement and the date of delivery of the Bonds other than as 
contemplated in this Official Statement. Such certificate will also state, however, that such City officials 
did not independently verify the information indicated in this Official Statement as having been obtained 
or derived from sources other than the City and its officers, but that they have no reason to believe that 
such information is not accurate. 
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 The City Attorney also will furnish to the successful bidder concurrently with the delivery of the 
Bonds a certificate dated the date of delivery of the Bonds, stating that the statements in the section above 
entitled “Litigation” on the date of this Official Statement and on the date of delivery of the Bonds were 
and are true and correct in all material respects and did not and do not contain an untrue statement of a 
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make such 
statements, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

Legality of the Bonds for Investment 

 The Act provides that bonds issued by the City under the Act are obligations in which public 
officers and bodies of the Commonwealth, counties, cities and towns and municipal subdivisions of the 
Commonwealth, insurance companies and associations, savings banks, savings institutions, savings and 
loan associations, trust companies, beneficial and benevolent associations, administrators, guardians, 
executors, trustees and other fiduciaries in the Commonwealth may properly and legally invest funds 
under their control.  

Continuing Disclosure 

 To assist the winning bidder in complying with the provisions of Rule 15c2-12, the City has 
agreed to execute a continuing disclosure agreement to provide certain annual financial information and 
event notices required by Rule 15c2-12 (collectively, “Continuing Disclosure”) and has established 
written procedures described below under “Post-Issuance Compliance” to ensure compliance.  A form of 
that agreement is attached as Appendix C.  As set forth in Appendix C, such undertaking requires the 
City to provide only limited information at specified times and does not require it to disclose all 
information that may affect the value of the Bonds.  The City may choose to make additional information 
available from time to time, but has no obligation to do so. 
 
 The City is required to file its annual Continuing Disclosure and any event notice with the 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”).  The MSRB designated its Electronic Municipal 
Market Access (“EMMA”) system as the repository for Continuing Disclosures filings. Bondholders will 
be able to access Continuing Disclosure filings with the MSRB at www.emma.msrb.org. 
 
 As described more fully in Appendix C, any Bondholder may take steps to enforce the obligation 
of the City to provide Continuing Disclosure, but any failure by the City under its obligation will not 
result in an event of default under the Bonds. 
 
 Investors and other interested parties may contact the MSRB for additional information 
concerning its services.  The City makes no representation as to the scope of the services provided to the 
secondary market by the MSRB or as to the costs for the provision of such services by the MSRB. 

Post-Issuance Compliance 

 In voluntary compliance with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) pronouncements  
recommending and encouraging municipal issuers of tax-exempt and other tax-advantaged obligations to 
adopt written procedures to monitor compliance with federal tax law requirements post issuance to ensure 
that such obligations maintain their favorable tax status for as long as they remain outstanding, the City 
Council adopted a resolution on March 13, 2012 directing the City Manager and Director of Finance to 
establish written procedures to fulfill the post-issuance compliance practices recommended by the IRS 
which also included direction to establish procedures for compliance with the City’s Continuing 
Disclosure undertakings. Such federal tax law procedures have been established and are designed to 
ensure that bond proceeds are used for qualified purposes, property financed with such proceeds will be 
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used initially and will continue to be used for qualified purposes, and to ensure compliance with arbitrage 
yield restriction and rebate requirements.  The tax compliance procedures also establish remedial actions 
to be taken upon the discovery of a non-qualifying use of bond proceeds or bond-financed property or 
noncompliance with requirements related to arbitrage yield restriction and rebate.  With respect to 
Continuing Disclosure compliance, procedures have been established which provide a monitoring process 
to ensure timely and complete filing of the information required under all of the City’s Continuing 
Disclosure undertakings. 
 

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]  
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SECTION THREE:  CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING7 
THE CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 

Introduction 

The present City of Virginia Beach, Virginia was formed on January 1, 1963, by the merger of 
Princess Anne County and the former smaller City of Virginia Beach.  This merger created one of the 
largest cities in the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”) with an area of 310 square miles 
and 38 miles of shore-line on the Atlantic Ocean and the Chesapeake Bay.  The City covers the entire 
eastern border of Virginia south of the Delmarva Peninsula and includes all of the area from the 
Chesapeake Bay to the North Carolina border. 

 
The City has the largest population of any city in Virginia with a population of 453,628 according 

to the July 1, 2016 estimate of the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service.  As a city on the eastern 
seaboard, Virginia Beach has always been known as a resort community.  The strength of the City’s 
economy, however, lies in its diversification.  Construction/real estate, light industry, “high-tech” 
services, wholesale and retail sales, agriculture, four major military bases, and resort and convention trade 
are the major aspects of the economy.  The City encourages and supports this diversification. 

 
Virginia Beach is an independent, full-service city with sole local governmental taxing power 

within its boundaries. It derives its governing authority from its City Charter granted by the General 
Assembly of the Commonwealth.  The governing body of the City is the City Council, which formulates 
policies for the administration of the City.  The current City Charter provides for a Council-Manager form 
of government. 

 
There is no overlapping debt or taxing powers with other political subdivisions.  The water and 

sewage and storm water systems are operated on a self-supporting basis. 
 
The Executive Offices are located at the Municipal Center, Virginia Beach, Virginia 23456, 

telephone number (757) 385-4242.  The telephone number for the Finance Department is (757) 385-4681. 

Certain Elected Officials 

The City operates under the Council-Manager form of government as established by its City 
Charter.  There is an 11-member City Council vested with local legislative powers. Each member of the 
City Council is elected on an “at large” basis; however, seven seats must be filled by individuals who 
reside in the seven residence districts of the City.  The City Charter was amended in 1995 to provide that 
the City’s seven boroughs would be replaced by these approximately equally populated residence 
districts.  There is no district residency requirement for the remaining four seats.  The Mayor is elected by 
the voters and occupies one of these four seats. The City Council elects a Vice-Mayor from among its 
members.  All members of the City Council are elected for four-year terms. 

 
The City Manager is the administrative head of the municipal government and carries out the 

policies of the City Council. The City Manager is appointed by the City Council and serves at the 
pleasure of the City Council. 

 
The City Council also appoints members to certain boards, commissions, and authorities as it 

deems necessary to the operation of the City. 
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School Board 

The School Board is made up of 11 members.  Seven seats must be filled on the School Board by 
individuals who reside in the seven respective residence districts of the City but each of the eleven elected 
School Board members are elected by the voters of the City at large.  The School Board members serve 
four-year terms.  The School Board exercises all of the powers conferred and performs all of the duties 
imposed upon them by general law. 

Elected Officials 

William D. Sessoms, Jr., Mayor  
 

President and CEO of Towne Financial Services Group from 2011-2014. President of 
TowneBank, Virginia Beach from 2005-2010. Elected to City Council in 1988, serving as Vice Mayor 
from 1992 to 2002.  Re-elected to City Council as Mayor in 2008, re-elected in 2012.  In 2012, he was 
recognized as elected official of the year by the Association of Defense Communities. Graduate of First 
Colonial High School and Virginia Commonwealth University. 
 
Louis R. Jones, Vice Mayor   
 

Owner and operator of Hollomon-Brown Funeral Homes, Inc.  Elected to City Council in 1982 
and served as Mayor from 1982 to 1984.  Re-elected to City Council in 1990, 1994, 1998, 2002, 2006, 
2010 and 2014.  Has served as Vice Mayor since 2002.  Bachelor of Science degree in business 
administration from the College of William and Mary, Norfolk Division (now Old Dominion University). 

 
Jessica P. Abbott, Councilwoman 
 

Jessica Abbott was born to two Air Force veterans in Colorado Springs, CO and has been 
managing her family’s insurance business (Matt Abbott State Farm) in Kempsville since 2008. She 
graduated from Kellam High School in 2007, graduated from the American College of Financial Services 
in 2015 with LUTCF and FSCP designations and is a FEMA-certified flood insurance agent. She has 
founded two nonprofit organizations for local women, one for teaching self-defense and the other as a 
networking group for other female entrepreneurs. At 27, she is the youngest-ever elected official in 
Virginia Beach.  
 
M. Benjamin Davenport, Councilman 
 
 Broker, Davenport Management Co.  Started full time in the family business in June 2010.  
Elected to City Council in 2014.  Possesses Virginia Class ‘A’ Contractors License and Real Estate 
Broker’s License.  
 
Robert M. Dyer, Councilman   
 

Administrative Dean and Associate Professor, School of Government at Regent University.  
Elected to City Council in 2004; re-elected in 2008 and 2012.  Bachelor of Science degree in physical 
therapy from Saint Louis University, Master of Public Administration degree from Fairleigh Dickinson 
University and a Ph.D. in organizational leadership from Regent University. 
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Barbara M. Henley, Councilwoman   
 

Partner, Henley Farms, LP.  Elected to the City Council 1978-1990, during which time she served 
as Vice Mayor from 1982 to 1984.  Re-elected to the City Council 1994-2002 and 2006-2014.  Bachelor 
of Science degree in elementary education from Old Dominion University and a Masters in Urban Studies 
from Old Dominion University. 

 
Shannon DS Kane, Councilwoman   

 
President and founder of EWR Management Group in Virginia Beach. Appointed to City Council 

in 2014 by members of Council to fill on an interim basis a portion of the term of a Council member who 
resigned.  Reelected in a special election held in November 2014.   Bachelor’s degree in communications 
and public relations from James Madison University.  
 
John D. Moss, Councilman 
 

Serves as the Director for Submarine Program Requirements and Warfare Development for the 
Commander Submarine Force Atlantic.  Elected to City Council in a special election in November 2011; 
reelected in 2014.   Served two prior terms on City Council, as the Kempsville Borough Representative 
(1986-1990) and as an At Large member (1992-1995).  Graduate of Princess Anne High School, Virginia 
Tech, Old Dominion, and Naval War College, as well as the Senior Federal Fellows Program, John F. 
Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University. 
 
John E. Uhrin, Councilman 
   

Since 1991, Director of Operations for Burlage Management, currently overseeing the operation 
of six hotels.  Elected to City Council in 2006; re-elected in 2010 and 2014.   John graduated from Kellam 
High School.  He attained his bachelor’s degree in business administration with a concentration in 
marketing and finance from Old Dominion University. 
 
Rosemary Wilson, Councilwoman   
 

Realtor with Prudential Towne Realty and former Virginia Beach schoolteacher as well as School 
Board member.  Rosemary was recognized in 2012 by Lawyer’s Weekly, as one of the Most Influential 
Woman in Virginia.   Elected to City Council in 2000; re-elected in 2004, 2008, and 2012.  Bachelor of 
Science in education from Old Dominion University. 
 
James L. Wood, Councilman   
 

Vice President of J D & W, Inc., a commercial general contracting firm.  Elected to City Council 
in 2002; re-elected in 2006, 2010 and 2014.  Graduate of Princess Anne High School.  Bachelor of 
Science “with special attainments in commerce” from Washington and Lee University. 

Certain City Council Appointees and Administrative Staff Members 

The City Manager is responsible for planning, organizing, directing, and coordinating all 
activities of the City.  The City Manager is also responsible for appointing and discharging all City 
employees and officers, though responsibilities may be delegated to subordinates.  A major responsibility 
of the City Manager is the preparation of the annual City Operating Budget and Capital Improvement 
Program. 
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The City Attorney has management, charge, and control of all legal business of the City.  The 
City Attorney is chief legal advisor to the City Council, the City Manager, and all City departments and 
agencies.  It is the duty of the City Attorney to advise the City Council concerning the legality of actions 
by the City and to represent the City in all matters affecting its interest. 

 
It is the responsibility of the Real Estate Assessor’s Office annually to appraise all real property 

in the City.  In addition, this office administers the Land Use Assessment Program for qualifying farm 
and forest lands and processes the Tax Relief for the Elderly and Disabled Program for qualifying senior 
citizens and disabled persons. 
 

The City Clerk’s Office is responsible for recording and maintaining all legislative documents 
and actions of the City Council; preparing and monitoring the legislative budgets; and compiling annual 
financial disclosures for City Council and members of City Boards and Commissions.  The City Clerk’s 
Office also serves as liaison for all Sister City activities. 

Appointed Officials 

David L. Hansen, City Manager 
 

Appointed City Manager effective January 26, 2016.  Previously, Deputy City Manager since 
April 3, 2006.  Responsible for the Finance Department among other City departments. Previously Chief 
Financial Officer and Resource Manager for the U.S. Army’s Training and Doctrine Command at Fort 
Monroe.  Bachelor of Science in business administration and accounting from the University of Central 
Florida.  Master of Business Administration and Contracting from the Florida Institute of Technology.  
Master of Science in strategic studies and logistics from the Industrial College of the Armed Forces. 
 
Mark D. Stiles, City Attorney 
 

Appointed City Attorney effective March 1, 2009.  Served in City Attorney’s Office since 1999 
in roles including Deputy City Attorney for Litigation, Senior Litigation Attorney and Associate City 
Attorney.  Employed as associate with the law firm of Willcox & Savage, P.C. from 1989 until 1999.  
Bachelor of Arts from West Virginia University (1986) and Juris Doctor from Washington & Lee 
University (1989). 
 
Ruth Hodges Fraser, City Clerk 
 

City Clerk since January 1, 1979.  Master Municipal Clerk, Bachelor of Arts in Administration 
from Potomac State College of West Virginia University. 
 
Thomas M. Leahy, III, Deputy City Manager 
 

Appointed Deputy City Manager on May 22, 2016. Previously, Director of Public Utilities for 12 
years. Formerly Water Resources Manager for Public Utilities overseeing the Lake Gaston pipeline 
project, a $150 million endeavor to transfer 60 million gallons of water per day from Lake Gaston to 
southeast Virginia. Bachelor of Science and Master of Science degrees in Chemical Engineering from the 
University of Virginia and a Master of Public Administration degree from Old Dominion University and 
is a licensed Professional Engineer in Virginia. 
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Patricia A. Phillips, Director of Finance 
 

Director of Finance since April 16, 1992.  Previously served as Director of the Office of Research 
and Strategic Analysis from 1975 to 1992.  Also served as a public accountant for Coopers and Lybrand 
from 1970 through 1975.  Bachelor of Science degree in business administration, Magna Cum Laude, Old 
Dominion University.  Master of Business Administration, Old Dominion University.  Certified Public 
Accountant since 1972. 

Governmental Services and Facilities 

The City provides general governmental services for its citizens including police and fire 
protection, emergency medical services, collection and disposal of refuse, water and sewer services, parks 
and recreation, libraries/culture, and maintenance of streets and highways.  Other services provided by the 
City, which services are partially funded by the Commonwealth, include public education in grades 
kindergarten through twelfth, and certain technical and special education, mental health assistance, health 
and social services, agricultural services, and judicial activities. 

 
 The City’s main municipal complex includes twelve general administrative buildings, a school 

administration building, a public safety building, an Emergency Communications/Emergency Operations 
building, a city jail, a juvenile detention center, and a judicial complex.  In close proximity are a City 
garage complex, a highway maintenance facility, a public utilities operational maintenance facility, a 
waste management facility and a farmer’s produce market.  There are four police precincts, one Law 
Enforcement Training Academy, 19 fire stations including twelve shared with emergency medical 
services/rescue squads and 1 standalone emergency medical services station, one fire training center, one 
emergency medical services training center, ten library facilities including one central library, one joint 
use library with Tidewater Community College  together with six area libraries and two satellite library 
facilities, one human services building, 247 developed city parks, and 87 public educational facilities 
located throughout the City. 

 
Some of the other major facilities provided by the City include a convention center, the Virginia 

Aquarium and Marine Science Center, seven recreational centers, a tennis complex, five municipal golf 
courses, a 6,000 seat multipurpose sports stadium, a performing arts center and a 20,000 capacity 
amphitheater, which books approximately 40 entertainment events per year. 

 
The City provides a comprehensive range of public services characteristic of its position as the 

most populous city in the Commonwealth. 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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City of Virginia Beach – Organizational Chart 
 

 
 

General Overview of Governmental Organization and Selected Functions 

The City government structure has evolved to respond to the challenges of increased demand for 
quality service, infrastructure needs, potential reductions in state and federal funding and a slowdown in 
population and revenue growth.  In 1991, a Management Leadership Team (“MLT”) was established to 
assist the City Manager with identifying and resolving organizational issues. The MLT continues to 
evolve to meet the changing needs of the community and the organization.  The MLT includes the City 
Manager and four Deputy City Managers. The MLT oversees the integration and alignment of the 
organization toward City Council’s vision and annual goals. 

Each of the four Deputy City Managers (DCMs) is assigned responsibility for overseeing 
multiple City departments in what we are calling “portfolios.”  These operational portfolios are: public 
safety, economic vitality, infrastructure and financing, and quality of life.   

In February 2017 the City Council adopted ten goals that they deemed important to the success of 
the City in the 21st century.  The ten goals are: 

1. Grow the local economy 
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2. Create a financially sustainable city providing excellent services 
3. Improve the transportation system 
4. Revitalize neighborhoods and plan for the future 
5. Be a competitive first class resort for residents, businesses and tourists 
6. Be the safest city on Virginia 
7. We are an inclusive community that is welcoming and empowers all 
8. Our community has world class schools and educational programs 
9. Data and technology is used to enhance community livability, prosperity and 

sustainability 
10. City assets and infrastructure are well maintained and meet community expectations 

Ten Strategic Goal Teams (SGT) were formed to operationally define these Goals and to identify 
meaningful ways to measure them. These SGTs replaced the Strategic Issue Teams (SIT) that were in 
operation since 1995 and related Strategic Plan.  These teams were established to align departments, 
programs and services and create the City’s strategic plan: A Community for a Lifetime: A Strategy to 
Achieve City Council’s Vision for the Future (published in August 1998, 2008 and updated annually 
thereafter through 2013). Seven business areas outlined within the Plan (Economic Vitality, Safe 
Community, Quality Physical Environment, Quality Education for Lifelong Learning, Cultural and 
Recreational Opportunities, and Family and Youth Opportunities, and Quality Organization) served as 
organizers for this plan.  A challenge of this approach that became evident over the years was a 
disconnect between the City Council Goals and the work of these SITs.  The SGTs align the City’s 
Strategic Planning with the City Council Goals. 

As a member of the STAR Communities (Sustainability Tools for Assessing and Rating 
communities) network, SGTs are encouraged to choose metrics from the goals and objectives of the 
STAR Framework.  Doing this provides nationally recognized measures that have been tested and 
verified and provides the City with an apples-to-apples comparison measure with other communities 
across the country.  The first iteration of their work is due in December 2017.  When Council signs off on 
these meanings and measures, the Goal Teams will begin to define the current state of the City vis-a-vis 
these goals and objectives, set strategic, long range (20-50 years) targets and develop strategies to reach 
them. 

The DCMs will then translate the insights gained by the SGTs and their strategies into guidance 
for the departments to assure that the work of the departments are aligned with the strategic directions 
outlined by the SGTs.   

This approach balances both the strategic and the operational sides of city governance, enhancing 
our ability to achieve Council’s vision of A Community for a Lifetime. 

Functional Departments 

The Department of Agriculture provides educational and resource services in agriculture, home 
economics, money management, 4-H, and community resource development.  The department has three 
major divisions.  The Virginia Beach Cooperative Extension Office offers educational programs and 
technical information on agriculture, horticulture, and money management.  The Agriculture Reserve 
Program (ARP) is a land preservation program.  The goal of the ARP is to promote and enhance 
agriculture as an important local industry that is part of a diverse local economy by purchasing 
development rights over a resource base of farmland.  The Farmer’s Market provides a venue for the sale 
of goods and products of local farmers and craftsmen and for the provision of rural heritage activities. 
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The Office of the City Auditor.  On December 11, 2007, City Council adopted an ordinance to 
recognize the Office of the City Auditor as a Council-appointed Office.  This reorganization creates 
independence in the overseeing of the audit of financial information.  The Council-appointed auditor has 
all the duties of the former position and reports directly to City Council under the new organizational 
structure. Among the auditor’s duties is to conduct financial and performance audits of City departments, 
offices, boards, activities, agencies, programs and systems.  These audits focus on efficiencies and the 
adequacy of internal controls, and all audits are conducted in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards.  The City Auditor also operates a fraud, waste and abuse hotline and oversees and coordinates 
investigations of suspected fraudulent activity. A Council-appointed Audit Committee consisting of two 
Council members, and three  citizen members with a background in finance, accounting, and/or auditing 
review the City Auditor’s audit schedule and audit reports.  Audit reports are released to City Council 
after issuance and made available for public inspection on the City Auditor’s office home page on 
www.vbgov.com. 

 
The function of the Department of Information Technology.  The department’s services center 

around nine main operational areas:  applications support, system support, telecommunications, geo-
spatial information services, technology services, IT security, business center and mail services, data and 
information management, and strategy and architecture. 
 

The Convention & Visitors Bureau coordinates the advertising and promotion of tourism and 
convention activities and is responsible for bringing leisure travelers, meetings, conferences, sports 
events, group tours and conventions to Virginia Beach.  The department operates three year-round Visitor 
Information Centers and two seasonal kiosks in the resort area, and the award-winning Virginia Beach 
Convention Center.  Approximately 7.1 million overnight visitors stayed in Virginia Beach in calendar 
year 2016, and an additional 8.1million day visitors were also hosted by the city.  Total 2016 visitor 
spending figures from the U.S. Travel Association were at a record high level with a spending volume of 
$1.49 billion.  Visitor activity generated $132.1 million in City and State revenues in 2016. 
 

The Office of Cultural Affairs was created to reflect the importance of the role of arts and culture 
in making a well-rounded and vital community for a lifetime.  The creation of this office demonstrates the 
rising significance of our cultural facilities in the City’s structure.  The role of the Office of Cultural 
Affairs consists of the following:  develop the vision and direction for cultural arts in Virginia Beach, 
direct the Virginia Beach Arts and Humanities Commission, coordinate the City’s Public Art Program, 
assist the newly formed 501(c)(3) non-profit organization, Public Art Virginia Beach Foundation, provide 
contract management for the Sandler Center for the Performing Arts; provide administrative leadership to 
the Sandler Center for the Performing Arts 501(c)(3) Foundation, and the Sandler Center Foundation’s 
Endowment fundraising campaign.  

 
The Economic Development Department promotes and encourages the economic growth and 

diversity of the City.  The department works with the City of Virginia Beach Development Authority to 
attract business and industry to the City and to develop sites for new or expanding businesses in the City’s 
Business/Industrial Parks.  Recent accolades include:  Ranked #1 - “2017 Digital Cities Survey Award—
The Most Technologically Advanced City of its Size in America”, The Center for Digital Government, 
November 2017; Ranked 7th out of 150 cities - “2017’s Best & Worst Places to Raise a Family”, 
WalletHub, September 2017; Ranked 3rd  out of 50 metro cities - “Safest Metro City in 
America”,SafeWise, August 2017; Ranked 17th overall (4th in quality of services and 43rd in budget per 
capita) out of 150 cities - “2017’s Best & Worst Run Cities in America”, WalletHub, August 
2017; Ranked #1  - “2017’s America’s Best Big City to Live in” WalletHub, July 2017; Ranked #1 out of 
60 cities - “America’s Best City to Live in and Save Money”, GoBankingRates, May 2017; One of the 
“25 Most Romantic Cities in America for 2016”, OpenTable, February 2017; Ranked 8th out of 10 cities - 
“Top 10 Happiest Cities in America”, Zippia, January 2017; Ranked 10th - “10 Best Cities in America to 
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Achieve Work-Life Balance”, Zippia, December 2016; Virginia Beach Oceanfront - “What’s the Most 
Instagrammed Place in Every State”, USA Today, December 2016; Ranked 3rd  out of 100 cities -
  “2016’s Most Caring City in America”, WalletHub, December 2016; Ranked 13th - “Top 20 Meeting 
Cities  for 2016”, SmartAsset, December 2016; Ranked 22nd - “America’s 50 Best Cities to Live”, 24/7 
Wall St., October 2016; Ranked 2nd out of 76 large cities -  “Best for Vets: Places to Live 2016 ”, 
MilitaryTimes.com, September 2016; Ranked 13th out of 20 metro areas - “Best Mid-Sized Metro Areas 
for Job Seekers”, American Institute for Economic Research, July 2016; Ranked 14th out of 100 cities - 
“America’s Best Cities for Driving”, WalletHub, July 2016; Ranked 9th out of 50 cities - “Top Ten Most 
Mobile-Friendly Cities in America”, NerdWallet, July 2016 

 
Since the inception of the Economic Development Incentive Program (EDIP) in 1994, the VBDA and 

the Department of Economic Development has awarded 211 EDIP grants totaling $52.2 million, which 
has generated more than $2 billion in private investment and created and retained 32,651 jobs in the City. 
For FY2016-17, a total of $1,398,500 of EDIP funds were approved for 13 companies, which are 
intended to leverage more than $40,600,000 in private investment (ratio of $29 private investment to $1 
public investment) and the creation/retention of 687 jobs in the City. 

 
The Department of Emergency Communications and Citizen Services (ECCS) is comprised of 

VB9-1-1 and VB3-1-1.  VB9-1-1 (Emergency Communications) is a centralized public-safety answering 
point (PSAP) for citizens to access public safety services.  VB9-1-1 also provides communications 
services for Police, Fire, Emergency Medical Services (EMS), Animal Control and other departments 
Citywide.  In Fiscal Year 2017, VB9-1-1 received 543,292 incoming calls for public safety service.  VB3-
1-1 (Citizen Services) provides city information services via multiple communication channels such as 
telephone, online assistance, email, fax, print, radio dispatching and emergency notifications.  Also, VB3-
1-1 assists walk-in customers and various city departments such as Real Estate Assessor, Code 
Enforcement, and after hours Public Utilities and Public Works, with their information/service 
requests.  In Fiscal Year 2017 VB3-1-1 processed 116,857 inquiries. 

 
The Department of Emergency Medical Services (EMS) coordinates the pre-hospital emergency 

care provided by 10 volunteer Rescue Squads, operating out of 19 stations.  In Fiscal Year 2017, the 
department answered 45,899 calls for service which included providing a safe and efficient response to 
the scene, advanced treatment of patients and prompt transport to the hospital.  The department operates 
multiple specialized resources, which include: mass casualty trucks, tactical (SWAT) medics, vehicle 
extrication services, a marine rescue team and beach lifeguard services.  In addition, the department 
provides initial and continuing education training for volunteer rescue, career EMS, fire department, 
police department, and/or emergency communications personnel.  In Fiscal Year 2017 the Department of 
EMS consisted of approximately 769 volunteer rescue squad members and 54 uniformed career 
personnel. 

 
The Department of Finance oversees the financial affairs of the City and ensures the financial 

integrity of City operations.  Departmental services include: payment of all City bills; maintenance of 
accounting records; payment of all City employees and administration of employee benefits; provision of 
insurance and operation of the self-insurance program; maintenance of the City’s fixed assets inventory; 
procurement of all equipment, materials and services for all city agencies; and coordination and 
administration of the City’s long-term debt program. 

 
The City’s Fire Department, is an all hazards response agency. It is responsible for fire 

prevention, fire suppression, emergency medical, hazardous materials, technical rescue and marine 
incident response. The department handled approximately 45,825 fire and rescue incidents in Fiscal Year 
2017.  The City’s firefighters respond to emergency events from the City’s 19 fire and rescue stations.  In 
addition, volunteer personnel with proper training from the City’s fire training center provide manpower 
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contributions to a variety of department customer service areas.  There approximately 50 volunteers who 
serve as, support technicians and administrative personnel. 
 

The Department of Housing and Neighborhood Preservation provides a variety of housing and 
neighborhood improvement services, including enforcement of the building maintenance code and 
property maintenance codes, provision of financial assistance to home owners for housing rehabilitation, 
and provision of financial assistance to eligible renters.  In addition, an on-line “Pattern Book” that 
provides design guidelines and various types of information to assist homeowners who are planning 
rehabilitation, is now available on the city’s website. 

 
The Department of Human Resources is responsible for developing and managing the City’s 

human resource programs to ensure quality, efficiency and diversity.  The department manages 
recruitment and retention, applicant testing, equal employment opportunity, FMLA/ADA, volunteer 
referrals, employee communications, policy creation and interpretation, employee recognition, leave 
programs, dispute resolution, performance management, workforce planning, and official personnel 
record documentation. The department assists in member development in the areas of leadership, personal 
and professional growth, organizational awareness, job skills, career counseling and coaching, employee 
safety, and occupational health services. Staff support is provided to the Human Rights Commission, the 
Investigation Review Panel and the Personnel Board. 
 
 The Department of Human Services was created by merging the Department of Mental 
Health/Mental Retardation/Substance Abuse Services, the Department of Social Services, Pendleton 
Child Service Center, and the Juvenile Detention Center.  The department continues to carry out the 
missions of the former departments including: providing Mental Health, Substance Abuse and 
Developmental services to children, adults, and the elderly, in order to improve quality of life and ensure 
community safety.  Additionally, the department provides a range of child welfare services including 
child protective services, foster care, and employment services.  The department is responsible for 
providing secure detention services for children before the juvenile and domestic relations court, and the 
department provides prevention orientation services to young children identified by the school system as 
being in need of early intervention services.  The department is also responsible for Community 
Corrections/Pretrial Services which provides probation services and pretrial monitoring for adults who 
have been charged or convicted of misdemeanors or non-violent felonies. 
 

The Juvenile Probation Office provides support services to the Juvenile and Domestic Relations 
District Court.  The office provides probation supervision, intake services, and parole services for 
juveniles. It provides court support by processing petitions and preparing social background 
investigations. 

 
The Department of Management Services develops and oversees the City Operating Budget and 

Six-Year Capital Improvement Program.  The department provides assistance and direction to other City 
departments for any budget amendments for issues that arise during the year.  The department also 
provides multi-year forecasting of revenues and expenditures, provides fiscal impact analysis, coordinates 
grant review, monitors performance measurement data, evaluates City programs and services, and assists 
departments in management issues, as assigned. 

 
The Media and Communications Group provides communication services to city officials, 

executive leadership and departments to inform and improve communications with citizens, promote civic 
engagement, manage issues and achieve strategic outcomes. 

 
The Department of Aquarium and Museums operates the Virginia Aquarium & Marine Science 

Center, the Francis Land House, the Thoroughgood House, the Lynnhaven House and the Princess Anne 
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County Training School/Union Kempsville High School located in the Renaissance Academy.  The 
Virginia Aquarium & Marine Science Center first opened in 1986 and was expanded to three times its 
original size in 1996.  The expanded building encompasses 120,000 square feet.  The Aquarium takes 
visitors on a journey of water through Virginia’s marine environment by way of interactive exhibits and 
800,000 gallons of aquariums that feature sharks, river otters, harbor seals and sea turtles.  The Aquarium 
also offers a larger-than-life experience in its 3D Giant Screen National Geographic Branded Theater,    a 
forty-foot, 100,000 gallon walk- through aquarium with spotted eagle rays and other colorful tropical 
fishes, an arid coastal desert, a volcanic region with Komodo dragons, and a misty peat swamp featuring 
Tomistoma crocodiles, and approximately 10,000 other animals with which guests can interact The 
Aquarium had attendance of 690,314 and generated revenue of $19,800,000 in Fiscal Year 2017.  In May 
of 2014, the Aquarium opened the largest Ropes/Zip Line course in North America.  With this opening, 
the Aquarium increased attendance by 80,000 visitors per year.  In January 2015, the Virginia Aquarium 
added boat trips departing from the Virginia Aquarium dock and 39,409 visitors enjoyed this added 
feature in FY2017.  In 2020, the Virginia Aquarium will reopen a renovated Marsh Pavilion and a new 
Veterinary Wing. This project is currently funded by the Aquarium’s non-profit Foundation and the City 
of Virginia Beach.  Private donations to-date exceed $13,000,000.    

 
The Virginia Beach history museums promote Virginia Beach’s historic resources with the 

community and ensure the preservation and education of our rich heritage. Specifically, the purpose of the 
Francis Land House is to collect, preserve and present historically accurate material reflecting life in 
eighteenth century Princess Anne County.  The House is open year-round for tours and educational 
programming.  The Thoroughgood House provides year-round tours and programs related to Adam 
Thoroughgood, a founding father of Virginia Beach, and early life in colonial Virginia.  In March 2016, a 
$2.5 million education/visitor center began the construction process.  This new center will open in the 
spring of 2017. Through public tours and programs, the Lynnhaven House presents life on a rural farm in 
18th century Princess Anne County.  During tours, visitors learn about the Thelaball family who lived in 
the house during the 1700’s. The Princess Anne County Training School/Union Kempsville museum 
provides the community with the legacy of a segregated African American school history, and educates 
the visitors on the sacrifice, and the importance of education for African American students from 1934 
until the school’s closing in 1969.  In Fiscal Year 2017, the history museums had attendance of 10,023 
and earned $29,591 in revenue. 

 
The Strategy, Transparency, Innovation & Resiliency (STiR) Office enhances and supports 

organizational performance and individual development to improve the effectiveness and sustainability of 
the City Organization.  During FY 2016-17, the Organizational Development Office was separated from 
the City Manager’s Office and reorganized into the STiR Office. STiR works with the organization to 
ensure that the work of the various programs and services are linked to the City Council’s goals and 
provides frequent feedback to City Council, City Manager and the community. The Office opens city 
datasets to the public to increase the transparency of the city organization to the community and 
encourage positive citizen engagement. The innovation efforts identify opportunities to improve service 
delivery, monitor goals, and encourage innovative decisions through the use of data. The Office will 
provide specific training to employees on techniques to analyze data for opportunities, determine the 
return on the idea and assist in implementing the innovation within the organization. Working closely 
with city departments the office will highlight existing resiliency efforts and develop new initiatives 
within the community and organization. 

 
The Department of Parks and Recreation’s mission is to deliver parks, recreation programs and 

public spaces that reflect the priorities of our community; support tiered levels of service that recognize 
the diverse needs of the community; and focus on sustainability of core programs, services and facilities 
through efficient business practices.  In Fiscal Year 2017 the Parks and Recreation Special Revenue Fund, 
which include parks, outdoor programs, recreation center operations and out-of-school programs, 
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generated $14,773,160 in fees and charges.  The Business Systems Division is responsible for managing 
the department’s financial resources and technology, and coordinating the development of the operating 
budget and the department’s human resources functions. The Planning, Design and Development 
Division updates the Virginia Beach Outdoors Plan and Bikeways and Trails Plan; manages the 
implementation of the plans and the construction and  replacement of Parks and Recreation facilities 
through the department’s Capital Improvement Program. The Programming and Operations Division is 
responsible for the following areas: providing recreation and leisure services to adults, senior citizens and 
youths; providing citizens with disabilities the opportunity to receive the benefits of recreation and leisure 
in the least restrictive environment; operating all parks and park facilities; operating two multi-purpose 
athletic complexes; operating five motorized boat launches; operating seven recreation centers located 
throughout the City;  managing 48 Open Space preservation areas, and operating Out-of-School Time 
programs.  There are 247 City parks, 178 of these are classified as neighborhood parks, 13 are classified 
as community parks, 6 are classified as metro parks, 2 are classified as signature parks, 3 are classified as 
linear parks, 5 are classified as natural area parks, 36 are classified as special use park facilities, 7 of 
which are under management agreements, 3 are classified as Town Green Parks, and 1 as Eco-Garden.  
The Landscape Management Division provides landscape maintenance services for: all public 
infrastructure, including roadways and public buildings; the Municipal Center; the Oceanfront resort area; 
Town Center; and all public open spaces, parks and school sites. 

The Department of Planning and Community Development provides policy assistance and 
operational support in the areas of transportation, land use planning, zoning and environmental resource 
protection.  The department also provides plan review, inspection and code enforcement ensuring the 
quality of the built environment.  Within the Strategic Growth Areas division of the department, 
Comprehensive Planning and, Transportation Planning work units are responsible for maintaining long-
range plans which provide guidance for the physical development of the City. This division also serves as 
the City’s liaison with Hampton Roads Transit and provides support to Virginia Beach Commissioners 
and City Council liaisons to the Transportation District Commission of Hampton Roads and participates 
in long-range strategic planning for regional public transportation. In addition, it serves as City Planning 
representatives on Hampton Roads Transportation Planning Organization’s various committees. Lastly, 
the Parking Management Office within this division manages, maintains city parking facilities, and plans 
for long-term public parking needs.  The Current Planning and Zoning Administration Division provides 
staff support to the Planning Commission, the City Council on Planning items, and the Board of Zoning 
Appeals, Wetlands Board, Chesapeake Bay Board, Historic Preservation Commission and Historical 
Review Board.  This division also administers the City’s Zoning Ordinance.  The department’s 
Development Services division reviews subdivision plans, site plans and land management plans to 
ensure engineering compliance with ordinances, standards, specifications, and City Council requirements, 
issues moving and hauling permits and provides surety administration. The Permits and Inspections 
division administers the Uniform Statewide Building Code and associated laws and ordinances by issuing 
permits for, and performing inspections of all building, electrical, mechanical and plumbing construction 
in the City. Also this division administers the Department of Environmental Quality Stormwater and 
Erosion and Sediment Control regulations as applicable to private development and franchise utilities. 
 

The Police Department is composed of five major units: Administration, Professional Standards, 
Support, Operations, and Investigative Divisions.  The department operates through four precincts located 
throughout the City.  Virginia Beach’s Part I Crime rate for 2016 was 23.3 crimes per 1,000 residents, 
which is a slight increase from the 2015 crime rate of 23.6 crimes per 1,000 residents.  The Part I Crime 
rate includes violent and property crimes.  The property crime rate was 21.7 per 1,000 residents.  The 
violent crime rate was 1.6 crimes per 1,000 residents.  According to the FBI’s Crime in the United States 
2015, the City’s violent crime rate is the lowest among participating U.S. cities with a population of 
350,000 to 900,000.  The City continues to be one of the safest communities of its size in the country. 
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 The Virginia Beach Department of Public Health is a state-city cooperative agency which 
provides a wide range of health services to the Virginia Beach population. The Department exists to 
promote and protect the health of the community.  Community is defined as all the citizens, including 
tourists, and the environment.  The department serves as the “safety net” in providing health services to 
the people who do not have access to care in the private sector such as the uninsured/underinsured and 
homeless individuals.  The department provides clinics and services as follows: communicable disease 
(surveillance, investigation of individual cases and community outbreaks); Sexually Transmitted 
Infections (HIV/AIDS, syphilis, gonorrhea, Chlamydia, herpes, VA AIDS Drug Assistance Program 
[ADAP]); Tuberculosis (case management, Chest Clinic, directly observed treatment [DOT] and 
preventive therapy [DOPT]); dental care for children (ages 3-17 years); Women, Infants and Children 
(WIC) Supplemental Food Program; Infant, Child & Adolescent Health Clinic (routine preventive health 
care and limited non-urgent sick care, immunizations (childhood and adult); pregnancy testing, pregnancy 
referral, and maternity care, family planning, home visiting, parent support, Healthy Start Program; 
Environmental Health (essential food protection: permitting and inspections of restaurants, dairy plants, 
day care facilities, schools and hospitals; essential sewage and water services: on-site sewage disposal 
systems and wells, ground water quality, recreational beach water monitoring; general environmental; 
rabies, public swimming pools, hair dressing, tanning, and nail salons, body art establishments); 
community-based services: health education and injury prevention; vital statistics: death and birth 
certificates. 

 
The Department of Public Libraries manages ten facilities including: six area libraries, two 

satellite library facilities, a 95,000 square-foot Central Library and 125,000 square-foot Joint-Use 
Library.  It operates a mobile early literacy outreach center (bookmobile), provides library services 
(support) for visually and physically impaired citizens and maintains a public law library. The Joint Use 
Library, located on the campus of Tidewater Community College (TCC) opened August 17, 2013 to serve 
the faculty and students of TCC and the entire Virginia Beach community and is jointly operated by the 
College and the department.  The Joint Use Library construction project was funded with approximately 
$43 million with 80% provided by the Commonwealth of Virginia and 20% provided by the City of 
Virginia Beach. The total current square footage of the library system (including the portion of the Joint 
Use Library that is paid for and utilized by the City) is approximately 219,103. 

 
The Department of Public Utilities provides water and sanitary sewer services to City residents. 

As of June 30, 2017, the department had installed and continues to maintain more than 3,147 miles of 
water and sanitary sewer lines as well as operating and maintaining 408 sanitary sewer pumping stations, 
nine water pumping stations (including Lake Gaston), 12 water storage facilities with 26 million gallons 
of water capacity, and 8,820 fire hydrants.  The department coordinates the engineering and 
administration of the development of raw water supplies for the City and oversees the City’s water 
conservation programs. 

 
The Department of Public Works provides system planning, design, acquisition of property, 

project management, construction, and inspection of all new and replacement roadways, storm water, 
coastal, and building infrastructure, as well as parks and recreation and other large capital projects. The 
department provides asset management, maintenance and repair of a large portion of the City’s 
infrastructure (e.g., roadways, bridges, storm water systems, beaches, traffic control devices, City-owned 
buildings and City-owned motorized equipment). Also, it provides collection, recycling and disposal of 
solid waste; operates the city landfill; conducts long-range planning for the city’s waste management 
needs; and serves as liaison with the Southeastern Public Service Authority, which is the agency 
responsible for the regional waste disposal program.  The administration of the storm water management 
utility is also included as a responsibility of the department. 
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The Office of Volunteer Resources coordinates the use of over 13,770 volunteers throughout City 
Departments, which is equivalent to 558 FTE, valued at more than $28 million.  

 
The Voter Registration & Elections Office, pursuant to provisions in the Code of Virginia, is 

responsible for providing an accessible and fair means by which City residents can register to vote in 
general and special elections and primaries.  The number of registered voters was 299,292 as of 
November 21, 2017. 

Economic and Demographic Factors 

 Based on the April 2010 census conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau, the population of the City 
of Virginia Beach was 437,994. This census confirmed Virginia Beach as the most populous city in the 
Commonwealth and the 34th largest city in the United States.  In 2016, the Weldon Cooper Center for 
Public Service estimated the City’s population at 453,628. The following table presents population figures 
for selected years. 

POPULATION AND RATE OF CHANGE 
VIRGINIA BEACH AND THE UNITED STATES 

SELECTED YEARS 
 

Year Virginia Beach Rate of Change United States 
 

Rate of Change 

1960 85,200 N/A 179,323,175 N/A 
1970 172,106  102.00% 203,302,031 13.37% 
1980 262,199 52.35 226,542,199 11.43 
1990 393,089 49.92 248,709,873 9.79 
2000 425,257 8.18 281,424,602 13.15 
2010 437,994 3.00 308,745,538 9.71 
2016 453,628 3.57 323,127,513 4.66 

   
Source: U.S. Census Bureau (1960-2010); Virginia Beach and U.S. as of 7/1//2016, Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service 
 
 

FIVE MOST POPULOUS CITIES IN VIRGINIA 
 

City 2015 Population 2016 Population 
   
Virginia Beach 453,500 453,628 
Norfolk 247,189 247,087 
Chesapeake 238,283 240,485 
Richmond 217,938 221,679 
Newport News 183,454 183,218 

    
Source: Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service 

Income 

Presented below are tables on median household income, distribution of household income, per 
capita income, total personal income and median household effective buying income.  Median household 
income is defined as the income of the household in the middle of all household incomes when sorted from 
lowest to highest. Per capita income is total personal income divided by the area’s residential population. 
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Total personal income is a measurement of the area’s total income from all sources.  Effective buying 
income is a measurement of disposable income or after-tax income. 

 
MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME 

 

Year 
Virginia 
Beach 

Commonwealth 
of Virginia 

United 
States 

2007 $61,462 $59,562 $50,740 
2008 65,776 61,233 52,029 
2009 59,298 59,330 50,221 
2010 64,212 60,674 50,046 
2011 64,614 61,882 50,502 
2012 61,626 61,741 51,371 
2013 62,855 62,666 52,250 
2014 68,816 64,902 53,657 
2015 67,281 66,262 55,775 
2016 71,117 68,114 57,617 

_________________________ 
Source: Census Bureau’s 2007-2016 American Community Survey 1-year estimates 
 
 

 
DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME  

2016
    
 Virginia Beach Virginia United States 
$100,000+ 32.5% 33.1% 26.2% 
$75,000 - $99,999 14.8% 12.8% 12.3% 
$50,000 - $74,999 20.6% 17.0% 17.7% 
$25,000 - $49,999 19.1% 19.8% 22.5% 
Under $24,999 13.0% 17.3% 21.2% 

_________________________ 
Source: Census Bureau’s 2016 American Community Survey 1-year estimate 
 

 
PER CAPITA INCOME 

 
 1980 1990 2000 2010 2016

Virginia Beach  $10,836 $21,724 $32,008 $46,429  $53,432 
Norfolk 9,165 16,914     24,942     36,061      38,484 
Chesapeake 9,630 19,019     28,226     42,011      47,302 
Newport News  9,137 17,283     23,313     34,625      40,967 
Commonwealth 
  of Virginia  

 
10,107 

 
20,831

 
32,453

 
44,836 52,957

United States  10,091 19,584 30,587 40,144 49,246
    
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.  Most recent information available as of November 2017. 
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 The City’s 2016 per capita income ranks 15th among 105 Virginia localities for which the Bureau 
of Economic Analysis computes income. Virginia Beach’s 2016 per capita income is 108.5% of the 
United States’ per capita income. 
 

TOTAL PERSONAL INCOME (In Millions) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis. Most recent information available as of November 2017. 

 
 
The following tables show median household effective buying income for the City, the Virginia 

Beach Metropolitan Statistical Area (“MSA”), the Commonwealth and the United States for the last ten 
calendar years, followed by comparative tables showing Virginia Beach as a percentage of the various 
regions. 
 

MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD DISPOSABLE INCOME 

 
Year 

 
Virginia Beach 

Virginia Beach 
MSA 

Commonwealth 
of Virginia 

 
United States 

 
2008 $49,559 $44,804 $47,678 $41,792 
2009 50,435 45,487 49,389 45,138 
2010 50,884 46,385 49,722 43,926 
2011 54,292 49,293 52,254 45,113 
2012 54,029 48,905 52,120 44,907 
2013 52,133 46,798 50,719 41,840 
2014 52,124 46,845 51,364 42,529 
2015 50,662 44,440 51,301 43,530 
2016 53,007 48,857 52,331 44,652 
2017 53,353 49,118 52,759 46,430 

 
 

Year 
Virginia Beach  

As a Percent of U.S. 
Virginia Beach MSA 
As a Percent of U.S. 

Commonwealth 
As a Percent of U.S. 

 
2008 118.58% 107.21% 114.08% 
2009 111.74 100.77 109.42 
2010 115.84 105.60 113.19 
2011 120.35 109.27 115.83 
2012 120.31 108.90 116.06 
2013 124.60 111.85 121.22 
2014 122.56 110.15 120.77 
2015 116.38 102.09 117.85 
2016 118.71 109.42 117.20 
2017 114.91 105.79 113.63 

 
  

 1980 1990 2000 2010 2016 
 
Virginia Beach  

 
$ 2,869

 
$8,169

 
$ 13,665

 
$20,386 

 
$24,183 

Commonwealth of  
Virginia 

 
54,257

 
126,278

 
230,606

 
359,782 

 
445,462 

Virginia Beach as a  
percent of State 

 
5.3%

 
6.5%

 
5.9% 5.7% 5.4% 
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Year 

Virginia Beach 
as a Percent of MSA 

Virginia Beach 
as a Percent of Commonwealth 

 
2008 110.61% 103.95% 
2009 110.88 102.12 
2010 109.70 102.34 
2011 110.14 103.90 
2012 110.48 103.66 
2013 111.40 102.79 
2014 111.27 101.48 
2015 114.00 98.75 
2016 108.49 101.29 
2017 108.62 101.13 

    
Source: Sales & Marketing Management (2004 – 2005); Demographics USA (2006-2008); Demographics Now (2009); Decision Data Resources 
(2010-2012); Esri (2013-2017) 
 

Housing and Construction   

The information in the following tables is presented to illustrate various housing characteristics for 
the City. As of January 1, 2017, the total dwelling units in the City were 178,221 excluding military 
housing. Single-family units represented 55.2 percent of this total. Selected data regarding the distribution 
of all dwelling units is as follows: 
 

DWELLING UNITS BY TYPE*

   
2016 Units 

 
2017 Units 

% of 2017 
Units by Type 

Single Family  98,081 98,429 55.2%  
Multi-family Complex  34,587 35,234 19.8 
Townhouse  19,701 19,695 11.1 
Low Rise Condominium  20,325 20,686 11.6 
Duplex  1,366 1,335 .7 
High Rise Condo/Co-op  2,842 2,842     1.6 
Total  176,902 178,221 100.0%  
     
_________________________ 
Source: City Real Estate Assessor. 

*Does not include Military Combined Units. 
 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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Through October 31 of calendar year 2017, the City had issued a total of 30,497 permits valued at 
$881,461,512.  The following table presents a further, historical breakdown of selected building permits 
by type. 

 
NUMBER OF SELECTED BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED AND VALUE (1)(3) 

 
Calendar 

Year 
 

 
 

Residential(2) 

 
 

Commercial 

 
 

Industrial 

 
Other Building 

Permits 
 

 
Total Estimated 

Value 

2004 2,543 1,267 10 19,328 $635,848,544 
2005 1,903 1,001 4 20,708 705,262,350 
2006 1,382 1,414 3 20,007 817,683,741 
2007 989 1,495 6 16,218 671,839,566 
2008 789 1,101 1 14,152 432,118,047 
2009 614 888 0 12,633 400,894,075 
2010 622 880 2 13,554 362,141,721 
2011 3,640 1,422 0 2,859 491,131,408 
2012 3,606 1,435 0 2,619 359,631,526 
2013 3,772 1,457 0 3,000 470,070,678 
2014 3,892 1,268 0 2,647 510,451,038 
2015 3,940 1,582 0 2,829 493,363,784 
2016  4,423     1,282   0        3,433 462,894,210 

2017 thru Oct. 3,686     2,514  0       3,383 655,863,907 
   
Source: City Department of Planning and Community Development, Division of Permits and Inspections 
(1) Represents building permits only.  Does not include trade permits, e.g. electrical, plumbing, gas, mechanical and other types of permits. 
(2) One residential building permit does not necessarily equal one residential unit; in many instances one permit is for multiple residential units. 
(3)     In 2011, a new permit reporting system was implemented which allowed a more efficient way of managing the number of permits issued per 

project: (1) instead of issuing multiple types of building permits per project, one building permit is issued per location; and (2) permit 
modifications no longer require the issuance of a new permit.  Years 2011 forward the number of permits is not comparable to prior years. 
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The following table presents annual new construction as reported by the City Real Estate Assessor.  
The total value of new construction in the City for 2016 was $536,348,700, which exceeds the 2015 value of 
$348,247,100 by $188,101,600. 

NEW CONSTRUCTION: NUMBER OF UNITS 
AND ESTIMATED VALUE (1) 

 Residential Construction Commercial Construction(2)  

Calendar 
Year 

Number of 
Units 

Residential 
Addition 

Estimated  
Value 

Number of 
Permits 

Estimated 
Value 

Total Estimated 
Value 

2007 1,430 2,640 $539,420,291 177 $193,469,906 $732,890,197 
2008 1,647 1,834 433,016,855 210 220,787,369 653,804,224 
2009 911 1,810 272,966,398 156 93,865,100 366,831,498 
2010 1,267 1,489 234,054,592 108 68,811,100 302,865,692 
2011 588 1,370 176,935,212 54 48,769,000 225,704,212 
2012 1,105 1,183 227,649,900 61 111,027,600 338,677,500 
2013 1,365 1,065 250,878,100 75 85,251,400 336,129,500 
2014 1,459 1,185 304,596,500 61 135,254,600 439,851,100 
2015 1,027 1,118 265,430,800 51 82,816,300 348,247,100 
2016 1,651 1,088 405,082,000 71 131,266,700 536,348,700 

       
____________________ 
Source: Office of Real Estate Assessor – Annual Report 

(1) Building/structures only (excludes land) 
(2) Represents general commercial, hotel, industrial and office, including additions. 
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Employment 

Employers in the City, excluding military, provided jobs for 180,715 persons through the second 
quarter of calendar year 2017.  The following table presents the number of establishments, employment, 
and quarterly gross wages for the second quarter of calendar year 2017. 

 
CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH 

NUMBER OF ESTABLISHMENTS, EMPLOYMENT 
AND QUARTERLY GROSS WAGES 

QUARTER ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
(NON-MILITARY) 

     
     

Industry Group 
Number of 

Establishments

Average 
Emp. 
For  

Quarter
Quarterly  

Gross Wages 

Average Weekly 
Wages 

Per  
Employee 

     
Private         
 Services 6,880 90,496 $   851,947,502   $   724  
 Wholesale and Retail Trade 1,826 27,673 214,119,398 595 
 Construction 1,215 9,971  120,627,439 931 
 Financial, Insurance and Real Estate 1,333 12,656  183,868,900 1,118 
 Manufacturing 263 5,765 72,112,841 962 
 Transportation and Warehousing 202 2,001 20,627,691 793 
 Information 125 3,350 36,526,240 839 
 Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Mining 27 90 611,783 523 
Total Private* 11,871 152,003 $ 1,500,441,794  $   759  
     
Public    
 State Government 28 1,944 $17,248,407  $   683  
 Local Government 54 20,496 221,367,288 831 
 Federal Government 45 6,272 107,024,626 1,313 
Total Public 127  28,712  $    345,640,321  $   926  
    
TOTAL 11,998 180,715 $ 1,846,082,115  $   786  
    
Source:  Virginia Employment Commission, Economic Information Services Division, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages Report 

(QCEW). Based upon most current and available information. 
* Immaterial amounts have been suppressed in certain industry sub-categories, which are included in the total amounts. 
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The following table is a breakdown of employment by sector in the City. 
 

EMPLOYMENT BY SECTOR 
AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL 

QUARTER ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
  

   
 Services 50.1% 
 Wholesale and Retail Trade 15.3 
 Government* 15.9 
 Construction 5.5 
 Financial, Insurance and Real Estate 7.0 
 Manufacturing 3.2 
 Transportation, Communications and Utilities 1.1 
 Information  1.8 
 Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Mining     0.1 
Total 100.0% 

    
Source: Virginia Employment Commission, Economic Information Services Division. 

*Excludes active duty military personnel stationed at bases located in the City. 
 

As illustrated in the table below, the unemployment rate for the City has, for the most part, been 
consistently lower than the rates for the Virginia Beach MSA, the Commonwealth and the United States. 

ANNUAL AVERAGE UNEMPLOYMENT RATES 
 

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017(2)

Virginia Beach 6.1% 5.7% 5.4% 5.0% 4.3 4.0 3.6% 
Virginia Beach MSA (1) 7.3 6.8 6.2   5.7 4.9 4.6 4.1 
Commonwealth 6.6 6.0 5.7 5.2 4.5 4.0 3.6 
United States 8.9 8.1 7.4 6.2 5.3 4.9 4.1 

    
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, and Virginia Employment Commission 
(1) MSA includes the Virginia Cities of Chesapeake, Hampton, Newport News, Norfolk, Poquoson, Portsmouth, Suffolk, Virginia Beach and 

Williamsburg, and the Virginia Counties of Gloucester, Isle of Wight, James City, Mathews and York. Also includes Currituck County, and 
Gates County, North Carolina. 

 (2) Reported for the month of September 2017 (not seasonally adjusted). 

Business and Industry 

The City has twelve major concentrations of office, industrial and commercial property:  Airport 
Industrial Park, Centerville, Central Business District/Pembroke area, Newtown Business District, 
Hilltop, Oceana West Corporate Park/Lynnhaven Corridor, Oceana (APZ-1), Oceanfront Resort, 
Rosemont, Corporate Landing Business Park, and the Princess Anne Commons  

 For FY 2017, the City’s Department of Economic Development recorded the creation of 1,548 
new jobs and $173 million of new capital investment by 42 new and expanding companies in 1.46 million 
square-feet of business facilities. Additionally, 20 incentive grants totaling $1.39 million helped leverage 
$53.23 million in new private investment, a ratio of 38 to 1. Highlights included creation of 85 new jobs 
by SANJO-Virginia Beach, 62 new jobs by Endurance IT Services, 30 new jobs each by Hill Investment 
Croup and Mythics, and 21 new jobs by Global Technical Services. 
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Airport Industrial Park.  The park encompasses 250 acres with four million square feet of light 
industrial and office space. The park is located in the northwestern part of the City and in the center of the 
region along Northampton Boulevard near where I-64 and Route 13 converge. It is adjacent to Joint 
Expeditionary Base Little Creek-Fort Story, making it a desirable location for defense contractors. 
National and international manufacturing, warehousing and distribution operations are located here.   
Notable tenants in the park include ARAI Americas (A.R.S. Manufacturing), Advanced Integrated 
Technologies, and UPS. The park is also home to the Mid-Atlantic Maritime Academy, a state-of-the-art 
vocational training center that offers 90+ U.S. Coast Guard deck courses and engineering courses. The 
academy benefits from the park's strategic location and the thousands of military veterans in the City and 
region who serve as both students and instructors. Port traffic and military bases nearby are huge 
economic engines that bring value to this area for future economic development. 

Centerville Business District. The Centerville district, located in the southwestern portion of the 
City and positioned along the borders of Norfolk and Chesapeake, is home to several large corporations 
and Regent University, the City's largest private college with specialties in law and communications. 

Served by an I-64 interchange along Indian River Road, the area is home to the Christian 
Broadcasting Network, which employs more than 1,000 people. Amerigroup, a subsidiary of Anthem, 
Inc., anchors an office park in Centerville with two corporate office buildings. This major health services 
and managed-care company employs approximately 4,500 people nationwide, and serves more than 2.7 
million customers in 13 states. 

The vision for the Centerville SGA is to become an education-oriented master-planned 
community that capitalizes on the regional access and visibility provided by I-64 and the existing 
institutional anchors of CBN and Regent University.  

Central Business District/Pembroke Area.  The Pembroke area is served by Interstate 264 and 
three major arterial roadways: Virginia Beach Boulevard, Witchduck Road and Independence Boulevard. 
The CBD encompasses 500 acres and 2.3 million square feet of low and high-rise office space in business 
parks including Town Center, Pembroke Office Park, Corporate Center and Convergence Center. 

Town Center, an emerging downtown core in the heart of Virginia Beach’s Central Business 
District, features a vibrant urban mix of upscale retail, Class A office space, luxury residential 
units, entertainment, performing arts center, a central park, and cultural facilities. The 25-acre 
development spans 17 city blocks. The ongoing mixed-use development encompasses more than 800,000 
square feet of Class A office space, 700,000 square feet of upscale retail, dining and business-class 
hotels.  To date, Armada Hoffler invested nearly $500 million in the Town Center of Virginia Beach in 
addition to $200 million of public investment.  

The entire area is serviced by free structured parking.  Among the notable businesses that call the 
area home is The Westin Virginia Beach Town Center - Virginia’s tallest building. Other major office 
tenants in Town Center include Armada Hoffler, HBA Architects, Troutman Sanders, Clark Nexsen, and 
Williams Mullen. Town Center’s success has also attracted a host of new national retailers, including 
Anthropologie, lululemon athletica, Free People and West Elm. 

Phases I, II, III and V, as described below, are complete. Phase IV is on hold indefinitely.  The 
development agreement for Phase VI was approved by City Council in December 2015. 

Phase I included the construction of a 21-story, 254,000 square-foot Class “A” office tower, two-
story and five-story self-contained office/retail buildings, totaling approximately 93,000 square feet, a 
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176–room, business-class Hilton Garden Inn Hotel, a two story Towne Bank, and a 1,284-space parking 
garage. 

Phase II included the construction of four additional blocks of property containing 341 residential 
luxury apartments in the Cosmopolitan building, 232,500 square feet of retail and office space, and two 
parking garages with a total of 1,430 parking spaces. 

The Phase III Development Agreement between the Virginia Beach Development Authority and 
the Town Center Associates, LLC was approved in September 2005, and a modification to the agreement 
was approved in June 2006.  Phase III includes a 37-story, 236–room Westin Hotel and 119 luxury 
condominiums which opened in December 2007, 36,500 square feet of retail space, a structured parking 
garage with 735 public parking spaces and 212 private parking spaces, the 84,000 square-foot, 1,200 seat 
Sandler Center for the Performing Arts which opened in November 2007 and a 5-story 90,000 square-foot 
building consisting of Class A office and retail space.  The Westin Virginia Beach Town Center Hotel and 
Residences is the tallest building in the Commonwealth at 500 feet to the tip of its architectural spire. 

Phase V of Town Center began construction in January 2013, and includes a 212,998 square foot 
office tower, 290 apartments, 26,600 square feet of retail, and approximately 900 parking spaces in a 
structured garage.  Clark Nexsen is the anchor tenant for the new office tower which was completed in 
summer 2014.  New-to-the-market retail tenants in Town Center include: West Elm, Anthropologie, 
LuluLemon, Francesca’s, Destination Maternity, Free People, Paper Source and Tupelo Honey Café 
opened their first Southeast Virginia restaurant in Summer 2015.   

Phase VI represents the highest ratio of private versus public investment, with more than $11 of 
private sector investment for every $1 of public investment.  The $41 million project will feature a nine 
story mixed use building including 33,000 sf of new retail space, a 5,000 square foot restaurant, 131 new 
studio and one-bedroom apartments, an elevated public plaza and a $7.6 million privately funded 300-seat 
experimental theater.  The Virginia Beach Development Authority approved the development agreement 
for this project in May 2016. The construction is scheduled to be completed in summer 2018.  

Spinoff projects due to the success of Town Center include Pembroke Mall expansion and 
redevelopment highlighted by the region’s first REI and Nordstrom Rack retail stores, the region’s first 
urban-style Wal-Mart located two blocks to the west of Town Center, the CityView mixed project on 
Bonney Road, and Convergence Center V, a new 50,000 square foot Class A office building with parking 
deck that opened March 2015. The Virginia Beach Development Authority approved a Development 
Agreement for the $62 million CityView 2 mixed use development in October 2017. Wegmans, a family 
owned regional supermarket chain, broke ground on its first Hampton Roads location in the Town 
Center/Central Business District area of Virginia Beach. When completed in 2018, the 130,000-square-
foot store will include a parking deck in front and a mezzanine level for café seating with the look and 
feel of European open-air markets. In November 2017, a 120-room Resident Inn hotel broke ground with 
anticipated completion of fall 2018.  

Newtown Business District.  The Newtown Business District has a highly visible location 
Newtown Road in the center of the region and at the convergence of major highways including the I-64/I-
264 interchange. It is adjacent to the Tide Light Rail connecting to the City of Norfolk. Containing a 
diverse array of light industrial, corporate office and retail firms, this area is ideal for future economic 
development opportunities. This location makes it highly attractive to businesses seeking easy access to 
the interstate system and regional highways. The Newtown Business District currently contains 1,037,997 
square feet of office space, 567,898 square feet of light industrial and flex space, 904,960 square feet of 
hospitality space, and 59,842 square feet of retail. TopGolf recently opened a $30 million golf 
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entertainment center, which since opening Dec 28, 2015 has been one of the top 3 performing facilities in 
the TopGolf family. 

Hilltop Business District.  The Hilltop Business District is close to the oceanfront resort area and 
benefits from being flanked by well-established neighborhoods with high-median household 
incomes. Home to many specialty retailers, including the region's only Whole Foods Market, Hilltop is 
primarily known as the high-end shopping and dining corridor of Virginia Beach. A highly-trafficked and 
easily accessible destination, Hilltop can be reached via an I-264 interchange, as well as Virginia Beach 
Boulevard, Oceana Boulevard, First Colonial Road and Laskin Road. Other major retailers with locations 
in the district include: Whole Foods, Trader Joe's, Fresh Market, Kirkland's, and Target. 

Oceana West Corporate Park/Lynnhaven Corridor.  The park encompasses 1,100 acres and 
currently contains 1.76 million square feet of low and mid-rise suburban office space and 5.5 million 
square feet of light industrial space.  Corporate citizens in Oceana West and adjacent business parks 
represent a wide variety of domestic and foreign firms including corporate headquarters, manufacturing, 
warehousing and distribution operations. The 90-acre North American headquarters campus for STIH L, a 
German manufacturer of power tools and equipment, is located in the park, as is a customer care center 
for Avalon Bay, one of the nation’s leading apartment developer and managers. Other major employers in 
the park include ADS Tactical Inc., Bush Manufacturing, IMS: Gear, Kettler International and Sanjo 
Corte Fino.  

Barcelona-based Sanjo Corte Fino is slated to open a 24,000 square foot manufacturing facility in 
Virginia Beach in December 2017. Occupying four acres, the facility will provide 85 jobs over the next 
three years.  

Oceana (APZ-1).  YesOceana, Virginia Beach’s award-winning Oceana Land Use Conformity 
Program, was created to help reduce the incompatible land uses surrounding Naval Air Station Oceana, 
the Navy’s East Coast Master Jet Base. NAS Oceana generates over 16,000 jobs with a total payroll of 
more than $1 billion and is one of the most important components of the Virginia Beach economy. 

Oceanfront/Resort Business District. The Oceanfront Resort area district is home to a 
growing concentration of retail and corporate office space. The 31Ocean development, with a newly 
completed 59,000-square-foot office building and 50,000 square feet of retail space, is in the district, 
along with two Class A office towers anchored by Towne Bank. Located near the Virginia Beach 
Oceanfront, the ViBe Creative District is the newest art and cultural hub in Virginia Beach. 

The area also is home to the Virginia Beach Convention Center, a state-of-the-art 525,125 
gross square foot facility with over 150,000 square feet of column-free exhibit space, nearly 29,000 
square feet of meeting space, and over 31,000 square feet ballroom space (one of the largest on the east 
coast), and 2,209 free parking spaces. 

Rosemont Business District.  Rosemont is located in the center of the city east of the 
Pembroke/Town Center area, and is served by an I-264 interchange and two major crossing arterials. 
Rosemont has been designated as a future transit stop. This strategic growth area is attractive to 
businesses seeking easy access to transportation and serving the vast residential neighborhoods that 
surround it. The addition of transit will increase the value of Rosemont as an area of future economic 
development at higher densities.  Multiple retail centers in the district are looking to capitalize on 
a location along the City's most heavily trafficked roadway. 

Corporate Landing Business Park.  The park is located only 5 miles from I-264 via four-lane, 
divided arterial roads, and is within one mile of two major retail power centers: Red Mill Commons and 
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Landstown Commons. It encompasses over 325 acres and is owned and operated by the City of Virginia 
Beach Development Authority.  163 acres are presently available for headquarters, professional services, 
research and development, office buildings, retail and data centers.  This master-planned, multi-faceted 
park contains 38 acres of lakes, jogging trails, green space and recreational opportunities.  Corporate 
citizens include regional offices, high-tech manufacturing, and world headquarters, such as: GEICO (with 
more than 2700 employees) Liberty Tax (with a nationwide network of more than 30,000 tax preparers), 
JES, and the East Coast headquarters of Green Flash Brewing Company. 

Telefónica, a Spanish telecom company, has constructed a 24,000-square-foot cable landing 
station to support two new ultra-high speed transatlantic fiber optic telecommunication cables that 
have landed in Corporate Landing. The first one MAREA, owned by Microsoft, Facebook, and 
Telefónica, brought the first ultra-high-speed 160 terabit fiber optic cable from Bilbao, Spain to Corporate 
Landing. BRUSA, owned by Telefónica, will bring the second cable from Rio de Janeiro, Brazil to 
Virginia Beach in the first quarter of 2018. The cable landing station in Corporate Landing provides high 
capacity, reliable connectivity options to carriers, data center and colocation facility operators. 

Princess Anne BioCorridor. The Virginia Beach Development Authority accepted ownership of 
155 acres of land in this corridor for the future development of a bio/health science research park to 
support the city’s new bio science business cluster initiative. The park is expected to accommodate up to 
1 million square feet of new commercial space. The Development Authority also opened its first bio-
accelerator in partnership with Tidewater Community College in Spring 2016. The 1,500 square foot 
space has been fully leased.  

Other Developments.  Throughout Virginia Beach there are many additional smaller nodes of 
office and commercial activity including Little Neck, Oceanfront, Birdneck/Laskin Road, First Colonial 
and Kempsville.  Recent improvements to Witchduck and Kempsville Roads have led to significant 
redevelopment opportunities in the Historic Kempsville Community, at the intersection of Kempsville 
and Princess Anne Roads. Beginning with the repurposing of the former Kempsville High School into a 
$30 million, 24 unit urban loft apartment complex surrounded by new construction multi-family 
development. The City has also created a 3 acre park, and with the Virginia Beach Development 
Authority is moving forward with the acquisition of properties to support a master planned mixed-use 
redevelopment. 

Tax Increment Financing Districts 

The City is one of the first localities in the Commonwealth to use Tax Increment Financing 
(“TIF”) districts as a means of supporting certain capital projects, usually involving one or more private 
or public partners.  Tax Increment Financing is authorized under Sections 58.1-3245 through 58.1-3245.5 
of the Code of Virginia, originally enacted in 1988.  The City established three TIF districts to fund its 
share of three investment partnerships: the Lynnhaven Mall Expansion, the Sandbridge Beach Restoration 
Program and the Town Center of Virginia Beach.  The City’s funding commitment to each of the projects 
is paid through incremental tax revenues generated by each project in the related TIF district.  In FY 
2012, fourteen years after it was created, the Lynnhaven Mall TIF district was dissolved after the City’s 
commitment to the developer was met. The City continues to collect and apply the incremental revenue of 
the two remaining TIF Districts in accordance with the project development agreements. The City has not 
incurred debt for any of the TIF projects through the issuance of Tax Increment Financing Bonds. 

 
Sandbridge Beach Restoration Program:  The Sandbridge area of the City was established as a 

TIF district by ordinance approved by City Council on December 1, 1998.  An important real estate and 
aesthetic asset to the City, this area has long battled sand erosion.  The City continues to pursue a multi-
front strategy of funding sand replenishment, including seeking federal funds, using local funds, and 
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establishing a Special Service District.  The use of TIF is another method to ensure stability to this area 
and to ensure that the primary beneficiaries of the program fund the bulk of the improvements. As of June 
30, 2017, $ 113.7 million in incremental real estate taxes have been collected for sand replenishment 
since establishment of the TIF, of which $79.4million was declared excess over expected future project 
costs and returned to the General Fund over the last ten years.  No debt has been issued or is planned to be 
issued for this program. 
 

The Town Center of Virginia Beach:  The southern part of the Pembroke area of the City was 
established as a Tax Increment Financing district by ordinance approved by City Council on November 
23, 1999.  The district is called Central Business District-South.  The 33-acre core area features “Class-A” 
high-rise office space, upscale retail space, hotels, restaurants and upscale residential apartments and 
condominiums, all within a “village green” park setting.  The Town Center is supported by free public 
parking in several enclosed parking garages set within the center.  The City has funded approximately $16 
million for the public infrastructure and over $67 million for the parking garages and other public 
components through Phase III.  The City invested another $1.0 million in public infrastructure and $20.1 
million for a garage in Phase V (Phase IV is on hold), which was completed in FY 2015.  The 
development agreement for Phase VI was approved by City Council in May 2016.  The City will invest 
$1.0 million for streetscapes and a pedestrian bridge and $2.9 million for a public plaza.  Construction 
began in September 2016 with expected completion in spring 2018. The City’s investment leverages over 
$487 million of private sector investment.  The City also benefits from increased personal, retail sales, 
admissions, restaurant, utility, business property, and license taxes.  As of June 30, 2017, $69.7 million in 
incremental real estate and hotel tax revenues have been collected in the Central Business District South 
TIF Special Revenue Fund, which includes $3.75 million in hotel taxes which were generated within the 
core area of Town Center and transferred to the CBD-S TIF. Certain public infrastructure for the Town 
Center project was financed by the City through bonds issued by the Authority.  It is expected that real 
estate tax revenues generated in the Town Center TIF District, along with core area hotel taxes, will be 
sufficient to pay the debt service on these prior Authority bond issues. The tax increment revenues and 
special taxes are not pledged to the payment of the Authority bonds.  See the section entitled “Virginia 
Beach Development Authority Appropriation-Based Debt” for further discussion on Authority bonds 
issued for the benefit of the City. 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH 

MAJOR PRIVATE EMPLOYERS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2017  

 
 Employer Industry 
 1000 and over employees   

 Sentara Healthcare Hospitals 
 Wal Mart General Merchandise Stores 
 Stihl Machinery Manufacturing 
 Anthem Insurance Carriers and Related Activities 
 Professional Hospitality Administrative and Support Services 
 Food Lion Food and Beverage Stores 
 Kinetix Staffing and Recruiting Administrative and Support Services 
 Christian Broadcasting Network Broadcasting (except Internet) 

  Farm Fresh Food and Beverage Stores 
   
 500 to 999 employees   
 New American Mortgage LLC Credit Intermediation and Related Activities 
 Regent University Educational Services 
 GEICO, Government Employees Insurance Insurance Carriers and Related Activities 
 Kroger Food and Beverage Stores 
 Lifenet Ambulatory Health Care Services 
 Onsite Engineering & Mana Inc Administrative and Support Services 
 Hall Automotive LLC Motor Vehicle and Parts Dealers 
 The Home Depot Building Material and Garden Equipment and Supplies Dealers 
 Checkered Flag Motor Vehicle and Parts Dealers 
 Westminster Canterbury Nursing and Residential Care Facilities 
 Catholic Diocese of Richmond Educational Services 
 Harris Teeter Supermarket Food and Beverage Stores 
 Architectural Graphics Inc Miscellaneous Manufacturing 

 McDonald's Food Services and Drinking Places 
 Towne Bank Credit Intermediation and Related Activities 

   
 250 to 499 employees   
 Target Corp General Merchandise Stores 

 Norfolk Cent YMCA Religious, Grantmaking, Civic, Professional, and Similar 
Organizations 

 Gretna Health Care Center Nursing and Residential Care Facilities 
 Remedy Staffing Administrative and Support Services 
 Red Lobster & The Olive Garden Food Services and Drinking Places 
 Aor Management Co of Virginia Inc Ambulatory Health Care Services 
 Topgolf Virginia Beach Amusement, Gambling, and Recreation Industries 
 International Marketing Administrative and Support Services 
 Atlantic Bay Mortgage Group Management of Companies and Enterprises 
 U.P.S. Couriers and Messengers 
 Liberty Tax Service Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services 
 Atlantic Shores Nursing and Residential Care Facilities 
 Sutherland Global Services Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services 
 OS Restaurant Services, Inc. Food Services and Drinking Places 
 Amsec Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services 
 Securities Security Service USA Inc Administrative and Support Services 
 Lowes' Home Centers, Inc. Building Material and Garden Equipment and Supplies Dealers 
 ECPI College of Technology Educational Services 

    
Source: Virginia Employment Commission. 
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Retail Sales 

The table presented below is a summary of the City’s taxable retail sales from point-of-sales 
transactions; it does not include sales, which are exempt from tax. Specifically exempt from the sales tax 
under Sections 58.1-600 et seq. of the Virginia Retail Sales and Use Tax Act are sales of alcoholic 
beverages in government stores, sales of certain motor vehicles, trailers and semitrailers, mobile homes, 
and travel trailers, and sales of certain motor vehicle fuels.  Also, the figures do not include the significant 
amount of non-taxable sales on military bases in the City. And, because the retail sales data does not 
include non-point of sales transactions, such as Amazon sales and other non-point of sales made 
increasingly by businesses; taxable retail sales attributable to Virginia Beach may be under-stated. As 
shown in the table, annual taxable retail sales have increased by 17.0% % from 2006 through calendar 
year 2016. 

 
TAXABLE RETAIL SALES 

 
Calendar Year Taxable Retail Sales 

 
2006(1) 4,726,601,202 
2007 4,937,885,412 
2008 4,841,022,729 
2009 4,638,871,814 
2010 4,690,141,163 
2011 4,738,333,394 
2012 4,946,894,714 
2013 5,064,938,738 
2014 5,159,858,692 
2015 5,374,616,764 
2016 5,530,431,346 
2017 through June 2,674,016,963 

    
Source: Virginia Department of Taxation 

(1) In 2006 the Virginia Department of Taxation changed its methodology for calculating taxable retail sales 

Tourism and Conventions 

Total 2016 visitor spending as reported by the U.S. Travel Association was a record high $1.49 
billion, exceeding 2015’s spending volume of $1.4 billion.  Visitor activity generated $132.1 million in 
City and State tax revenues in 2016, up from $122 million in 2015.  In 2016, the tourism and convention 
industry supported 13,650 jobs in the City to serve the many visitors year-round.  

  
 Customer loyalty remained high in 2016 with repeat visitation of approximately 79%. 
 
Hotel performance increased during 2016.  Citywide annual hotel occupancy for 2016 increased 

to 62.7% from 59.4% in 2015, according to Smith Travel Research data.  In the more important key 
indicators of hotel revenue per available room (RevPAR) and total revenue for the year, the Virginia 
Beach hotel industry performance was up, again according to Smith Travel:  Annual RevPAR was up 
7.5% in 2016, from $73.06 in 2015 to $78.52, and total hotel revenue increased from $264,693,592 in 
2015 to $285,197,449. Both Annual RevPAR and total hotel revenue increased over the previous record 
highs set in 2015. 
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Revenue for all lodging in the city, which includes hotels, vacation home rentals and 
campgrounds, totaled $355.5 million for 2016, a 5.2% increase over 2015, according to official city tax 
receipts. 

  
Overnight visitation to Virginia Beach reached 7.1 million during 2016 according to Longwoods 

International, a 10.9%increase over 2015.  Day visitors in 2016 climbed to 8.1 million, up 8% from 2015, 
according to Longwoods. 

For Fiscal Year 2017, the Meeting and Convention Sales and Sports Marketing Division booked a 
total of 227 future meetings/events extending through 2022. These bookings represent a total of more than 
175,000 room nights. Approximately 50.38% of the room nights booked are for clients using space at the 
Convention Center. 

One of the most significant measures of any convention center is the number of room nights it 
generates in area hotels. For Fiscal Year 2016-2017, 101,136 room nights citywide were occupied. 

  
In 2015 the Virginia Beach oceanfront Visitor Information Center, located off Interstate 264, 

became the first visitor center in the country to achieve LEED® Gold certification for Existing Buildings; 
at the same time. Sustainability measures at the LEED® Gold Virginia Beach Convention Center 
(VBCC) continue to save the City money on energy and set an example for other area businesses.  The 
Center began significant maintenance and improvement projects drawing from a six year $10 million CIP 
fund. The Center has hosted over 6.6 million visitors since opening in 2005 and generated 1.3 million 
room nights in Virginia Beach hotels. 

  
Virginia Beach currently has more than 10,200 hotel rooms with about 6,600 rooms located in the 

Resort Area.  There are several key tourism-related projects, in various stages of discussion and review, 
intended to continue the forward the momentum of the industry.  These include a sports center to support 
the demand for sports tourism adjacent to the VBCC, two hotel projects including the restoration and 
reopening of the Historic Cavalier Hotel and a potential Entertainment Complex at the eastern end of the 
19th Street Corridor.. 

  
Tourism and convention activity generate tax revenue for the City, particularly in the form of a 

hotel room and meal tax, as illustrated in the table below.  Since Fiscal Year 2005, hotel room and meal 
tax receipts have increased by an average of approximately 3.8% per year. 
 

HOTEL ROOM AND MEAL TAX AND 
RESTAURANT TAX RECEIPTS 

FISCAL YEARS 2008 THROUGH 2017 
 

Fiscal Year Hotel Meal Total Tax Receipts 

2008 $ 24,844,666 $  48,069,618       $ 72,914,284  
2009       23,875,687  48,304,462          72,180,149  
2010       23,735,795  48,442,376          72,178,171  
2011       25,292,297  50,594,181          75,886,478  
2012       26,110,557  53,254,313          79,364,870  
2013       27,227,769  55,122,465          82,350,234  
2014       27,404,926  56,872,794          84,277,720  
2015       28,685,907  59,968,375          88,654,282  
2016    30,595,133     63,437,485          94,032,618 
2017    32,805,597    65,207,699          98,013,296 

____________________ 

Source: City Department of Finance. 
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Military 

 Military bases located within the City of Virginia Beach include Naval Station – Oceana 
and Oceana Naval Air Station Dam Neck Annex (“NAS Oceana”), Joint Expeditionary Base Little Creek-
Fort Story (“JEB”), and Camp Pendleton/State Military Reservation (“SMR”).  The total direct economic 
impact of NAS Oceana and JEB bases on the City’s economy is $2.52 billion for FY 2016, including 
expenditures for the procurement of goods and services to support operations of the military bases. 

 
NAS Oceana is the United States Navy’s East Coast Master Jet Base. It supports the training and 

deployment of the Navy’s Atlantic and Pacific Fleet FA-18 C/D Hornet and FA-18E/F Super Hornet 
squadrons. Four carrier air wings are home-based at NAS Oceana and deploy with carrier strike groups 
embarking from Naval Station Norfolk.  Strike Fighter Wing Atlantic, which staffs, trains, and equips 18 
FA-18 Hornet and Super Hornet squadrons, is also located at NAS Oceana. Naval Auxiliary Landing 
Field (NALF) Fentress, located 7 miles southwest of NAS Oceana in Chesapeake, Virginia, is equipped 
to simulate aircraft carrier flight decks and supports training operations by strike fighter squadrons from 
NAS Oceana.  NAS Oceana is home to approximately 330 aircraft with 19 squadrons of F/A-18 Hornets 
and Super Hornets fighter/attack aircraft and one C-40A (Navy 737 variant) squadron.     

 
NAS Oceana Dam Neck Annex’s primary mission is to provide training in the operation and 

employment of combat direction and control systems. The base is located on 1,919 acres and includes 3.2 
miles of coastline along the Atlantic Ocean. Dam Neck Annex is home to 20 operational, training and 
support commands, and provides the highest quality, most up-to-date training in intelligence, synthetic 
warfare, aviation maintenance, administration and management, survival, evasion, resistance and escape 
training and conventional weapons training. Base personnel train 20,000 students annually in over 210 
courses of instruction.  

 
NAS Oceana, with a $1.36 billion economic impact, has 11,067 active duty personnel, 10,664 

family members and 6,299 civilian employees with $1.06 billion in payroll totaling $1.36 billion with 
goods and services annually. 

 
JEB is the primary East Coast base supporting overseas contingency operations with 130 resident 

commands, including 3 flag officers.  JEB is the result of a 2009 merger of the former Little Creek Naval 
Amphibious Base (Department of the Navy) and Fort Story (Department of the Army). The former Little 
Creek Naval Amphibious Base is the Navy's east coast major operating base for the expeditionary forces 
of the U.S. Atlantic Fleet comprised of 3,947 acres of land including 61 piers and 7.6 miles of beachfront 
and 126 training sites.  The former Fort Story was established as a coast artillery post in 1916.  It is home 
to the 11th Transportation Battalion and provides an advanced joint training venue utilized by Navy, 
Marine Corps and Army. The joint base was recognized as an irreplaceable “National Joint Training 
Asset,” offering joint logistics over the shore training and a nearly full mission profile for special 
operations training.  The merged base is the biggest military employer in Virginia Beach, with 16,009 
active duty personnel accompanied by 12,260 family members and 3,779 civilian employees with an 
estimated payroll of $992.3 million in FY 2016.   

 
SMR is a Virginia Army National Guard facility located just south of the main resort area of 

Virginia Beach. The facility was originally laid out on approximately 400 acres in 1911 with construction 
beginning in 1912. Today, SMR occupies approximately 300 acres with an additional 27 acres leased 
from the federal government. The Guard currently leases a number of the buildings, particularly the 
WWII barracks, to various military and civilian agencies. The 203rd REDHORSE Flight unit is a 
construction and repair unit for the Virginia Air National Guard, and its headquarters is located at SMR. 
The Camp Pendleton/State Military Reservation Historic District was listed on the Virginia Landmarks 
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Register in June 2004 and on the National Register of Historic Places in September 2005 as the City’s 
first and only, to date, state and national register historic districts. 

 
The City of Virginia Beach remains committed to the Oceana Land Use and Conformity Program 

that it implemented to reduce encroachment surrounding NAS Oceana and reduce or eliminate the land 
uses deemed incompatible with the mission of NAS Oceana.  The program has included a multi-pronged 
effort including creation of zoning/land-use laws to control development surrounding NAS Oceana; the 
acquisition of property containing non-conforming land uses from willing sellers within the highest 
accident potential zones, the acquisition of property within the flight path between NAS Oceana and 
NALF Fentress; and provision of economic incentives for compatible land-uses, such as relocation 
assistance and fee and tax rebates.  From FY 2007 through FY 2014, the City and the Commonwealth of 
Virginia contributed a combined total of $15 million per year, split 50/50, to this program through a 
capital project funded annually in the City’s Capital Improvement Program.  In FY 2015, the sum was 
reduced to a combined total of $7.8 million. Thereafter, the state funding ceased, but the City has 
continued to fund the program, allocating $2.5 million in FY 2016 and $1 million in FY 2017.  The 
program has been funded from the sales and leases of acquired parcels, and through a partnership with the 
Navy for the sale of easements over acquired properties.  The resulting program has rolled back 
encroachment and serves as a model program nationally for any locality grappling with encroachment and 
uses deemed incompatible with military installations.  

 
In total, over $130 million has been spent through FY 2017 to acquire non-conforming homes and 

businesses from willing sellers. Since inception, more than 1,700 incompatible uses have been 
permanently eliminated from the Clear Zones and Accident Potential Zones surrounding NAS Oceana.  
The City has committed a total of $3.2 million to 43 businesses to promote compatible uses within the 
APZ-1 district. The Virginia Beach Development Authority has awarded $2.7 million in Economic 
Development Investment Program (EDIP) grants for projects under the program, leveraging more than 
$50 million in new and retained private investment. For FY 2017, $485,000 in incentive grants were 
awarded to seven companies to generate $12.6 million in new and retained private investment.  

 
The Southern Economic Development Council (SEDC), the largest regional economic 

development organization in North America, recognized the City’s encroachment reduction program by 
awarding the Community Economic Development Award (CEDA) for 2016. The program previously 
received the CEDA award at the state level from the Virginia Economic Developers Association.  The 
award recognizes excellence in Economic Development through the following efforts: Business Retention 
and Expansion; Business Recruitment; Community Development; and Community Involvement. Virginia 
Beach received the 2014 Gold Excellence Award for Real Estate Redevelopment & Reuse from the 
International Economic Development Council (IEDC). The Association of Defense Communities 
(“ADC”) recognized Mayor Sessoms as its Elected Official of the Year in 2012 and NAS Oceana as its 
Active Base Community of the Year in 2010, in recognition of its community partnership with the City. 

The City’s program has further been recognized by the International Right of Way Association 
and the International Economic Development Council.  

 
In October 2015, Congress passed the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, which lifts the 

sequestration caps on defense spending by $40 billion over the next two fiscal years.  In December 2015, 
Congress passed and the president signed a $1.14 trillion spending bill authorizing spending put forth in 
the budget policy bill.   There may be additional relief from sequestration in the future, but it would not 
alter the trend towards a smaller, active-duty military force.  Congress is supportive of increasing defense 
spending to maintain military readiness and address modernization gaps. On November 16, 2017, 
Congress submitted to the President for signature the National Defense Authorization Act (NDAA) 
totaling $700 billion that exceeds the $549 million cap for defense spending; the NDAA includes a 2.4 
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percent military pay increase and adds more than 20,000 service members, 90 new joint strike fighters to 
the military’s fleet, and a third new littoral combat ship. If Congress removes the defense spending caps 
and appropriates funding for the plan, it could have positive impacts for the City and region.  

 
(Sources: The Navy Region Mid-Atlantic Hampton Roads Area FY-2016 Economic Impact 

Report; City of Virginia Beach Comprehensive Plan, 2016; Naval Air Station Oceana Command Brief, 
presented to the Hampton Roads Chamber of Commerce, October 4, 2017; City of Virginia Beach, 
Department of Economic Development; Joint Expeditionary Base Little Creek-Fort Story Public Affairs 
Office; 2017 State of  the Region Report, Old Dominion University;  The Associated Press/The 
Virginian-Pilot, “Congress sends Trump $700 billion military policy legislation”, Richard Lardner, 
November 17, 2017; Military Times, “Congress' $700B Defense Authorization Deal Adds 20,000 Troops, 
Rejects Space Corps"  November 8, 2017)  

Medical Facilities 

Medical facilities in the City have expanded over the last few years.  One of the premier hospitals 
in the region, Sentara Virginia Beach General, underwent major renovations to improve services to its 
patients.  The 276-bed acute-care facility features trauma services 24/7, stroke center, cancer center, and 
many other health care services. It is the region’s only Level III Trauma Center and home to the Sentara 
Heart Center. Sentara Princess Anne Hospital is a 160-bed acute care hospital, and employs 968 people.  
It serves Southern Virginia Beach as well as neighboring Chesapeake and northeastern North Carolina 
communities. “Sentara Princess Anne Hospital, in partnership with Bon Secours Virginia, brings quality 
clinical outcomes, experienced physicians, award winning patient safety initiatives, advanced technology 
and a patient-centered approach to care for patients. Combined with more than 100 physicians and 
services offered on the multiple campus medical office buildings, Sentara Princess Anne Hospital is a 
comprehensive healthcare destination for the community.”  In addition, there are 20 urgent care centers 
for medical assistance throughout the City.  Approximately 1,148 licensed doctors utilize the medical 
facilities in the City and approximately 527 dentists practice in the City.  (Source:  reference USA 
database, Virginia Board of Medicine, Sentara http://www.sentara.com/hampton-roads-virginia) 

Agribusiness 

In 2016, the Agribusiness sector of Virginia Beach’s economy continued to grow and provide a 
sustainable industry for the local economy.  The agricultural industry serves as one of the key industries 
for the City with 9,584 acres of production land enrolled in the City Agricultural Reserve Program (ARP) 
thus preserving this land for farm land preservation. In addition to these preserved acres there is another 
18,000+ acres in agriculture farm land being farmed.  In 2016 (2017 figures not yet available), the 
economic impact of the agricultural industry was estimated at $124.6 million and made up of a diverse 
AG business sector including production agriculture (soybeans, corn, wheat), fruits & vegetables (over 24 
different locally grown products including the areas highly regarded strawberry crop), equine, livestock, 
and agritourism. Forty-four square miles of the City’s 248 square miles of land consist of farmland and 
forestland.  This land base supports over 200 farms and farm related businesses that contribute to the 
environment, quality of life, and economy of the city and the region. The natural attraction of the farm 
operations, green space, and the City’s Farmers Market draws tour buses from outside the region, tourist 
excursions, farm educational tours, and children’s agricultural educational program tours.  The City has a 
year around farmers market that serves the community with local goods and products as well as offering 
community events such as Friday Night Hoe Downs, AG Theme Festivals and AG Educational events 
such as Farm Days, Harvest Fair, and Honey Festival.  Agriculture continues to grow and is expected to 
be a sustainable long term viable economic engine for the City of Virginia Beach. 
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Education 

Available within the City is a wide variety of educational facilities and programs, including 
public elementary, middle and high schools, nine specialized academies, private and parochial schools, 
and eight higher educational facilities.  In terms of public enrollment, the City’s public school system is 
the largest city school system in the Commonwealth. 

 
PUBLIC EDUCATION FACILITIES/PROGRAMS 

June 30, 2017 

55 Elementary Schools 
14 Middle Schools 
11 High Schools 
1 Technical and Career Education Center 
1 Advanced Technology Center 
1 Green Run Collegiate which is a Public Charter School 

  
1 Brickell Academy at Old Donation School** 
  
  
1 Plaza Middle School Middle Years International Baccalaureate Program   
1 Princess Anne High School International Baccalaureate Magnet Center  
  
1 Bayside High School Health Sciences Academy 
1 
1 

First Colonial High School Legal Studies Academy 
Kempsville High School Entrepreneurship and Business Academy 

1 Landstown High School Governor's STEM* & Technology Academy 
1 Salem High School Visual and Performing Arts Academy 
1 Tallwood High School Global Studies and World Languages Academy 
1 Ocean Lakes High School Math and Science Academy 
  

1 Adult Learning Center 
1 Juvenile Detention Center 
1 
 

Renaissance Academy 
 

    
Source: Business Services Office, Virginia Beach City Public Schools 

**  Formerly Old Donation Center and Kemps Landing Magnet 
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Public Schools.  The City’s public school March 31 average daily membership totaled 67,152 for 
the 2016-17 school year, a decrease of 1.10 percent over the previous year.  Summarized below are the 
March 31 average daily membership and annual percentage change for the school year 2007-2008 to 
school year 2016-2017. 

 
PUBLIC SCHOOLS STUDENT POPULATION 

SCHOOL YEARS 2007-2008 TO 2016-2017 

School Year Number of Students Percent Change 
2007-08 70,473 (1.37)% 
2008-09 69,335 (1.61) 
2009-10 69,225 (0.16) 
2010-11 69,219 (0.01) 
2011-12 68,977 (0.35) 
2012-13 68,614 (0.53) 
2013-14 68,569 (0.07) 
2014-15 68,351 (0.32) 
2015-16 67,890 (0.68) 
2016-17 67,152 (1.10) 

    
Source: Business Services Office, Virginia Beach City Public Schools. 
 

Private and Parochial Schools.  According to The Virginia Council for Private Education, there 
are 19 accredited private and parochial schools in the City of Virginia Beach.  Approximately 5,000 
students are enrolled in these schools.  (Sources: http://nces.ed.gov/globallocator/; www.vais.org; 
http://www.vcpe.org/; school web sites). 

http://www.vcpe.org/; school web sites). 

Higher Education 

Virginia Beach’s higher educational resources include the Virginia Beach Higher Education 
Center, Virginia Wesleyan College, Tidewater Community College, the Advanced Technology Center, 
and Regent University.  Virginia Beach is also home to branch campuses of Bryant & Stratton College, 
Centura College, ECPI University, Hampton University, Saint Leo University, South University, Strayer 
University, Southern Illinois University, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, and The Art 
Institute of Atlanta. Town Center area is the location for four of these branch campuses: The Art Institute 
of Virginia Beach, Hampton University’s The College of Virginia Beach, University of Phoenix, and 
Strayer University. 

Tidewater Community College (TCC), with an annual enrollment of 34,397 students over four 
main campuses, is a division of the Virginia Community College System. The Virginia Beach campus has 
an enrollment of approximately 19,274 students. TCC offers the first two years of university-parallel 
instruction and over 140 career and technical programs.  TCC is Hampton Road’s largest provider of 
higher education and workforce development services. TCC is a resource for business and industry to 
gain technical employees, as well as expertise for training and retraining programs for current employees. 
TCC’s Regional Health Professions Center (RHPC) is located on the Virginia Beach Campus.  This 
65,000 square-foot, three-story facility is where students learn in a simulated hospital, lab, paramedic and 
doctor’s office environment. The 120,000- square- foot Joint-Use Library, built by TCC and the City of 
Virginia Beach, opened in August, 2013. The 89,000 square-foot Student Center opened in January, 2014.  
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It includes a Welcome & Information Center, Barnes and Noble bookstore, a fitness center, a gym, a 
study lounge and more for students, staff and guests.  Source: https://www.tcc.edu/about-tcc  

 
 Virginia Wesleyan University is a four-year liberal arts private college located on the Virginia 

Beach/Norfolk boundary line. It was chartered in 1961 and founded by the United Methodist Church. It 
has an enrollment of approximately 1,500 students. There are approximately 35 majors in the 
undergraduate program including Criminal Justice, Foreign Languages and Literatures, and Mathematics 
and Computer Science.  Source:  https://www.vwu.edu/ 

 
Regent University, founded in 1978, has an enrollment of approximately 10,229. Regent consists 

of seven graduate schools and one undergraduate school.  Regent offers more than 128  accredited areas 
of study. Graduate schools include Business & Leadership, Education, Government, Law, Divinity, 
Psychology & Counseling, and  Communications & Arts.  Source: www.regent.edu 

   
The Virginia Beach Higher Education Center.  The Virginia Beach Higher Education Center 

opened in 1999 through a partnership of the City of Virginia Beach, Old Dominion University (ODU) and 
Norfolk State University (NSU).  This partnership continues today among the City of Virginia Beach, Old 
Dominion University, Norfolk State University and Tidewater Community College. The Center also hosts 
the following organizations or programs: ODU’s Institute for Learning in Retirement (ILR) and the 
Virginia Tidewater Consortium for Higher Education.  ODU offers undergraduate degrees in 
Communication, Psychology, Teacher Preparation, Work and Professional Studies, and more. Master’s 
Degrees include Education, Accounting, Military Career Transition Program, Engineering Management, 
Nurse Anesthesia, and more.  NSU offers Certificate Courses in Medical Billing and Coding, Medical 
Assistant, and more; Continuing Education Units, Credit classes in many subjects, and a Masters in 
Criminal Justice   Source: www.odu.edu/vabeach; https://www.nsu.edu/Academics/Faculty-and-
Academic-Divisions/Virginia-Beach-Higher-Education-Center 

 

The Advanced Technology Center (ATC) is a special Commonwealth of Virginia state/city 
partnership of Tidewater Community College, Virginia Beach Public Schools, and the City of Virginia 
Beach.  The state provided $10 million and contributed the land. The City of Virginia Beach provided 
$12.5 million in funding.  Through its partnership with the Virginia Beach Department of Economic 
Development, the Advanced Technology Center offers industry-certified training for high-school, college 
and continuing education students in areas that include, but are not limited to: Training and development, 
high-performance manufacturing, marine services and water transportation, telecommunications, radio 
and television, special communication services, and computer hardware and software development.  This 
training, along with the Virginia Beach Public School’s Workforce Readiness Program, ensures that 
Virginia Beach students have the skills that employers are looking for in today’s fast-paced and tech-
savvy marketplace. ATC has a state-of-the-art theater for conferences, teleconferences, satellite 
broadcasts, webcasts, meetings, and training sessions. Source: http://www.vbatc.com/a-about.html 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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SECTION FOUR: CITY INDEBTEDNESS AND CAPITAL PLAN 

Limitations on Incurrence of Debt 

Pursuant to the Constitution of Virginia (the “Constitution”) and the Public Finance Act of 1991, 
Chapter 26, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, a city in Virginia is authorized to issue 
bonds and notes secured by a pledge of its full faith and credit and unlimited taxing power.  The 
Constitution and the Public Finance Act of 1991 also limit the indebtedness which may be incurred by 
cities to 10 percent of the assessed valuation of real estate subject to local taxation.  There is no 
requirement in the Constitution or the Code of Virginia that the issuance of general obligation bonds of 
the City be subject to approval of the qualified voters of the City at referendum. 

 
As of June 30, 2017, the total assessed value of real property (including Public Service property 

of $943,063,814) for the City was $54,783,609,851 which translates into a general obligation debt limit of 
$5,478,360,985.  The City’s net obligations subject to debt limitations as of June 30, 2017, totaled 
$641,749,326 and represented 11.71% of this limit.  Debt outstanding as of November 30, 2017 subject to 
the debt limit is $624,751,914 and is 11.07% of the limit based on the Fiscal Year 2018 Land Book Value 
of $55,478,911,000 plus an additional amount of taxable public service corporation property with an 
assessed value of $943,063,814 totaling $56,421,974,814.  

 
The City Charter further limits the City’s power to create debt. It provides that no bonds or notes 

(other than refunding bonds, revenue anticipation notes, revenue bonds, and other obligations excluded 
from the City’s debt limit under Section 10(a) of Article VII of the Constitution) shall be issued until their 
issuance has been authorized by a majority of the qualified voters of the City voting in an election on the 
question.  The City Charter further provides, however, that the City Council may authorize bonds or notes 
without an election in any calendar year in such amounts as shall not increase the total indebtedness of the 
City, as determined in the manner set forth in Section 10(a) of Article VII of the Constitution, by more 
than $10,000,000 above the amount of such indebtedness at the beginning of such calendar year. 

 
For purposes of computing the annual limitation on the amount of bonds or other obligations that 

may be issued without an election, authorized and unissued bonds or other obligations which could have 
been issued without an election on December 31 in the year they were authorized may be issued in a 
subsequent year without affecting the annual limitation for such subsequent year. In addition, refunding 
bonds shall not be included for purposes of determining the amount of bonds or other obligations that 
may be issued without an election in any calendar year. Contractual obligations of the City other than 
bonds and notes are not included with the annual limitations described herein. 

Debt Management Policies 

The City has developed a series of Debt Management Policies to provide a functional tool for 
debt management and capital planning.  The policies reiterate the City’s commitment to principles such as 
rapid principal retirement, maintaining sufficient working capital to avoid the use of short-term borrowing 
for operating purposes, and the use of self-supporting or revenue-supported debt where appropriate.  The 
policies also establish the following “target” levels for these key debt ratios: 

 
Overall Net Debt To Estimated Full Market Value.  This ratio indicates the relationship between 

the City’s debt and the taxable value of property in the City.  It is an important indicator of the City’s 
ability to repay its tax-supported debt, since property taxes are a major revenue source. A small ratio 
indicates that the City will be better able to withstand economic downturns. It is the City’s policy that the 
computed value of this ratio should not exceed 3.5 percent of estimated full market value. 
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Overall Net Debt Per Capita.  This ratio indicates the per capita debt burden and is a general 
indication of the City’s debt burden. A smaller ratio indicates a lighter burden.  It is the City’s policy that 
debt per capita should not exceed $3,000 per capita. 

 
Debt Per Capita To Per Capita Personal Income. This ratio is a measure of the capacity of 

citizens to finance tax-supported debt.  A low ratio means that taxes required to repay debt represent a 
smaller portion of the average citizen’s income. It is the City’s policy that debt per capita should not 
exceed 6.5 percent of per capita income. 

 
Annual Debt Service To General Government Expenditures.  This ratio measures the City’s 

ability to repay debt without hampering other City services. A small ratio indicates a lesser burden on the 
City’s operating budget.  This computation presently has a guideline of 10 percent. 

 
In addition, the City staff monitors the Assessed Value Per Capita.  This ratio reflects the 

strength of the City’s tax base and the City’s ability to finance tax-supported debt.  The table below 
entitled Key Debt Ratios includes the computed value of this debt-load indicator. 

 
The City’s debt load targets are evaluated periodically and are appropriately adjusted over time, 

taking into account the City’s prospective debt issuances and the expectations and comparative standards 
of both the nationally recognized rating agencies and the financial community.  The most recent 
adjustment was on May 12, 2015 when the City Council increased the City’s Overall Net Debt Per Capita 
policy from $2,800 per capita to $3,000 per capita. While the City’s general obligation debt load may 
exceed the City’s debt load targets from time to time, the City anticipates that its actual debt load ratios 
generally will fall within the City’s debt load targets over time. 
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KEY DEBT RATIOS
Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

  
 

2013 

 
 

2014 

 
 

2015 

 
 

2016 

 
 

2017 

 
November 30, 

2017(7) 
Overall Net 
Debt (1) 

$971,940,595 $1,019,180,232 $1,024,010,842 $995,541,524 $927,041,665 $882,084,252(1) 

Net Debt Per 
Capita (2) 

$2,162 $2,256 $2,267 $2,195 $2,034 $1,944 

Ratio to Estimated- 
Full Value (3) 

2.0% 2.1% 2.0% 1.9% 1.7% 1.6% 

Ratio of Per Capita 
Debt to Per Capita 

Income (4) 

4.3% 4.5% 4.5% 4.2% 3.8% 3.6% 

Ratio of Annual Debt 
Service to General 

Government 
Expenditures 

8.4% 8.2% 8.7% 8.6% 8.2% 8.2%(5) 

Assessed Value 
Per Capita(6) 

$110,718 $109,873 $113,916 $116,642 $120,182 $123,771 

 

(1)  Includes debt as described in the following "Overall Net Debt Table".  Does not include debt charged to the Water and Sewer or 
Storm Water Enterprise Funds or Agriculture Reserve Program. 

(2)  Population estimates are by the Weldon-Cooper Center for Public Service. 
(3)  Real property is assessed at 100 percent of fair market value. 
(4)  Per capita income figures from U.S. Department of Commerce/Bureau of Economic Analysis for years subsequent to 2015 are not 

available.  FY 2016 and 2017 are estimated based on FY 2015. 
(5)  Estimated, based on Fiscal Year 2017. 
(6)  Assessed values for 2013 - 2017, are as of June 30th each year.  FY 2018 is as of July1; includes $943,063,814 Public Service 

estimate to total $56,421,974,814. 
(7)  Includes the Series 2017 Bonds expected to be issued on December 28, 2017.  Excludes the bonds to be refunded by the Series 

2017 Bonds. 
   

  Source: City Financial Statements. 
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Outstanding Debt 

Information on the City’s indebtedness is presented in the following tables. Included is 
information on overall net debt, selected debt service schedules on General Obligation bonds and Overall 
Net Debt, rapidity of principal retirement, and information on other types of debt. 

 
OVERALL NET DEBT 
As of November 30, 2017 

General Obligation Bonds(1)  ...........................................................................  $500,189,252   
SPSA Contingent Debt Obligation (2)  .............................................................  -   
Public Facility Revenue Bonds (3) ....................................................................  310,365,000   
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds (4) ................................................................  202,921,004   
Storm Water Revenue Bonds (5) .......................................................................  41,780,000   
Agriculture Reserve Program Installment Purchase Agreements (6) ................  46,102,662  $1,101,357,918 
      

Plus: 
2017 General Obligation Refunding Bonds expected to be issued 
December 28, 2017 ...........................................................................

 
   71,530,000 

      
Less: Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds (4) .................................................  $202,921,004   
 SPSA Contingent Debt Obligation (2)   ..............................................  -   
 Storm Water Revenue Bonds (5) ........................................................  41,780,000   
 Agriculture Reserve Installment Purchase Agreements (6) ................  46,102,662  290,803,666 
      
Overall Net Debt and Long-Term Obligations    $882,084,252 

 
(1) Excludes the bonds to be refunded by the expected issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds. 

(2) Represents Southeastern Public Service Authority guarantee of Debt.  Not subject to City Charter as per Chapter 872 of the Virginia 
Acts of Assembly -- 2003 Session. As of September 2017, all outstanding SPSA debt has been paid. 

(3) Includes 2007A Public Facility Revenue Bonds, 2010A, B & C Public Facility Revenue and Refunding Bonds, 2012 A & B Public 
Facility Revenue and Refunding Bonds, 2013A Public Facility Revenue Bonds, and 2014A & B Public Facility Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds, 2015A & B Public Facility Revenue and Refunding Bonds, and 2016A & B Public Facility Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds issued through the Virginia Beach Development Authority as limited obligations of the Authority, payable solely 
from payments made by the City.  These obligations are described in the section "VBDA Appropriation-Based Debt" herein. 

(4) Water and sewer revenue bonds are not secured by a pledge of the City's full faith and credit and unlimited taxing power.  These 
bonds are secured solely by the net revenues of the water and sewer system. 

(5) Storm water revenue bonds are not secured by a pledge of the City's full faith and credit and unlimited taxing power. These bonds 
are secured solely by the net revenues of the storm water utility system. 

(6) Represents installment purchase agreements which are general obligations of the City. Interest and principal payments are paid 
from a dedicated portion of real estate taxes. Principal payments will be made from maturing zero coupon Treasury securities 
purchased from the dedicated portion of real estate taxes. These obligations are described in the section "Agricultural Reserve 
Program" herein. 

  
Source: City Department of Finance. 
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GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT 
As of  November 30, 2017 

OUTSTANDING GENERAL OBLIGATION PLUS: LESS: TOTAL OUTSTANDING 
FISCAL DEBT SERVICE(1) Series 2017A Refunding Bonds(2) Refunded Debt Service(3) GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERVICE 
YEAR PRINCIPAL INTEREST  TOTAL  PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST TOTAL 

2017-18 $39,355,782.09 $14,443,078.24 $53,798,860.33 $0.00 $869,876.15 $0.00 $1,641,915.00 $39,355,782.09 $13,671,039.39 $53,026,821.48 
2018-19 53,814,034.85 23,301,491.01 77,115,525.86 0.00 3,367,262.50 310,000.00 3,283,830.00 53,504,034.85 23,384,923.51 76,888,958.36 
2019-20 53,930,501.71 20,611,285.45 74,541,787.16 0.00 3,367,262.50 320,000.00 3,268,330.00 53,610,501.71 20,710,217.95 74,320,719.66 
2020-21 49,502,634.53 18,359,300.99 67,861,935.52 0.00 3,367,262.50 330,000.00 3,260,330.00 49,172,634.53 18,466,233.49 67,638,868.02 
2021-22 46,715,076.32 16,469,489.60 63,184,565.92 3,765,000.00 3,367,262.50 4,500,000.00 3,251,750.00 45,980,076.32 16,585,002.10 62,565,078.42 
2022-23 42,558,092.35 14,503,888.89 57,061,981.24 7,080,000.00 3,179,012.50 7,750,000.00 3,128,000.00 41,888,092.35 14,554,901.39 56,442,993.74 
2023-24 40,315,252.00 12,676,315.11 52,991,567.11 7,135,000.00 2,825,012.50 7,750,000.00 2,830,500.00 39,700,252.00 12,670,827.61 52,371,079.61 
2024-25 40,332,121.00 10,775,131.98 51,107,252.98 7,180,000.00 2,468,262.50 7,750,000.00 2,521,750.00 39,762,121.00 10,721,644.48 50,483,765.48 
2025-26 37,194,369.00 8,956,020.02 46,150,389.02 7,225,000.00 2,109,262.50 7,750,000.00 2,206,250.00 36,669,369.00 8,859,032.52 45,528,401.52 
2026-27 33,461,556.00 7,270,679.42 40,732,235.42 7,245,000.00 1,748,012.50 7,750,000.00 1,863,750.00 32,956,556.00 7,154,941.92 40,111,497.92 
2027-28 29,408,672.00 5,578,988.24 34,987,660.24 7,275,000.00 1,385,762.50 7,750,000.00 1,531,250.00 28,933,672.00 5,433,500.74 34,367,172.74 
2028-29 25,876,160.00 4,436,967.98 30,313,127.98 7,305,000.00 1,022,012.50 7,750,000.00 1,198,750.00 25,431,160.00 4,260,230.48 29,691,390.48 

2029-30 22,210,000.00 3,336,998.80 25,546,998.80 7,315,000.00 656,762.50 7,750,000.00 843,750.00 21,775,000.00 3,150,011.30 24,925,011.30 

2030-31 18,820,000.00 2,361,837.50 21,181,837.50 7,310,000.00 291,012.50 7,750,000.00 472,500.00 18,380,000.00 2,180,350.00 20,560,350.00 

2031-32 14,320,000.00 1,611,337.50 15,931,337.50 2,695,000.00 80,850.00 3,250,000.00 146,250.00 13,765,000.00 1,545,937.50 15,310,937.50 

2032-33 11,070,000.00 1,040,837.50 12,110,837.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 11,070,000.00 1,040,837.50 12,110,837.50 

2033-34 11,070,000.00 647,237.50 11,717,237.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 11,070,000.00 647,237.50 11,717,237.50 

2034-35 5,630,000.00 273,675.00 5,903,675.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,630,000.00 273,675.00 5,903,675.00 

2035-36 3,065,000.00 91,950.00 3,156,950.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,065,000.00 91,950.00 3,156,950.00 

2036-37 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

2037-38 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

   Totals  $578,649,251.85 $166,746,510.73 $745,395,762.58 $71,530,000.00 $30,104,888.65 $78,460,000.00 $31,448,905.00 $571,719,251.85 $165,402,494.38 $737,121,746.23 
_________________ 
(1) Debt service on bonds issued pursuant to the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) are presented at gross and does not reflect the federal government interest subsidies. Includes debt service on the bonds 

to be refunded by the expected issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds.  
(2) Reflects the addition of the Series 2017 Bonds expected to be issued on December 28, 2017. 
(3) Reflects the principal and interest payments on the bonds refunded by the expected issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds.   
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OVERALL NET DEBT 
As of  November 30, 2017 

TOTAL OUTSTANDING PLUS: DEVELOPMENT 
FISCAL  GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERVICE* AUTHORITY DEBT SERVICE OVERALL NET DEBT 
YEAR PRINCIPAL INTEREST  TOTAL  PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST TOTAL 

2017-18 $39,355,782.09  $13,671,039.39 $53,026,821.48 $11,610,000.00 $8,112,075.02  $50,965,782.09 $21,783,114.41 $72,748,896.50 
2018-19 53,504,034.85  23,384,923.51 76,888,958.36 33,150,000.00 12,808,556.28  86,654,034.85 36,193,479.79 122,847,514.64 
2019-20 53,610,501.71  20,710,217.95 74,320,719.66 34,035,000.00 11,319,531.28  87,645,501.71 32,029,749.23 119,675,250.94 
2020-21 49,172,634.53  18,466,233.49 67,638,868.02 33,240,000.00 9,581,756.28  82,412,634.53 28,047,989.77 110,460,624.30 
2021-22 45,980,076.32  16,585,002.10 62,565,078.42 34,115,000.00 7,932,156.28  80,095,076.32 24,517,158.38 104,612,234.70 
2022-23 41,888,092.35  14,554,901.39 56,442,993.74 33,380,000.00 6,270,856.28  75,268,092.35 20,825,757.67 96,093,850.02 
2023-24 39,700,252.00  12,670,827.61 52,371,079.61 29,800,000.00 4,842,706.28  69,500,252.00 17,513,533.89 87,013,785.89 
2024-25 39,762,121.00  10,721,644.48 50,483,765.48 19,120,000.00 3,732,881.28  58,882,121.00 14,454,525.76 73,336,646.76 
2025-26 36,669,369.00  8,859,032.52 45,528,401.52 12,720,000.00 2,883,256.28  49,389,369.00 11,742,288.80 61,131,657.80 
2026-27 32,956,556.00  7,154,941.92 40,111,497.92 12,980,000.00 2,348,156.28  45,936,556.00 9,503,098.20 55,439,654.20 
2027-28 28,933,672.00  5,433,500.74 34,367,172.74 12,605,000.00 1,886,250.02  41,538,672.00 7,319,750.76 48,858,422.76 
2028-29 25,431,160.00  4,260,230.48 29,691,390.48 6,910,000.00 1,533,600.02  32,341,160.00 5,793,830.50 38,134,990.50 
2029-30 21,775,000.00  3,150,011.30 24,925,011.30 6,790,000.00 1,268,412.52  28,565,000.00 4,418,423.82 32,983,423.82 
2030-31 18,380,000.00  2,180,350.00 20,560,350.00 6,790,000.00 1,034,331.26  25,170,000.00 3,214,681.26 28,384,681.26 
2031-32 13,765,000.00  1,545,937.50 15,310,937.50 6,790,000.00 787,931.26  20,555,000.00 2,333,868.76 22,888,868.76 
2032-33 11,070,000.00  1,040,837.50 12,110,837.50 6,795,000.00 540,381.26  17,865,000.00 1,581,218.76 19,446,218.76 
2033-34 11,070,000.00  647,237.50 11,717,237.50 4,820,000.00 313,512.50  15,890,000.00 960,750.00 16,850,750.00 
2034-35 5,630,000.00  273,675.00 5,903,675.00 2,865,000.00 142,125.00  8,495,000.00 415,800.00 8,910,800.00 
2035-36 3,065,000.00  91,950.00 3,156,950.00 925,000.00 41,625.00  3,990,000.00 133,575.00 4,123,575.00 
2036-37 0.00  0.00 0.00 925,000.00 13,875.00  925,000.00 13,875.00 938,875.00 

   Totals  $571,719,251.85  $165,402,494.38 $737,121,746.23 $310,365,000.00 $77,393,975.38  $882,084,251.85 $242,796,469.76 $1,124,880,721.61 
____________________ 
*Adjusted to include expected issuance of Series 2017 Bonds on December 28, 2017 and excludes debt service on the bonds to be refunded by the Series 2017 Bonds. 
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Authorized but Unissued Bonds 

After the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds to be issued December 28, 2017, the City has 
authorized but unissued $216,964,294 of general obligation bonds and $136,207,388 of revenue bonds, as 
shown in the table below. 

 
   Authorization 

Purpose 
Unissued 
Amount Security Year Manner 

     
Public Improvement $69,272,406 General Obligation 2017 Council 
Public Improvement 70,800,000 General Obligation 2016 Council 
Public Improvement 61,778,816 General Obligation 2015 Council 
Public Improvement 15,113,072 General Obligation 2014 Council 
Water and Sewer 20,000,000 Revenue 2015 Council 
Water and Sewer 27,000,000 Revenue 2014 Council 
Water and Sewer 5,682,666 Revenue 2013 Council 
Storm Water Utility 30,143,013 Revenue 2017 Council 
Storm Water Utility 15,977,102 Revenue 2016 Council 
Storm Water Utility 16,656,167 Revenue 2015 Council 
Storm Water Utility 9,000,000 Revenue 2014 Council 
Storm Water Utility 11,748,440 Revenue 2013 Council 

    
Source:  City Department of Finance. 
 
 

RAPIDITY OF PRINCIPAL RETIREMENT RAPIDITY OF PRINCIPAL RETIREMENT 
ALL GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS(1)(2) ALL OVERALL NET DEBT(2) 

November 30, 2017 November 30, 2017 

Percentage of  Percentage of  
Maturing  Amount Total Debt Maturing  Amount Total Debt 

Within Maturing Outstanding Within Maturing Outstanding 

5 years  $ 241,623,030(3)   42.26% 5 years  $   387,773,030(3)    43.96% 
10 years     432,599,420  75.67% 10 years       686,749,420  77.86% 
15 years     540,884,252  94.61% 15 years       834,919,252  94.65% 
20 years     571,719,252  100.00% 20 years       882,084,252  100.00% 

    
Source:  City Department of Finance. 
(1) Does not include appropriation-based indebtedness. 
(2) Includes the Series 2017 Bonds expected to be issued on December 28, 2017.  Excludes the bonds to be refunded by the Series 2017 Bonds. 
(3) Includes remaining principal portion of FY2018.    
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Water and Sewer System Debt 

Pursuant to Article VII, Sec. 10(a)(3) of the Constitution of Virginia, the City has issued water 
and sewer revenue bonds which are secured solely by the net revenues of the water and sewer system.  As 
of November 30, 2017, $202,921,004 of these bonds were outstanding.   

Storm Water Utility System Debt 

Pursuant to Article VII, Sec. 10(a)(3) of the Constitution of Virginia, the City has issued storm 
water utility revenue bonds which are secured solely by the net revenues of the storm water utility system.  
As of November 30, 2017, $41,780,000 of these bonds were outstanding. 

 
It is the City’s policy to service all debt issued for storm water purposes by revenues from the 

storm water utility system. 

Virginia Beach Development Authority Appropriation-Based Debt  

On several occasions the Virginia Beach City Council has requested that the Authority finance 
various public facilities in the City pursuant to Chapter 643 of the Virginia Acts of Assembly of 1964.  To 
meet the City’s Financing Plans, the Authority has issued several series of bonds and refunding bonds for 
the City's benefit.  The City’s obligation to make payments under the Authority bonds is subject to the 
annual appropriation of funds for such purpose by the City Council, and is not general obligation debt of 
the City.  The following paragraphs describe these bond issues. 

 
On February 24, 1998, the Authority issued $9,800,000 Lease Revenue Bonds payable solely 

from certain rental payments made by the City under an operating lease.  The Lease Revenue Bonds 
financed the costs of acquiring and constructing a Social Services Building to be used by the City to 
house its Social Services Department.  Principal outstanding on this agreement was refunded by the 
2012B Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds issued in June, 2012. 

 
On June 14, 2002, the Authority issued its $20,815,000 Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 

2002A, and its $3,040,000 Taxable Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2002B, to finance the 
acquisition of a public parking facility and land for a public plaza in the Town Center development.  
These bonds are limited obligations of the Authority, payable solely from certain payments made by the 
City pursuant to a Support Agreement between the Authority and the City.  The outstanding portion of the 
Series 2002A Bonds was refunded through the issuance of Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds in 
2010.  The 2002B Bonds have all been retired. 

 
On September 24, 2003, the Authority issued $165,000,000 Public Facility Revenue Bonds, with 

a portion of the proceeds being used for the construction of two parking garages in Town Center.  The 
2003A Public Facility Revenue Bonds were refunded by Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds issued 
in 2010 and 2012 and are no longer outstanding. 

 
On May 1, 2005, the Authority issued $103,900,000 of Public Facility Revenue Bonds (taxable 

and tax exempt) to fund various City projects and Authority initiatives, a portion of which completed the 
financing for the Block 10 garage in Town Center.  These bonds are limited obligations of the Authority, 
payable solely from certain payments made by the City pursuant to a Support Agreement between the 
Authority and the City.  The 2005A bonds are no longer outstanding.  Principal outstanding on the taxable 
2005B bonds were redeemed with proceeds of the 2016B Public Facility revenue Bonds. 
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On June 26, 2007, the Authority issued an additional $100,865,000 of Public Facility Revenue 
Bonds (taxable and tax-exempt) to fund various City projects and Authority initiatives, a portion of which 
financed Phase III of the Town Center project.  In addition to the Town Center projects, these 
improvements included the Convention Center Replacement, the Performing Arts Center, Open Space 
Site Acquisition programs, and the 31st Street Parking Garage, among other projects.  The security for 
these bonds is a Support Agreement between the City and the Authority in which the City will make 
certain payments to the Authority that will be sufficient to pay debt service on these bonds.  Principal 
outstanding on the 2007A bonds as of November 30, 2017 was $3,990,000. The principal outstanding on 
the taxable 2007B bonds were redeemed with proceeds of the 2016B Public Facility Revenue Bonds. 

 
On May 25, 2010, the Authority issued $17,000,000 Public Facility Revenue Bonds Series 2010 

A to finance various capital improvements; and $98,035,000 Series 2010B and $40,450,000 Series 2010C 
in Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds to achieve debt service savings which refunded portions of 
the Series 2002A, 2003A, 2005A and 2007A Public Facility Revenue Bonds issued by the Authority on 
behalf of the City.  These bonds are limited obligations of the Authority, payable solely from certain 
payments made by the City pursuant to a Support Agreement between the Authority and the City.  
Principal outstanding on these bonds as of November 30, 2017 was $90,730,000. 

 
On June 20, 2012 the Authority issued $22,580,000 Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2012A 

to finance various capital improvements; and $25,640,000 Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2012B to achieve debt service savings by refunding all of the outstanding 1998 Lease Revenue 
Bonds and a portion of the outstanding 2003A Public Facility Revenue Bonds.  The bonds are limited 
obligations of the Authority payable solely from payments made by the City pursuant to a Support 
Agreement between the Authority and the City.  Principal outstanding on these bonds as of November 30, 
2017 was $40,245,000. 

 
On June 19, 2013 the Authority issued $20,960,000 Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2013A 

to finance various capital improvements.  The bonds are limited obligations of the Authority payable 
solely from payments made by the City pursuant to a Support Agreement between the Authority and the 
City.  Principal outstanding on these bonds as of November 30, 2017 was $16,865,000. 

 
On June 18, 2014 the Authority issued $44,975,000 Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A 

to finance the Block 11 Garage and various capital improvements, and $20,320,000 Public Facility 
Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 2014B to achieve debt service savings on the 2005A Public Facility 
Revenue Bonds. These bonds are limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from payments made 
by the City pursuant to a Support Agreement between the Authority and the City.  Principal outstanding 
on these bonds as of November 30, 2017 was $53,925,000. 

 
On June 25, 2015 the Authority issued $48,245,000 Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2015A 

to finance various road projects and the remainder of the Bow Creek Recreation Center; and to continue 
the financing of the Kemps Landing/Old Donation Center replacement; and $34,885,000 Public Facility 
Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 2015B to achieve debt service savings on the 2007A Public Facility 
Revenue Bonds. These bonds are limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from payments made 
by the City pursuant to a Support Agreement between the Authority and the City.  Principal outstanding 
on these bonds as of November 30, 2017 was $77,265,000. 

 
On November 3, 2016 the Authority issued $21,225,000 Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 

2016A to finance the modernization of the John B. Dey Elementary School, the Housing Resource 
Center, and various road projects; and $7,880,000 Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 
2016B to achieve debt service savings on the taxable 2005B and taxable 2007B Public Facility Revenue 
Refunding Bonds. These bonds are limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from payments 
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made by the City pursuant to a Support Agreement between the Authority and the City.  Principal 
outstanding on these bonds as of November 30, 2017 was $27,345,000. 
 

The following table summarizes the debt issued by the Authority, the payment of which is subject 
to annual appropriation by the City Council: 

 

Bond Issue Purpose 

Amount 
Outstanding 
November 
30, 2017 

2016A Public Facility Revenue Various Capital Improvements $19,960,000 

2016B Public Facility Revenue Refunding Convention Center, Open Space, Garages & Town 
Center 7,385,000 

2015A Public Facility Revenue Various Capital Improvements   
42,380,000 

2015B Public Facility Revenue Refunding  of Convention Center, Sandler Center, etc. 34,885,000 

2014A Public Facility Revenue Garage and Various Capital Improvements   
37,775,000 

2014B Public Facility Revenue Refunding of  Convention Center, Open Space, Garages, etc.   
16,150,000 

2013A Public Facility Revenue Various Capital Improvements   
16,865,000 

2012A Public Facility Revenue Various Capital Improvements   
17,705,000 

2012B Public Facility Revenue Refunding of Social Services Building, Convention Center, 
Theatre, etc. 

  
22,540,000 

2010A Public Facility Revenue  Various Capital Improvements    
5,100,000 

2010B Public Facility Refunding 
Revenue  

Refunding of Town Center Garages-Phase I, Convention Center, 
Open Space, Garages, etc. 

  
55,110,000 

2010C Public Facility Refunding 
Revenue  Refunding of Convention Center, Open Space, Garages, etc.   

30,520,000 

2007A Public Facility Revenue Convention Center, Open Space, Garages, etc.   
3,990,000 

Total $310,365,000 
     
Source:  City Department of Finance. 

Proposed Financing for FY 2018 

 The City will ask the VBDA to issue approximately $25,000,000 of public facility revenue bonds 
to finance capital projects for the City’s benefit.  The bonds will be limited obligations of VBDA payable 
solely from payments made by the City under a support agreement.  Payments by the City will be subject 
to annual appropriation by the City Council.  The bonds are expected to be issued in February 2018. 

 
The City will issue approximately $65,000,000 of general obligation public improvement bonds 

to finance capital projects for the City’s benefit.  The bonds will be backed by the full faith and credit of 
the City.    The bonds are expected to be issued in May 2018.  
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Agricultural Reserve Program 

On May 9, 1995, City Council adopted an ordinance establishing the Agricultural Reserve 
Program (“ARP”).  The primary purpose of the ordinance is to promote and encourage the preservation of 
farmland in the rural southern portion of the City.  Through ARP, the City acquires development rights in 
designated areas within the southern portion of the City through the purchase of agricultural land 
preservation easements.  Landowners who meet certain eligibility criteria may sell an easement to the 
City while holding fee simple title to the land and continuing to farm.  The City acquires these 
development rights by executing installment purchase agreements with the landowners. 

 
These agreements provide for the payment of the principal balance of the agreement in a single 

installment due approximately twenty-five years after execution of the agreement.  Interest on the unpaid 
principal balance is payable semi-annually.  On May 9, 1995, the City Council originally dedicated a one 
and one-half cent increase in the real estate tax to finance the program; on May 11, 2004, the City Council 
reduced this amount to one cent; and on May 9, 2006, the City Council reduced this amount to nine tenths 
of one cent; on May 12, 2015, the City Council reduced this amount to 56 one-hundredths of one cent; 
and on May 9, 2017, the City Council increased this amount to nine tenths of one cent to preserve 
property in the Transition Area of the City and other Agricultural Reserve Program costs. 

 
These obligations constitute indebtedness within the meaning of Article VII, Section 10 of the 

Virginia Constitution and will be general obligations of the City, pledging the full faith and credit and 
unlimited taxing power of the City.  By policy, interest and principal payments will be paid from a 
dedicated portion of real estate taxes.  Principal payments will be made from maturing zero coupon 
Treasury securities purchased from the dedicated portion of real estate taxes. 

 
As of November 30, 2017, 97 installment purchase agreements totaling approximately 9,584 

acres at a total purchase price of $46,102,662 had been executed.  Sixteen additional applications 
totaling approximately 1,114 acres are under review by the City. Estimated value is $9,785,752.  

Overlapping Debt 

The City is autonomous from any county, town, or other political subdivision.  Currently, there 
are no overlapping jurisdictions with debt outstanding for which City residents are liable. 

Short-Term Borrowing 

The City does not borrow on a short-term basis for working capital purposes.  The City’s policy is 
to maintain the General Fund balance at a level that provides sufficient cash flow for working capital 
purposes. 

Payment Record 

The City has never defaulted in the payment of either principal of or interest on any indebtedness. 

Impact of Future Economic Development on City Debt 

 The City, over a number of years, has developed a strategy for the development and 
redevelopment of certain areas in the City that will be a critical element of the City’s future economic 
vitality.  Targeted areas include the further development of the oceanfront to complement the convention 
center, including, for example, a convention center headquarters hotel and entertainment venues.  The use 
of public-private partnerships is a critical piece in these potential economic development projects.  The 



 

 60

public portion of these yet unnamed projects could involve additional debt not yet identified in the City’s 
Capital Improvement Program.   

Comprehensive Plan 

The City of Virginia Beach Comprehensive Plan, It’s Our Future: A Choice City, was adopted on 
May 17, 2016.  It’s Our Future:  A Choice City (2016) builds on the strength of the previous 
Comprehensive Plan, It’s Our Future (2009), yet updates it to reflect new state planning mandates, 
changed conditions within our community, and important priority issues that our citizens and the Planning 
Commission wanted to address.  It reflects that our City leaders have made strategic choices over the 
decades bringing the City into maturity at 50, which have provided choices to the citizens and visitors, 
and has resulted in the City being viewed by the world as a city of choice or—a Choice City.  Moving 
forward and looking ahead to the Year 2040, the plan seeks to guide the City toward becoming a resilient 
city, with careful attention to planning for mitigation and adaption measures for sea level rise and 
recurrent flooding in response to the Virginia General Assembly instruction to all local governments in 
Hampton Roads during the 2015 Session.  This Comprehensive Plan identifies such planning projections 
for both the short term (0-30 years) for municipal planning needs and the long-term (30-50 years) for 
infrastructure planning and design needs.   

There are a number of key planning policies embodied in  the City’s Comprehensive Plan that 
include urban and rural growth management strategies, such as the Green Line and Strategic Growth Area 
(SGA) components, economic development opportunities (Strategic Economic Growth Areas (SEGAs), 
multimodal transportation systems that include transit, other public facility improvements, environmental 
stewardship and resiliency, housing opportunities, neighborhood preservation, historic resource 
management and community design guidelines.  By adopting these provisions of the Comprehensive 
Plan, the City has committed itself to advancing sound planning policies to achieve continued physical 
and fiscal viability for the next 25-year period looking ahead to the Year 2040.  This is accomplished, in 
part, by creating a fair and workable balance between the supply of public service delivery systems and 
the demand placed on those systems by existing and future land uses, utilizing the primary enabling tool 
in Virginia for implementing local comprehensive plans—the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). 

The comprehensive planning policies of the City have been designed to achieve enhanced and 
manageable land development throughout our urban, suburban and rural areas.  There are 8 Strategic 
Growth Areas (SGA) defined in this plan into which over 50 percent of the City’s future growth will be 
directed.  These carefully defined areas have been planned to advance the transformation of existing 
suburban patterns of development into a coherent set of high quality and environmentally sound mixed 
use urban centers.  In addition, the plan recognizes that adequate urban facilities and services need to be 
focused on serving future growth in these SGA’s thereby creating higher quality land uses and expanding 
the City’s taxable revenue base while, at the same time, not compromising the reasonable levels of service 
to be provided in other areas of the City. By preventing future sprawl through the designation of SGAs for 
appropriate urban development, the City avoids net negative fiscal impacts for related capital and 
operating expenses that are too often linked to such development patterns.  It is important to note that our 
comprehensive plan policies also recognize the need to preserve our stable residential neighborhoods in 
the Suburban Area from decline and a range of initiatives have been and will be established to further this 
objective.   Having the SGAs also ensures the long-term preservation of the City’s Rural Area, which is 
an economic engine for the City and a way of life for many citizens.  Preservation of the Rural Area from 
growth pressures also provides benefit to all of our citizens as well as visitors, as pick-your-own and other 
farm-related businesses draw residents and visitors, alike, throughout the growing seasons into the 
southern part of our city to take advantage of its crop production bounty.  
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The Comprehensive Plan outlines land use and other planning policies for the Princess Anne 
Commons &Transition Area.  This area is strategically located between the more urbanized region of the 
City to the north of the Green Line and the rural areas to the south; the Princess Anne Commons 
component is within the Interfacility Traffic Area (ITA) between NAS Oceana and NALF Fentress in 
Chesapeake. The Princess Anne Commons &Transition Area are important components of the City’s 
overall land use planning and economic development strategy.  It is not the intent of the Comprehensive 
Plan for Princess Anne Commons or the Transition Area to become part of the urban area north of the 
Green Line, nor is it intended that the Transition Area be limited to the very low densities appropriate for 
rural growth.  The policies of the Comprehensive Plan have been designed to ensure that this continues to 
be a well-planned area.   In addition to the municipal center and courthouse complex, the Princess Anne 
Commons area comprises an impressive array of uses that define it as a special destination within the 
Hampton Roads Metropolitan Area.  It includes a world-class amphitheater, as well as higher education 
institutions, medical facilities, sports centers and major parklands, among other activities.  Other parts of 
the Princess Anne area include many well planned neighborhoods with considerable open space and 
protection of key environmental resources, such as our expansive West Neck Creek Park. An update to 
the approved ITA plan is expected by City Council in December, 2017.  The plan update is timely due to 
the recent City purchase of thousands of acres in the ITA area.  Key components of the plan include the 
establishment of a Bio-Medical Research Park, new land for city department operations use and ample 
active and passive recreational areas.   

The southern third of the city is rural and this Comprehensive Plan provides a set of policies to 
balance agricultural viability and environmental protection with limited well-managed residential and 
non-residential growth.  For example, the Rural Preservation element of the Comprehensive Plan and the 
Agricultural Reserve Program, adopted by City Council in 1995, are major tools to promote the 
preservation of farmland and the rural way of life.   

A series of special Comprehensive Plan amendments, along with many related ordinances and 
process improvements were established as part of our Oceana Land Use Conformity Program.  These 
actions occurred between 2005 and 2009 and provide complementary land use planning direction between 
the city and the Navy that allow us to achieve a balance between the city’s responsibility to conduct land 
use planning decision making with the Navy’s responsibility to ensure optimal military readiness.  The 
overall land use planning guidance cited in the Comprehensive Plan, along with the strong public demand 
to live and work in Virginia Beach, will ensure continued well-planned growth in Virginia Beach into the 
foreseeable future.  

The Virginia Beach Comprehensive Plan is a dynamic instrument and City Council periodically 
reviews, enhances and amends the Plan when appropriate.  On August 16, 2016 the Comprehensive Plan 
was amended to include the updated Virginia Beach Outdoors Plan (2016). 

Since 1971, the City Council has periodically revised and adopted the City’s Master 
Transportation Plan (MTP), as needed, to address, in a comprehensive fashion, the need for an efficient, 
cost-effective and multimodal transportation system.  This policy document, which is a component of the 
Comprehensive Plan, establishes transportation planning policies for Virginia Beach, and provides 
planning guidance for bikeways, scenic easements, and other similar features related to the City’s major 
roadway system.  The MTP in the 2009 Comprehensive Plan places greater emphasis on multimodal 
systems, especially mass transit modes to help provide alternative mobility consistent with the planning 
goals related to our Strategic Growth Areas.  It was amended in 2010 to include the Major Street Network 
Ultimate Rights-of-Way and, again, in 2011 to incorporate an update of the City’s Bikeways and Trails 
Master Plan.  Decisions affecting the implementation of land use and transportation policies are based, in 
large measure, upon the guidance provided in the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Master Transportation 
Plan.   
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This multi-modal focus was continued with the 2016 Comprehensive Plan update and emerging 
mobility technologies (e.g., Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) and Alternative Transportation 
Choices such as Uber, Lyft, and Self-Driving Vehicles) were added to plan to acknowledge the rapidly 
mobility patterns and lifestyle choices.  Providing multi-modal transportation choices to the citizens and 
visitors continues to remain a high priority, as well as environmental stewardship, including 
responsiveness to storm water management.  Creating a more connected community through enhancing 
public transit, building more sidewalks, and building an extensive system of multi-use trails for non-
vehicular travel and ensuring safe pedestrian connections has also been identified by the citizens as a top 
priority.  The Bikeways and Trails Plan, originally adopted in 2011, is the blueprint for achieving greater 
non-motorized connectivity, along with the City’s new ‘Complete Streets’ Policy and Administrative 
Directive, adopted in 2014.  As a result of the City’s planning and implementation efforts, Virginia Beach 
was named a “Bicycle Friendly Community” at the Bronze Level by the League of American Bicyclists in 
2015.  

The 2009 MTP’s Primary Roadway Network Plan was also modeled with assistance from Old 
Dominion University’s Center for Innovative Transportation Studies and the Virginia Modeling and 
Simulation Center to validate the need for the improvements shown on the plan or make lane call 
adjustments.  The need for the proposed Southeastern Parkway and Greenbelt, which has long been a 
fixture on the MTP, was also modelled by ODU using “build/no-build” scenarios and in consideration of 
the local roadway network to determine if the project need remains and if the project is feasible with or 
without tolls.  Findings and recommendations were presented to the City Council for a future decision, 
which may result in an amendment to the MTP.  

It’s Our Future:  A Choice City (2016) also aligns with the City Council-endorsed vision 
document for 2040, Envision Virginia Beach 2040 and A Community Plan for Sustainable Future (2013) 
– the City’s landmark Sustainability Plan.  

The City Council has continuously demonstrated its commitment to implementation of the 
Comprehensive Plan via both its Operating and Capital Improvement Budgets, and its Capital 
Improvement Plan, focusing on the public initiative recommendations contained in these various 
plans.  Implementation has also occurred through preparation of amendments to development ordinances 
and other necessary steps to realize full implementation of these plans in so far as city government can 
affect change.  It is the City’s intention to provide appropriate incentives through adopted policies to 
encourage the private sector and other community organizations to partner with the City to realize plan 
goals.  

Capital Improvement Program 

The Capital Improvement Program covers a six-year period, although only the first year of the 
Capital Budget is actually appropriated. It identifies the funding needed for construction of City facilities, 
replacement and modernization of schools, replacement of utility infrastructure, acquisition of major 
pieces of equipment and computer systems, construction of roadways, infrastructure maintenance, and 
economic development projects. The CIP is the result of a process that balances the need for public 
facilities against the fiscal capability for the City to provide for these needs. 

Highlights of the Adopted Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2018 – 2023  

The FY 2018 – 2023 Capital Improvement Program totals $3.25 billion (including appropriations 
to date). The Adopted CIP includes the major projects, as well as other projects to improve the road 
network, rehabilitate recreation centers, construct parks, modernize schools, and more. As can be seen by 
the table below, the School System will receive $55.9 million in FY 2018 funding to modernize three 
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schools and will receive more than $277 million over the entire six-year program. Similarly, roadways 
will receive $76 million in funding next year to construct critical roads such as Laskin Road Bridge 
Replacement, and over $336.8 million over the six-year program.  The six-year program also focuses on 
basic maintenance needs. Additional funding is included to address rehabilitation, replacement and 
renewal needs at the City Hall, Police Department Helicopter Replacement, other city buildings as well as 
computer networks and radio infrastructure.  

 

 
School funding is primarily through the use of debt, while City funding is a combination of pay-go, debt, 
fund balances, and state and federal funding. 

 
 

Means of Financing 
 

 
 

 
For more information on projects and financing, please refer to the complete Capital Improvement 
Program document on www.VBgov.com/budget. 

 
 

 

 

Project Type
Appropriations to 

Date

FY 2017-18 Capital 
Program Budget 

Year 1

Remaining Years of the 
Capital Program Budget 

Years 2 - 6
Programed 6 Year 

Funding
Schools 215,846,363$              55,991,000$          221,955,000$                  493,792,363$            
Roadways 440,959,472 76,191,164 260,701,515 777,852,151
Buildings and Assets 165,116,563 39,926,613 179,601,806 384,644,982
Parks and Recreation 66,270,177 6,604,270 41,628,850 114,503,297
Utilities 432,693,526 80,133,514 380,092,570 892,919,610
Coastal 51,271,883 15,270,000 68,943,934 135,485,817
Economic and Tourism Development 209,041,621 13,671,385 74,643,691 297,356,697
Information Technology 80,829,834 12,668,176 63,769,047 157,267,057

Total Capital Improvement Progra 1,662,029,439$    300,456,122$  1,291,336,413$       3,253,821,974$   
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SECTION FIVE:  FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

All of the City’s and School Board Component Unit Governmental Funds and Agency Funds 
(assets and liabilities) are accounted for using a current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting (except for the Agency Funds which have no measurement focus).  
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e., 
when they become both measurable and available).    "Measurable" means the amount of the transaction 
can be determined and "available" means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period.   The term available is limited to collection within forty-
five days of the fiscal year end.  Levies made prior to the fiscal year end but which are not available are 
recorded as unearned.  Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable 
(except for unmatured interest on general long-term debt which is recognized when due and paid). 

 
The following is a list of the major revenue sources which meet the “susceptible to accrual” 

criteria. 
 

General Property Taxes Interest on Deposits and Investments 
General Sales Tax Revenue from Commonwealth 
Utility Taxes Revenue from Federal Government 
Hotel Taxes Amusement Taxes 
Restaurant Taxes  

All City and School Board Component Unit Proprietary Funds are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when earned 
and expenses are recognized when incurred.  Unbilled Water and Sewer, Storm Water, and Waste 
Management Enterprise Funds accounts receivable for utility services provided through June 30 are 
included in the financial statements.  The City operates on a July 1 through June 30 Fiscal Year. 

City of Virginia Beach Development Authority 

The Virginia Beach Development Authority initially was established for the purposes of 
attracting new industries and the expansion of existing industries.  Over time, the Authority’s powers 
have been expanded and now include the power to undertake financings for the City.  In addition, the 
Authority is authorized to issue industrial development bonds after approval by the City Council and to 
purchase land to improve and sell for development.  These bonds do not constitute indebtedness of the 
City but are secured solely by revenues from the organization on whose behalf the bonds were issued.  
The Authority’s Commissioners are appointed by City Council.  The City does not have legal title to any 
of the Authority’s assets, nor does it have a right to the Authority’s surpluses.  However, in accordance 
with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements 14 and 61, the Authority is being presented 
as a blended component unit. 

Hampton Roads Transportation District Commission 

The City’s financial statements include its share of the operating cost of the regional mass transit 
operations of the Hampton Roads Transportation District Commission.  For Fiscal Year 2017, the City’s 
share of budgeted operating costs was $8,425,956.   

City Financial Statements 

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, both the governmental and business-type 
activities columns are presented on a consolidated basis by column and are reflected on a full accrual, and 
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economic resources basis, which incorporates long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt 
and obligations.  The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a 
given function or segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment.  The program revenues must be directly associated with 
the function (public safety, public works, etc.) or a business-type activity. Program revenues include (1) 
charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services, or 
privileges provided by a given function or segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other 
items not properly included among program revenues are reported as general revenues.  The City does not 
allocate indirect expenses.   
 
 Fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary 
funds:    
 
 Major governmental funds are: 

 
The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial 
resources of the City, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. Revenues are 
derived primarily from property and other local taxes, state and federal distributions, licenses, 
permits, charges for service, and interest income.  A significant part of the General Fund’s 
revenues is used principally to finance the operations of the City of Virginia Beach School 
Board. 
 
The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the financial resources for the acquisition 
or construction of major capital facilities within the City. 

 
 Major proprietary funds are: 
 

The Water and Sewer Fund provides water service and sanitary sewer waste collection and 
transmission services to Virginia Beach citizens and accounts for operations that are financed 
in a manner similar to private business enterprises. 
 
The Storm Water Fund accounts for the activities of the Storm Water Utility which charges 
a fee for operational and capital needs for Storm Water management in the City. 
 
The Waste Management Fund provides service to our residents for collection, management 
and disposal of solid waste, recyclable materials and other refuse. In addition, the fund is 
responsible for the operation of the City’s landfill. 
 
The Development Authority Fund was established for the purpose of attracting new 
industries and the expansion of existing industries. These services are financed through fees 
for Industrial Revenue Bonds and other sources. 
 

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 
 

Special Revenue Funds account for revenue derived from specific sources that are restricted 
by legal and regulatory provisions to finance specific activities. 
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Internal Service Funds account for the financing of goods and services provided to other 
departments and agencies of the City or to other governmental units on a cost reimbursement 
basis.   

 
Fiduciary Funds are used to account for assets held by the city in a trustee capacity or as an agent 
for individuals, private organizations and other governmental units.   

Investment Policies and Practices 

The City of Virginia Beach, as a political subdivision of the Commonwealth, is limited to 
investments permitted by the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended.  In addition, various bond 
resolutions and a City Council adopted investment policy further restrict the types of allowable 
investment activities.  The City’s investment practices are generally described in footnote 8 of the City’s 
financial statements, included in Appendix A hereto. 

 
The City Treasurer is responsible for the investment of City funds.  The City Treasurer invests the 

City’s funds using internal active management, with external trustees and trust funds taking possession of 
applicable investments.  Within the state permitted guidelines and the adopted investment policy, the City 
Treasurer limits the City’s investments to the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool, 
collateralized certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, prime quality commercial paper, and prime 
quality “fed eligible” bankers’ acceptances.  The City participates in the new VACo/VML Virginia 
Investment Pool. The City does not invest in “derivative” securities, utilize reverse repurchase 
agreements, nor otherwise leverage its investment portfolio.  The City matches the maturity of its 
investments to cash flow needs to assure cash availability as necessary. 

Certificate of Achievement 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (“GFOA”) 
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for its 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) for Fiscal Year 2016.  In order to be awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement, a governmental unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report that substantially conforms to the high standards for financial 
reporting as promulgated by the GFOA. 

 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for one year only.  The City has been awarded a Certificate 

of Achievement (called a Certificate of Conformance prior to 1985) for its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report for 37 of the past 38 years. 

 
The City was also awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Distinguished Budget Presentation 

from the GFOA for its Fiscal Year 2016 budget.  The City also received this award for 29 of the last 31 
years. 

Budgetary Process 

The City Charter requires the City Manager to submit a balanced, proposed operating budget to 
the City Council at least 90 days before the beginning of each fiscal year which begins July 1.  Each 
department of the City prepares its own budget request for review by the City Manager.  The City Council 
is required to hold a public hearing on the budget at which time all interested persons have the 
opportunity to comment.  If the proposed operating budget is not legally adopted by the City Council by 
June 1, the operating budget submitted by the City Manager will have full force and effect as if it had 
been adopted by the City Council. 
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The School budget is approved by the School Board, transmitted to the City Manager for review, 

and then submitted to the City Council for consideration as part of the City’s general operating budget.  If 
the School Board determines that additional funding is needed, the School Board Chairman makes a 
formal written request to the City Council, and the School Board holds a public hearing on the issue. 

 
The City Manager is authorized to transfer appropriations up to a maximum of $100,000.  

Transfers in excess of $100,000 require City Council approval.  Transfers between $25,000 to $100,000 
are reported to City Council on a monthly basis.  Additional appropriations must be offset by additional 
estimated revenues and/or an appropriation from the proper undesignated fund balance and require a 
public hearing if the amount of the additional appropriation exceeds one percent of the total revenue in 
the approved budget. 

 
Unexpended appropriations (except for the Capital Projects and Grants Funds) lapse and are 

closed to the proper fund balance at the end of each fiscal year.  The appropriation for the subsequent 
fiscal year is increased by the amount necessary to satisfy the outstanding encumbrances at June 30 of 
each fiscal year. 

 
The operating budget includes a portion of the funding for the Capital Improvement Program 

(“CIP”).  General appropriations used to finance capital projects are shown both in the operating budget 
and in the CIP.  The Department of Management Services annually prepares a six-year CIP.  Because 
activities of capital projects often go beyond a fiscal year period, the accounting, encumbering, and 
controlling of the funds are based upon the length of project activities.  Similarly, federal and state grants 
in the Grants and Grants Consolidated Funds are budgeted separately from the operating budget because 
these revenues/appropriations do not necessarily coincide with the City’s fiscal year. 

 
Each capital lease obligation has a subject-to-appropriation clause which generally states that 

each fiscal year’s lease payments are subject to appropriation by City Council.  These capital lease 
appropriations are offset by an equal amount of revenue (other financing sources). 

Highlights of the Adopted Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2018  

On March 28, 2017, the City Manager and staff presented the proposed FY-18 Operating Budget 
and Capital Improvement Program to City Council. The budgets were adopted on May 9.  Between April 
4 and May 9, Council held four workshops, two public hearings, and one reconciliation workshop.   

Revenues 
 

Overall, the FY 2018 adopted budget is growing by $58 million or 3% compared with the 
Adjusted FY 2017 Operating Budget. This year’s budgeted revenues are shown in the table below. The 
local economy continues to improve as real estate assessments are increasing for the fourth consecutive 
year, and consumer-driven revenues such as general sales, hotel tax, meals tax and amusement tax are 
signaling modest growth. Even with overall growth in revenues, demands for additional storm water 
services and school services are necessitating the need for rate increases. When controlling for these rate 
changes, overall growth is actually 2.5%. 
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City and Schools Revenue Summary 
 

 
 
 

Real estate is the largest local source of revenue for the City. Excluding State and Federal 
revenue, real estate revenue represents over 42% of the City’s local revenue collected. Growth of this 
revenue occurs through growth in assessments, new development, and growth in the tax rate. In FY 2017-
18, overall real estate revenue is anticipated to grow 4.4%. This increase is attributable to projected 
growth in real estate property values and new development for a total growth in assessments of 2.7%. The 
remaining portion of the increase is the result of a 1.25 cent Real Estate tax increase to be dedicated to 
Schools for the phase-in of full-day kindergarten.   

 
In addition to the increase in the real estate tax for full day kindergarten, State revenues are 

increasing $15 million in FY 2017-18. Of this increase, $12.5 million is the result of the State providing 
additional revenues to the Schools. Even with this increase in school funding from the State, the City 
continues to increase its local contribution to the School System beyond the minimum match required by 
the state’s Standards of Quality. The city’s commitment to education over this required match is now 
$231.6 million or 239.9% of the required amount.  

 
In recent years, actual personal property revenue collections have exceeded budget estimates due 

to higher than anticipated growth in the assessment base. Used vehicles are retaining their value, and new 
vehicles are beginning to enter the assessment base above their lower recessionary levels. Taking the 
higher historical actuals into consideration, the FY 2018 Operating Budget reflects a 6% growth in 
Personal Property when compared to FY 2017. 

 
There are projected increases in several revenues including General Sales tax, Utility taxes, and 

Business Licenses. In addition to these growing revenue sources, and in order to improve the City’s 
sustainability and respond to citizen input, the FY 2018 operating budget includes a 2.5 cent per day 
increase in the storm water Equivalent Residential Unit (ERU) rate. The revenue generated from this fee 

FY 2016-17 Adjusted 
Budget 

FY 2017-18 City 
Budget

FY 2017-18 
Schools Budget

FY 2017-18 Total City & 
Schools Budget Percent Change

Real Estate 542,384,484                  537,868,892               28,432,004.00       566,300,896                      4.4%
Personal Property 146,979,656                  155,933,379               - 155,933,379                      6.1%
General Sales 63,160,061                    65,135,023                 - 65,135,023                         3.1%
Utility Tax 25,472,704                    25,757,106                 - 25,757,106                         1.1%
VA Telecommunications 16,998,982                    16,215,279                 - 16,215,279                         -4.6%
Business License 46,389,703                    46,786,036                 - 46,786,036                         0.9%
Cable Franchise 8,703,443                       8,646,041                    - 8,646,041                           -0.7%
Restaurant Tax 64,881,611                    68,807,636                 - 68,807,636                         6.1%
Amusement Tax 6,201,490                       6,331,312                    - 6,331,312                           2.1%
Hotel Room Tax 31,525,371                    34,897,289                 - 34,897,289                         10.7%
Cigarette Tax 11,853,670                    11,906,906                 - 11,906,906                         0.4%
Revenue Sharing Formula (399,278,346)             399,278,346.00     - 0.0%
General Fund Balance 10,903,254                    6,264,165                    - 6,264,165                           -42.5%
Other Fund Balance 16,022,163                    2,042,123                    11,599,621.00       13,641,744                         -14.9%
Utility Fees 157,620,791                  161,310,047               - 161,310,047                      2.3%
Other Revenue 135,927,254                  121,973,944               17,215,448.00       139,189,392                      2.3%
Waste Collection Fee 33,644,400                    33,672,000                 - 33,672,000                         0.1%
State Revenue 477,790,745                  125,316,244               367,490,094.00     492,806,338                      3.1%
Federal Revenue 115,237,824                  45,584,627                 70,492,685.00       116,077,312                      0.7%
Total Operating Budget 1,911,697,606              1,075,169,703           894,508,198           1,969,677,901                   3.0%
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increase will help and address a number of critical storm water projects throughout the City as part of a 
15-year plan. 

 
The table below illustrates the impact city taxes have on families. 
 

Typical Family Tax Impact  

 
 
Expenditures 

As shown in the table below, the Operating Budget is $1,969,677,901, an increase of 3.0% over 
the adjusted FY 2017 budget. The table below shows the budget by expenditure category. 

 
Expenditures by Category  

 
 

The increase in the operating budget includes funding for services critical to the community such 
as storm water maintenance and infrastructure, public safety, education, libraries, parks and road 
maintenance. It also includes a 2.0% pay increase (1% general and 1% merit at the midpoint of the 
employees pay range) for teachers and city employees effective July 1, 2017. The budget also contains an 
additional 145.03 FTE’s to maintain or enhance core services. It fully funds the City’s debt service 
obligations and advances a multitude of important programs. 

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18
Real Estate Tax $2,201.86 $2,110.19 $2,054.12 $2,089.05 $2,001.36 $2,054.37 $2,230.47 $2,285.91 $2,374.92
Personal Property Tax 155.76 160.99 193.05 236.01 238.29 287.03 310.35 319.16 332.27
Electricity Utility Tax 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00
Gas Utility Tax 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00
Va Telecommunications Tax 70.68 72.12 73.68 73.92 74.64 75.24 75.24 76.32 76.32
Water Utility Tax 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00
Restaurant Tax 143.77 140.31 143.44 147.95 140.86 149.22 149.22 149.22 149.22
Admissions Tax 18.30 17.55 18.15 15.41 15.10 14.19 14.19 14.19 14.19
Vehicle License Decal 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 60.00 60.00 60.00
Storm Water Utility Fee 80.67 87.97 115.34 133.59 151.84 158.05 158.05 158.05 167.17
Residential Refuse Fee 0.00 0.00 60.00 120.00 256.32 256.32 256.32 276.00 276.00
Water & Sewer 578.88 604.92 635.88 668.76 703.56 740.16 740.16 740.16 740.16
Total Tax Impact $3,407.91 $3,352.05 $3,451.66 $3,642.70 $3,739.96 $3,892.57 $4,101.98 $4,186.99 $4,298.25

Annual Change ($55.86) $99.61 $191.03 $97.27 $152.60 $209.42 $85.01 $111.25
1) Real estate taxes computed based on a median home value 

2) Personal property tax computed based on average vehicle value for tw o vehicles. The calculation also accounts for the paid by the 
State through the Personal Property Tax Relief Act (PPTRA) portion of the tax.

FY 2016-17 Total City 
& Schools Adjusted 

Budget
FY 2017-18 City 

Budget
FY 2017-18 Schools 

Budget
FY 2017-18 Total City 

& Schools Budget % Change $ Change

Personnel 868,170,103$            384,345,016$       503,491,523$            887,836,539$            2.3% 19,666,436$         
Fringe Benefits 307,908,685              130,773,190         188,306,741              319,079,931              3.6% 11,171,246           
Operating Expenses 449,266,941              315,529,515         151,129,127              466,658,642              3.9% 17,391,701           
Capital Outlay 24,534,551                 21,718,051           6,163,443                   27,881,494                 13.6% 3,346,943              
Debt Service 167,465,928              121,368,343         45,417,364                 166,785,707              -0.4% (680,221)                
Pay-As-You-Go 57,414,370                 68,951,409           -                               68,951,409                 20.1% 11,537,039           
Reserves 36,937,028                 32,484,179           -                               32,484,179                 -12.1% (4,452,849)            

Total 1,911,697,606$      1,075,169,703$  894,508,198$         1,969,677,901$      3.0% 57,980,295$      

Note: The City's "Personnel" does not include funding for proposed salary increases. This funding is included in a "Reserve" account. The 
Schools proposed salary increase is included in "Personnel".
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The FY 2018 budget documents can be found at www.VBgov.com/budget. 

Audited Financial Results for Fiscal Year 2017 

On December 12, 2017, the City Manager presents to City Council audited financial results for Fiscal 
Year 2017 for the City’s major funds.    

The City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $606.9 million, a 1.3% 
increase compared to prior year’s fund balance.  

Governmental funds show increases in property tax revenues of $22.0 million primarily due to 
increases of property assessed values of 3.5% for real estate and 2.4% for personal property. The real estate 
tax rate remained at $0.99 per $100 of assessed valuation as did the personal property tax rate, which 
remained at $4.00 per $100 of assessed valuation.  

General Fund revenues totaled $1,098.6 million, which is $12.0 million over budget. Real estate and 
personal property tax revenues exceeded budget by $2.0 million and $6.5 million, respectively.  Actual City 
expenditures, including funding for Education, were $1,066.0 million or $53.7 million less than budgeted 
appropriations. City departmental expenditures were $53.7 million less than budget with the departments of 
Police, Information Technology, Human Services, and Public Works having the most savings.  Reservations 
against fund balance totaling $82.5 million were set up for nonspendable items ($10.6 million) such as 
inventories and accounts receivable and $71.9 million for restricted, committed, or assigned items such 
capital projects, education, grants, and School reversion. 

The final unassigned General Fund Balance for June 30, 2017 is $118.4 million or 10.5% of 
subsequent year’s revenues, an amount within the City Council policy of 8 to 12%.   

The tables that follow contain audited results for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2017. 

General Government Revenues 

In Fiscal Year 2017, tax revenues accounted for 59.2 percent of general governmental revenue, 
State assistance 33.0 percent, federal sources 7.4 percent, and other sources 7.3 percent. 

 
The following table shows the City’s Fiscal Year 2016 and 2017 actual revenues by source. 
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General Governmental Revenues 
Fiscal Year 2017 and 2016 Revenues by Source 

            
 FY 2017  FY 2016  Increase (Decrease) 

  from 2016 
Source Amount  Percent  Amount  Percent  Amount  Percent 

(millions)  of Total  (millions)  of Total  (millions)  Change 
Local Sources:            

General Property Tax $644.4        40.5%  $622.4  39.1%  $22.0  3.5% 
Other Local Taxes 298.5  18.8  289.6  18.2  8.9  3.1 
Fines and Forfeitures 5.5  0.3  6.4  0.4  (0.9)  (14.0) 
Permits, Privilege Fees,  and 
 Regulatory Licenses 

5.3  0.3  4.9  0.3  0.4  8.2 

From Use of Money and  
 Property 

9.8  0.6  14.6  0.9  (4.8)  (32.9) 

Charges for Services 83.3  5.2  83.3  5.2  (0.0)  0.0 
Miscellaneous        12.3         0.8        12.1          0.8         0.2      1.6 

Total Local 1,059.0         66.5   1,033.2        64.9   25.8  2.5 
From Commonwealth 525.8         33.0   512.9        32.2   12.9  2.5 
From Federal Government         118.1           7.4       111.9          7.0          6.2      5.5 

Total Revenues 1,702.9     107.0 1,658.1     104.2        44.8      2.7 
Source: City Department of Finance. 

Operating Data 

Ad valorem property taxes and other local taxes contributed 49.2 and 22.8 percent, respectively, 
of the City’s Governmental Funds revenues in Fiscal Year 2017.  The City levies an ad valorem tax on 
the assessed value of real and personal property located within the City.  Other local taxes include: (1) a 
one percent local sales tax (collected by the state and remitted to the City); (2) a tax on consumer utility 
bills of 20 percent each for gas, electric, water, and telephone on bills up to $15 per month for residential 
classes and 15 percent on the first $625 per month and 5 percent on the amount between $625 and $2,000 
for industrial and commercial classes; (3) a cigarette tax of 75 cents per pack; (4) property transfer 
recordation taxes; (5) an automobile license fee; (6) various business, professional and occupational taxes; 
(7) an eight percent hotel room tax; (8) a restaurant meal tax of five and one-half percent; (9) an 
amusement tax of 10 percent on gross admissions for certain events; and (10) a flat rate of $2.00 added to 
hotel room charges to fund the Tourism Investment and Advertising Programs or improvements at 
Sandbridge. 

 
The following table shows the City’s principal tax revenues by source for each of the last ten 

fiscal years.  Growth in real property taxes and total tax revenues has averaged 3.4% and 2.9%, 
respectively, over the past ten years. 
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PRINCIPAL TAX REVENUES BY SOURCE 
FISCAL YEARS 2008 THROUGH 2017 

 
                
  Real Personal General    Restaurant   Total 

Fiscal Property  Property Sales Utility Meal Other Tax 
Year Taxes Taxes Tax Tax Tax Taxes Revenue* 
2008 $499,241,014 $128,475,060 $54,071,427  $50,521,820  $48,069,618 $107,535,059  $887,913,998 

  2009 515,768,880 123,593,895 51,439,533  45,764,804  48,304,462 105,627,818  890,499,392 
  2010 504,334,961 113,226,394 50,263,545 46,662,622 48,442,376 103,385,929 866,315,827 
  2011 474,474,648 119,356,403 51,743,905 45,129,301 50,594,181 108,691,603 849,990,041 
2012 461,480,333 127,118,247 53,375,318 45,254,169 53,254,313 109,764,503 850,246,883 
2013 476,217,120 128,135,903 54,978,531 44,623,292 55,122,465 115,403,784 874,481,095 
2014 464,439,667 132,091,190 56,431,418 44,050,182 56,872,794 114,548,325 868,433,576 
2015 481,774,192 144,311,503 58,164,569 43,308,157 59,968,375 119,831,673 907,358,469 
2016 526,451,909 149,343,550 61,099,407 42,658,906 63,437,485 122,395,718 911,974,107 
2017 544,302,460 153,488,073 62,614,614 44,829,994 65,207,699 125,846,026 942,875,998 

____________________ 
Source: City Department of Finance. 
* Includes penalty & interest ($10 minimum) on delinquent collections. 

 
An annual ad valorem tax is levied by the City on the assessed value of real property subject to 

taxation within the City as of July 1.  The City assesses real property at 100 percent of its fair market 
value (with the exception of public service properties which are assessed by the State Corporation 
Commission).  Real property taxes are due on December 5 and June 5 of the fiscal year in which they are 
levied.  A penalty of ten percent of the tax owed or $10, whichever is greater, along with interest of 9.6 
percent for the first year, is assessed on delinquent taxes.  Subsequent year’s interest penalty rates are set 
by the City Council and are currently 8.4 percent. 

 
A portion of tangible personal property located within the City is also assessed an annual ad 

valorem tax. The assessed value of personal property is 100 percent of appraised value. Personal property 
taxes are due June 5, and delinquent payments are subject to the same penalties as described above for 
real property. 

 
The following table sets forth the assessed value of all taxable property in the City for the last ten 

fiscal years.  The assessed value of real and personal property in the City at June 30, 2017, was 
$59,478,023,773 including personal property, and public service real and personal property. 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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HISTORICAL ASSESSED VALUE 

FISCAL YEARS 2008 THROUGH 2017 

          Public       
  Real Percentage Personal Percentage  Service Percentage    Percentage  
  Property  Change  Property Change  Property Change  Total Change  
Fiscal Assessed From Assessed From Assessed From Assessed From 
Year Value (1) Prior Year Value Prior Year Value (2) Prior Year Value Prior Year 
2008 $55,146,390,999 19.57% $4,152,466,483 9.62% $647,905,245 18.85% $59,946,762,727 18.81% 
2009 56,766,753,287 2.94 3,712,297,032 (10.60) 807,890,384 24.69 61,286,940,703 2.24 
2010 55,379,973,665 (2.44) 3,611,774,884 (2.71) 890,229,132 10.19 59,881,977,681 (2.29) 
2011 51,975,401,446 (6.15) 4,078,095,291 12.91 927,509,746 4.19 56,981,006,483 (4.84) 
2012 50,508,022,826 (2.82) 4,305,170,900 5.57 938,693,399 1.21 55,751,887,125 (2.16) 
2013 48,851,994,658 (3.28) 4,249,692,532 (1.29) 929,843,170 (0.94) 54,031,530,360 (3.09) 
2014 48,737,614,190 -0.23 4,334,018,923 1.98 889,050,800 -4.39 53,960,683,913 -0.13 
2015 50,577,279,180 3.77 4,569,833,578 5.44 875,496,571 -1.52 56,022,609,329 3.82 
2016 52,016,374,504 2.85 4,582,059,618 0.27 895,479,945 2.28 57,493,914,067 2.63 
2017 53,840,546,037 3.51 4,692,383,356 2.41 945,094,380 5.54 59,478,023,773 3.45 

____________________ 
Source: City Department of Finance. 
(1) Real property is assessed at 100% of fair market value. 
(2) Includes both real estate and personal property assessment.  All public service property is taxed at the real estate tax rate, 

except for vehicles. 
 
 

The City is required to levy taxes on the assessed value of real and personal property without 
limit as to the rate or amount to the extent necessary to pay principal of and interest on its general 
obligation bonds.  The following table sets forth the City’s tax rates and tax levies on real property for 
Fiscal Years 2008 through 2017.   

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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PROPERTY TAX RATES AND CHANGE IN TAX LEVY 
FISCAL YEARS 2008 THROUGH 2017 

                           
          Tax Rate       Real     Annual  
  Fiscal       on Real       Property     Change in  
  Year       Property*       Tax Levy     Tax Levy  
  2008       0.890%       $483,635,234     4.70%  
  2009    0.890     497,742,524   2.90  
  2010    0.890    485,659,493   (2.43)  
  2011    0.890     456,147,507   (6.08)  
  2012       0.890       443,160,075     (2.82)  
 2013    0.950    457,057,821   3.14  
 2014    0.930    446,015,531   (2.42)  
 2015    0.930    463,184,807   3.85  
  2016     0.990    510,528,757          10.22  
 2017     0.990    528,410,384            3.50  
              

____________________ 
Source: City Department of Finance. 
* Tax rate per $100 of assessed value. 
 

The following table sets forth information concerning the City’s property tax collection rate for each 
of its ten most recent fiscal years. 

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS 

Fiscal Years 2008 through 2017 
 

  Collected within the    
 Total Fiscal Year of the Levy Collections Total Collections to Date 

Fiscal Tax  Percentage In Subsequent  Percentage 
Year Levy Amount Of Levy Years Amount Of Levy 
2008 $562,044,329 $537,526,149 95.6% 20,719,540 $558,245,689  99.32% 
2009 570,582,069 547,934,162 96.0 19,571,362 567,505,524       99.46 
2010 546,129,490 526,040,648 96.3 17,082,666 543,123,314       99.45 
2011 523,586,269 504,769,073 96.4 15,108,438 519,877,511       99.29 
2012 522,586,852 501,282,299 95.9 15,740,663 517,022,962       98.94 
2013 536,618,666 516,542,429 96.3 15,920,597 532,463,026       99.23 
2014 527,036,431 509,339,982 96.6 15,189,025 524,529,007       99.52 
2015 558,420,893 537,056,367 96.2 15,421,100 552,477,467       98.94 
2016 613,105,892 589,411,524 96.1 13,092,961 602,504,485       98.27 
2017 634,993,466 609,085,906 95.9 0 609,085,906       95.92 

    

Source: City Department of Finance. 
 
Note:  Collections in subsequent years represent delinquent accounts collected during the course of the fiscal year for all prior 
fiscal years. 
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
PRINCIPAL TAXPAYERS 

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2017 
(Unaudited) 

                  Real Property   
Assessed 

Taxpayer Business Type Value 
                      

1 Armada Hoffler   Office/Retail/Vacant Land  $        373,315,300 
2 Ramon W. Breeden, Jr.  Apartments/Shopping Center 354,406,300 
3 Virginia Electric & Power Company  Utility  350,475,577 
4 Lynnhaven Mall LLC Shopping Mall  297,491,200 
5 E. D. & A. F. Ruffin & B. L. Thompson  Apartments/Shopping Center 279,020,100 
6 J. M. , R.J.F. , A.D. & L.E. Caplan Real Estate 273,951,600 
7 Pembroke Square Assoc. Shopping Mall 193,027,100 
8 Verizon Virginia, Inc. Utility  170,066,425 
9 Christian Broadcasting Assoc./Net, Inc. Broadcasting  149,949,700 

10 Cheryl P. McLeskey Real Estate 144,580,900 
11 Thomas J. Lyons, Jr. Hotels 140,923,300 
12 Lake Gem Shopping Center/Fast-Food 119,831,000 
13 Watergate Treehouse Associates LP Shopping Center 114,317,500 
14 Aimco Maple Bay & Aimco Reflections LLC Apartments 100,183,100 
15 Westminster Canterbury Real Estate 97,701,600 

16 
Windsor Lake & Shoreline Apartments 
LLC. Apartments/Shopping Center  97,336,100 

17 Potter Properties  Shopping Mall  94,475,100 
18 Virginia Natural Gas  Utility  92,538,234 
19 Wal Mart Real Estate Business Trust Retail Stores 91,346,600 

20 
Inland Diversified Virginia Beach 
Landstown LLC  Shopping Center 78,144,000 

21 Atlantic Shores Cooperative  Apartments  75,457,900 
22 Sifen, Michael D.  Real Estate  67,877,500 
23 Occidental Development, Ltd.  Apartments 65,550,000 
24 BBR/Marina Shores LLC Shopping Center 49,397,600 
25 Latitudes LLC  Apartments  46,242,100 

Total  $     3,947,605,836  

_____________ 
Source: Office of Real Estate Assessor and Commissioner of the Revenue 

General Fund 
In accordance with the general practice of governmental units, the City records its transactions 

under various funds.  The largest, the General Fund, is that from which all general costs of City 
government are paid and to which taxes and other revenues, not specifically directed by law or 
administrative action to be deposited in special revenue funds, are recorded.  Examples of special revenue 
funds are the Special Service District, Parks and Recreation, and grants funds. 

 
The General Fund is comprised of revenue derived from ad valorem taxes, other local taxes, 

licenses, fees, permits, certain revenue from the federal and state governments, interest earned on invested 
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cash balances, and other revenues.  General Fund disbursements include the costs of general City 
government and transfers to the School Operating Fund for local share of school costs. 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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General Fund Operations 
GENERAL FUND 

COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 

FOR THE FISCAL YEARS 2013 THROUGH 2017 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
     

REVENUES:      
General Property Taxes  $  515,740,460 $ 506,900,885  $ 534,606,422 $562,321,852  $582,106,994 
Other Local Taxes 222,285,793 222,932,493 230,149,185 233,105,129 239,546,816 
Permits, Privilege Fees and 
Regulatory Licenses 4,222,312 4,715,452 5,138,080 4,922,398 5,250,146 

Fines and Forfeitures 6,163,791 6,298,625 6,893,839 5,964,279 4,967,458 
From Use of Money and Property 6,083,451 5,461,473 5,658,510 6,349,029 7,857,291 
Charges for Services 42,722,379 54,332,704 54,550,938 52,646,840 53,792,395 
Miscellaneous 11,310,202 4,375,470 4,890,797 5,865,876 5,474,431 
From Other Local Governments 95,294 98,153 49,077   
From Commonwealth 143,423,419 145,863,452 147,816,267 154,448,241 157,279,575 
From Federal Government 17,591,661 18,444,890 19,436,950 20,326,517 22,105,929 

Total Revenues $969,638,762 $969,423,597 
 

$1,009,190,065 $1,045,950,161  $1,078,381,035 
     

      
EXPENDITURES      
      
Operating:      
Legislative  $      1,298,568 $     1,184,883  $     1,208,704 $1,233,934  $1,173,001 
Executive 2,539,253 2,528,002 2,615,031 3,998,371 4,093,880 
Law 3,697,386 3,913,804 3,919,348 4,022,217 3,969,488 
Finance 16,993,124 17,367,222 17,815,815 18,062,607 18,207,252 
Human Resources 9,924,243 10,416,987 11,174,602 11,914,851 11,245,572 
Judicial 13,749,135 13,967,384 13,764,333 14,277,459 14,517,635 
Health 2,866,304 3,113,772 3,213,191 3,177,862 3,271,550 
Human Services 100,393,290 101,656,014 103,981,434 105,720,704 107,574,303 
Police 90,179,187 94,294,014 93,585,537 94,043,170 96,478,965 
Public Works 64,492,013 63,605,392 63,686,224 66,729,291 73,223,061 
Parks and Recreation 12,565,847 13,276,690 13,599,737 13,394,124 13,940,534 
Library 15,762,279 17,089,262 17,337,750 17,103,595 17,333,746 
Planning 9,226,718 9,284,748 9,873,045 9,737,642 10,993,105 
Agriculture 710,443 710,080 760,840 728,253 749,171 
Economic Development 2,343,970 3,018,382 3,037,408 3,949,271 3,749,275 
Convention and Visitor Development 8,166,937 8,856,836 8,573,209 8,734,628 8,162,856 
Boards and Commissions 33,495,194 34,742,684 35,603,080 28,573,296 32,288,724 
Fire 43,502,476 45,968,000 47,037,716 48,956,961 52,161,178 
Museums 9,527,077 10,200,033 11,435,283 11,140,739 10,961,337 
Management Services 1,595,914 1,481,262 1,526,664 1,485,496 1,409,775 
Communications and Information 
Technology 22,348,352 22,121,372 22,008,128 20,463,895 22,132,288 

Emergency Communications and 
Citizen Services 8,585,726 9,033,409 8,985,752 8,609,489 8,859,237 

Emergency Medical Services 7,902,998 8,628,006 8,945,039 9,430,107 10,991,301 
Strategic Growth Area 940,819 1,223,232 1,136,261   
Housing and Neighborhood 
Preservation 1,708,273 1,863,631 1,781,009 2,051,289 1,813,255 

Debt Service 45,741,033 44,503,190 47,834,837 47,834,837 49,705,434 
Total Expenditures $  530,256,559 $544,048,291 $554,439,977 $555,374,088  $579,005,923 
      
EXCESS OF REVENUES 

OVER(UNDER) EXPENDITURES $   439,382,203  $425,375,306 $454,750,088 $490,576,073  $499,375,112 
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GENERAL FUND 
 

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
(USES): 

   
  

      
Operating Transfers in $     9,749,038 $      7,928,412 $      7,854,881 $9,899,661 $20,266,539 
Operating Transfers out (451,633,310) (450,326,425) (470,649,963) -477,784,141 -486,974,868 
       
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (441,884,272) (442,398,013) (462,795,082) -467,884,480 -466,708,329 
       
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 
AND OTHER FINANCING (2,502,069) (17,022,707) (8,044,994) 21,695,861 32,666,783 
       
FUND BALANCE—JULY 1(1) 191,175,131 188,889,282 171,866,575 163,821,581 185,517,442 
FUND BALANCE—JUNE 30 $188,673,062 $171,866,575 $163,821,581 $185,517,442 $218,184,225 

    

Source: City Department of Finance. 
(1) The beginning fund balance for the General Fund has been restated as a result of Special Revenue Funds being combined with the General 
Fund, in Fiscal Years 2013 thru 2014. 

 
The entire General Fund balance is not available for appropriation because of outstanding 

interfund and interagency loans, prepaid items, encumbrances, and designations for school capital 
projects. An analysis of the General Fund balance for Fiscal Year 2017 is as follows: 

 
Fund Balance - June 30  $218,184,225  
Reserved For: 
Nonspendable Inventories and Loans Receivable $10,647,511 
Restricted for Grants 2,047,751 
Committed for Education  17,299,308 
Assigned amounts for Operations  22,361,956 
Assigned amounts for Education 24,129,855 
Assigned amounts for Capital Projects 23,301,544  
 Total Reservations  99,787,925 
Net Balance Available for Appropriation - July 1  $118,396,300 
 
   

Source: City Department of Finance. 
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At the end of Fiscal Year 2017, the fund balance in the General Fund was $218,184,225. This 
balance represents an increase of $32,666,783 from the previous year. The table below presents a comparison 
of the City's General Fund balance for the Fiscal Years 2013 through 2017. 

 
 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
General Fund Balance:     
Nonspendable $      581,099 $    7,482,460 $    7,093,861 $10,937,946  $10,647,511 
Restricted 892,701 892,701 1,080,998 675,616 2,047,751
Committed 19,310,560 16,616,865 12,299,308 12,299,308 17,299,308
Assigned 65,524,909 50,789,758 46,342,481 54,485,191 69,793,355
Unassigned 102,363,793 96,084,791 97,004,933 107,119,381 118,396,300
Total General Fund $188,673,062 $171,866,575 $163,821,581 $185,517,442  $218,184,225 
____________________ 
Source:  City Department of Finance 
 
 
 
 

UNASSIGNED GENERAL FUND BALANCE AS PERCENT 
 OF  SUBSEQUENT YEARS BUDGETED REVENUES 

FISCAL YEARS 2008 THROUGH 2017 
 

Fiscal 
Year 

Unassigned General  
Fund Balance 

June 30 

Unassigned  
General Fund Balance 

As Percent of Subsequent 
Years Budgeted 

Revenues 
2008 $120,084,927  11.24% 
2009 92,737,202  8.88 
2010 102,078,423  10.49 
2011 113,003,754  11.89 
2012 103,961,151 10.72 
2013 102,363,793 10.43 
2014 96,084,791 9.50 
2015 97,004,933 9.31 
2016 107,119,381 10.10 
2017 118,396,300 10.49 

 ___________________ 
 Source:  City Department of Finance 

 

Interim Financial Statements as of November 30, 2017 

General Fund revenues as of November 30, 2017 total $379.4 million and are consistent with 
prior years.  Current year revenues to date are 33.6% of budget, compared to 32.5% in FY 2017 and 
32.9% in FY 2016.   

 
General Fund expenditures and transfers amount to $504.5 million, which is 45.0% of budget 

expended or committed as of November 30, 2017, compared to 43.0% for FY 2017 and 42.6% for FY 
2016. 
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As of June 30, 2017, the unassigned General Fund Balance as a percent of estimated FY 2018 
revenues is 10.49%. 

 
School Operating revenues are tracking well compared to the budget, with $313.8 million 

collected as of November 30, 2017.  Expenditures of $296.0 million, or 36.6% of budget, are comparable 
to the prior fiscal year-to-date (35.2% in FY 2017 and 35.0% in FY 2016). 

Water and Sewer System 

The Department of Public Utilities operates the City owned Water Utility and the Sanitary Sewer 
Utility.  The mission of the Department is “to provide public water, including water for fire protection, 
and public sanitary sewer service to the urban areas of Virginia Beach.”  The goals are “to provide quality 
public service at reasonable costs and to plan, build, operate and maintain its facilities to meet community 
needs, environmental responsibilities and regulatory requirements.” 

 
The physical property of the City water system as of June 30, 2017, included approximately 1,501 

miles of transmission and distribution mains, 8,820 fire hydrants, 12 water storage facilities, and nine 
pumping stations (including Lake Gaston).  The City water system is fully metered, with tap sizes ranging 
from 3 to 12 inches.  As of June 30, 2017, the water system had approximately 133,777 connections, 
representing a 0.3% increase over the number reported in 2016, and a customer base of approximately 
441,464 people.  

 
The City Sanitary Sewer System includes collector lines, force mains and pump stations, which 

are used to collect and transport wastewater to the treatment facilities operated by the Hampton Roads 
Sanitation District (“HRSD”), the regional treatment agency.  Virginia Beach citizens receiving sanitary 
sewer pay the City a fee for collection and transport of wastewater and HRSD a fee for treatment of the 
wastewater.  The City’s Sanitary Sewer System consists of 408 sewer pump stations and over 1,646 miles 
of pipeline ranging in size from 4 inches to 36 inches in diameter.  As of June 30, 2017, the number of 
City sewer connections was 130,926, representing a 0.3% increase over the number reported in 2016. 

 
The HRSD, established in 1940, provides wastewater treatment services for 17 cities and counties 

in southeastern Virginia.  The HRSD operates nine major treatment facilities in Hampton Roads and four 
small rural treatment facilities on the Middle Peninsula, with a total treatment capacity of 249 million 
gallons per day (“MGD”).  Two HRSD plants are located in the City.  The Chesapeake-Elizabeth Plant, in 
operation since 1968, has an operating capacity of 24 MGD, with a 2016 average annual flow estimated at 
18.0 MGD.  The Atlantic Plant has an operating capacity of 54 MGD and a 2016 average annual flow 
estimated at 27.2 MGD.  The HRSD has a service population of about 1.7 million.   

 
The Water Utility and Sanitary Sewer Systems are operated and maintained in good working 

order including repairing, rebuilding, or replacing of equipment and structures when required.  In 
addition, the City has developed an ongoing training program to develop a staff of personnel in sufficient 
numbers to promote safe and technically competent operation of the water and sewer utility.  

 
The estimated value of the water and sewage property, plant and equipment was $1,141,082,091 

as of June 30, 2017, excluding land and construction in progress. 
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  2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
Millions of Gallons of Water 
Storage 

24.50 24.50 26.00 26.00 26.00 

Miles of Water Lines 1,492 1,496 1,499 1,499 1,501 
Miles of Sewer Lines 1,639 1,646 1,653 1,646 1,646 
Number of Water Pump Stations 
(1) 

9 9 9 9 9 

Number of Sewer Pump Stations  406 407 408 408 408 
Number of Water Connections 132,324 132,615 132,940 133,411 133,777 
Number of Sewer Connections 129,417 129,639 129,908 130,599 130,926 
Total Value of Utility System (2) $976,268,875 $1,010,113,901 $1,037,365,461 $1,054,112,386 $1,092,790,301 

 ____________________ 
Source: City Department of Public Utilities. 
(1) Includes Lake Gaston 
(2) Includes Utility Plant; excludes certain assets included in “property, plant and equipment” value of $1,141,082,091; excludes 
depreciation 

 
The City’s water and sewer system is operated on a self-sustaining basis, with rates and charges 

adjusted when necessary to assure a stream of revenues adequate to cover the costs of operations and 
maintenance of the system and debt service on all water and sewer system bonds.  Revenues from water 
and sewer charges are reserved solely for the payment of water and sewer fund obligations and have not 
been used for any non-water or non-sewer related purpose.  Water and sewer charges are maintained at a 
level sufficient to pay all water and sewer operating expenses and debt service.  

 
The following schedule lists historical water commodity rates, single-family residential sewer 

charges, and associated effective dates: 
 

Effective Date 
Water Commodity Rate 

(per 1,000 gallons) 

Sanitary Sewer Service 
Charge Single Family 
Residence (per month) 

   
July 1, 2007 $3.80 $17.72 
July 1, 2008 $3.95 $18.61 
July 1, 2009 $4.10 $19.54 
July 1, 2010 $4.41 $19.54 
July 1, 2011 $4.41 $22.12 
July 1, 2012 $4.41 $24.86 
July 1, 2013 $4.41 $27.76 
July 1, 2014 $4.41 $30.81 
July 1, 2015 $4.41 $30.81 
July 1, 2016 $4.41 $30.81 
July 1, 2017 $4.41 $30.81 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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Typical Water and Sewer Bills 

Under the City’s current rate structure, a single family residence consuming 6,000 gallons for 30 
days would receive a bill as follows: 

 
 Current 

Rates 
  
Water Usage; 6 x $4.41 per 1,000 gallons  $26.46 
Minimum Service Availability Charge      4.41 
 Total Water  $30.87 
Sanitary Sewer Service  30.81 
 Total Water and Sanitary Sewer Monthly Billing  $61.68 

 
In addition, the HRSD would charge the same residence $39.47 for wastewater treatment of 6,000 

gallons during the same time period.  The last HRSD rate increase was in July 1, 2017.  

Operating Results-Water and Sewer System 

The City Council fixes water and sanitary sewer rates and charges such that estimated income 
generated by such rates and charges will cover operating expenses and debt service relating to the water 
and sewer system.  Funds and accounts relating to the Department of Public Utilities are kept separate 
from other funds and accounts of the City.  

 
The Department of Public Utilities has financed the construction and acquisition of water and 

sewer facilities through federal and Commonwealth grant proceeds, pay-as-you-go funding and the 
issuance of City general obligation water and sewer bonds, double barrel water and sewer bonds (secured 
both by water and sewer revenues and the City’s general obligation pledge) and water and sewer revenue 
bonds.  

 
The Department is required by the City’s bond resolutions, among other provisions, to establish 

rates sufficient to cover operations and maintenance and debt service on the general obligation water and 
sewer bonds and the water and sewer revenue bonds.   There are no general obligation bonds issued for 
water and sewer purposes.  

 
In 2002, City Council approved a set of debt management policies for the Water and Sewer 

Enterprise Fund to assist in making short and long-term decisions regarding the water and sewer system.  
The policies incorporate three essential areas of debt management:  liquidity, debt service coverage and 
pay-as-you-go funding.  For liquidity, the water and sewer enterprise fund will pursue the goal of 
retaining working capital equal to 80% to 100% of one year’s operating expenses.  For debt service 
coverage, the goal is 1.5x.  For pay-as-you-go funding, the goal of the water and sewer enterprise fund is 
to contribute approximately 25% of the annual capital program from non-borrowed funds.  The water and 
sewer enterprise fund is in compliance with each of these debt management policies.   

 
The table on the following page presents the operating results of the Water and Sewer Enterprise 

Fund, exclusive of depreciation, as used in computing coverage of debt service, for Fiscal Year 2013 
through Fiscal Year 2017. 
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SYSTEM OPERATING REVENUES, EXPENSES AND COVERAGE 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 

  
2013 2014 2015 2016 

Audited 
2017 

       
Operating Revenues       

Service Charges  $62,231 $68,226 $74,518 $76,403 $75,767 
Water Usage  46,543 45,881 45,309 44,847 45,599 
Interfund Services Provided  - - 1,169 - 1,497 
Miscellaneous             839        1,636       1,187       1,771          1,616   
Total Operating Revenues  $109,613 $115,743 $122,183 $123,021 $124,479 
       

Operating Expenses       
Water Treatment (Services)  $25,968 $23,188 $23,771 $24,488 $24,722 
Water Distribution  8,056 7,882 6,780 6,816 7,189 
Sewer Collection  13,151 12,658 14,274 13,785 14,494 
Administration & Engineering E  16,829 18,367 19,157 18,712 16,708 
Customer Services     9,830     9,813   10,163   10,138     9,701 
Total Operating Expenses(1)  $73,834 $71,908 $74,145 $73,939 $72,814 
       
Net Operating Income  $35,779 $43,835 $48,038 $49,082 $51,665 

       
Non-Operating Income       

Interest  $457 $405 $493 $597 $2,082 
Water Resource Recovery 
Fee 

  
3,905 

 
2,116 

 
3,120 

2,414 2,796 

Sewer Connection Fees  1,274 767 1,211 1,187 1,047 
Norfolk Water True-Up            -    3,257          -    3,257   - 
Total Non-Operating Income  $5,636 $6,545 $4,824 $7,455 $5925 

Income Available For Debt 
Service 

  
$41,415 

 
$50,380 

 
$52,862 

 
$56,537 

 
$57,590 

       
Annual Debt Service       
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds  $14,950 $15,965 $18,119 $18,520 $16,569 
       
Coverage of Debt Service on Water 
and Sewer Revenue Bonds 

  
2.77x 

 
3.16x 

 
2.92x 

 
2.92x 

 
3.48x 

       
    
Source: Department of Finance and Department of Public Utilities. 
(1) Does not include depreciation, fund transfers or other items excluded from the Resolution’s definition of “Operating 
Expenses.” 

 
The City’s water and sewer activities are operated on an enterprise fund accounting basis.  Fiscal 

Year 2017 operating revenues were $124,478,580.  This represents a 1.2% increase over Fiscal Year 2016.  
The Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund had a decrease in Net Position of $25,678,949 at the end of Fiscal 
Year 2017.  
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 Water Contracts 

Until the Lake Gaston Pipeline Project was completed in late 1997, the City had no independent 
water supply and obtained water from the City of Norfolk under a Water Sales Contract and a Water 
Service Contract.  The Lake Gaston Pipeline Project was placed into formal operations on January 1, 
1998.  On that date, the City terminated the Water Sales Contract with Norfolk except for certain 
provisions that survived until June 30, 1999.  The Water Services Contract, which obligates Norfolk to 
receive, treat, and deliver Lake Gaston water to the City, runs through the year 2030.  In essence, the City 
has contracted for water system facilities and services related to the storage, transmission and treatment of 
Lake Gaston water.  The facilities are owned by Norfolk, but dedicated to serving the City through the life 
of the Water Service Contract.  Those facilities include: 

 
1. Raw water storage (lakes); 
2. Raw water pumping stations and transmission lines; 
3. Water treatment plant capacity; and 
4. Treated water storage, pumping and transmission. 
 

 In accordance with the Water Services Contract, Norfolk develops projected rates applicable to 
the City for treated water service on a biennial basis based upon a cost of service study prepared by an 
independent consulting firm.  Under the utility basis “cost of service” methodology, which follows 
traditional utility ratemaking standards, the City pays its allocable share of operations and maintenance 
expense, cost of the facilities dedicated to service the City, and services provided by Norfolk, including a 
reasonable rate of return on facilities dedicated to serving the City.  For Fiscal Year 2017, the average 
effective projected rate to the City for delivery of bulk treated water is $2.12 per 1,000 gallons.  For Fiscal 
Year 2018, the effective rate is $2.19 per 1,000 gallons, respectively.   
 
 At the end of the second fiscal year in each biennial period, Norfolk’s independent consultant 
completes and submits to the City a schedule of rates and annual billings applicable to the previous two 
fiscal years reflecting an allocation of cost of service based on actual costs incurred by the Norfolk water 
system.  This allocation of actual costs resulted in a payment to the City from Norfolk of $825,386, which 
was paid during the twelve month period of Fiscal Year 2017.  This amount represents payments from the 
City over costs incurred by Norfolk during Fiscal Years 2014 and 2015. 

Adopted FY 2018-2023 Water and Sewer Capital Improvement Program 

The Department of Public Utilities annually prepares the portion of the City’s Capital Improvement 
Program (the “CIP”) concerning the improvement and extension of the water and sewer system.  According 
to the City’s Fiscal Years 2018-2023 CIP, the water and sewer projects amount to $470.9 million, a 3.8% 
increase from the Fiscal Years 2017-2022 CIP.  Previous appropriations for such projects total $277.9 
million.  The Capital Budget for FY 2017-2018 totals $37.1 million, leaving future funding needs of $156.0 
million for the water and sewer system in years FY 2019-2023. 

 
The following table presents the financing sources expected to meet the six-year capital plan for 

water and sewer.  
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Water and Sewer System Capital Improvement Program 
Fiscal Year 2018 to Fiscal Year 2023 Financing Plan 

     
    Funding Sources for Remaining 

Balance 

Projects 
Total 
Estimated Costs 

Previously 
Authorized 

Balance 
To Be 
Funded 

Water and 
Sewer 
Revenue Bonds 

Water and 
Sewer Fund 
(Pay-As-You-
Go) 

      
Water Utility $  117,114,572 $  52,634,572 $  64,480,000 $  18,171,888 $45,708,112 
Sewer Utility 353,782,706 225,217,706 128,565,000 39,748,112 88,116,888 
Total $470,897,278 $277,852,278 $193,045,000 $57,920,000 $133,825,000 

 
Developer 
Contribution 
$600,000 
700,000 
$1,300,000 

                                                 
Source: Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2018-2023. 

Adopted FY 2018 Water and Sewer Operating Budget  

In total, the Department of Public Utilities operating budget increased $2,172,123 to 
$125,926,109 in FY 2018 compared to the adjusted FY 2017 operating budget of $123,753,986.  All 
current programs and services are maintained without rate increases. 
 

The current monthly impact to the typical single family residence are outlined in the table below. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Insurance 

The City utilizes a combination of commercial insurance and self-insurance to protect its assets, 
including employees, money, securities, and buildings and equipment.  City buildings and their contents 
are covered by an all risk property insurance program which is written with a $50,000 per occurrence 
deductible.  Other types of property insurance are written with deductibles ranging from $5,000 to 

Adopted Water and Sanitary Sewer Rate Increases 
FY 2017 through FY 2018 

      

  
FY 

2107  
FY 

2018   

Monthly Water Supply Charge       
  (Single Family Residence, 6,000 gallons)  $30.87  $30.87    
       
Monthly Sanitary Sewer Charge       
  (Single Family Residence, 5/8” Meter)  30.81  30.81    
       
Total Water and Sanitary Sewer  $61.68  $61.68    
       
Monthly Increase to Residential Bill ($)  $  0  $  0    
  (Single Family Residence, 6,000 gallons, 5/8” Meter)       
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$50,000 and include coverage for items such as computer equipment, heavy contractor’s type equipment, 
fine arts and valuable papers.  All City employees are bonded for $1,000,000.  

 
The City is primarily self-insured for the first $2,000,000 of any automobile liability, commercial 

general liability, public officials’ liability and police professional liability claims.  The City has 
$10,000,000 of commercial insurance coverage above this self-insured retention on these lines of risks.  
The City is also primarily self-insured for workers’ compensation and carries commercial insurance in 
excess of any claims totaling $1,250,000 in any single occurrence and excess insurance is purchased for 
losses up to $25,000,000.  

 
The City’s Risk Management Fund had a cash balance of $15,996,234 as of June 30, 2017.  This 

amount, plus the FY-18 budgeted departmental contributions, is expected to be sufficient for expected 
draw-downs during the course of the current fiscal year.  The most recent actuarial study conducted by the 
firm of Oliver Wyman determined that as of June 30, 2017, the un-discounted liability for current claims 
against the City was $37,732,500. 

Commitments and Contingencies   

The City participates in a number of federal and state grants, entitlements, and shared revenues 
programs.  These programs are subject to program compliance audits by the applicable federal or state 
agency or its representatives.  Furthermore, the U.S. Congress passed legislation called the “Single Audit 
Act Amendment of 1996” which required most governmental recipients of federal assistance to have an 
annual independent organization-wide financial and compliance audit.  The results thereof are 
incorporated in the audited financial statements for the City for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2017, 
included as Appendix B to this Official Statement.  The amounts, if any, of expenditures which may be 
disallowed by these audits cannot be determined at this time although the City expects such amounts, if 
any, to be immaterial. 

Retirement and Pension Plans  

Plan Description.  The City has elected to participate in the Virginia Retirement System (“VRS”), 
and substantially all of the full-time salaried general government and school employees are covered by a 
retirement plan, group term life insurance, and disability and death benefits upon employment.  The City 
is a separate cost-sharing pool within VRS, and makes contributions based on biennial rates set by VRS’s 
actuarial calculations of the annual required contributions.   

  
 The VRS Basic Benefit is a lifetime monthly benefit based on a retirement multiplier as a 
percentage of the member’s average final compensation multiplied by the member’s total service credit. 
For members hired before July 1, 2010, the monthly benefit is based on 1.7% (1.85% for hazardous duty 
employees) of the member’s 36 consecutive months of highest compensation. For non-hazardous duty 
members hired or rehired on or after July 1, 2010 and members who were not vested on January 1, 2013, 
the monthly benefit is based on 1.65% of the member’s 60 consecutive months of highest compensation.  
 
 Effective January 1, 2014, all new employees without prior VRS service are required to enroll in 
the VRS Hybrid Plan except for sworn personnel, a combination of defined benefit and defined 
contribution plans. The Hybrid Plan, introduced to address future affordability, lowered the retirement 
multiplier and increased the number of months used to calculate the average final compensation. 

 
Funding Policy.  Plan members are required by Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as 

amended, to contribute 5.00% of their creditable compensation toward their retirement, which up until 
July 1, 2012 was paid by the City as permitted by VRS. In another step taken by VRS to insure future 



 

 87

affordability, as of July 1, 2012, new employees were required to pay the 5% member contribution.  In 
addition, for existing employees, employers were required to begin making the employee pay the 5% 
member contribution. This is being phased in over a 5-year period from FY-13 – FY-17 and the City is 
providing salary increases equal to the amount of the increase in the employee paid member contribution 
in each of the five years as required by VRS. 
 
 In addition, the City and School Board are required to contribute the remaining amounts 
necessary to fund its participation in the VRS using the actuarial basis specified by the Code of Virginia 
as determined by VRS’s actuaries and approved by the VRS Board of Trustees.  The City and the School 
Board have never failed to make the contribution required by VRS.  The City’s contractually required 
contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 13.88% of covered employee compensation.  For 
FY-17, the City’s employer contribution was $43.9 million.  The School Board (non-teacher employees) 
contribution for the Fiscal Year ended 2015 was $2.9 million or 7.02% of annual covered payroll.   
 
 Net Pension Liability. As of June 30, 2017, the City reported a net pension liability of $411.1 
million. As of the same date, the School Board reported a net pension liability of $740.8 million ($717.9 
million for its proportionate share of the Teacher Retirement Plan and $22.9 million for the non-teacher 
employees).   
  
 For additional information on VRS please see Note 13 in the City’s audited financial statements 
for the period ending June 30, 2017 attached as Appendix B to this Official Statement.   

Other Postemployment Benefits 

 Plan Description.  The City and School Board Other Postemployment Benefit Plans are each a 
single-employer, defined benefit plan, administered by the City and School Board in accordance with 
State and City statutes.   Section 15.2-1500 of the Virginia State Code provides that every locality shall 
provide for the governmental functions of the locality, including employment of the officers and other 
employees.   In connection with this employment, the City has established certain plans to provide post-
employment benefits other than pensions as defined in Section 15.2-1545 of the Virginia Code to retirees 
and their spouses and eligible dependents.  Employees who retire with at least 25 years of service with the 
City and School Board as well those who retire on a work-related disability compensable under the 
Workers’ Compensation Act before age 65 are eligible for access to health insurance coverage.  This 
benefit is payable until the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare 
 
 In accordance with Article 8, Chapter 15, Subtitled II of Title 15.2 of the Virginia Code, the City 
and School Board have elected to establish a trust for the purpose of accumulating and investing assets to 
fund Other Postemployment Benefits.  The City and School Board in accordance with this election have 
joined the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund which invests funds contributed by each participating 
employer.  It does not administer the retiree health benefits of each participating employer.  Deposits to 
this trust are irrevocable and are held solely for the payment of OPEB benefits for the City and School 
Board.  
 
 Funding Policy.  Contribution requirements of the City, School Board and plan members are 
established and may be amended by the respective legislative bodies.  The required contributions were 
actuarially determined and are based upon projected pay as you go financing requirements with an 
additional amount to prefund benefits. For the period ending June 30, 2017 the City and School Board 
contributed, $5,296,700 and $4,542,400 respectively.  Plan members from each organization contributed 
$3,044.40, $2,082.00, and $1,444.68 for the POS Premier, POS Standard, and POS Basic plans, 
respectively, annually for retiree-only point of service coverage. City and School Board retirees with 
coverage for their spouses will contribute $10,182.12, $7,939.80, and $6,454.68 for the POS Premier, 
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POS Standard, and POS Basic plans, respectively, annually until Medicare eligibility.  The City and 
School Board  has determined that all current employees and retirees shall contribute to the cost of their 
health care coverage and no level of benefit shall be provided free of charge.  The retiree contribution rate 
shall be based on the experience of the plan, the City and School Board’s annual contribution amount and 
the remaining premium cost.  For additional information please see Note 15 in the City’s audited financial 
statements for the period ending June 30, 2017 attached as Appendix B to this Official Statement. 

Employee Relations and Collective Bargaining   

There were 8,916 full-time City employees and approximately 10,232 School Board employees 
as of June 30, 2017.  Some employees are members of unions or trade or professional associations.  The 
City, however, does not, and cannot under Virginia law, bargain collectively with any of its employees.  
The Virginia General Assembly has rejected several recent legislative proposals to authorize public 
employees to engage in collective bargaining.  Public employees of Virginia or of any county, city, or 
town in Virginia do not have a legal right to strike.  Any such employee who engages in any organized 
strike or willfully refuses to perform his/her duties shall, according to Virginia law, be deemed to have 
terminated his/her employment.  Re-employment of any such employee requires court approval. 

Southeastern Public Service Authority 

The Southeastern Public Service Authority (SPSA) has been the regional waste disposal system 
since 1985, and includes a waste-to-energy component that sells electricity to American Electric 
Power.  In early 2009, SPSA had developed budgetary challenges as a result of several issues, including 
the loss of commercial waste revenues.  The Chief Administrative Officers of the member communities 
developed a financial assistance plan to ensure the financial soundness of SPSA (“Financial Assistance 
Plan”).  This multi-faceted strategy involved raising the municipal tipping fee from the then current 
$104/ton to $170/ton, the refinancing of some of SPSA’s outstanding debt with a guarantee from five of 
the communities, a guarantee of a line of credit by two communities, and a deferral of reimbursement 
amounts by the City of Virginia Beach. 

The City pays the same per ton tipping fee as other SPSA member localities, but then is entitled 
to receive a refund equal to the difference between the blended average tipping fee paid and a “cap 
amount” set forth in the Ash and Process Residue Agreement.  As part of the Financial Assistance Plan, 
the City Council agreed to continue deferring receipt of these payments for a time subject to SPSA’s 
agreement to pay them in the future.  All of the governing bodies of each of the other SPSA localities 
formally agreed to the Financial Assistance Plan.  SPSA repaid on April 29, 2010 the amount of $18.1 
million originally deferred.  

SPSA evaluated proposals to sell its waste to energy plant and executed an agreement with 
Wheelabrator on April 29, 2010.  Virginia Resource Authority, SPSA’s largest debtor,  approved the 
transaction with the condition that each member jurisdiction provide a general obligation guaranty of a 
pro-rata portion of SPSA’s outstanding debt owed to VRA.  After the distribution of the Wheelabrator 
proceeds, the balance owed by SPSA to VRA is $20.67 million as of June 30, 2016, and Virginia Beach’s 
pro-rata guaranty was $6.27 million.  SPSA had sufficient cash flows to meet all debt service 
requirements. Over the past six years that Wheelabrator has owned and operated the energy plant, 
Wheelabrator has invested over $60 million in capital improvements to the facility.  SPSA continues to 
have sufficient cash flow for its operations.  As of October 1, 2017, all outstanding SPSA debt has been 
paid. 

A new Use and Support Agreement has been signed by all member communities for SPSA to continue 
providing waste disposal services when the existing agreement expires January 24, 2018.  The tipping fee 
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rate paid by all member localities is currently $125 per ton. Projected tip fees will likely be at or below 
$65/ton beginning in January 2018. 

Regional Transportation Funding Legislation 

The 2013 Virginia General Assembly adopted and enacted into law House Bill 2313, 2013 Va. 
Acts  Chapter 766, which the Governor signed on April 3, 2013.  Chapter 766 became effective July 1, 
2013.  While this legislation increases transportation funding statewide, it includes a regional funding 
mechanism that provides additional sales taxes and motor vehicles fuel taxes for the Hampton Roads 
Region, which includes the City of Virginia Beach.  The moneys generated by the regional component of 
the transportation funding legislation may only be used for new construction projects on new or existing 
roads in the Hampton Roads Region as approved by the Hampton Roads Transportation Planning 
Organization.  The Commonwealth and Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission have 
agreed on an initial tranche of projects; construction started in 2015.  This infusion of road funding should 
provide immediate positive economic impacts for the road construction industry.  As projects are 
completed, the improved mobility should be positive for the tourism and hospitality industries that rely 
upon Virginia Beach’s status as one of the East Coast’s most popular drivable destinations. 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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SECTION SIX:  MISCELLANEOUS 

Delivery 

 The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued, subject to the approval of validity by 
Bond Counsel and to certain other conditions referred to herein.  It is expected that the Bonds will be 
available for delivery at the expense of the City through the facilities of DTC on or about December 28, 
2017. 

Official Statement 

 This Official Statement has been approved and authorized by the City for use in connection with 
the sale of the Bonds.  Its purpose is to supply information to prospective buyers of the Bonds.  Financial 
and other information contained in this Official Statement has been prepared by the City from its records, 
except where other sources are noted.  The information contained in this Official Statement is not 
intended to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial or economic position of the City.  Neither 
this Official Statement nor any statement which may have been made verbally or in writing is to be 
construed as a contract with the holder of the Bonds. 
 

All quotations from and summaries and explanations of laws contained in this Official Statement 
do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to said laws for full and complete statements of their 
provisions.   
 
 Any statements in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or estimates, whether or 
not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not representations of fact.  No representation is made 
that any of the estimates will be realized. 
 
 The attached Appendices are an integral part of this Official Statement and must be read together 
with the balance of this Official Statement. 
 
 The delivery of this Official Statement has been duly authorized by the City Council.  The City 
has deemed this Official Statement final as of its date within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12. 
 
 
      CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
 
 
 
      By:  /s/ David L. Hansen    
       City Manager 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Honorable Members of the City Council of
City of Virginia Beach, Virginia

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Virginia Beach, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the entity’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not 
audit the financial statements of the Virginia Beach Community Development Corporation, a discretely 
presented component unit, which represents 3.4 percent of the assets, -12.3 percent of the net position, 
and 0.1 percent of the revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component units. Those financial 
statements were audited by other auditors, whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our 
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Virginia Beach Community Development 
Corporation, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions.

Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the City of Virginia Beach as of June 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and, 
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management 
discussion and analysis, the budgetary comparison schedules, notes to the budgetary comparison 
schedules, and the Pension and OPEB schedules as identified in the accompanying table of contents
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers 
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance.

 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Arlington, Virginia
November 30, 2017

A-2



 

 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
This section of the City’s annual financial report presents our discussion and analysis of the City’s financial 
performance during the fiscal year that ended on June 30, 2017. Readers are encouraged to consider the 
information presented here in conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and the City’s 
financial statements which follow this section.   
 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
�� For the fiscal year 2017, the City maintained its strong financial position for both its governmental and 

business-type funds.  The City’s strong financial management and conservative budgeting practices allow the 
City to continue its commitment to the citizens of Virginia Beach.  

 
�� At the end of the fiscal year 2017, the total net position of the City on a government-wide basis was $3.7 

billion. This amount represents an increase of $104.0 million, or 2.9%, over prior year.  The net position for 
the governmental activities was $2.6 billion, an increase of $61.3 million over prior year. The business-type 
activities net position was $1.1 billion, an increase of $42.7 million over prior year.   

 
�� At of the close of fiscal year 2017, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 

$606.9 million. 
- $10.6 million, or 1.8%, is considered nonspendable (inventories and loans receivable) 
- $51.6 million, or 8.5%, is restricted by outside agencies 
- $354.2 million, or 58.3%, is committed for construction projects, education, parks and recreation, 

agriculture, tourism, and other smaller projects 
- $72.1 million, or 11.9%, is assigned for specific purposes as identified by the City 
- $118.4 million, or 19.5%, is unassigned in the general fund and is available for spending at the City’s 

discretion  
 
�� Property tax rates remain the same as in the prior year, real estate tax at  $0.99 per $100 of assessed valuation 

and personal property tax at $4.00 per $100 of assessed valuation. Real Estate assessed values increased by 
3.5% and Personal Property assessed values increased by 2.4% from the prior year. 

 
�� At the end of the fiscal year, the total unassigned fund balance for the City’s general fund was $118.4 

million, an increase of  $11.3 million from the prior year.  
 
�� For the eighth consecutive year, all three major rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investor 

Service and Fitch Ratings, affirmed the City’s triple-A ratings on its General Obligation bonds.  
 
�� During the fiscal year, the City issued appropriation-backed Public Facility Revenue Bonds (PFRB) 

consisting of $21.2 million of new money bonds and $7.9 million refunding bonds to achieve debt service 
savings of $1.24 million over the next 12 years.  

 
�� The City implemented the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 

No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans.  
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
This Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) consists of four sections: introductory, financial, statistical, and 
single audit.  The financial section is illustrated in the following Figure 1.  This section of the report has three 
components: Management’s Discussion and Analysis (this section), the basic financial statements (which includes the 
notes), and  the required supplementary information.  
 
Up until 2002, the primary focus of local government financial statements was the presentation of summarized fund-
type information on a current financial resource basis.  This approach has been modified and now the statements 
presented in the CAFR focus on the City as a whole (government-wide) as well as the major individual funds.  The 
government-wide financial statements provide both long-term and short-term information about the City's overall 
financial status.  The fund financial statements focus on the individual parts of the City government, reporting the 
operations of the City in more detail than the government-wide statements.  Both perspectives (government-wide and 
individual fund) allow the reader to address relevant questions, broaden the basis for comparison (year-to-year or 
government to government), and enhance the City's accountability. 
 
Figure 1:  Components of the Financial Section   

 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements report information about the City as a whole, using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private sector companies.   The two government-wide statements, statement of net position and 
statement of activities, report the City's net position and how it has changed. The Statement of Net Position presents 
information on all of the City’s assets and deferred outflows of resources compared to liabilities and deferred inflows 
of resources, with the difference between them reported as net position.  The Statement of Activities presents 
information showing how the City’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. It accounts for all of the 
current year's revenues and expenses, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
Over time, increases or decreases in the City's net position are indicators of whether its financial health is improving or 
deteriorating.  To assess the overall health of the City, one needs to consider other nonfinancial factors such as changes 
in the City's property tax base and condition of the City's infrastructure. 

Notes to Financial Statements

Notes to RSI

Required Supplementary Information (RSI)

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

Basic Financial Statements

Government-Wide Financial 
Statements Fund Financial Statements
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The government-wide financial statements of the City are divided into three categories: 
 
Governmental Activities - Most of the City's basic services are included here, such as police, fire and other public safety 
services, parks and recreation, public works, and general administration.   Property and sales taxes, charges for services, 
and state and federal grants finance most of these activities. 
 
Business-type Activities - The City's water and sewer, storm water, waste management, economic development, and 
parking operations are reported here.  Fees charged to customers help cover the costs of providing these services.  
 
Component units - The City includes three other entities in its report - the City of Virginia Beach School Board 
(Schools), the Development Authority and the Community Development Corporation (CDC). Although legally separate, 
these "component units" are important because the City is financially accountable for them, providing operating and 
capital funding. The Development Authority is presented as a blended component unit and included in the City’s 
reporting entity. The School Board and CDC are presented as discretely component units and reported in separate 
columns of the entity-wide statements. 
 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the City's most significant funds and will be more 
familiar to traditional readers of government financial statements.  The fund financial statements focus on major funds 
rather than fund types.  
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific 
activities or objectives. The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements, such as general statutes or the City’s budget ordinances. The City’s funds are divided into the following 
categories: 
 
Governmental funds - Most of the City’s basic services are included in governmental funds, which focus on (1) how 
readily cash and other financial assets can be converted to cash flow in and out and (2) year-end balances that are 
available for spending. Consequently, the governmental funds statements provide a short-term view that helps determine 
whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City's programs.  
Because this information does not encompass the additional long-term focus of the government-wide statements, 
additional information is provided at the bottom of the governmental funds statements that explain the relationship (or 
differences) between them. Governmental funds include the General Fund, Debt Service Fund, Capital Projects Fund, 
and special revenue funds (such as Parks and Recreation and the Tourism Investment Program).   
 
Proprietary funds - Services for which the City charges customers a fee are generally reported in proprietary funds. 
These funds, like the government-wide statements, provide both long-term and short-term financial information. The 
City's enterprise funds (one type of proprietary fund) are the same as its business-type activities, but the fund financial 
statements provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows.  The City utilizes enterprise funds to 
account for its water and sewer, storm water, waste management, economic development, and parking operations.  The 
Development Authority is presented as a blended component unit and its proprietary fund is included in the City’s 
reporting entity as a major enterprise fund. The City uses internal service funds (the other type of proprietary fund) to 
report activities that provide supplies and services for the City's other programs and activities. The City’s internal service 
funds are used for providing city garage and fuel services, risk management, landscaping, and technology services. 
 
Fiduciary funds – Used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals, private 
organizations and other governmental units. The City is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds 
are used for their intended purposes.  The fiduciary funds include agency funds (Special Welfare and Escheat Property), 
and trust funds (Sheriff’s Pension and Postemployment Benefits).  Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal 
liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. These fiduciary activities are excluded from the 
City's government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its operations.  
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS WHOLE 
 
Net Position 
 
The Statement of Net Position serves as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  At the end of the fiscal 
year, the City’s total net position was $3.7 billion. This amount represents an increase of $104.0 million, or 2.9%, over 
the prior year (Table 1). The net position for governmental activities increased by $61.3 million and the business-type 
activities net position increased by $42.7 million.   
 
The City’s total assets were $5.6 billion. This amount includes $4.5 billion of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation, which include roads, bridges, parks, utilities (water, sewer and storm water) infrastructure, land, other long
-lived assets, and projects in the construction in progress program. Under the “tenancy in common” with the School 
Board, the City has included $292.5 million of net book value of School Board property equal to the total outstanding 
principal balance of the “on behalf” debt at June 30, 2017.  
 
The largest component of the City’s net position ($3.1 billion or 85.3%) is the investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings, machinery, and equipment), net of any outstanding related debt used to acquire those assets.  The City uses 
these capital assets to provide services to citizens; therefore, these assets are not available for future spending.  Although 
the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities. Net investment in capital assets for business-type activities represents, for the most part, the capital 
assets of the water, sewer, and storm water utilities.    
 
At June 30, 2017, the City reported a deficit of $50.9 million in the unrestricted category of its net position.  This is a 
significant improvement over last year’s deficit of $91.4 million. The unrestricted category includes fund balances of 
the general fund and special revenue funds that have been committed or assigned at the fund level.  
 
 

Table 1
Statement of Net Position

(in Millions)

 
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Current and Other Assets 758.7$      728.5$      345.5$      359.0$      1,104.2$   1,087.5$   
Capital Assets 3,317.0     3,347.2     1,158.7     1,122.8     4,475.7     4,470.0     

Total Assets 4,075.7     4,075.7     1,504.2     1,481.8     5,579.9     5,557.5     

Deferred Outflows of Resources 81.6          49.3          8.3            6.0            89.9          55.3          

Long-Term Debt Outstanding 1,474.3     1,462.3     385.9        402.5        1,860.2     1,864.8     
Other Liabilities 69.9          69.7          30.5          27.0          100.4        96.7          

Total Liabilities 1,544.2     1,532.0     416.4        429.5        1,960.6     1,961.5     

Deferred Inflows of Resources 25.5          66.7          2.4            7.3            27.9          74.0          

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 2,324.7     2,286.1     813.7        760.0        3,138.4     3,046.1     
Restricted 347.4        362.9        246.4        259.7        593.8        622.6        
Unrestricted (Deficit) (84.5)        (122.7)      33.6          31.3          (50.9)        (91.4)        

Total Net Position 2,587.6$   2,526.3$   1,093.7$   1,051.0$   3,681.3$   3,577.3$   

 Governmental  Business-Type  Total Primary 
 Activities  Activities  Government 
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Changes in Net Position (Statement of Activities) 
 
The following comparative statement of activities presents the revenues, expenses and transfers of the governmental and 
business-type activities.  
 

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Revenues:
Program Revenues:
   Charges for Services 88.7$        86.3$        208.8$      210.5$      297.5$      296.8$      
   Operating Grants & Contributions 180.8 176.6 0.3 -  -  181.1        176.6        
   Capital Grants & Contributions 30.3 49.3 6.6 8.2 36.9          57.5          
General Revenues:
   Property Taxes 646.0 622.4 -  -  646.0        622.4        
   Other Taxes 312.6 290.4 -  -  312.6        290.4        
   Other 73.1 75.0 2.7 0.8 75.8          75.8          
        Total Revenues 1,331.5 1,300.0 218.4 219.5 1,549.9 1,519.5

Expenses:
   Legislative 1.2 1.2 -  -  1.2            1.2            
   Executive 4.2 3.8 -  -  4.2            3.8            
   Law 4.0 3.8 -  -  4.0            3.8            
   Finance 18.3 17.1 -  -  18.3          17.1          
   Human Resources 11.3 11.8 -  -  11.3          11.8          
   Judicial 61.6 56.3 -  -  61.6          56.3          
   Health 3.4 3.2 -  -  3.4            3.2            
   Police 101.6 94.0 -  -  101.6        94.0          
   Human Services 116.4 109.2 -  -  116.4        109.2        
   Public Works 173.6 175.5 -  -  173.6        175.5        
   Parks & Recreation 47.5 45.1 -  -  47.5          45.1          
   Library 18.4 17.0 -  -  18.4          17.0          
   Planning 11.2 10.4 -  -  11.2          10.4          
   Agriculture 4.6 1.4 -  -  4.6            1.4            
   Economic Development 1.6 2.1 -  -  1.6            2.1            
   Convention & Visitor Bureau 28.8 25.8 -  -  28.8          25.8          
   Information Technology 39.0 33.6 -  -  39.0          33.6          
   Emergency Communication & Citizen 9.0 8.1 -  -  9.0            8.1            
   Boards and Commissions 34.7 30.2 -  -  34.7          30.2          
   Fire 57.1 50.3 -  -  57.1          50.3          
   Management Services 1.4 1.4 -  -  1.4            1.4            
   Education 396.3 398.1 -  -  396.3        398.1        
   Housing & Neighborhood Preservation 28.3 26.3 -  -  28.3          26.3          
   Museums 11.1 10.8 -  -  11.1          10.8          
   Emergency Medical Services 12.5 10.2 -  -  12.5          10.2          
   General Government 20.9 1.8 -  -  20.9          1.8            
   Water & Sewer -  -  107.9 109.2 107.9        109.2        
   Storm Water -  -  34.7 23.3 34.7          23.3          
   Development Authority -  -  12.6 9.9 12.6          9.9            
   Waste Management -  -  39.7 40.0 39.7          40.0          
   Parking -  -  3.4 3.8 3.4            3.8            
   Interest on Long-Term Debt 29.6 33.6 -  -  29.6          33.6          
        Total Expenses 1,247.6 1,182.1 198.3 186.2 1,445.9 1,368.3
Excess (Deficiency) Before Transfers 83.9 117.9 20.1 33.3 104.0 151.2
   Transfers (22.6) (15.9) 22.6 15.9 -               -               
Change in Net Position 61.3 102.0 42.7 49.2 104.0 151.2
Net Position – Beginning 2,526.3 2,424.3 1,051.0 1,001.8 3,577.3     3,426.1     
Net Position – Ending 2,587.6$   2,526.3$   1,093.7$   1,051.0$   3,681.3$   3,577.3$   

Table 2

Governmental
Activities

Changes in Net Position
(in Millions)

Business-Type
Activities

Total
Primary Government
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Revenues 
 
The City’s total revenues were $1.55 billion, an increase of $30.4 million over the revenues from prior year. These 
revenues consist of Program and General revenues. Program Revenues are derived from the program itself and reduce 
the cost of the function of the City; these include charges for services, operating and capital grants and contributions. 
General revenues are all other revenues and include property and other taxes, and interest earnings.  
 
As shown in Figure 2, the largest revenue sources for the City are property taxes at 41.7%,  other taxes (e.g. sales, 
utility, business license, meal, and lodging) at 20.2%, charges for services at 19.2% and operating grants and 
contributions at 11.7%.  
 
For Governmental Activities, program revenues totaled $299.8 million, a 4.0% decrease from the prior year primarily 
due to reduced receipts from the Commonwealth for support towards roads construction projects and no receipts for  
the acquisition of land in the Oceana & Interfacility Traffic Area Conformity & Acquisition program (BRAC).  
 
General revenues totaled $1,031.7 million. This represents an increase of $43.9 million over the prior year due to 
higher revenues in property and other local taxes, $23.6 million and $22.2 million respectively.  
 
Business-type Activities generated program and general revenues of  $218.4 million, primarily from charges for 
services ($208.8 million), a 0.5% decrease from prior year. 
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Expenses 
 
The total cost of all programs and services was $1.45 billion, a $77.6 million, or 5.7%, increase over expenses from 
the prior year.  Figure 3 shows the breakdown of major expenses by function.   
 
Expenses for Governmental Activities totaled $1,247.6 million, an increase of $65.5 million over the prior year. The 
current year expenses include a repayment of $20.0 million to the Commonwealth for reimbursement of proceeds 
received towards the construction of the light rail extension into Town Center and approximately $10.5 million in 
expenditures related to Hurricane Matthew. The expenses also reflect salary increases of 3.34%, and additional 93.34 
full time positions in support of public safety, judicial, parks and recreation, and planning functions.  
 
Education continues to be one of the City's highest priorities and commitments. The City's funding for education 
totaled $396.3 million (net of the adjustment to account for the tenancy in common legislation) and it represents 
49.9% (versus 48.8% in prior year) of the total revenues for the Schools (exhibit 45).  
 
Expenses for the Business-type Activities include those related to water, sewer, storm water, and waste management 
utility services as well as parking operations and economic development.  For the current fiscal year these totaled 
$198.3 million, a $12.1 million increase, in part due to expenditures in the Storm Water and Waste Management funds 
related to Hurricane Matthew, and increased staffing (20 positions) in the Storm Water fund for  the mosquito control 
division. 
 
 

Interest on Debt 
2.0%

Other General 
Government 21.6%

Other Business 
Type 6.3%

Education 27.4%

Water and Sewer 
7.5%

Parks and 
Recreation 3.3%

Human Services
8.1%

Public Safety
11.8%

Public Works 
12.0%

Figure 3: Expenses - Primary Government as of June 30, 2017
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 

 
The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental funds 
 
The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows and balances of 
spendable resources. Unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources 
available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.  
 
At the end of the fiscal year, the total fund balance for the City’s governmental funds was $606.9 million, a small 
increase of  $7.6 million or 1.3% over the prior fiscal year.  This change is a combination of increases in fund 
balances of $32.7 million in the general fund  offset by decreases in fund balances for capital projects and other 
governmental funds of $16.0 million and $9.0 million, respectively.   
 
At the end of the fiscal year, the classification of total governmental fund balances was as follows: 
 
�� $10.6 million or 1.8% is nonspendable consisting in the City’s loans receivable and investment in inventories.  
 
�� $51.6 million or 8.5% is restricted, which can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by external 

providers, such as grantors or restricted through legislation. This amount includes debt service costs ($33.8 
million); federal and state grants in housing programs ($7.6 million), public safety initiatives ($4.7 million), 
seized forfeited assets ($0.7 million), human services ($2.1 million); and special service districts ($2.7 million). 

 
�� $354.2 million or 58.3% is committed, which can only be used only for the specific purposes imposed by the 

formal action of City Council. Included in committed fund balance is the funding for the capital improvement 
program ($285.1 million), education ($17.3 million), convention and visitor development ($15.2 million), 
agriculture reserve program activities ($12.6 million), tax increment financing ($7.0 million),  parks and 
recreation activities ($15.1 million) and other smaller amounts in the nonmajor special revenue funds. 

 
�� $72.1 million or 11.9% is assigned, which applies to amounts that are intended for specific purposes but do not 

meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. The assigned amounts include money to offset 
increases in Waste Management expenditures due to the expiration of the SPSA contract ($5.7 million), next 
year’s capital program ($23.3 million), education ($24.1 million), which includes from FY17 $17.0 million of 
unexpended funding and $3.1 million of true-up funds, FY17 encumbrances ($10.2 million) and other smaller 
amount in the general fund and nonmajor special revenue funds.  

 
�� $118.4 million or 19.5% is unassigned, which is the residual classification for the general fund and includes all 

spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications.  
  
Items to be noted include: 
 
�� Real estate taxes of $544.3 million increased $17.9 million from prior year. Real estate revenues are the City’s 

single largest revenue source and comprised 41.6% of total revenues received for the year. This is mainly due to 
an increase of 3.5% in taxable assessed values which increased by $1.9 billion. As mentioned earlier, the tax rate 
remained the same at $0.99 per $100 of assessed value.   

 
�� Revenues recorded for personal property taxes of $100.1 million were higher than prior year by $4.1 million. The 

City continues to receive PPTRA (personal property tax relief program) reimbursements from the State of $53.4 
million, which are reported as state revenues.  
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�� Other Taxes revenue category, which includes taxes on general sales, utility purchases, cigarettes, hotel rooms, 

restaurant meal, amusement, business licenses, deeds, wills, and automobile licenses totaled $298.5 million.  This 
represents an $8.9 million increase over the previous year mainly due to improved performance in sales, utility, 
cigarette,  meals, and hotel taxes.    

 
�� Federal and state funding of $260.6 million, 19.9% of total revenues received, decreased $13.1 million from prior 

year mainly due to less support towards roadway projects such as the Lesner Bridge Replacement project. 
 
�� City employees received a 3.34% pay increase (1% merit raise for full-time city employees, 1.34% general pay raise 

to full-time and part-time employees, and the 1% increase required by the state to offset retirement costs).  
 
�� City expenditures include the repayment of $20 million to the Commonwealth for reimbursement of proceeds 

received towards purchasing land for the light rail extension into Town Center and approximately $11.0 million in 
expenditures related to Hurricane Matthew,  

 
�� The capital projects fund reported $118.9 million in expenditures. Revenues received in this fund from the federal 

and state governments were $1.8 million and $24.5 million, respectively, which were mostly in support of 
transportation projects.  Public Facility Revenue bonds and premiums totaling $24.0 million were issued in support 
of general government capital projects. The capital projects fund received cash funding totaling $48.2 million  from 

the general fund and other special revenue funds.  
Proprietary funds  
 
The City’s proprietary fund statements offer short and long-term financial information about the activities that the 
government operates as a business, such as the water and sewer system, storm water, waste management, parking, and 
development authority funds. These statements provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail. The ending net position for the proprietary funds totals $1.1 billion.  
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Notable items are as follows: 
 
�� The Water and Sewer fund’s net position increased by $25.7 million, continuing to reflect strong financial 

management and the continuing acquisition and construction of capital assets to help address continued compliance 
with federal consent order on sanitary sewer overflows. 

 
�� The net position for the Storm Water fund increased by $8.0 million, which provides funding to continue addressing 

backlogs in the areas of flood control and water quality over the next several years.  
 
�� The net position for the Development Authority, which is the City’s blended component unit, increased by $3.0 

million.  
 
�� The net position for the Waste Management fund, increased by $6.0 million. In the current fiscal year, the monthly 

fee for waste collection increased 7.7% to $23.00 per month. The fund accounts for the annual operating expenses of 
the waste management functions, including recycling activities, waste collection, and disposal at the landfill.  

 
�� The Parking business activity reported an increase of $0.1 million in net position. 
 

 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

 
The following is a brief review of the budgetary changes from the original to the final budget (See budget to actual 
comparison in Exhibit 5): 
 
�� Compared to the prior year, most of the general fund revenues trended favorably, especially property tax revenues 

($19.8 million) and other local taxes ($6.4 million).    
 
�� General fund departments continue to manage their budgets and expended $53.7 million less than appropriated. At 

year-end, encumbrances totaled $10.5 million. Significant encumbrances were for Public Works ($2.8 million) for 
paving contracts, Information Technology ($1.4 million) for contracts with software vendors, and the Cultural Affairs  
Office ($1.7 million) for contracts related to the Sandler Center for the Performing Arts. 

 
�� Significant positive variances were the result of the following: 
 

�� Human Services ($6.4 million or 5.6%) - due to lower expenditures in personnel charges ($6.2 million). 
 
�� Public Works ($5.9 million or 7.4%) - due to savings in personnel charges ($1.6 million) and timing of pavement 

maintenance projects that were not completed during the fiscal year ($3.4 million). 
 
�� Education ($17.1 million or 4.5%) - unexpended funding received from the City’s general fund which was 

returned at year-end. This amount will be re-appropriated by City Council in the next fiscal year to the Schools’ 
funds.  

 
�� Final budget amounts were often greater than original amounts due to the re-appropriation of prior year 

encumbrances which were completed in the current fiscal year.  During the fiscal year, City Council approved 
various modifications to the original adopted budget. Major budget adjustments include: 

 
�� $8.9 million to cover Hurricane Matthew expenditures. 
 
�� $6.7 million to cover the purchase of buses, employee raises, and technology projects for the Schools. 
 

�� At the end of the fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $118.4 million or 10.49% of next 
fiscal year’s revenues, and is within City Council policy. 
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CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
During the current fiscal year, the City’s investment in capital assets increased by $5.8 million, or less than 1.0%, to a 
total of $4.5 billion (Table 3). This investment includes a broad range of capital assets (e.g. land, equipment, buildings, 
park facilities, roads, bridges, water and sewer lines, and construction in progress).  
 
Major capital projects completed and placed in service during the year included: 
 
�� Pacific Avenue Improvements ($17.3 million) – This project provided for the improvements to Pacific Avenue 

between 17th and 22nd Street with the existing ROW, to include undergrounding of the existing overhead utilities 
and public utility upgrades.  In addition, new LED street lighting and traffic signal mast arms were installed. 

 
�� Seaboard Road ($7.8 million) – This project was for the construction of a three-lane undivided highway, within a 66

-foot right-of-way from Princess Anne Road to Nimmo Parkway, a distance of approximately 3,200 feet.  This 
project included an upgrade to the intersection of Princess Anne Road and Seaboard Road to include a new traffic 
signal. 

 
�� Various Buildings Rehabilitation and Renewal Phase II ($14.8 million) – This project provided for rehabilitation 

and renewal of interior and exterior systems for city owned buildings/facilities.  It included rehabilitation and 
replacement of the fire training center’s existing facility and libraries.  Some of the larger plans of programmed 
work included installation of building fire protection systems, various roof repairs, and lighting upgrades. 

 
�� Kempsville Recreation Center ($32 million) – This project funded the design and construction cost of replacing the 

existing Kempsville Recreation Center building on the current site.  The goal of this initiative was to construct a 
recreation center facility that maximized recreational programming and activities. 

 
�� Storm Water Infrastructure Rehabilitation & Improvements ($20.7 million) – This project provided for inspection, 

design, evaluation and rehabilitation of the storm water infrastructure throughout the city and specifically in 
neighborhoods which have reported storm water system needs. 

 
�� Sanitary Sewer Capacity Program ($6.7 million) – This project provided funding for the engineering study design, 

construction services and program development for the sanitary sewer consent order compliance.  Specific tasks and 
activities included replacement of existing sanitary gravity sewer, force mains, or pump stations that had capacity 
limitations.   

 
�� Prosperity Road Water Improvements ($2.3 million) – This project provided funding for design and construction of 

approximately 1.3 miles of 8-inch and 10-inch water mains to provide water service and fire protection to 20 
properties along Prosperity Road, including the new Camp Grom Facility.  

 
Construction in progress expenditures for the fiscal year totaled $118.9 million for general government, $37.0 million 
for water/sewer and $26.8 million for storm water projects. Major current year expenditures include funding for the 
replacement of the current Lesner Bridge with a facility that is capable of handling six lanes of traffic in the future 
($21.3 million), construction costs of $8.0 million for the construction of the Housing Resource Center (a new facility 
that will provide shelter and services to homeless persons and those at risk of homelessness),  Witchduck Road project 
to improve capacity ($4.6 million), the construction of the Kempsville Recreation Center ($11.5 million), and the 
construction of a 28,500 square foot building and a 4,000 square foot storage building (totaling 32,500 square feet) to 
replace the current buildings for the parks and recreation department ($6.4 million).  

 

A-13



 

 
LONG TERM DEBT 

 
At the end of the fiscal year 2017, the City had $1,227.8 million in bonds and notes outstanding and $632.5 million in 
other liabilities for a total of  $1,860.2 million in long term liabilities (Table 4).  
  
The state constitution limits the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 10% of the 
total assessed value of real property. At the end of the fiscal year, the City’s assessed value of real property was $54.8 
billion, which makes the City’s debt less than the current debt limitation of $5.5 billion.  
  
For the eighth consecutive year, all three major rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investor Service and 
Fitch Ratings, affirmed the City’s AAA ratings on its General Obligation bonds.  
 
On November 3, 2016, the City issued appropriation backed Public Facility Revenue Bonds (PFRB) consisting of 
$21.2 million of new money bonds and $7.9 million refunding bonds to achieve debt service savings of $1.24 million 
over the next 12 years. As part of the ratings review, both Fitch Ratings and Moody’s Investor Service upgraded the 
City’s PFRBs to AA+ and Aa1 respectively, and Standard & Poor’s affirmed a AA+ rating, all one notch below 
AAA. Proceeds were used to fund several capital improvement projects such as the modernization of the John B. Dey 
Elementary School, improvements to Pacific Avenue, improvements to the intersection of First Colonial Rd. and 
Virginia Beach Blvd., and the Housing Resource Center. 
 
Estimated claims and judgments reflect estimated unpaid losses and ALAE (allocated loss adjustment expenses) as of 
the end of the year. The projected liability by line of business consists of 91.9% for workers compensation, 5.9% for 
general liability, and 2.2% for automobile liability.   
 
Landfill closure and post-closure care liability increased $0.2 million to $25.9 million during  the current fiscal year 
due to inflation.  

Table 3
Capital Assets
(in Millions)

Governmental Business-Type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-Depreciable Assets:
   Land 1,007.2$              1,005.1$     165.1$        165.1$        1,172.3$     1,170.2$     
   Agriculture Reserve Program 46.1 42.4 -               -               46.1            42.4            
   Construction in Progress 175.2 230.7 67.7            38.7            242.9          269.4          

Other Capital Assets:
   Infrastructure 2,259.0 2,169.8 -               -               2,259.0       2,169.8       
   Buildings 1,087.4 1,099.7 138.3 139.3 1,225.7       1,239.0       
   Machinery and Equipment 299.5 283.2 55.8 52.1 355.3          335.3          
   Utility System -                        -               1,326.2 1,286.9 1,326.2       1,286.9       
   Improvements 306.3 295.6 1.1 1.1 307.4          296.7          
Less:  Accumulated Depreciation (1,863.7) (1,779.3) (595.5) (560.5) (2,459.2)     (2,339.8)     
     Totals 3,317.0$              3,347.2$     1,158.7$     1,122.7$     4,475.7$     4,469.9$     

For detailed information on the City’s capital asset activity, please refer to note 5 to the financial statements.
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET 
 
The City’s strong financial management and conservative budgeting practices allow the City to continue its commitment 
to the citizens of Virginia Beach.  The Virginia Beach economy continues to improve as real estate assessments continue 
to increase, and consumer-driven revenues such as general sales, hotel tax, meals tax and amusement tax are performing 
well.   
 
The above indicators were taken into account when adopting the budget for fiscal year 2018.  The adopted budget 
includes the following highlights: 
 
�� The combined operating budgets for the City and Schools total $1.97 billion, represent a 3.0% overall increase over 

the adjusted budget for fiscal year 2017. The total budget supports $1,075.2 million in City programs and $894.5 
million  in Schools programs. The funding provided by the City to the Schools totals $399.3 million which includes 
$28.4 million of dedicated real estate tax.  The City allocates funding to the Schools via a revenue sharing formula. 

 
�� Real estate tax revenues are budgeted at $566.3 million, an increase of 4.4% over prior year. This increase is 

attributable to projected growth in assessed values of 2.7% and new development. The real estate tax rate increased 
by $0.0125 from $0.99 to $1.0025 to provide $6.75 million in additional funding to the Schools to phase-in the 
expansion of pre-kindergarten and full-day kindergarten. 

 
�� Personal property tax revenues increased 6.1% to $156.0 million. There was no change in the personal property tax 

rate of $4.00 per $100 of assessed value.  
 

Table 4
Long Term Liabilities

(in Millions)

Governmental Business-Type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

General Obligation Bond 593.8$        652.9$      -$             -$           593.8$       652.9$       
State Literary Fund Loans 1.9              2.3            -               -             1.9             2.3             
Public Facility Revenue Bonds -               -              254.6          264.1        254.6         264.1         
Revenue Bonds 261.3          263.3        70.0            77.1          331.3         340.4         
Agriculture Reserve Program 46.1            42.4          -               -             46.1           42.4           

Sub-total 903.1          960.9        324.6          341.2        1,227.7      1,302.1      

Other Long-Term Liabilities:
Landfill Closure & Post-closure Care 25.9            25.5          -               -             25.9           25.5           
Premium/Discount on Bonds Sold 89.4            99.5          20.0            21.1          109.4         120.6         
Net Pension Liability 374.8          302.1        36.3            35.3          411.1         337.4         
Accrued Compensated Leave 43.4            43.3          5.0              5.0            48.4           48.3           
Estimated Claims & Judgments 37.7            31.1          -               -             37.7           31.1           

571.2          501.5        61.3            61.4          632.5         562.9         
Totals 1,474.3$     1,462.4$   385.9$        402.6$      1,860.2$    1,865.0$    
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�� Hotel tax budgeted revenues total $34.9 million, an increase of 10.7% over the prior year. There are two components 
making up this revenue: the 8% hotel tax rate and the flat tax, which generates an additional $2 per room night.  

 
�� Storm Water fees increased to $0.458 cents per day in the Equivalent Residential Unit rate, an increase of 5.8%. This 

increase is part of a series of rate increases of 2.5 cents each year, through fiscal year 2022. The increases are critical 
to the City’s financing plan established to support storm water mandates and flood control initiatives.  

 
�� Various small increases in fees for the services provided by several departments such as Aquarium and Parks and 

Recreation. 
 

�� The fiscal year 2018-2023 Adopted Capital Improvement Program (CIP) established a six-year programmed funding 
totaling $3.3 billion.  Only year one is appropriated. The six-year program provides scheduled funding for the 
construction of projects for utilities ($892.9 million), Schools ($493.8 million), roadways ($777.9 million), and other 
projects.    

 
REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 

 
This report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general overview of the 
City's finances and to demonstrate the City's accountability for the money it receives.  If you have questions about this 
report or need additional financial information, contact the City's Finance Department, City of Virginia Beach, Municipal 
Center, Virginia Beach, Virginia 23456, telephone 757-385-4302, or visit the City's web site at www.vbgov.com. 
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Exhibit 1

Community
Governmental Business-type Development

Activities Activities Total School Board Corporation
ASSETS

Cash and Investments 229,826,802$           171,854,841$           401,681,643$           137,931,396$        975,937$               
Restricted Cash & Cash Equivalents 363,941,255           102,745,428           466,686,683           -                                                   -
Receivables (net) 78,872,090             38,944,867             117,816,957           1,416,000             3,807,068
Due from Other Governments 87,480,767             87,598                     87,568,365             19,571,313           -
Internal Balances (6,970,544)              6,970,544                -                               -                                                   -
Inventories 5,396,439                2,522,528                7,918,967                518,261                -
Other Assets 107,378                   -                               107,378                   1,214,530             -
Land Held for Resale -                               22,362,431             22,362,431             -                            685,553
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):

Land and Improvements 1,053,282,439        165,104,117           1,218,386,556        39,048,224           8,863,960
Buildings and Improvements 796,803,619           92,301,705             889,105,324           433,265,509         19,209,737
Improvements other than Buildings 208,414,295           791,171                   209,205,466           23,274,646                                  -
Machinery and Equipment 77,405,990             16,414,847             93,820,837             32,414,428           17,909
Infrastructure 1,005,850,818        816,365,254           1,822,216,072        -                            -
Construction in Progress 175,219,792           67,725,018             242,944,810           4,434,661             -

Total Capital Assets 3,316,976,953$        1,158,702,112$        4,475,679,065$        532,437,468$        28,091,606$          
Total Assets 4,075,631,140$        1,504,190,349$        5,579,821,489$        693,088,968$        33,560,164$          

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Employer Contributions Subsequent to the

Measurement Date 40,045,696$             3,873,690$               43,919,386$             60,655,000$          -$                           
Difference between Expected and Actual

Experience 2,511,355                242,928                   2,754,283                -                                               -
Net Difference between Projected and 

Actual Earnings on Plan Investments 34,724,860             3,358,996                38,083,856             46,023,000           -
Debt Refundings Resulting in Loss Transactions 4,305,108                862,121                   5,167,229                -                        -

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 81,587,019$             8,337,735$               89,924,754$             106,678,000$        -$                           

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 52,514,421$             26,203,833$             78,718,254$             18,076,250$          71,523$                 
Accrued Liabilities 16,474,856             4,345,586                20,820,442             67,548,584           153,559
Due to Other Governments 902,758                   -                               902,758                   87,914                                         -
Long-term Liabilities:

Due Within One Year 123,419,396           22,437,692             145,857,088           19,556,089           1,565,465
Due in More Than One Year 1,350,860,902        363,478,968           1,714,339,870        756,565,872         19,744,961

Total Liabilities 1,544,172,333$        416,466,079$           1,960,638,412$        861,834,709$        21,535,508$          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Difference between Expected and Actual

Experience 12,805,088$             1,238,658$               14,043,746$             36,076,000$          -$                           
Property Taxes Levied for Subsequent Year 7,968,226                -                               7,968,226                -                            -
Unavailable Revenue for Housing Loans 493,950                   -                               493,950                   -                            -
Debt Refundings Resulting in Gain Transactions 4,194,312                1,203,216                5,397,528                -                            -

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 25,461,576$             2,441,874$               27,903,450$             36,076,000$          -$                           

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 2,324,672,499$        813,703,550$           3,138,376,049$        532,437,468$        6,781,180$            
Restricted for:

Capital Projects 285,119,545           61,472,939             346,592,484           -                            -
Future Debt Service 33,802,079             24,223,316             58,025,395             -                            -
Special Projects 28,461,024             -                               28,461,024             17,365,019           -
Water and Sewer Fund Operations -                               129,279,701           129,279,701           -                            -
Storm Water Fund Operations -                               28,848,074             28,848,074             -                            -
Waste Management Operations -                               2,540,616                2,540,616                -                            -

Unrestricted (Deficit) (84,470,897)            33,551,935             (50,918,962)            (647,946,228)       5,243,476
Total Net Position 2,587,584,250$        1,093,620,131$        3,681,204,381$        (98,143,741)$         12,024,656$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Primary Government Component Units

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2017
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Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary Government:
   Governmental Activities:
     Legislative 1,181,030$              -$                             -$                              -$
     Executive 4,185,699              5,560                     -                             -
     Law 3,978,553              1,513                     -                             -
     Finance 18,382,696            1,692,271              1,469,473               -
     Human Resources 11,264,020            -                            -                             -
     Judicial 61,622,028            4,907,694              23,386,151             -
     Health 3,391,817              -                            116,754                  -
     Police 101,644,605          3,308,747              625,907                  -
     Human Services 116,434,440          25,167,062            60,563,222             -
     Public Works 173,634,278          4,058,165              42,278,659             3,980,666
     Parks & Recreation 47,512,722            15,021,272            5,308,455               -
     Library 18,354,780            695,152                 237,301                  -
     Planning 11,162,446            5,097,944              -                             -
     Agriculture 4,605,108              86,449                   505,845                  -
     Economic Development 1,562,948              -                            -                             -
     Convention & Visitor Development 28,761,957            6,620,853              -                             -
     Information Technology 38,964,868            1,922,777              -                             -
     Emergency Communications and Citizen Services 8,970,142              250                        -                             -
     Boards and Commissions 34,738,707            34,336                   82,561                    -
     Fire 57,104,376            665,923                 2,983,960               -
     Management Services 1,365,506              -                            -                             -
     Education 396,304,003          -                            -                             -
     Housing & Neighborhood Preservation 28,325,394            2,841,867              22,900,717             -
     Museums 11,113,741            9,679,208              1,195,740               -
     Emergency Medical Services 12,532,240            69,437                   486,899                  -
     General Government 20,905,051            6,795,827              18,651,026             26,344,497
     Interest and Fiscal Charges 29,622,762            -                            -                             -
         Total Governmental Activities 1,247,625,917       88,672,307            180,792,670           30,325,163

Business-type Activities:
     Water and Sewer 107,922,521          125,124,505          -                             6,248,128
     Storm Water 34,666,545            40,164,454            275,938                  363,254
     Development Authority 12,582,903            2,859,707              -                             -
     Waste Management 39,724,605            35,390,065            43,950                    -
     Parking 3,383,691              5,235,807              -                             -
        Total Business-type Activities 198,280,265          208,774,538          319,888                  6,611,382

Total Primary Government 1,445,906,182$       297,446,845$          181,112,558$           36,936,545$

Component Units:
   Virginia Beach Community Development Corporation 6,297,645$              2,976,353$              1,860,777$               -$
   Virginia Beach School Board 774,221,739            14,417,518              146,611,635            -                              
        Total Component Units 780,519,384$          17,393,871$            148,472,412$           -$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

           Change in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning 
Net Position - Ending

Payment from City of Virginia Beach
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Transfers
Total General Revenues and Transfers

Total City Taxes

Personal Property Taxes
Sales
Utility
Business Licenses
Meal
City Tax on Deeds and Wills
Cigarette
Automobile Licenses
Amusement
Lodging
Franchise, Bank Stock and Transient Occupancy

Real Estate Property Taxes

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017

Program Revenues

General Revenues:
Taxes:

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
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Community
Governmental Business-type Development

Activities Activities Total School Board Corporation

(1,181,030)$                      -$                                      (1,181,030)$                     -$                                      -$
(4,180,139)                       -                                       (4,180,139)                     -                                      -
(3,977,040)                       -                                       (3,977,040)                     -                                      -

(15,220,952)                     -                                       (15,220,952)                   -                                      -
(11,264,020)                     -                                       (11,264,020)                   -                                      -
(33,328,183)                     -                                       (33,328,183)                   -                                      -

(3,275,063)                       -                                       (3,275,063)                     -                                      -
(97,709,951)                     -                                       (97,709,951)                   -                                      -
(30,704,156)                     -                                       (30,704,156)                   -                                      -

(123,316,788)                   -                                       (123,316,788)                 -                                      -
(27,182,995)                     -                                       (27,182,995)                   -                                      -
(17,422,327)                     -                                       (17,422,327)                   -                                      -

(6,064,502)                       -                                       (6,064,502)                     -                                      -
(4,012,814)                       -                                       (4,012,814)                     -                                      -
(1,562,948)                       -                                       (1,562,948)                     -                                      -

(22,141,104)                     -                                       (22,141,104)                   -                                      -
(37,042,091)                     -                                       (37,042,091)                   -                                      -

(8,969,892)                       -                                       (8,969,892)                     -                                      -
(34,621,810)                     -                                       (34,621,810)                   -                                      -
(53,454,493)                     -                                       (53,454,493)                   -                                      -

(1,365,506)                       -                                       (1,365,506)                     -                                      -
(396,304,003)                   -                                       (396,304,003)                 -                                      -

(2,582,810)                       -                                       (2,582,810)                     -                                      -
(238,793)                          -                                       (238,793)                        -                                      -

(11,975,904)                     -                                       (11,975,904)                   -                                      -
30,886,299                      -                                       30,886,299                    -                                      -

(29,622,762)                     -                                       (29,622,762)                   -                                      -
(947,835,777)                   -                                       (947,835,777)                 -                                      -

-                                       23,450,112                      23,450,112                    -                                      -
-                                       6,137,101                        6,137,101                      -                                      -
-                                       (9,723,196)                       (9,723,196)                     -                                      -
-                                       (4,290,590)                       (4,290,590)                     -                                      -
-                                       1,852,116                        1,852,116                      -                                      -
-                                       17,425,543                      17,425,543                    -                                      -

(947,835,777)$                  17,425,543$                     (930,410,234)$                 -$                                      -$

-$                                      -$                                      -$                                     -$                                      (1,460,515)$
-                                       -                                       -                                       (613,192,586)                   -                                       
-$                                      -$                                      -$ (613,192,586)$ (1,460,515)$

544,302,460$                   -$                                      544,302,460$                  -$                                      -$
101,670,001                    -                                       101,670,001                  -                                      -

66,292,790                      -                                       66,292,790                    -                                      -
48,275,048                      -                                       48,275,048                    -                                      -
47,143,398                      -                                       47,143,398                    -                                      -
68,900,065                      -                                       68,900,065                    -                                      -

7,858,406                        -                                       7,858,406                      -                                      -
12,060,433                      -                                       12,060,433                    -                                      -
11,762,967                      -                                       11,762,967                    -                                      -

7,032,632                        -                                       7,032,632                      -                                      -
32,385,074                      -                                       32,385,074                    -                                      -
10,937,880                      -                                       10,937,880                    -                                      -

958,621,154                    -                                       958,621,154                  -                                      -

-                                       -                                       -                                     369,406,287
53,412,868                      -                                       53,412,868                    263,258,829                  -

2,255,088                        2,573,657                        4,828,745                      245,828                         352,829
17,446,147                      -                                       17,446,147                    450,772                         25,082

(22,611,189)                     22,611,189                      -                                     -                                      -
1,009,124,068                 25,184,846                      1,034,308,914               633,361,716                  377,911

61,288,291                      42,610,389                      103,898,680                  20,169,130 (1,082,604)
2,526,295,959 1,051,009,742 3,577,305,701 (118,312,871)                 13,107,260
2,587,584,250$                1,093,620,131$                3,681,204,381$ (98,143,741)$                   12,024,656$

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017
Net (Expenses) Revenues and

Changes in Net Position
Primary Government Component Units

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Exhibit 2
CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
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Exhibit 3

Other Total
Governmental Governmental

General Capital Projects Funds Funds
ASSETS

Cash and Investments 151,096,494$            -$                         49,334,178$                 200,430,672$                  
Cash and Investments - Restricted 17,299,308 295,979,869 50,662,078 363,941,255
Cash Advances 107,378                  -                        -                                 107,378
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles, where applicable):

Property Tax 41,886,065             -                        -                                 41,886,065
Accounts 1,615,854               - 218,240 1,834,094
Loans 6,027,214               - 6,090,575 12,117,789

Due from:
Other Governments 70,288,453 13,790,135 3,402,179 87,480,767

Inventories 4,620,297               -                        -                                 4,620,297
Total Assets 292,941,063$             309,770,004$       109,707,250$                712,418,317$                   

LIABILITIES
Vouchers and Accounts Payable 28,650,399$              17,051,662$        5,618,721$                   51,320,782$                    
Deposits Payable 3,762,582               -                        -                                 3,762,582
Due to Other Funds - 7,515,732 -                                 7,515,732
Intergovernmental Payables 819,693                  83,065               -                                 902,758
Unearned Revenue 848,910                  -                        -                                 848,910

Total Liabilities 34,081,584$              24,650,459$        5,618,721$                   64,350,764$                    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable Revenue - Housing Loans -$                              -$                         493,950$                      493,950$                        
Unavailable Revenue - Property Taxes 40,675,254             -                        -                                 40,675,254

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 40,675,254$              -$                         493,950$                      41,169,204$                    

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable:

Inventories 4,620,297$                -$                         -$                                  4,620,297$                     
Loans Receivable 6,027,214               -                        -                                 6,027,214

Restricted for:
Special Revenue Funds -                              -                        15,765,762                 15,765,762
Debt Service -                              -                        33,802,079                 33,802,079
Community Services Board 2,047,751               -                        -                                 2,047,751

Committed to:
Education 17,299,308             -                        -                                 17,299,308
Special Revenue Funds -                              -                        51,753,558                 51,753,558
Capital Improvement Program:

Engineering and Highways -                              74,899,311        -                                 74,899,311
Buildings -                              34,595,587        -                                 34,595,587
Parks and Recreation -                              4,964,798          -                                 4,964,798
Coastal -                              1,100,809          -                                 1,100,809
Economic and Tourism -                              45,481,642        -                                 45,481,642
General Government -                              124,077,398      -                                 124,077,398

Assigned to:
Education 24,129,855             -                        -                                 24,129,855
General Government 15,649,915             -                        -                                 15,649,915
Waste Management 5,712,041               -                        -                                 5,712,041
Capital Improvement Program - General 23,301,544 - -                                 23,301,544
Risk Management 1,000,000               -                        -                                 1,000,000
Special Revenue Funds -                                -                          2,273,180                    2,273,180

Unassigned 118,396,300             -                          -                                  118,396,300
Total Fund Balances 218,184,225$             285,119,545$       103,594,579$                606,898,349$                   

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances 292,941,063$             309,770,004$       109,707,250$                712,418,317$                   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2017
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Total Fund Balances - Governmental funds (Exhibit 3) $ 606,898,349

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds. 3,315,923,838

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures
and therefore are offset by unearned revenue in the governmental funds. 65,137,183

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources used to reflect deferred gains and losses on debt 110,796
refunding bonds are not reported in the governmental funds.

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources used to reflect differences between expected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments are not reported in the governmental funds.
     Employer contributions subsequent to measurement date pension $ 39,224,404
     Difference between expected and acual experience (10,082,620)
     Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investmetns 34,012,692 63,154,476

Deferred Inflows of Resources used to reflect Property Taxes Levied in current year for subsequent year (7,968,226)

Internal Service Funds are used by management to charge the costs of printing services, 
risk management, information technology, and city garage to individual funds.  The assets
and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental activities
in the Statement of Net Position. (Exhibit 1) (14,864,065)

Services provided by the general government to business-type activities are not included
in the entity-wide statements.  The elimination decreases net position. 88,608

Internal service fund amounts payable to the general government are eliminated 
from the Statement of Net Position.  However, the amount due from business-type 
activities for the Internal Service Funds loss charge back is included. (545,188)

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds.  Long-term liabilities
at year-end consist of:

     General Obligation Bonds $ (593,771,664)
     Net Pension Liability (367,151,678)
     State Literary Fund Loans (1,875,000)
     Accrued Interest on Bonds Sold (12,720,315)
     Agriculture Reserve Strips (46,102,662)
     Public Facility Revenue Bonds (261,335,212)
     Premium on Bonds Sold (89,330,712)
     Compensated Absences (annual and sick leave) (42,646,158)
     Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Care (25,874,700) (1,440,808,101)

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities (Exhibit 1) $ 2,587,584,250

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2017

A-21



Other Total
Governmental Governmental

General Capital Projects Funds Funds
REVENUES

General Property Taxes:
Real Estate property taxes 482,031,789$          -$                            62,270,671$            544,302,460$          
Personal property taxes 100,075,205           - - 100,075,205

Other Local Taxes 239,546,816           - 58,951,517 298,498,333
Fines and Forfeitures 4,967,458               - 539,857 5,507,315
Permits, Privilege Fees, and Regulatory Licenses 5,250,146               - - 5,250,146
From Use of Money and Property 7,857,291               197,763 855,269 8,910,323
Charges for Services 53,792,395             - 18,008,491 71,800,886
Miscellaneous 5,474,431               4,062,763 4,185,911 13,723,105
From Commonwealth 157,279,575           24,546,136 22,676,727 204,502,438
From Federal Government 22,105,929             1,798,361 32,214,883 56,119,173

Total Revenues 1,078,381,035$       30,605,023$            199,703,326$          1,308,689,384$       

EXPENDITURES
Current Operating:

Legislative 1,173,001$              -$                            -$                            1,173,001$              
Executive 4,093,880               - - 4,093,880
Law 3,969,488               - - 3,969,488
Finance 18,207,252             - - 18,207,252
Human Resources 11,245,572             - - 11,245,572
Judicial 14,517,635             - 46,670,068             61,187,703
Health 3,271,550               - 105,211                  3,376,761
Police 96,478,965             - 1,071,894               97,550,859
Human Services 107,574,303           - 7,619,554               115,193,857
Public Works 73,223,061             - 145,637                  73,368,698
Parks and Recreation 13,940,534             - 29,827,859             43,768,393
Library 17,333,746             - 282,162                  17,615,908
Planning 10,993,105             - - 10,993,105
Agriculture 749,171                  - 3,858,479               4,607,650
Economic Development 3,749,275               - - 3,749,275
Convention and Visitor Development 8,162,856               - 18,887,535             27,050,391
Information Technology 22,132,288             - - 22,132,288
Emergency Communications and Citizen Services 8,859,237               - - 8,859,237
Boards and Commissions 32,288,724             - 8,425,956               40,714,680
Fire 52,161,178             - 2,956,110               55,117,288
Management Services 1,409,775               - - 1,409,775
Development Authority -                         - 55,008.00               55,008
Education 364,265,143           43,283,515 - 407,548,658
Housing and Neighborhood Preservation 1,813,255               - 26,433,271             28,246,526
Museums 10,961,337             - - 10,961,337
General Government -                         - 22,331,474             22,331,474
Emergency Medical Services 10,991,301             - 414,433                  11,405,734

Capital Outlay - 75,596,098 - 75,596,098
Debt Service:

Principal Retirement 31,752,735             - 56,857,125             88,609,860
Interest and Fiscal Charges 17,952,699             - 28,545,579             46,498,278

Total Expenditures 943,271,066$          118,879,613$          254,487,355$         1,316,638,034$       
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over (under) Expenditures 135,109,969$          (88,274,590)$           (54,784,029)$          (7,948,650)$             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 20,160,315$            48,203,464$            85,442,215$            153,805,994$          
Transfers Out (122,709,725) - (43,385,629) (166,095,354)
Issuance of Debt - 21,225,000 - 21,225,000
Premium on Bonds Sold 106,224                  2,815,863 - 2,922,087
Agriculture Reserve Agreement - - 3,728,464 3,728,464

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (102,443,186)$         72,244,327$            45,785,050$           15,586,191$            
Net Change in Fund Balance 32,666,783 (16,030,263) (8,998,979)             7,637,541
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 185,517,442 301,149,808 112,593,558 599,260,808
Fund Balance at End of Year 218,184,225$         285,119,545$         103,594,579$         606,898,349$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017

Exhibit 4
CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
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Net Change in fund balance - total governmental funds (Exhibit 4) $ 7,637,541

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities (Exhibit 2) are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures.  However, in the Statement of 
Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives
and reported as depreciation expense.  This and the net effect of various other 
transactions involving capital assets increased net position.

                                      General Government Capital Outlay Expenditures $ 75,596,098
                                      General Government Expenditures 17,776,482
                                      Non-Capitalizable Capital Outlay Expenditures (7,129,802)
                                      Depreciation on General Government Assets (106,554,811)
                                      Contribution of Assets to General Government 3,013,511
                                      Loss on Disposition of Assets (5,298,191) (22,596,713)

Revenues in the fund statements which were subject to accrual in the prior year are 
additions to beginning net position and, therefore, are not reported as revenues in the
Statement of Activities. 15,615,043

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds
while  the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current  financial
resources of governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net 
position.  Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, 
discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are 
deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities.  This amount is the net effect of 
these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items. 60,687,062

Certain net expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of 
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds.

                                      Compensated Absences (96,660)
                                      Pension Expense (2,712,097)

Internal Service Funds are used by management to charge the costs of fleet management
and management systems to individual funds and customers.  Losses arising from the 
internal customers are added as expenditures on the Statement of Activities as charge 
backs.  Revenues and expenditures with outside customers are included also, as are 
non-operating revenues and expenses.  This amount is the effect of reporting internal 
service funds with governmental activities. 2,754,115

Change in net position of governmental activities (Exhibit 2) $ 61,288,291

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017
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Variance
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
General Property Taxes:

Real Estate property taxes 479,990,793$          479,990,793$                  482,031,789$                  2,040,996$              
Personal property taxes 93,566,788             93,566,788                     100,075,205                   6,508,417               

Other Local Taxes 238,681,575           238,681,575                   239,546,816                   865,241                  
Permits, Privilege Fees, and Regulatory Licenses 5,377,037               5,377,037                       5,250,146                       (126,891)                 
Fines and Forfeitures 6,538,394               6,538,394                       4,967,458                       (1,570,936)              
From Use of Money and Property 5,447,985               5,447,985                       7,857,291                       2,409,306               
Charges for Services 54,314,414             54,757,304                     53,792,395                     (964,909)                 
Miscellaneous 5,079,758               5,345,511                       5,474,431                       128,920                  
From Commonwealth 152,873,407           157,069,108                   157,279,575                   210,467                  
From Federal Government 19,739,278             19,776,298                     22,105,929                     2,329,631               

Total Revenues 1,061,609,429$       1,066,550,793$               1,078,381,035$               11,830,242$            

EXPENDITURES
Legislative 1,145,535$              1,224,978$                      1,173,001$                      51,977$                   
Executive 4,157,600               4,382,782                       4,093,880                       288,902                  
Law 4,067,393               4,205,905                       3,969,488                       236,417                  
Finance 18,416,279             18,872,407                     18,207,252                     665,155                  
Human Resources 12,942,561             13,111,525                     11,245,572                     1,865,953               
Judicial 14,742,412             15,573,766                     14,517,635                     1,056,131               
Health 3,191,017               3,309,162                       3,271,550                       37,612                    
Police 98,800,096             99,532,131                     96,478,965                     3,053,166               
Human Services 110,868,695           113,972,326                   107,574,303                   6,398,023               
Public Works 65,118,700             79,085,937                     73,223,061                     5,862,876               
Parks and Recreation 14,108,883             14,814,734                     13,940,534                     874,200                  
Library 17,526,401             18,398,467                     17,333,746                     1,064,721               
Planning 12,053,064             12,672,583                     10,993,105                     1,679,478               
Agriculture 835,667                  850,255                          749,171                          101,084                  
Economic Development 3,929,051               4,002,637                       3,749,275                       253,362                  
Convention and Visitor Development 9,010,480               9,187,002                       8,162,856                       1,024,146               
Information Technology 23,724,536             25,203,207                     22,132,288                     3,070,919               
Emergency Communications and Citizen Services 10,503,102             10,640,545                     8,859,237                       1,781,308               
Boards and Commissions 30,342,363             36,548,417                     32,288,724                     4,259,693               
Fire 50,828,272             52,628,261                     52,161,178                     467,083                  
Management Services 1,600,325               1,521,095                       1,409,775                       111,320                  
Education 374,574,390           381,329,033                   364,265,143                   17,063,890             
Housing and Neighborhood Preservation 1,814,986               1,909,240                       1,813,255                       95,985                    
Museums 11,558,683             12,189,767                     10,961,337                     1,228,430               
Emergency Medical Services 10,727,408             11,311,079                     10,991,301                     319,778                  
Debt Service:

Principal Retirement 32,407,735             32,407,735                     31,752,735                     655,000                  
Interest and Fiscal Charges 18,078,436             18,078,436                     17,952,699                     125,737                  

Total Expenditures 957,074,070$          996,963,412$                  943,271,066$                  53,692,346$            
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over (under) Expenditures 104,535,359$          69,587,381$                    135,109,969$                  65,522,588$            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 2,187,308$              20,117,572$                    20,160,315$                    42,743$                   
Transfers Out (118,678,258)          (122,723,265)                  (122,709,725)                 13,540                    
Premium on Refunding Bonds Sold -                              -                                      106,224                          106,224                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (116,490,950)$         (102,605,693)$                 (102,443,186)$                 162,507$                 
Net Change in Fund Balance (11,955,591)            (33,018,312)                    32,666,783                     65,685,095             
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 143,357,456           143,357,456                   185,517,442                   42,159,986             
Fund Balance at End of Year 131,401,865$          110,339,144$                  218,184,225$                  107,845,081$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Budget Amounts

Exhibit 5
CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017
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Water and Sewer Storm Water
ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and Investments 123,372,664$ 31,771,846$
Accounts Receivable - Net 21,761,379 7,387,972
Intergovernmental Receivables 87,598 -
Inventory 2,522,528 -

Total Current Assets 147,744,169$ 39,159,818$

Noncurrent Assets:
Cash and Investments - Restricted 81,090,435 19,626,498
Due From Other Funds - -
Land Held for Resale - -
Capital Assets:

Land 12,981,079 131,665,778
Site Improvements - -
Buildings 18,940,552 -
Utility System 1,092,790,301 233,272,190
Construction in Progress 31,278,461 36,446,557
Machinery and Equipment 29,351,238 15,300,317
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (488,514,676) (68,395,681)

Total Capital Assets 696,826,955$ 348,289,161$
Total Noncurrent Assets 777,917,390$ 367,915,659$

Total Assets 925,661,559$ 407,075,477$

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Debt Refundings Resulting in Loss Transactions -$ -$
Difference between Expected and Actual Experience 141,570 62,798
Net Difference between Projected and Actual Earnings on Plan Investments 1,957,510 868,312
Employer Contributions Subsequent to Measurement Date 2,257,456 1,001,362

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 4,356,536$ 1,932,472$

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Vouchers and Accounts Payable 3,783,226$ 1,087,827$
Deposits Payable 147,557 -
Accrued Interest Payable 2,308,423 208,853
Construction Contracts Payable 5,578,499 3,628,312
Due to Other Funds - -
Advances from General Fund - -
Unearned Revenue 656,304 -
Current Portion of Long-term Liabilities 11,863,504 2,511,402

Total Current Liabilities 24,337,513$ 7,436,394$
Long-term Liabilities (less current portion) 240,196,433 52,688,291

Total Liabilities 264,533,946$ 60,124,685$

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Debt Refundings Resulting in Gain Transactions -$ -$
Difference between Expected and Actual Experience 721,849 320,197

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 721,849$ 320,197$

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 468,652,175$ 303,704,740$
Restricted for:

Capital Projects 48,851,129 12,621,810
Future Debt Service 17,979,295 3,388,443
Operations 129,279,701 28,848,074

Unrestricted (Deficit) - -
Total Net Position 664,762,300$ 348,563,067$

Reconciling Items:

Total Net Position of Business-type activities (Exhibit 1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2017
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Exhibit 6

Governmental
Activities

Waste Management Development Authority Nonmajor Parking Totals Internal Service Funds

3,073,237$ 9,302,712$ 4,334,382$ 171,854,841$ 29,396,130$
6,886,010 2,909,506 - 38,944,867 -

- - - 87,598 105
- - - 2,522,528 776,142

9,959,247$ 12,212,218$ 4,334,382$ 213,409,834$ 30,172,377$

- 2,028,495 - 102,745,428 -
- 7,515,732 - 7,515,732 -
- 22,362,431 - 22,362,431 -

- 20,457,260 - 165,104,117 -
366,891 - 779,517 1,146,408 265,782

- 119,368,147 - 138,308,699 -
- - - 1,326,062,491 -
- - - 67,725,018 -

10,541,594 565,065 91,456 55,849,670 6,507,098
(4,566,262) (33,633,877) (383,795) (595,494,291) (5,719,765)
6,342,223$ 106,756,595$ 487,178$ 1,158,702,112$ 1,053,115$
6,342,223$ 138,663,253$ 487,178$ 1,291,325,703$ 1,053,115$

16,301,470$ 150,875,471$ 4,821,560$ 1,504,735,537$ 31,225,492$

-$ 862,121$ -$ 862,121$ -$
36,357 - 2,203 242,928 51,505

502,707 - 30,467 3,358,996 712,168
579,736 - 35,136 3,873,690 821,292

1,118,800$ 862,121$ 67,806$ 8,337,735$ 1,584,965$

1,952,074$ 9,725,432$ 448,463$ 16,997,022$ 1,219,392$
- - - 147,557 -
- 1,024,449 - 3,541,725 -
- - - 9,206,811 -
- - - - -
- - - - -
- - - 656,304 -

626,444 7,413,840 22,502 22,437,692 7,459,046
2,578,518$ 18,163,721$ 470,965$ 52,987,111$ 8,678,438$
5,773,536 64,484,426 336,282 363,478,968 38,733,466
8,352,054$ 82,648,147$ 807,247$ 416,466,079$ 47,411,904$

-$ 1,203,216$ -$ 1,203,216$ -$
185,377 - 11,235 1,238,658 262,618
185,377$ 1,203,216$ 11,235$ 2,441,874$ 262,618$

6,342,223$ 34,517,234$ 487,178$ 813,703,550$ 1,053,115$

- - - 61,472,939 -
- 2,855,578 - 24,223,316 -

2,540,616 - - 160,668,391 -
- 30,513,417 3,583,706 34,097,123 (15,917,180)

8,882,839$ 67,886,229$ 4,070,884$ 1,094,165,319$ (14,864,065)$

(545,188)
1,093,620,131$

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2017

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds
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Water and Sewer Storm Water
OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for Services 123,815,095$                         40,039,411$                           
Insurance Recovery -                                            -                                            
Miscellaneous 663,485                                 -                                            

Total Operating Revenues 124,478,580$                         40,039,411$                           

OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of Goods Sold 24,721,565$                           -$                                            
Personal Services 25,570,731                            13,963,910                            
Contractual Services 6,025,659                              7,024,212                              
Internal Services 2,936,453                              1,501,771                              
Other Charges 17,559,808                            5,143,505                              
Leases and Rentals -                                            -                                            
Land Structure Maintenance -                                            23,191                                   
Depreciation 27,552,400                            5,466,520                              

Total Operating Expenses 104,366,616$                         33,123,109$                           

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 20,111,964$                           6,916,302$                             

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
From Commonwealth -$                                            275,938$                                
Interest Income 2,081,618                              431,694                                 
Gain (Loss) From Sale of Assets 62,048                                   117,479                                 
Payment Under Support Agreement -                                            -                                            
Interest and Fiscal Agent Fees (2,824,808)                            (1,460,580)                            

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (681,142)$                               (635,469)$                               

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS
AND TRANSFERS 19,430,822$                           6,280,833$                             

Capital Contributions 6,248,128                              363,254                                 
Transfers In -                                            1,339,873                              
Transfers Out -                                            -                                            

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 25,678,950$                           7,983,960$                             

Total Net Position at Beginning of Year 639,083,350                          340,579,107                          

Total Net Position at End of Year 664,762,300$                         348,563,067$                         

Reconciling Items:
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds.

Change in Net Position of Business-type activities (Exhibit 2)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017
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Exhibit 7

Governmental
Activities

Waste Management Development Authority Nonmajor Parking Totals Internal Service Funds

34,308,543$                           3,500,031$                             5,222,681$                             206,885,761$                         45,315,404$                           
-                                            -                                            1,375                                     1,375                                     1,600,548                              

1,076,913                              149,976                                 11,751                                   1,902,125                              100                                        
35,385,456$                           3,650,007$                             5,235,807$                             208,789,261$                         46,916,052$                           

-$                                            -$                                            -$                                            24,721,565$                           9,397,867$                             
6,809,721                              -                                            354,316                                 46,698,678                            9,120,652                              

23,634,257                            2,015,014                              2,397,658                              41,096,800                            2,946,424                              
4,668,717                              -                                            43,967                                   9,150,908                              943,258                                 
3,490,267                              4,509,093                              379,469                                 31,082,142                            23,906,631                            

-                                            -                                            184,363                                 184,363                                 -                                            
-                                            -                                            -                                            23,191                                   -                                            

898,710                                 3,129,219                              21,651                                   37,068,500                            397,307                                 
39,501,672$                           9,653,326$                             3,381,424$                             190,026,147$                         46,712,139$                           

(4,116,216)$                            (6,003,319)$                            1,854,383$                             18,763,114$                           203,913$                                

43,950$                                  -$                                            -$                                            319,888$                                -$                                            
2,970                                     33,711                                   23,664                                   2,573,657                              211,600                                 

15,744                                   -                                            -                                            195,271                                 82,022                                   
-                                            11,911,816                            (385,000)                               11,526,816                            -                                            
-                                            (2,929,577)                            (197,554)                               (7,412,519)                            -                                            

62,664$                                  9,015,950$                             (558,890)$                               7,203,113$                             293,622$                                

(4,053,552)$                            3,012,631$                             1,295,493$                             25,966,227$                           497,535$                                

-                                            -                                            -                                            6,611,382                              -                                            
10,062,505                            -                                            41,679                                   11,444,057                            1,800,000                              

-                                            -                                            (954,697)                               (954,697)                               -                                            

6,008,953$                             3,012,631$                             382,475$                                43,066,969$                           2,297,535$                             
2,873,886                              64,873,598                            3,688,409                              (17,161,600)                          

8,882,839$                             67,886,229$                           4,070,884$                             (14,864,065)$                          

(456,580)                               
42,610,389$                           

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017
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Water and Sewer Storm Water
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from Customers and Users 119,233,482$                       39,084,094$
Receipts from (Payments for) Interfund Services Provided 2,345,235                          -
Other Operating Cash Receipts 632,286                             -
Cash Payments to Suppliers of Goods and Services (51,478,107) (13,290,275)
Cash Payments to Employees for Services (29,771,738) (13,359,869)

Net Cash Provided (Used) By Operating Activities 40,961,158$                         12,433,950$

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Intergovernmental Receipts -$                                          275,938$
Receipts from Other Funds -                                          1,339,873
Payments Under Support Agreement -                                          -
Payments to Other Funds -                                          -

Net Cash Provided (Used) By Noncapital Financing Activities -$                                          1,615,811$

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital Contributions 4,791,322$                           363,254$
Net Interest on Long-term Debt (9,453,017) (1,708,803)
Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets (34,889,811) (27,159,580)
Proceeds from Sale of Salvage 62,048                               117,479
Principal Paid on Capital Debt (7,812,707) (1,700,000)

Net Cash Provided (Used) By Capital and Related Financing Activities (47,302,165)$ (30,087,650)$

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest and Dividends Received 2,081,618$                           431,694$

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Investments (4,259,389) (15,606,195)
Cash and Investments, July 1 208,722,488                      67,004,539
Cash and Investments, June 30 204,463,099$                       51,398,344$

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating Income (Loss) 20,111,964$                         6,916,302$
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization Expense 27,552,400                        5,466,520
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts Receivable (3,115,717) (955,317)
Intergovernmental Receivables 848,140                             -
Inventory (46,926)                              -
Deferred Outflow of Resources 473,733 (308,110)
Vouchers and Accounts Payable (226,813)                            402,404
Deposits Payable (1,187)                                -
Unearned Revenue 40,304                               -
Deferred Inflow of Resources (4,570,152) (1,459,440)
Estimated Claims and Judgments -                                          -
Accrued Compensated Leave (76,388)                              113,954
Net Pension Liability (28,200)                              2,257,637

Net Cash Provided (Used) By Operating Activities 40,961,158$                         12,433,950$

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL, AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital Contributions of Capital Assets 1,456,806$                           -$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017
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Exhibit 8

Governmental
Activities

Waste Management Development Authority Nonmajor Parking Totals Internal Service Funds

33,003,203$                          3,628,535$                            5,494,636$                           200,443,950$                       46,954,180$
-                                           (189,323)                              -                                         2,155,912                          -

1,076,913                            18,101                                 13,126                               1,740,426                          44,019
(31,839,308)                         (6,067,352)                           (3,206,519) (105,881,561) (31,057,146)

(9,104,653)                           (433,084) (52,669,344) (10,177,902)
(6,863,845)$                          (2,610,039)$                          1,868,159$                           45,789,383$                         5,763,151$

43,950$                                 -$                                          -$                                         319,888$                               -$
10,062,505                          -                                           41,679                               11,444,057                        1,800,000

-                                           -                                           (954,697) (954,697)                            -
-                                           -                                           (582,554) (582,554)                            -

10,106,455$                          -$                                          (1,495,572)$                         10,226,694$                         1,800,000$

-$                                          12,661,817$                          -$                                         17,816,393$                         -$
-                                           (3,420,455)                           - (14,582,275)                       -

(2,222,900)                           -                                           (21,632) (64,293,923) (264,388)
-                                           -                                           -                                         179,527                              82,022
-                                           (6,951,280)                           - (16,463,987)                       -

(2,222,900)$                          2,290,082$                            (21,632)$ (77,344,265)$ (182,366)$

2,970$                                   33,711$                            23,664$                                2,573,657$                           211,600$

1,022,680                            (286,246)                              374,619 (18,754,531)                       7,592,385
2,050,557                            11,617,453                          3,959,763                          293,354,800                      21,803,745
3,073,237$                            11,331,207$                          4,334,382$                           274,600,269$                       29,396,130$

(4,116,216)$                          (6,003,319)$                          1,819,247$                           18,727,978$                         220,862$

898,710                               3,225,071                            21,651                               37,164,352                        397,307

(1,305,340)                           -                                           271,955 (5,104,419) (83)
-                                           996,629                               -                                         1,844,769                          -
-                                           (167,741)                              - (214,667) (110,068)

394,521                               -                                           47,760                               607,904                              285,691
(46,067)                                (660,679)                              (200,855) (732,010) (574,817)

-                                           -                                           - (1,187)                                 -
-                                           -                                           -                                         40,304                                -

(1,472,604)                           -                                           (76,883) (7,579,079) (1,554,746)
-                                           -                                           -                                         -                                          6,632,290

(14,352)                                -                                           1,317                                 24,531                                45,420
(1,202,497)                           -                                           (16,033)                              1,010,907                          421,295

(6,863,845)$                          (2,610,039)$                          1,868,159$                           45,789,383$                         5,763,151$

-$                                          -$                                          -$                                         1,456,806$                           -$

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017
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Exhibit 9

 
 Agency
 Trust Funds Funds
  

ASSETS 
Cash and Investments 41,986,015$          359,776$               

LIABILITIES
Vouchers and Accounts Payable -$                          359,776$               

 
NET POSITION
Restricted 41,986,015$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2017
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Exhibit 10

 
 Trust
 Funds
  

ADDITIONS

Contributions From Primary Government 6,079,679$           

Investment Income (Loss):
Increase (Decrease) in the Fair Value of Investments 4,346,131             
Interest and Dividends 88,282                  

Total Investment Income (Loss) 4,434,413$           
Total Additions 10,514,092$         

DEDUCTIONS
Benefits 6,395,374$           
Administrative Expenses 38,674                  

Total Deductions 6,434,048$           

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Position 4,080,044             

RESTRICTED NET POSITION:
Beginning of Year - Restated 37,905,971           
End of Year 41,986,015$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF OPEB INVESTMENT RETURNS 

The money-weighted rate of return considers the changing amounts actually invested during a period and weights the amount of 
plan investments by the proportion of time they are available to earn a return during that period. External cash flows are 
determined on a monthly basis and are assumed to occur at the beginning of each month. External cash inflows are netted with 
external cash outflows, resulting in a net external cash flow in each month. The money-weighted rate of return is calculated net
of investment expenses. 

Fiscal Year Net
Ending Money-Weighted
June 30 Rate of Return

2017 12.89%

Fiscal Year Net
Ending Money-Weighted
June 30 Rate of Return

2017 12.89%

City

School Board

* Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. The first year for this presentation is 2017; additional years will be
included as they become available. 
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The present City of Virginia Beach, Virginia (the City), was formed on January 1, 1963, by the merger of Princess Anne County
and the former smaller City of Virginia Beach.  This merger created one of the largest cities in the Commonwealth of Virginia 
with an area of 310 square miles and an estimated population of 455,856.

The City operates under the Council-Manager form of government. The elected eleven-member City Council, vested with the 
legislative powers, appoints the City Manager who is the executive and administrative head of the City government.

The City provides a full range of services for its citizens.  These services include police and fire protection, collection and 
disposal of refuse, water and sewer services, storm water management, parks and recreation facilities, museums, libraries, and 
maintenance of streets and highways.  Other services provided include public education in grades kindergarten through twelfth, 
public health and social services, certain technical and special education services, mental health assistance, agriculture services, 
housing services, and judicial activities.

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies of the City of Virginia Beach:

A. The Financial Reporting Entity

1. Component Units

As defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the financial reporting entity 
consists of the primary government (City of Virginia Beach), as well as its component units that are legally separate 
organizations for which the City Council is financially accountable.

The accompanying financial statements present the City of Virginia Beach and its component units. The financial data 
of the component units are included in the City’s reporting entity because of the significance of their operational or 
financial relationship with the City of Virginia Beach.

The Virginia Beach Development Authority (Authority), although legally separate, in substance, is presented as a 
blended component unit and part of the City’s reporting entity.  The City has responsibility through support 
agreements for debt payments on outstanding Public Facility Revenue Bonds which are recorded on the Authority’s 
financial records.  Therefore, the Authority’s outstanding bonds are expected to be repaid entirely from resources 
(support agreements) from the City.  The support agreements are for a majority of the outstanding debt of the Authority 
which necessitates this treatment as a blended component unit.

The Development Authority was established for the specific purpose of attracting new industries and the expansion 
of existing industries. The Authority’s Commissioners are appointed by the City Council. The Authority is authorized 
to issue industrial development bonds after approval by the City Council and to purchase land to improve and sell for 
development. In addition, the Authority facilitates economic development projects as needed by City Council. 
Complete financial statements of the Authority may be obtained by writing to the Virginia Beach Development 
Authority, 4525 Main Street, Suite 700, Virginia Beach, VA  23462.

Discretely presented component units are entities that are legally separate from the City, but for which the City is 
financially accountable, or whose relationship with the City is such that exclusion would cause the City’s financial 
statements to be misleading or incomplete.  These component units are reported in separate columns to emphasize 
that they are legally separate from the City.  All component units have a June 30, 2017 year-end.

a. School Board - The School Board is a legally separate entity that is responsible for elementary and secondary 
education within the City. The members of the School Board are elected by the voters; however, the School Board 
is fiscally dependent upon the City because the City Council annually approves its budget, levies the necessary 
taxes to finance operations and approves the borrowing of money and issuance of bonds.  Separate financial 
statements including statistical information of the School Board may be obtained by writing to the Virginia Beach 
School Board, 2512 George Mason Drive, Virginia Beach, Virginia 23456.
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A. The Financial Reporting Entity (continued)

1. Component Units (continued)

b. Virginia Beach Community Development Corporation - The Community Development Corporation was 
organized in September 1985 for the purpose of expanding and improving opportunities for low and moderate 
income households in Virginia Beach, Virginia.  The Board of Directors for the Community Development 
Corporation is appointed by City Council.  Funding received by the Community Development Corporation from 
the City is in the form of grants.  Complete financial statements of the Virginia Beach Community Development 
Corporation may be obtained by writing to Virginia Beach Community Development Corporation, 2700 
International Parkway, Suite 300, Virginia Beach, VA  23452.

2. Contributions to Certain Other Entities

Annually, the City contributes to various organizations on behalf of the citizens of Virginia Beach.  These 
organizations are not considered entities qualifying for inclusion in this report. The reasons for not including the 
subject organizations in this report are due to the level of control the City exercises over these entities and the lack of 
a financial benefit or burden relationship. Contributions during the year-ended June 30, 2017 were as follows:

American Water Works Association Research  $             28,243 
Arts and Humities Commission               528,314 
Atlantic Wildfowl Museum                 52,131 
Boardwalk Arts Festival                 50,500 
Contemporary Art Center               275,000 
Eastern Virginia Medical School               441,694 
Hampton Roads Economic Development Alliance               400,000 
Hampton Roads Planning District Commission               478,485 
Safe Drinking Water Act               160,000 
Southeastern Tidewater Regional Participation                 27,603 
Tidewater Community College                   5,100 
Transportation District of Hampton Roads            8,425,956 
Virginia Aquarium and Marine Science Center Foundation                 55,995 
Virginia Beach Maritime Historical Museum                 59,630 
Virginia Beach SPCA                 30,000 
Hampton Roads Innovation Collaborative                 50,000 
Virginia Dare Soil and Water Conservation District                   8,000 
USO Wounded Warrior Week                 20,000 
African American Cultural Center                 75,000 
Volunteer Fire Squads                 13,480 
Volunteer Rescue Squads               359,222 
WHRO TV               135,780 

Total  $      11,680,133 

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include both government-wide (based upon the City as a whole) and fund financial 
statements.  While the previous model emphasized fund types (the total of all funds on a particular type), in the new 
reporting model the focus is on either the City as a whole or major individual funds (within the fund financial statements).
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (continued)

Both the government-wide and fund financial statements (within the basic financial statements) categorize primary 
activities as either Governmental or Business-Type. In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, both the 
Governmental and Business-Type Activities columns are presented on a consolidated basis by column and are reflected
on a full accrual, and economic resources basis, which incorporates long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term 
debt and obligations.   The City generally first uses restricted assets for expenses incurred for which both restricted and 
unrestricted assets are available. The City may defer the use of restricted assets based on a review of the specific 
transaction.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segments are offset 
by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. 

The program revenues must be directly associated with the function (public safety, public works, etc.) or a Business-Type 
activity.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, 
services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting 
the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included 
among program revenues are reported as general revenues. The City does not allocate indirect expenses. The operating 
grants include operating-specific and discretional (either operating or capital) grants while the capital grants column 
reflects capital-specific grants.

Fund financial statements are provided for Governmental Funds, Proprietary Funds, and Fiduciary Funds. By definition, 
the assets of the Fiduciary Funds are being held for the benefit of a third-party and cannot be used to address activities or 
obligations of the government; therefore, these funds are excluded from the government-wide statements. Major individual 
Governmental Funds and major Enterprise Funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

The City reports the following major Governmental Funds:

The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the City, except 
those required to be accounted for in another fund. Revenues are derived primarily from property and other local 
taxes, state and federal distributions, licenses, permits, charges for service, and interest income. A significant part of 
the General Fund’s revenues is used principally to finance the operations of the City of Virginia Beach School Board.

The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the financial resources for the acquisition or construction of major 
capital facilities within the City.

The City reports the following major Proprietary Funds:

The Water and Sewer Fund provides water service and sanitary sewer waste collection and transmission services to 
Virginia Beach citizens and accounts for operations that are financed in a manner similar to private business 
enterprises.

The Storm Water Fund accounts for the activities of the Storm Water Utility which charges a fee for operational and 
capital needs for Storm Water management in the City.

The Waste Management Fund provides service to our residents for collection, management and disposal of solid 
waste, recyclable materials and other refuse. In addition, the fund is responsible for the operation of the City’s landfill.

The Development Authority Fund was established for the purpose of attracting new industries and the expansion of 
existing industries. These services are financed through fees for Industrial Revenue Bonds and other sources.
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (continued)

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:

Internal Service Funds account for the financing of goods and services provided to other departments and agencies 
of the City or to other governmental units on a cost reimbursement basis. The City utilizes Internal Service Funds for 
its City Garage, Risk Management, School Site Landscaping, Telecommunications, and Subscriptions.

Special Revenue Funds account for revenue derived from specific sources that are restricted by legal and regulatory 
provisions to finance specific activities.

Law Library - accounts for the revenues and expenditures of providing legal information and research.  Revenues 
are raised through a set charge per civil court case and donations, which are used for library operations.

Sandbridge Tax Increment Financing - accounts for the incremental growth in real estate tax revenues within the 
district.  These incremental revenues are generated by assessment growth beyond the base year, and are used to 
support beach and shoreline restoration in the Sandbridge district as established by City Council.

Housing and Neighborhood Preservation - accounts for the combined activities of the Federal Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG), Federal Housing Assistance Grant, Workforce Housing Revolving and 
Community Development Loan and programs. This fund supports the administration of both capital improvement 
projects in target neighborhoods and various other housing programs. The uses of fund balance are restricted to the 
federal and state programs that generated the funds.

Development Authority - accounts for financial resources dedicated to the economic development of the City. 

Town Center Special Service District - established to provide for the maintenance of public parking facilities and 
other infrastructure in conjunction with realizing a long-term City Council goal of developing a town center which 
is supported by revenues from an additional real estate tax rate applied to each property owner in the Central Business 
District (CBD) within the Pembroke area of the City.

Forfeited Assets - accounts for the City’s share of Federal revenues derived from any Federal agency where money 
or assets are seized.  If the Commonwealth’s Attorney is involved in the case, the department too gets a portion of 
the funds.  All State seizures are divided with the Commonwealth’s Attorney receiving 25% and the Police 
Department receiving 75%.  All real estate seized is split 50%/50% between the Commonwealth’s Attorney and the 
Police Department.  Fund balance must be used in compliance with Federal and State regulations to fund Police or 
Commonwealth’s Attorney projects.

Federal Section Eight Program - accounts for funds received from the Federal Department of Housing and Urban 
Development to provide rental assistance to low and moderate income families.  A separate fund is required by the 
Federal government and fund balance must be used for rental assistance.

Sheriff's Department - accounts for the cost of the care and custody of persons placed in the Virginia Beach 
Correctional Center by the courts and for the operation of the Sheriff’s Department, as established by City Council.  

Parks and Recreation - accounts for revenues raised through Parks and Recreation programs. This fund also 
receives dedicated funding from a portion of the real estate taxes to support and maintain the City’s recreation centers.

Tourism Investment Program - accounts for the revenue streams to fund tourism related capital projects and 
expenditures for oceanfront programs and events, maintenance, operating costs, and debt service of tourism-related 
projects, as established by City Council.  This fund receives dedicated funding from a percentage of the following 
local taxes: amusement, hotel room, and restaurant meal tax receipts. 

Central Business District South Tax Increment Financing - accounts for incremental growth in real estate tax 
revenues and debt service funding of public parking and other public improvements in this business district.  Fund 
balance is maintained to meet planned construction and debt service costs for improvements in this district as 
approved by City Council.

Sandbridge Special Service District - accounts for the revenues raised by the additional real estate tax, hotel tax 
and other Sandbridge related revenue.  The Virginia Beach code restricts the uses of fund balance to Capital 
Improvement Program projects associated with beach and shoreline restoration and maintenance within the 
Sandbridge District.
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Tourism Advertising Program - accounts for revenue and expenses related to tourism advertising.  This 
fund receives dedicated funding from a percentage of the hotel room tax and restaurant meal tax.  There is 
a City Council appointed committee that oversees the use of these funds.

Agriculture Reserve Program - accounts for revenue and expenses to promote and encourage the 
preservation of farmland in the rural southern portion of the City, in which agricultural uses predominate.  
This is a voluntary purchase of development rights rather than regulatory, as established by City Council. 
Fund balance will be used for payments of future interest costs of U.S Treasury Securities and the maturing 
interest on each agreement.

Emergency FEMA - accounts for receipts from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), and 
for the cost of providing urban search and rescue services in support of disaster declarations as well as 
reimbursements to the City for the cost of local disasters. The level of fund balance is subject to final audit 
by the Inspector General. 

Open Space - accounts for the acquisition and preservation of land in the City of Virginia Beach.  This fund 
receives dedicated revenues from a percentage of the restaurant meal tax.

Combined Area Dredging Projects - established to provide for neighborhood channel dredging of creeks 
and rivers. Support for the dredging operations is provided by additional real estate taxes assessed on 
residents of this special service district.

Wetlands Board Mitigation - accounts for the fines assessed for the destruction of wetlands and are to be 
used for the purchase of land and re-creation of wetlands.

Multimodal Transportation - collects and remits revenue dedications from local funding sources to support 
transportation initiatives across the City. This fund also receives dedicated funding from a portion of the real 
estate taxes and other sources to support and maintain the City’s transportation system.

Grants Consolidated - accounts for certain Commonwealth of Virginia and Federal Grants (with matching 
local funds, if required). 

Fiduciary Funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals,
private organizations and other governmental units. The Fiduciary Funds are Agency Funds (Special Welfare, 
Escheat Property Agency Funds), the Pension Trust Fund and the Other Postemployment Trust Fund. The Agency 
Funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. The
Other Postemployment Benefit and Pension Trust Funds account for the assets in essentially the same manner as a
Proprietary Fund using the economic resources measurement focus. 

C. Basis of Accounting

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting, as are the Proprietary Fund and Fiduciary Fund financial statements with the exception of Agency 
Funds which have no measurement focus.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which
they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by 
provider have been met. 

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus.  All 
Governmental Funds are accounted for using a current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual 
basis of accounting.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual 
(i.e., when they become both measurable and available).  "Measurable" means the amount of the transaction can be 
determined and "available" means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay 
liabilities of the current period.   The term available is limited to collection within forty-five days of the fiscal year end.  
Levies made prior to the fiscal year end but which are not available are recorded as unearned.  Expenditures are recorded 
when the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable (except for unmatured interest on general long-term debt which 
is recognized when due and paid).   Interest on general long-term debt is recognized as expenditures to the extent they 
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C. Basis of Accounting (continued)

have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in Governmental Funds.  Proceeds of 
general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

The following is a list of the major revenue sources that meet the "susceptible to accrual" criteria:

General Property Taxes Interest on Deposits
General Sales Taxes Revenue from Commonwealth
Utility Taxes Revenue from Federal Government
Hotel Taxes Amusement Taxes
Restaurant Taxes

Other Post Employment Benefits Plan financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.   City and 
School Board retiree’s contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due.  Employer 
contributions to each plan are recognized when due and both the City and School Board have made a formal commitment 
to provide the contributions.  Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of 
each plan.

Unearned revenues also arise when resources are received by the government before it has a legal claim to them. In 
subsequent periods, when both revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the government has a legal claim to the 
resources, the liability for unearned revenue is removed from the balance sheet and revenue is recognized.

Unbilled Water and Sewer and Storm Water Enterprise Funds accounts receivable for services provided through June 30 
are included in the financial statements.

As a general rule the effects of interfund activity have been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.  
Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu of taxes and other charges between the City’s Water and Sewer 
Function and Storm Water Function and various other functions of the City.  Elimination of these charges would distort 
the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions. Proprietary Funds distinguish operating revenues 
and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and 
producing and delivering goods in connection with a Proprietary Fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal 
operating revenues of the Enterprise Funds and the City’s Internal Service Funds are charges to customers for sales and 
service.   Operating expenses for Enterprise Funds and Internal Service Funds include the cost of sales and services, 
personnel, contractual services, land structures and improvements, other charges, internal service charges and depreciation.  
All other revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

D. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g. roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, 
sidewalks, drainage systems) are reported in the applicable Governmental or Business-Type Activities columns in the 
government-wide financial statements.

The City defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and are recorded as expenditures 
in the Governmental Funds and as assets in the government-wide financial statements.  Depreciation is recorded on capital 
assets on a government-wide basis using the straight-line method and the following estimated useful lives:

Building and Improvements 40 years
Site Improvements 40 years
Equipment 5-10 years
Roadway Network 40 years
Bridge Network 50 years
Hurricane Protection Network 50 years
Landfill Network Percentage of Completion
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Depreciation of exhaustible capital assets used by City Proprietary Funds and the blended Development Authority are 
recorded as an expense against their operations and accumulated depreciation is reported on the Proprietary Funds' balance 
sheets.  Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation.

The utility system in the Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund has been recorded at cost since July 1, 1976 and contributed 
capital asset additions have been recorded at their estimated fair market value in the year contributed as determined by the 
City's utility engineers. Prior to that date, the utility system was recorded at "estimated historical cost depreciated" as 
determined by independent professional engineers.

Depreciation on the utility system, based on costs described above, and other capital assets of the City Proprietary Funds 
have been charged to operations and was computed as follows:

Utility System Water (exclusive of machinery and equipment)
Less: estimated salvage value of 20% of costs 20-100 years

Utility System Storm Water 5-50 years
Buildings and Improvements 40 years
Site Improvements 40 years
Machinery and Equipment 5-10 years

Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of Business-Type Activities is included as part of the 
capitalized value of the assets constructed.

All capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost, if actual cost was not available.  The value of historical 
buildings is included in assets. Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items, and capital assets received 
in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value.

E. Operating Budget Process

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:

1. The City Manager is required by the City Charter to present a proposed operating budget at least 90 days before the 
beginning of each fiscal year which begins July 1.  The proposed operating budget must be balanced with projected 
expenditures equal to estimated revenues and/or the required financing from the proper undesignated fund balances.  
The necessary budget ordinances are also submitted at this time.

2. The City Council is required by the City Charter to hold a public hearing on the budget at which time all interested 
persons are given an opportunity to comment.  The notice of the time and place must be published at least seven days 
prior to the hearing.  In addition, City Council holds budget workshops with the City Manager that are open to the 
media and public.

3. If the proposed operating budget is not legally adopted by the City Council upon one reading of the budget ordinances 
by June 1, the operating budget is automatically adopted as proposed.

4. The City Manager or the Director of Management Services is hereby authorized to approve transfers of appropriations 
in an amount up to $100,000 between any Appropriation Units included in this ordinance. The City Manager shall 
make a monthly report to the City Council of all transfers between $25,000 and $100,000. In addition, the City 
Manager may transfer, in amounts necessary, appropriations from all Reserves for Contingencies except Reserve for 
Contingencies - Regular, within the intent of the Reserve as approved by City Council. Additional appropriations 
require one reading of the ordinance for approval and must be offset by additional estimated revenues and/or a transfer 
from the proper undesignated fund balances. Additional appropriations that exceed 1% of the total estimated revenues 
shown in the adopted budget require one reading by City Council for approval after a public hearing.
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5. Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund, the Debt Service Fund, Enterprise Funds and all Special Revenue 
Funds except for Wetlands Board Mitigation, Development Authority and the Grants Consolidated Fund. The Grants 
Consolidated Fund’s budget is adopted on a project-length basis along with the City Capital Projects Fund. The budget 
for these funds is adopted on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).

6. The accounting system is employed as a budgetary management control device to monitor the individual departments 
or bureaus/divisions within departments.  The legal level of budgetary control is at the organizational unit level as 
noted in the separately issued budget report.  Additional controls are exercised administratively on some budget units, 
personnel positions and capital outlay items and the appropriations related thereto.  A budget unit is an activity (e.g. 
Waste Collection) of an organizational unit (e.g. Public Works Department). Department Directors are authorized to 
make spending adjustments within non-controlled accounts (operating support accounts including contractual 
services, internal service charges, other charges and supplies) that do not exceed the scope or intent of the department’s 
approved budget. The non-controlled accounts for the appropriation unit must balance in total, but do not have to 
balance individually. The City Manager or the Director of Budget and Management Services is authorized to transfer 
appropriations up to a maximum of $100,000 through the accrual period.  See Note 1E4 above.

7. The City Manager or the Director of Budget and Management Services is authorized to change the Estimated 
Revenues included in the annual Budget Ordinance to reflect expected collections. If the Estimated Revenue in support 
of an Operating Appropriation Unit declines, the City Manager or the Director of Budget and Management Services 
is authorized to reduce, subject to any other provision of law, those appropriations to equal the decline in Estimated 
Revenue. The City Manager shall give prior notice to the City Council of any reduction to total appropriations 
exceeding $100,000. The notice to City Council shall identify the basis and amount of the appropriation reduction and 
the Appropriation Units affected

8. Unexpended appropriations lapse (except for the City Capital Projects and Grants Funds) and are closed to the proper 
fund balances at the end of each fiscal year (June 30).  (However, appropriations for the subsequent fiscal year are 
increased in the amount necessary to satisfy the outstanding encumbrances at June 30.) The current operating budget 
ordinance approved by City Council stipulated that an undesignated General Fund Balance of 8% to 12% of the 
following year’s budgeted revenues for contingency and emergency situations, not to be used to support appropriations 
already approved, except upon subsequent authorization by City Council.

9. Capital Projects for the City are budgeted separately from the Operating Budget.  Since the City has over 321 projects 
in its Capital Improvements Program and an annual limitation (without a referendum) on the amount of bonds that 
may be issued, allocations for capital projects represent funding by phases of a number of projects based upon their 
anticipated execution of contractual obligations.  The appropriations for Capital Projects require one reading of the 
ordinance for approval after public hearings on the City's Capital Improvement Program.  The accounting, 
encumbering, and controlling of the funds are based upon the project length of each individual project which may be 
over several years.  Therefore, budgetary comparisons are not presented for Capital Projects in this report.  
Appropriations reallocated to new or existing capital projects require one reading of the ordinance by City Council 
for approval.

10. The federal and state grants in the Grants Consolidated Fund are budgeted separately from the Operating Budget and 
do not parallel the City's fiscal year.  Expenditures are restricted by the grantor agency and are subject to financial and 
compliance audits (Note 9B).  Annual revenues and expenditures are reported within the applicable Special Revenue 
Funds.

There were supplemental amendments to the Operating Budget, other than for encumbrances (Note 1E8), of 
approximately $54,763,115 during the 2017 Fiscal Year.  The amendments were primarily funded through increases 
in estimated revenue and the General Fund balance.

11. All expenditures were within existing appropriations for the governmental major funds.
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F. Inventories

All inventories, except in the Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund, Development Authority, the General Fund’s Virginia 
Aquarium and Marine Science Center and the City Garage Internal Service Fund, are reported at cost using the first-in, 
first-out inventory method.

Reported inventories are accounted for under the consumption method (i.e., recorded as expenditures when used) in the 
remaining Governmental Funds, except for General Fund Public Works inventory. This inventory utilizes the Purchase 
Method (i.e., recorded as expenditures when purchased).

The Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund and the General Fund’s Virginia Aquarium and Marine Science Center and the City 
Garage Internal Service Fund inventories are reported at cost using the moving weighted average cost inventory method.
The Development Authority Enterprise Fund inventories are reported at net realizable value.

G. Land and Building Inventory Held For Resale

Land and building inventory for Development Authority is stated at the lower of net realizable value or original purchase 
price plus capitalized interest, if applicable, and development cost.

H. Accrued Compensated Leave

Annual leave, according to a graduated scale based on years of employment, is credited to each employee as it accrues.  A 
permanent City employee, not participating in the VRS Hybrid Plan, may carry-forward a maximum of 50 days. All full-
time employees hired on or after January 1, 2014, except hazardous duty employees, and those hired before this date, 
which make the irrevocable decision to participate in the Hybrid Plan shall accrue and use Paid Time Off. Those 
participating in the Hybrid Plan may carry-forward a maximum of 24 days.

City employees not participating in the Hybrid Plan are granted one sick leave day per month and may accumulate an 
unlimited number of sick leave days; however, no payment is made by the City on the unused portion upon employment 
termination (except on the condition of retirement).  In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statement (GASB) Number 16, an accrual has been made in the financial statements for these payments.

Compensated leave for the City (current and non-current) is recorded in the government-wide financial statements. For 
Proprietary Funds the current and long-term accrued compensated leave liabilities are recorded in the appropriate fund.  
The current portion of compensated leave is based upon the estimated leave usage in the subsequent year increased by cost 
of living salary increase.

I. Fund Balances

Fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to observe 
constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds. The classifications are as follows:

Nonspendable - The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in 
spendable form, or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The “not in spendable form” criterion 
includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash.

Restricted - Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are either externally 
imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments 
or is imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation (City ordinances).  Enabling legislation 
authorizes the City to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise mandate payment of resources (from external resource providers) 
and includes a legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used only for the specific purposes stipulated in the 
legislation.  Legal enforceability means that the City can be compelled by an external party such as citizens, public interest 
groups, or the judiciary to use resources created by enabling legislation only for the purposes specified by the legislation.
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Committed - The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes 
imposed by formal action (ordinance) of City Council. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose 
unless City Council removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action (ordinance) it employed to 
previously commit those amounts.  In contrast to fund balance that is restricted by enabling legislation, committed fund 
balance classification may be redeployed for other purposes with appropriate due process.  Constraints imposed on the use 
of committed amounts are imposed by City Council, separate from the authorization to raise the underlying revenue; 
therefore, compliance with these constraints are not considered to be legally enforceable.  

Committed fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have 
been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements. It also includes the long-term amount of 
loans approved by City Council.

Assigned - Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the City for specific purposes 
but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In governmental funds other than the general fund, 
assigned fund balance represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or committed. In the General Fund, assigned 
amounts represent intended uses established by City Council, the City Manager or by a City official delegated that authority 
by appropriate action. 

Unassigned - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund and includes all spendable 
amounts not contained in the other classification. In other governmental funds, the unassigned classification is used only 
to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for which amounts had been restricted, 
committed, or assigned.

The City applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either restricted or 
unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly, within unrestricted fund balance, 
committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred 
for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

J. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make estimates and assumption that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

K. Fund Balance Policy

It is the City Council’s policy that there shall be retained in the General Fund an unassigned fund balance of 8% to 12% 
of the following year’s projected revenues. It is desired that a goal of 10% be maintained. This level equates to 
approximately one month of operating expenses.

L. Miscellaneous

1. Cash and Investments

Cash invested at June 30 is included in the various cash accounts reflected in the financial statements.  Investments 
are stated at amortized cost or at their fair value (Note 8).  Interest earnings on investments are allocated to the 
appropriate funds based upon the average monthly cash balance of each fund. Qualified investments in State 
Treasurer’s LGIP, Virginia Investment Pool and SNAP are reported at amortized cost. All others are reported at fair 
value (Note 8).
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1. Cash and Investments (continued)

Other Post Employment Benefit investments are reported at fair value, which for the City and School Board is 
determined by the most recent bid and asking prices as obtained from markets of such investments.  Securities for 
which market quotations are not readily available are valued at their fair value as determined in good faith by the 
custodian under the direction of the Board of Trustees of the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund.  A valuation service 
may be engaged to assist in the determination of fair value.

2. Proprietary Funds' Other Charges

This category mainly consists of General Fund charges (e.g., data processing, buildings and grounds maintenance, 
indirect costs) to the Water and Sewer, Storm Water, Waste Management and Resort Parking Enterprise Funds as well 
as Internal Service Funds except Risk Management, and the Development Authority. For Risk Management it
represents premiums and claims payments (including current estimated claims and judgments). The Development 
Authority other charges consist of selling, lease and lease hold improvements, professional services and other general 
expenses.

3. Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, all highly liquid debt instruments and certificates of deposit, with a
maturity of three months or less, are grouped into cash and temporary investments.  Proprietary Funds participate in 
a centralized cash and investment pool and therefore, separate information on cash equivalents (i.e., investments with 
maturities of three months or less upon acquisition) for the funds is not applicable.

4. Bond Premiums and Discounts

Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method, 
which approximates the effective interest method. Bonds are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.

5. Internal Balances

The amount reported in the Statement of Net Position for internal balances represents support payments to the blended 
component unit Development Authority during the fiscal year just ended and the amounts charged back to the business 
type activities. 

M. Net Position

The difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources less liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources in the 
government-wide statement of net position must be labeled as net position. GAAP further requires that net position be 
subdivided into three categories: net investment in capital assets, restricted net position; and unrestricted net position.

N. Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and Proprietary Fund types in the financial statements, long-term debt and 
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable Governmental Activities, Business-Type Activities, 
or Proprietary Fund type statement of net position.  Bond premiums and deferred loss on refunding bonds are deferred 
over the life of the bonds using a straight-line method. Issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures in the year 
occurred.

In the fund financial statements, Governmental Fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond 
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums
received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are 
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reported as other financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds, are reported as 
debt service expenditures.

O. Restricted Assets - Cash and Investments

Certain proceeds of the Primary Government’s revenue bond issuance have been set aside in separate bank accounts as a 
reserve for future debt service payments. In addition, inclusive in this category are option deposits, funds held for capital 
projects and improvements and grant awards.

P. Unrestricted Net Position - Governmental Activities

Inclusive in Governmental Activities unrestricted net position are ending committed fund balances of certain Special 
Revenue Funds which have been earmarked for specific purposes by City Council. These funds include, but are not limited 
to, Agriculture Reserve Fund, Tax Increment Financing Funds, Open Space Fund, Parks and Recreation, Tourism 
Investment Program, and Tourism Advertising Program Fund.  

Q. Restricted Net Position

Some primary government and component unit net position amounts are subject to various restrictions. Bond resolutions 
restrict the net position of the Water and Sewer, Storm Water and Debt Service Funds for operations. The Master Water 
and Sewer Resolution restricts net position of the Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund for the cost of operation, maintenance 
and debt service costs. The agreement of Trust, dated January 1, 2000, restricts the net position of the Storm Water 
Enterprise Fund in a similar manner. The ending fund balance of the Debt Service Fund is restricted for future debt costs.
The Waste Management Enterprise Fund ending net position is restricted for fund operations.

Certain amounts in the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and component units are restricted through other enabling 
legislation.

R. Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be 
recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The City’s deferred outflows of resources consist of the amount by 
which the principal and premium of a refunding bond exceed the net carrying amount of the refunded debt and pension 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date. The deferred outflow related to debt is being amortized over the 
remaining life of the refunded debt.

Deferred inflows of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be 
recognized as a revenue until then. The City’s deferred inflows of resources consist of the amount by which the net carrying 
amount of refunded debt exceed the principal and premium of a refunding bond, the property tax levy recorded in the 
current fiscal year pertaining to Fiscal Year 2017 and pension activity that will be recognized in pension expense over a
four to five year period. The deferred inflow is being amortized over the remaining life of the refunded debt. Under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, the City has revenues which are applicable to a future period, and will not be 
recognized until the period they become available. These amounts are recorded on the governmental funds balance sheet 
as a deferred inflow of resources.

S. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Political Subdivision’s
Retirement Plan and the additions to/deductions from the Political Subdivision’s Retirement Plan’s net fiduciary position
have been determined on the same basis as they were reported by the Virginia Retirement System (VRS).
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S. Pensions (continued)

For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable 
in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

2. FUND BALANCES – GENERAL FUND AND NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

General Fund and Nonmajor governmental fund balances are classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and/or 
unassigned (Note 1.I) based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of 
these resources. The constraints placed on fund balances for the General Fund and Nonmajor governmental funds are presented 
below:

GENERAL FUND: NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS:
Nonspendable: Restricted:

Inventories 4,620,297$           Federal and State Grants 2,795,646$           
Housing and EMS Loans 6,027,214             Housing and Community Development 7,641,813             

Total Nonspendable 10,647,511$         Forfeited Assets - Judicial 676,028                
Forfeited Assets - Police 1,625,173             

Restricted: Special Service Districts 2,680,604             
Community Services Board 2,047,751$           Emergency FEMA 346,498                

Total Special Revenue Funds 15,765,762$         
Committed: Future Debt Service 33,802,079           

Education 17,299,308$         Total Restricted 49,567,841$         

Assigned: Committed:
Community Programs 133,004$              Sandbridge TIF Programs 5,298,845$           
Judicial 645,550                Central Business District TIF 1,688,330             
Library 56,078                  Parks and Recreation Activities 14,427,814           
Living Shorelines Program 10,722                  Wetlands Board Mitigation 307,535                
Maritime Forest Program 43,512                  Open Space Program 317,382                
Oyster Heritage Program 12,917                  Educational 277,901                
Public Safety 23,378                  Tourism 15,236,723           
Other General Programs 125,325                Agriculture Program 12,559,388           
Total Special Programs 1,050,486$           Judicial 1,639,640             
Education 24,129,855           Total Committed 51,753,558$         
General Government 14,599,429           
Waste Management 5,712,041             Assigned:
Capital Improvement Program - General 23,301,544           Housing and Community Development 756,013$              
Risk Management 1,000,000             Central Business District TIF 354,245

Total Assigned 69,793,355$         Educational 39,000
Forfeited Assets - Judicial 100,000                

Unassigned: Forfeited Assets - Police 285,915                
General Government 118,396,300$       Dredging Programs 12,299                  

Parks and Recreation Activities 725,708                
Total Fund Balance 218,184,225$       Total Assigned 2,273,180$           

Total Fund Balance 103,594,579$       
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A. Receivables

Receivables at June 30, 2017 consist of the following:

Primary Government
Governmental 

Activities
Business-Type 

Activities Total
Real Estate Taxes 16,169,577$       -$                    16,169,577$       
Personal Property Taxes 43,297,116         -                      43,297,116         
Loans 12,117,789         -                      12,117,789         
Due from Other Government 87,480,767         87,598                87,568,365         
Accounts 34,833,359         41,893,811         76,727,170         
Gross Receivables 193,898,608$     41,981,409$       235,880,017$     
Less:  Allowance for Uncollectibles (27,545,751)        (2,948,944)          (30,494,695)        
Net Receivables - Entity Wide 166,352,857$     39,032,465$       205,385,322$     

Major Funds – Governmental

General Fund Capital Projects Total
Real Estate Taxes 16,169,577$       -$                    16,169,577$       
Personal Property Taxes 43,297,116         -                      43,297,116         
Accounts 1,615,854           -                      1,615,854           
Loans 6,027,214           -                      6,027,214           
Intergovernmental Accounts 70,288,453         13,790,135         84,078,588         
Gross Receivables 137,398,214$     13,790,135$       151,188,349$     
Less:  Allowance for Uncollectibles (17,580,628)        -                      (17,580,628)        
Net Receivables 119,817,586$     13,790,135$       133,607,721$     

Major Funds – Proprietary
Virginia Beach

Water and Waste Development
Sewer Storm Water Management Authority Total

Accounts 24,665,308$        7,411,226$          6,907,771$          2,909,506$         41,893,811$         
Intergovernmental Accounts 87,598                 -                      -                      -                      87,598                  
Gross Receivables 24,752,906$        7,411,226$          6,907,771$          2,909,506$         41,981,409$         
Less:  Allowance for Uncollectibles (2,903,929)          (23,254)               (21,761)               -                      (2,948,944)            
Net Receivables 21,848,977$        7,387,972$          6,886,010$          2,909,506$         39,032,465$         

The intergovernmental accounts receivable represents the amount due from the City of Chesapeake for their share of the cost 
of Lake Gaston water reserve.

Component Units

Receivables at June 30, 2017 consist of the following:
Community

School Development
Board Corporation Total

Notes, Deed of Trust -$                    1,726,653$         1,726,653$         
Accrued Interest -                      930,210              930,210              
Intergovernmental Accounts 19,571,313         -                      19,571,313         
Due from Affliate -                      845,626              845,626              
Accounts 1,416,000           304,579              1,720,579           
Net Receivables 20,987,313$       3,807,068$         24,794,381$       
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B. Property Taxes Receivable

An annual ad valorem tax is levied by the City on the assessed value of real and tangible personal property.  These levies 
are made each year on July 1 and January 1 for real property and tangible personal property, respectively. Taxes levied on 
these dates become liens on the subject property on the date of levy. Real property taxes are payable in two installments 
on December 5 and June 5.  Personal property taxes are payable on June 5, however, pro-rated bills on automobiles are 
also payable throughout the year on the portion of the year they are owned if not owned a full year. These taxes are 
considered delinquent when not paid by the due dates and subject to penalties and interest charges by the City Treasurer.  
City property tax revenues are recognized when levied and collected.

The City calculates its allowance for uncollectible taxes by using historical collection data.  Furthermore, the taxes 
receivable amount uncollected 45 days after June 30 is recorded as unearned revenue for the fund financial statements.

During Fiscal Year 2017 the real property rate was $0.99 per $100 of assessed valuation (100% of fair market value except 
for public service corporation properties); an additional $.06 per $100 of assessed valuation is charged to those residents 
of Sandbridge; an additional $.45 per $100 of assessed valuation is charged to all real estate within Town Center Special 
Service District; an additional $.184 per $100 of assessed valuation is charged to all real estate within the Old Donation 
Special Service District; an additional $.363 per $100 of assessed valuation is charged to all real estate within the Bayville
Creek Special Service District, not exempt from taxation; an additional $.1594 per $100 of assessed valuation is charged 
to all real estate within the Shadowlawn Special Service District; an additional $.2913 per $100 of assessed valuation is 
charged to all real estate within the Chesopeian Special Service District; an additional $.079 of $100 of assessed valuation 
is charged to all real estate with the Harbour Point Special Service District; an additional $.063 per $100 of assessed 
valuation is charged to all real estate within the Gills Cove Special Service District; an additional $.438 per $100 of 
assessed valuation is charged to all real estate within the Hurd’s Cove Special Service District; taxes on all real estate that 
has been classified as an energy efficient building, not exempt from taxation, at a rate of $0.84 on each $100 of assessed 
valuation thereof; taxes on buildings that are individually listed on the Virginia Landmarks Register, not including the real
estate or land on which the building is located, so long as the building is maintained in a condition such that it retains the 
characteristics for which it was listed on the Virginia Landmarks Register at a rate of $0.52 on each $100 of assessed 
valuation thereof.  The personal property rate was $4.00 per $100 of assessed valuation (100% of fair market value).  Other 
personal property tax rates exist for qualified equipment. There are no limits currently on the property tax rates which may 
be established by the City Council. In addition, City Council is the only governmental entity that has the local taxing 
authority.

C. Intergovernmental Receivables - Primary Government and School Board Component Unit – Entity Wide

1.  The following revenues were due from the Commonwealth of Virginia at June 30, 2017:

Primary Government

Governmental
Activities

General Sales Tax 12,854,450$                  
Telecommunications Tax 2,000,508                      
Personal Property Tax Relief Act 53,412,868                    
Other Grants, Entitlements, & Shared Revenues 1,374,034                      
Sheriff's Department 1,302,222                      
Other 967,050                         
Capital Projects 13,049,146                    

Total Due from Commonwealth 84,960,278$                  

A-48



CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

3. RECEIVABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES (continued)

C. Intergovernmental Receivables - Primary Government and School Board Component Unit – Entity Wide
(continued)

School Board Component Unit

State Share Sales Tax 5,932,078$             
Special Education-Regional Program 4,571,774               
Technology Initiative 117,317                  
VA Learning Backpack Bayside 218,800                  
VA Learning Backpack Green Run 193,600                  
VA Learning Backpack Kempsville 164,400                  
Juvenile Detention Center 253,741                  
Dual Enrollment - TCC 250,398                  
Other Grants, Entitlements and Shared Revenues 65,138                    

Total Due from Commonwealth-Governmental Funds 11,767,246$           

2. The following revenues were due from various Federal agencies at June 30, 2017:

Primary Government
Governmental 

Activities
Public Assistance Grants 104,523$                
Law Enforcement 3,801                      
Grants Consolidated 623,015                  
Housing Assistance 12,535                    
Capital Projects 740,989                  
Federal Home Grants 1,008,563               

Total Due from Federal Government 2,493,426$             

School Board Component Unit
Adult Basic Eduction  $                  73,409 
Carl Perkins                    751,649 
DODEA MCASP                    169,665 
DODEA Special Education                    102,999 
McKinney Homeless                        2,493 
MTSS B Evaluation                      42,218 
National School Meal Program                 1,018,892 
Preschool Incentive                      47,161 
Title I                 3,723,643 
Title II                    418,058 
Title IV                      57,676 
Title VI-B                 1,345,681 
Other Grants, Entitlements and Shared Revenues                      50,523 
Total Due from Federal Government  $             7,804,067 

3. The following revenues were due from Other Local Governments at June 30, 2017:

The General Fund was due $8,760 for the Virginia Aquarium Foundation and the Federal Section Eight Program 
Special Revenue Fund was due $18,303 from various Regional Housing Authorities.
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D. Allowances For Uncollectible Accounts Receivable

Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are generally established using historical collection data, specific account
analysis and subsequent cash receipts. The allowances at June 30, 2017 are as follows:

General Fund 17,580,628$            
Water and Sewer Fund 2,903,929                
Storm Water Fund 23,254                     
Waste Management Fund 21,761                     

Total 20,529,572$            

E. The major components of Accrued Liabilities at June 30, 2017 consist of the following:

Primary Government
Governmental 

Activities
Business-Type 

Activities Total
Accrued Interest Payable 12,720,315$    3,541,725$           16,262,040$         
Deposits Payable 3,754,541        147,557                3,902,098             
Unearned Revenue -                   656,304                656,304                

Total Accrued Liabilities 16,474,856$    4,345,586$           20,820,442$         

Component Units
Community

School Development
Board Corporation Total

Accrued Interest Payable -$                  58,882$                  58,882$                   
Unearned Revenue 9,537,252          -                          9,537,252                
Deposits Payable 75,000               94,677                    169,677                   
Accrued Salaries 57,936,332        -                          57,936,332              

Total Accrued Liabilities 67,548,584$      153,559$                67,702,143$            

4. UNEARNED REVENUE

Unearned revenue represents amounts for which asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which revenue recognition 
criteria have not been met.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, such amounts are measurable, but not available.
Under the full accrual basis of accounting, such amounts are measurable, but are unearned. 

Unearned revenue consists of the following as of June 30, 2017:

A. General Fund
Aquarium - Advance ticket receipts 186,510$              
Human Services - Advance program receipts 662,400                

Total General Fund 848,910$              

B. Enterprise Funds
Water and Sewer - Customers and Developers tap and meter fees 656,304$               
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4. UNEARNED REVENUE (continued)

D. School Board Component Unit
School Operating Fund - Summer School Tuition and  Behind the 530,058$          

Wheel VA Initiative At Risk Four Year Old, Assessment of 696,017            
 Learning and other grants

Other Governmental Funds - School Cafeterias - Charges for Services 458,823            
Total Unearned Revenue - Governmental Funds 1,684,898$       

School Health Insurance Internal Service Fund - Prepayment of July
health insurance premiums 7,852,354         

Total Unearned Revenue - Governmental Activities 9,537,252$       

5. CAPITAL ASSETS AND LAND HELD FOR RESALE

A. Land and Building Inventory Held for Resale – Development Authority
Oceana West Corporate Park 1,555,548$          
Corporate Landing Office Park 9,710,889            
London Bridge Commerce Park 1,624,500            
Town Center Beacon Building 4,877,946            
Hunt Club 2 200,305               
Land for Potential Development 4,393,243            

Total Land Held for Resale 22,362,431$        
B. Governmental Activities

The following is a summary of the changes in capital assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017:
Balance Balance

July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:                                       
   Land and Improvements 1,005,103,757$         5,249,044$            3,173,024$         1,007,179,777$         

Agriculture Reserve Program 42,374,198                3,728,464              -                     46,102,662                
   Construction in Progress 230,672,621              115,859,827          171,312,656       175,219,792              
      Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 1,278,150,576$         124,837,335$        174,485,680$     1,228,502,231$         

Other Capital Assets:
   Buildings and Improvements 734,058,583$            29,900,778$          -$                   763,959,361$            

School Buildings 365,684,670              885,000                 43,162,909         323,406,761              
Site Improvements 295,345,036              10,663,454            -                     306,008,490              
Site Improvements - ISF 265,782                     -                        -                     265,782                     
Equipment 276,732,565              28,978,135            12,678,437         293,032,263              
Equipment - ISF 6,497,077                  357,501                 347,479              6,507,099                  
Roadway Network 1,972,492,142           31,474,849            -                     2,003,966,991           
Landfill Network 18,676,153                18,345                   -                     18,694,498                
Bridge Network 80,950,452                57,704,904            -                     138,655,356              
Hurricane Protection Network 97,680,665                -                         -                     97,680,665                

        Total Other Capital Assets at Historical Cost 3,848,383,125$         159,982,966$        56,188,825$       3,952,177,266$         

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
   Buildings and Improvements 241,160,590$            18,488,466$          -$                   259,649,056$            

School Buildings 42,158,102                5,961,575              17,206,230         30,913,447                
Site Improvements 90,400,757                7,195,751              -                     97,596,508                
Site Improvements - ISF 263,234                     235                        -                     263,469                     
Equipment 199,718,964              27,647,850            10,689,739         216,677,075              
Equipment - ISF 5,313,591                  397,649                 254,943              5,456,297                  
Roadway Network 1,117,748,489           49,312,304            -                     1,167,060,793           
Landfill Network 18,676,153                -                         -                     18,676,153                
Bridge Network 36,777,540                1,558,943              -                     38,336,483                
Hurrican Protection Network 27,119,650                1,953,613              -                     29,073,263                

         Total Accumulated Depreciation 1,779,337,070$         112,516,386$        28,150,912$       1,863,702,544$         

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 2,069,046,055$         47,466,580$          28,037,913$       2,088,474,722$         
Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net 3,347,196,631$         172,303,915$        202,523,593$     3,316,976,953$         
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B. Governmental Activities (continued)

Governmental Activities capital assets net of accumulated depreciation at June 30, 2017 are comprised of the following:

General Government Capital Assets, Net 3,315,923,838$       
Internal Service Fund Capital Assets, Net 1,053,115                

Total 3,316,976,953$       

Depreciation was charged to governmental functions as follows:

Finance 56,141$              
Executive 26,708                
Judicial 308,221              
Health 11,274                
Police 3,275,665           
Public Works 78,060,745         
Parks and Recreation 3,611,078           
Libraries 358,387              
Planning 451,500              
Economic Development 13,957                
Convention & Visitors Bureau 189,334              
Information Technology 15,567,840         
Boards and Commisions 257,235              
Emergency Communications 60,360                
Fire 1,961,028           
Human Services 975,287              
Education and Transfer to School 5,961,575           
Housing & Neighborhood Preservation 57,885                
Museums 73,510                
General Government 266,164              
Emergency Medical Services 972,492              

Total 112,516,386$     
C. Component Unit - School Board

Capital Assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2017 was as follows:
Balance Balance

July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:                                 
   Land 39,666,627$         28,559$              646,962$            39,048,224$        
   Construction in Progress 53,245,854           14,742,304         63,553,497         4,434,661            
      Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 92,912,481$         14,770,863$       64,200,459$       43,482,885$        

Capital Assets Being Depreciated
   Buildings 635,834,094$       109,016,825$     1,564,578$         743,286,341$      

Improvement Other Than Buildings 62,109,087           3,769,814           -                     65,878,901          
   Machinery and Equipment 111,036,068         8,230,314           5,444,390           113,821,992        
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 808,979,249$       121,016,953$     7,008,968$         922,987,234$      

Less Accumulated Depreciation For: *
   Buildings 279,049,584$       31,913,883$       942,635$            310,020,832$      

Improvement Other Than Buildings 40,342,942           2,261,313           -                     42,604,255          
   Machinery and Equipment 79,393,107           7,306,169           5,291,712           81,407,564          
         Total Accumulated Depreciation 398,785,633$       41,481,365$       6,234,347$         434,032,651$      

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 410,193,616$       79,535,588$       774,621$            488,954,583$      
Component Unit School Board, Capital Assets, Net 503,106,097$       94,306,451$       64,975,080$       532,437,468$      

Depreciation was charged to the School Board Component Unit.
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D. Business-Type Activities

The following is a summary of the changes in capital assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017:

Balance Balance
July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:                                   
   Land and Improvements 165,063,809$        346,133$            305,825$            165,104,117$        
   Construction in Progress 38,724,525            69,501,166         40,500,673         67,725,018            
      Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 203,788,334$        69,847,299$       40,806,498$       232,829,135$        

Other Capital Assets:
   Buildings and Improvements 139,321,714$        328,985$            1,342,000$         138,308,699$        

Site Improvements 1,146,408              -                     -                     1,146,408              
Utility System 1,286,919,998       39,142,493         -                     1,326,062,491       
Machinery and Equipment 52,123,887            4,412,348           686,564              55,849,671            

        Total Other Capital Assets at Historical Cost 1,479,512,007$     43,883,826$       2,028,564$         1,521,367,269$     

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
   Buildings and Improvements 42,942,161$          4,406,833$         1,342,000$         46,006,994$          

Site Improvements  326,577                 28,660                -                     355,237                 
Utility System 481,388,563          28,308,674         -                     509,697,237          
Machinery and Equipment 35,797,055            4,324,333           686,564              39,434,824            

         Total Accumulated Depreciation 560,454,356$        37,068,500$       2,028,564$         595,494,292$        

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 919,057,651$        6,815,326$         -$                   925,872,977$        
Business-Type Activities Capital Assets, Net 1,122,845,985$     76,662,625$       40,806,498$       1,158,702,112$     

Depreciation expense was charged to Business-Type Activities as follows:

E. Major Fund - Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund
Balance Balance

July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:                                    
   Land and Improvements 12,941,871$            44,533$              5,325$                12,981,079$             
   Construction in Progress 27,686,222              42,056,067         38,463,828         31,278,461               
      Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 40,628,093$            42,100,600$       38,469,153$       44,259,540$             

Other Capital Assets:
   Buildings and Improvements 18,611,567$            328,985$            -$                   18,940,552$             
   Utility System 1,054,112,387         38,677,914         -                     1,092,790,301          
   Machinery and Equipment 29,171,181              476,187              296,130              29,351,238               
        Total Other Capital Assets at Historical Cost 1,101,895,135$       39,483,086$       296,130$            1,141,082,091$        

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
   Buildings and Improvements 11,451,588$            1,300,300$         -$                   12,751,888$             
   Utility System 427,453,838            24,230,176         -                     451,684,014             
   Machinery and Equipment 22,352,980              2,021,924           296,130              24,078,774               
         Total Accumulated Depreciation 461,258,406$          27,552,400$       296,130$            488,514,676$           

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 640,636,729$          11,930,686$       -$                   652,567,415$           
Water and Sewer Capital Assets, Net 681,264,822$          54,031,286$       38,469,153$       696,826,955$           

Water and Sewer 27,552,400$   
Storm Water 5,466,520       
Waste Management 898,710          
Development Authority 3,129,219       
Resort Parking 21,651            

Total 37,068,500$   
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F. Major Fund – Storm Water Enterprise Fund

Balance Balance
July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:                                   
   Land and Improvements 131,664,678$        301,600$            300,500$            131,665,778$        
   Construction in Progress 11,038,303            27,445,099         2,036,845           36,446,557            
      Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 142,702,981$        27,746,699$       2,337,345$         168,112,335$        

Other Capital Assets:
Utility System 232,807,611$        464,579$            -$                   233,272,190$        

   Machinery and Equipment 13,983,084            1,675,885           358,652              15,300,317            
        Total Other Capital Assets at Historical Cost 246,790,695$        2,140,464$         358,652$            248,572,507$        

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
Utility System 53,934,725$          4,078,498$         -$                   58,013,223$          

   Machinery and Equipment 9,353,088              1,388,022           358,652              10,382,458            
         Total Accumulated Depreciation 63,287,813$          5,466,520$         358,652$            68,395,681$          

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 183,502,882$        (3,326,056)$       -$                   180,176,826$        
Storm Water Capital Assets, Net 326,205,863$        24,420,643$       2,337,345$         348,289,161$        

G. Major Fund – Waste Management

Balance Balance
July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:                                 
   Land and Improvements -$                      -$                   -$                   -$                    
   Construction in Progress -                        -                     -                     -                      
      Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated -$                      -$                   -$                   -$                    

Other Capital Assets:
Site Improvements 366,891$              -$                   -$                   366,891$             

   Machinery and Equipment 8,334,732             2,238,644           31,782                10,541,594          
        Total Other Capital Assets at Historical Cost 8,701,623$           2,238,644$         31,782$              10,908,485$        

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
Site Improvements 34,257$                9,172$                -$                   43,429$               

   Machinery and Equipment 3,665,077             889,538              31,782                4,522,833            
         Total Accumulated Depreciation 3,699,334$           898,710$            31,782$              4,566,262$          

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 5,002,289$           1,339,934$         -$                   6,342,223$          
Waste Management Capital Assets, Net 5,002,289$           1,339,934$         -$                   6,342,223$          
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H. Major Fund - Virginia Beach Development Authority
Balance Balance

July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:

Land and Improvements 20,457,260$      -$                  -$              20,457,260$       

Other Capital Assets:
Buildings and Improvements 120,710,147$    -$                  1,342,000$   119,368,147$     
Machinery and Equipment 565,065             -                    -                565,065              

Total Other Capital Assets at Historical Cost 121,275,212$    -$                  1,342,000$   119,933,212$     

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
Buildings 31,490,573$      3,106,533$       1,342,000$   33,255,106$       
Machinery and Equipment 356,085             22,686              -                378,771              

Total Accumulated Depreciation 31,846,658$      3,129,219$       1,342,000$   33,633,877$       

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 89,428,554$      (3,129,219)$      -$              86,299,335$       
Development Authority Capital Assets, Net 109,885,814$    (3,129,219)$      -$              106,756,595$     

Depreciation was charged to the Virginia Beach Development Authority.

I. Component Unit - Virginia Beach Community Development Corporation

Balance Balance
July 1, 2016 Increases Decreases June 30, 2017

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:
Land and Improvements 7,864,202$         999,758$          -$               8,863,960$         

Other Capital Assets:
Buildings and Improvements 27,696,535$       4,043,237$       -$               31,739,772$       
Vehicles 67,809                -                    -                 67,809                

Total Other Capital Assets at Historical Cost 27,764,344$       4,043,237$       -$               31,807,581$       

Less Accumulated Depreciation 11,602,724$       977,211$          -                 12,579,935$       
Component Unit-VA Beach Community Dev. 24,025,822$       4,065,784$       -$               28,091,606$       

J. Construction in Progress

1. Governmental Activities and School Board Component Unit

In accordance with the City’s accounting policies, these projects will not be transferred from Construction in Progress 
until completion. Construction in progress is comprised of the following:

Expended through Outstanding Unobligated
June 30, 2017 Commitments Balance

Government Activities
Engineering and Highways 90,312,043$               74,899,311$              199,293,450$         
Buildings 44,254,802                 34,595,587                97,477,424             
Parks and Recreation 28,321,113                 4,964,798                  32,407,100             
Virginia Beach Development Authority 334,146                      -                             -                          
Coastal -                              1,100,809                  55,673,254             
Economic and Tourism 11,997,688                 45,481,642                73,724,048             

Total Other Capital Assets at Historical Cost 175,219,792$             161,042,147$            458,575,276$         

School Board Component Unit
Buildings and Improvements Other than Buildings 4,434,661$                 31,163,821$              -$                        
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5. CAPITAL ASSETS AND LAND HELD FOR RESALE (continued)

J. Construction in Progress (continued)

2. Business-Type Activities

In accordance with the City’s accounting policies, these projects will not be transferred from Construction in Progress 
into the various capital asset accounts until substantially completed.  Construction in Progress for Business-Type 
Activities is comprised of the following at June 30, 2017:

Expended through 
June 30, 2017

Outstanding 
Commitments

Unobligated 
Balance

Water & Sewer Utility Projects 31,278,461$              32,684,920$           60,338,633$          
Storm Water Projects 36,446,557                23,565,594             47,453,852            

Total Business-Type Activities 67,725,018$              56,250,514$           107,792,485$        

6. LONG-TERM DEBT

A. A Summary of Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

1. Primary Government - Governmental Activities

Amounts
Balance Balance Due Within

July 1, 2016 Additions Reductions June 30, 2017 One Year
General Obligation Bonds 652,896,524$           -$                  59,124,860$    593,771,664$            55,978,194$    
State Literary Fund Loans 2,250,000                 -                    375,000           1,875,000                  375,000           
Public Facility Revenue Bonds 263,313,932             21,225,000       23,203,720      261,335,212              25,226,160      
Agriculture Reserve Program 42,374,198               3,728,464         -                   46,102,662                -                   

Total Tax Supported Debt 960,834,654$           24,953,464$     82,703,580$    903,084,538$            81,579,354$    

Other Debt:
Landfill Closure & Post-Closure Care 25,542,645$             332,055$          -$                 25,874,700$              -$                 
Premiums 99,472,784               2,922,087         13,064,159      89,330,712                9,542,384        
Net Pension Liability 302,116,988             72,755,794       33,571             374,839,211              -                   
Accrued Compensation Leave 43,277,044               26,260,782       26,119,189      43,418,637                25,323,095      
Estimated Claims & Judgements 31,100,210               18,305,526       11,673,236      37,732,500                6,974,563        

Governmental Activities Long-Term Debt 1,462,344,325$        145,529,708$   133,593,735$  1,474,280,298$         123,419,396$  
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

A. A Summary of Changes in Long-Term Liabilities (continued)

2. Primary Government - Business-Type Activities

Amounts
Balance Balance Due Within

July 1, 2016 Additions Reductions June 30, 2017 One Year
Revenue Bonds 264,088,711$      -$                  9,512,707$      254,576,004$      10,560,728$   
Public Facility Revenue Bonds 77,081,069          7,880,000         14,901,280      70,059,789          7,413,840       

Total Self/Tax Supported Debt 341,169,780$      7,880,000$       24,413,987$    324,635,793$      17,974,568$   

Less/Add Deferred Amounts:
For Issuance Premiums 21,146,295          384,908            1,462,310        20,068,893          1,283,579       
Less Bond Discount (12,256)                (48,068.00)        (13,105)            (47,219)                -                  

Total Bonds Payable 362,303,819$      8,216,840$       25,863,192$    344,657,467$      19,258,147$   

Net Pension Liability 35,255,346          2,257,637         1,254,135        36,258,848          -                  
Accrued Compensated Leave 4,968,412            3,116,245         3,084,312        5,000,345            3,179,545       
Business-Type Activities Long-Term Debt 402,527,577$      13,590,722$     30,201,639$    385,916,660$      22,437,692$   

3. Major Fund - Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund (Included in Business-Type Activities)

Amounts
Balance Balance Due Within

July 1, 2016 Additions Reductions June 30, 2017 One Year
Revenue Bonds 218,868,711$        -$              7,812,707$     211,056,004$        8,820,728$      

Add Deferred Amounts:
For Issuance Premiums 18,276,389            -                1,157,613       17,118,776            1,157,613        

Total Bonds Payable 237,145,100$        -$              8,970,320$     228,174,780$        9,978,341$      

Net Pension Liability 21,158,640            -                28,200            21,130,440            -                   
Accrued Compensation Leave 2,831,105              1,756,716      1,833,104       2,754,717              1,885,163        

Water and Sewer Long-Term Liabilities 261,134,845$        1,756,716$    10,831,624$   252,059,937$        11,863,504$    

4. Major Fund – Storm Water Enterprise Fund (Included in Business-Type Activities) 
Amounts

Balance Balance Due Within
July 1, 2016 Additions Reductions June 30, 2017 One Year

Revenue Bonds 45,220,000$             -$                       1,700,000$          43,520,000$           1,740,000$      

Less/add Deferred Amounts:
For Issuance Premiums 1,190,387                 -                         125,966               1,064,421               125,966           

Total Bonds Payable 46,410,387$             -$                       1,825,966$          44,584,421$           1,865,966$      

Net Pension Liability 7,115,399                 2,257,637              -                       9,373,036               -                   
Accrued Compensation Leave 1,128,285                 741,563                 627,612               1,242,236               645,436           

Storm Water Long-Term Liabilities 54,654,071$             2,999,200$            2,453,578$          55,199,693$           2,511,402$      
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

A. A Summary of Changes in Long-Term Liabilities (continued)

5. Major Fund – Waste Management Enterprise Fund (Included in Business-Type Activities)

Amounts
Balance Balance Due Within

July 1, 2016 Additions Reductions June 30, 2017 One Year
Net Pension Liability 6,628,991$          -$                  1,202,497$     5,426,494$          -$                
Accrued Compensated Leave 987,838               594,792            609,144          973,486               626,444          

Waste Management Long-Term Liabilities 7,616,829$          594,792$          1,811,641$     6,399,980$          626,444$        

6. Major Fund - Development Authority Enterprise Fund (Included in Business-Type Activities)

Amounts
Balance Balance Due Within

July 1, 2016 Additions Reductions June 30, 2017 One Year
Public Facility Revenue Bonds 77,081,069$        7,880,000$       14,901,280$   70,059,789$        7,413,840$     
For Issuance Premiums 1,679,519            384,908            178,731          1,885,696            -                  
Less Bond Discount (12,256)                (48,068)             (13,105)          (47,219)                -                  

Virginia Beach Development Authority 
Long-Term Debt 78,748,332$        8,216,840$       15,066,906$   71,898,266$        7,413,840$     

7. Component Unit - School Board

Balance Balance Due Within
July 1, 2016 Additions Reductions June 30, 2017 One Year

Net Pension Liability 667,263,000$    183,084,000$    109,568,000$    740,779,000$    -$                   
Accrued Compensated Leave 20,545,881        8,476,510          8,370,430          20,651,961        8,537,839          
Estimated Claims and Judgements 15,093,000        138,431,394      138,833,394      14,691,000        11,018,250        

School Board Long-Term Liabilities 702,901,881$    329,991,904$    256,771,824$    776,121,961$    19,556,089$      

8. Component Unit - Virginia Beach Community Development Corporation
Amounts

Balance Balance Due Within
July 1, 2016 Additions Reductions June 30, 2017 One Year

Notes Payable 15,697,275$      6,354,000$        740,849$           21,310,426$      1,565,465$        
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

B. Bonds, Notes and Loans Payable

Outstanding Balance
  

Bond Issue/Purpose Dated VBDA% CITY

2016A PI 2/9/2016  $      61,255,000 2.437448 - - -  $                58,200,000 
2016B PI Refunding 2/9/2016          50,430,000 1.771418 - - -                    33,665,000 
2015A PI 4/21/2015          51,295,000 2.617345 - - -                    46,170,000 
2015B PI Refunding 4/21/2015          56,530,000 1.989322 - - -                    56,530,000 
2014A PI 4/22/2014          85,050,000 2.920553 - - -                    73,050,000 
2013A PI 4/17/2013          22,885,000 2.587348 - - -                    19,465,000 
2013B PI Refunding 4/17/2013          33,795,000 2.143873 - - -                    22,865,000 
Pleasure House Point 7/10/2012            6,000,000 0.25 - - -                      3,491,031 
2012A PI 4/18/2012          65,000,000 2.849726 - - -                    48,750,000 
2012B PI Refunding 4/18/2012          19,630,000 2.413515 - - -                    19,630,000 
2011A PI 6/29/2010          90,000,000 3.212396 - - -                    63,000,000 
2010-1 QSCB 7/8/2010            4,875,000 5.31 - - -                      2,880,000 
2010 Recovery Zone 3/15/2010            5,995,000 3.038509 - - -                      4,235,000 
2010A PI 5/25/2010          60,000,000 2.97032 - - -                    39,000,000 
2009 PI Refunding 1/26/2010          20,755,000 3.041988 - - -                    19,345,000 
2009B PI Refunding 1/26/2010          78,875,000 2.910179 - - -                    67,790,000 
2009 PI 6/16/2009          72,000,000 3.655747 - - -                      7,200,000 
2008 PI 3/25/2008          90,000,000 4.161171 - - -                      4,500,000 
2008 VPSA 12/1/2008            6,350,705 - - - -                      4,005,633 
2002 State Literary 1/1/2002            7,500,000 3 - - -                      1,875,000 

 $              595,646,664 

2016 A W&S Revenue 6/8/2016  $      46,560,000 2.711344 - 100 -  $                46,560,000 
2016 B W&S Refunding 6/8/2016          42,865,000 1.813975 - 100 -                    40,610,000 
2015 A Storm Water Revenue 1/28/2015          23,500,000 2.829639 100 - -                    22,270,000 
2013 W&S Revenue 11/13/2013          44,845,000 3.641572 - 100 -                    41,745,000 
2010 A Storm Water Revenue 11/16/2010          20,000,000 3.170505 100 - -                    16,720,000 
2010 B Storm Water Refunding 11/16/2010            7,380,000 2.607102 100 - -                      4,530,000 
2010 A W&S Revenue 6/29/2010          65,000,000 3.475462 - 100 -                    55,280,000 
2010 B W&S Refunding 6/29/2010            8,410,000 3.02756 - 100 -                      7,640,000 
2010 C W&S Refunding 6/29/2010          24,950,000 3.156061 - 100 -                    18,110,000 
1998 Taxable W&S Revenue 8/28/1998            5,774,218 4.3 - 100 -                         832,839 
1997 Taxable W&S Revenue 1/30/1997            7,190,048 4.75 - 100 -                         278,165 

 $              254,576,004 

2016A Public Facility Revenue 11/3/2016  $      21,225,000 2.458802 - - -  $                21,225,000 
2016B Public Facility Revenue 11/3/2016            7,880,000 2.122443 - - 100                      7,385,000 
2015A Public Facility Revenue 6/25/2015          48,245,000 3.050953 - - -                    42,380,000 
2015B Public Facility Revenue 6/25/2015          34,885,000 2.67798 - - 27.05                    34,885,001 
2014A Public Facility Revenue 6/18/2014          44,975,000 2.984041 - - 41.76                    37,775,000 
2014B Public Facility Revenue 6/18/2014          20,320,000 2.430979 - - 25.62                    16,150,000 
2013A Public Facility Revenue 6/19/2013          20,960,000 2.599602 - - -                    16,865,000 
2012A Public Facility Revenue 4/18/2012          22,580,000 2.599602 - - -                    17,705,000 
2012B Public Facility Refunding 4/18/2012          25,640,000 2.448956 - - 21.12                    22,540,000 
2010A Public Facility Revenue  5/25/2010          17,000,000 2.582319 - - -                      5,100,000 
2010B Public Facility Revenue 5/25/2010          98,035,000 2.993556 - - 24.84                    66,245,000 
2010C Public Facility Refunding 5/25/2010          40,450,000 3.396935 - - 31.31                    35,360,000 
2007A Public Facility  Revenue 6/26/2007          96,835,000 4.5444247 - - 19.51                      7,780,000 

 $              331,395,001 

Agricultural Reserve Program Various  $      46,102,662 Various - - -  $                46,102,662 
 $                46,102,662 
 $           1,227,720,331 

* Water and Sewer and Storm Water Enterprise Funds

Total Other Long-Term Debt
Grand Total Bonds, Notes and Loans Payable

True 
Interest

Proprietary Percentage

Issue Amount
Storm 

Water %
Water & 
Sewer%

General Obligation  Bonds and Loans:

Total General Obligation Bonds and Loans

Revenue Bond:*

Total Revenue Bonds

Public Facility Revenue Bonds:

Total  Public Facility Revenue Bonds 

Other Long-Term Debt:
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

B. Bonds, Notes and Loans Payable (continued)

Defeased Debt - In current and prior years, the City defeased certain general obligation, public improvement, and public 
utility bonds by placing funds in irrevocable escrow accounts to provide for future debt service payments on the defeased 
debt. Accordingly, the escrow account assets and liabilities for the defeased debt are not included in the City's financial
statements. At June 30, 2017, the outstanding balance of the defeased debt, including current year defeased debt, is $140.9
million, and is considered in-substance defeased. 

C. Summary of Recent Refundings 

1. Advance Refunding of Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2005B and 2007B

On November 3, 2016, the City issued $7.88 million of Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B to refund 
portions of 2005B and 2007B Series Public Facility Revenue Bonds. All of the bonds sold were to refund debt 
currently held by the Virginia Beach Development Authority. The refunding bonds combined with $384,907.65 in 
premiums provided resources to purchase U.S. Government, State and Local Government Series securities that were 
placed in an irrevocable trust for the purpose of generating resources for all future debt service payments of $10.37 
million of Public Facility Revenue Bonds. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the 
liability has been removed from the business-type activities column of the statement of net position. The net carrying 
amount of the old debt exceeded the reacquisition price by $70,000. The difference is being netted against the new 
debt and amortized over the remaining life of the refunded debt, which is equal to the life of the new debt issued. This 
advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over a 12-year period by $1.24 million and 
will result in an economic gain of $1.14 million. The escrow agent has called the 2005B refunded bonds. Series 2007B 
bonds of $2.8 million will be called by the escrow agent on July 15, 2017.

2. Current and Advance Refunding of General Obligation Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2004B and 2009

On February 9, 2016, the City issued $50.430 million of General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, 
Series 2016B to refund portions of the 2004B and 2009 Series General Obligation Public Improvement Bonds.  The 
refunding bonds combined with $5.25 million in premiums to provide resources to purchase U.S. Government, State 
and Local Government Series securities that were placed in an irrevocable trust for the purpose of generating resources 
for all future debt service payments of $64.035 million of refunded General Obligation bonds.   As a result, the 
refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from the governmental activities 
column of the statement of net position. The net carrying amount of the old debt exceeded the reacquisition price by 
$1.925 million. This difference is being netted against the new debt and amortized over the remaining life of the 
refunded debt, which is equal to the life of the new debt issued. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce
total debt service payments over the next 13 years by $4.173 million and resulted in an economic gain of $3.63 million. 
The escrow agent has called the 2004B refunded bonds, and will call the remaining $14.4 million series 2009 refunded 
bonds on June 1, 2019.

3. Advance Refunding of Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2007A

On June 25, 2015, the City issued $34.885 million of Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B to 
refund portions of the 2007A Series Public Facility Revenue Bonds. The refunding bonds combined with $5.2 million 
in premiums to provide resources to purchase U.S. Government, State and Local Government Series securities that 
were placed in an irrevocable trust for the purpose of generating resources for all future debt service payments of 
$52.02 million of refunded Public Facility Revenue Bonds. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to be 
defeased and the liability has been removed from the governmental activities column of the statement of net position. 
The net carrying amount of the old debt exceeded the reacquisition price by $995,000. This difference is being netted 
against the new debt and amortized over the remaining life of the refunded debt, which is equal to the life of the new 
debt issued. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next 13 years by 
$3.5 million and resulted in an economic gain of $3.06 million. On July 1, 2017 the escrow agent will call the 
$35,880,000 series 2007A refunded bonds.
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

C. Summary of Recent Refundings (continued)

4. Advance Refunding of General Obligation Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2007, 2008, and 2009

On April 21, 2015, the City issued $56.53 million of General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 
2015B to refund portions of the 2007, 2008, and 2009 Series General Obligation Public Improvement Bonds. The 
refunding bonds combined with $13.64 million in premium to provide resources to purchase U.S. Government, State
and Local Government Series securities that were placed in an irrevocable trust for the purpose of generating resources 
for all future debt service payments of $90.04 million of refunded General Obligation Bonds. As a result, the refunded 
bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from the government activities column of the 
statement of net position. The net carrying amount of the old debt exceeded the reacquisition price by $7.52 million. 
This difference is being netted against the new debt and amortized over the remaining life of the refunded debt, which 
is equal to the life of the new debt issued. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments 
over the next 14 years by $8.77 million and resulted in an economic gain of $7.24 million. The escrow agent has 
called $26,250,000 Series 2007 refunded bonds, and will call $27,000,000 series 2008 refunded bonds on October 1, 
2017, and $10,800,000 series 2009 refunded bonds on June 1, 2019.

5. Advance Refunding of Public Facility Revenue Bonds Series 2002A, 2003A, 2005A and 2007A

On May 25, 2010, the City issued $98.035 million of Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2010B and 
$40.45 million of Public Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2010C, which refunded portions of the 2002A, 
2003A, 2005A, and 2007A Series Public Facility Revenue Bonds. The refunding bonds combined with $19.03 million 
in premiums to provide resources to purchase U.S. Government, State and Local Government Series securities that 
were placed in an irrevocable trust for the purpose of generating resources for all future debt service payments of 
$137.5 million of Public Facility Revenue bonds. Included in the bonds sold were $37.015 million in Public Facility 
Refunding Revenue Bonds to refund debt currently held by the Virginia Beach Development Authority. The remaining 
bonds were sold to refund debt currently outstanding for the City. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to 
be defeased and the liabilities for the City and Virginia Beach Development Authority have been removed from the 
government activities and business-type activities columns of the statement of net position, respectively. The 
reacquisition price exceeded the net carrying amount of the old debt currently held by $985,000. This difference was 
displayed as a deferred outflows of resources. The remaining life of the refunded debt is equal to the life of the new 
debt issued. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next 13 years by 
$6.36 million and resulted in an economic gain of $4.1 million. The refunded bonds escrow agent has called all of the 
2002A, 2003A, and 2005A refunded bonds. Series 2007A bonds of $10 million will be called by the escrow agent on 
July 15, 2017.

6. Advance Refunding of General Obligation Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2001, 2002, 2004A, 2005, 2007, 
2008, and 2009

On January 26, 2010, the City issued $20.755 million of General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, 
Series 2009A and $78.875 million of General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2009B, which 
refunded all or portions of the 2001, 2002, 2004A, 2005, 2007, 2008, and 2009 Series General Obligation Public 
Improvement Bonds. The refunding bonds combined with $12 million in premiums to provide resources to purchase 
U.S. Government, State and Local Government Series securities that were placed in an irrevocable trust for the 
purpose of generating resources for all future debt service payments of $100 million of General Obligation Public 
Improvement Bonds. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed 
from the governmental activities column of the statement of net position. The reacquisition price exceeded the net 
carrying amount of the old debt currently held by $.37 million.  This difference was displayed as deferred outflows of 
resources. The remaining life of the refunded debt is equal to the life of the new debt issued. This advance refunding 
was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next 13 years by $8.03 million and resulted in an 
economic gain of $5.6 million. The refunded bonds escrow agent has called all of the 2001, 2002, 2004A, 2005, and 
2007 refunded bonds. The remaining refunded bonds will be called as follows: $18 million series 2008 on October 
1, 2017, and $10.8 million series 2009 bonds on June 1, 2019.  Escrowed refunded bonds outstanding to be called 
total $28.8 million.
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

D. A Summary of Annual Requirements to Amortize All Bonds and Notes Payable

Annual Debt Service requirements to maturity for General Obligation Bonds are as follows:

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest

2018 56,353,194$       26,064,480$       
2019 53,814,035         23,180,423         
2020 53,930,502         20,475,084         
2021 49,502,635         18,207,966         
2022 46,715,076         16,303,021         
2023-2027 193,861,390       53,118,708         
2028-2032 110,634,832       17,326,130         
2033-2037 30,835,000         2,053,700           

595,646,664$     176,729,512$     

Governmental Activities

Annual Debt Service requirements to maturity for Revenue Bonds are as follows:

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest

2018 10,560,728$           10,725,500$         
2019 11,010,276             10,276,964           
2020 11,480,000             9,796,029             
2021 11,960,000             9,310,620             
2022 12,465,000             8,804,901             
2023-2027 67,825,000             34,929,284           
2028-2032 57,035,000             20,609,865           
2033-2037 49,965,000             8,709,746             
2038-2043 22,275,000             1,395,678             

Totals 254,576,004$         114,558,587$       

Business-Type Activities

Annual Debt Service requirements to maturity for Public Facility Revenue Bonds are as follows:

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest

2018 25,226,160$       11,356,025$       7,413,840$         3,007,281$         
2019 26,011,160         10,142,817         7,138,840           2,665,739           
2020 26,735,881         8,966,243           7,299,119           2,353,289           
2021 25,535,715         7,606,387           7,704,285           1,975,370           
2022 25,818,500         6,339,806           8,296,500           1,592,350           

2023-2027 84,175,376         16,338,369         23,824,625         3,739,487           
2028-2032 33,410,100         5,595,236           6,474,900           915,290              
2033-2037 14,422,320         945,404              1,907,680           106,115              

261,335,212$     67,290,287$       70,059,789$       16,354,921$       

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

D. A Summary of Annual Requirements to Amortize All Bonds and Notes Payable (continued)

Debt service requirements for general obligation bonds are principally met by the General Fund. Also, for the 
Governmental Activities, Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Care, Federal Arbitrage Rebate (there are no set maturity 
dates for these liabilities) will be liquidated by the General Fund. Compensated absences (except School Board and most 
Proprietary Funds) will be liquidated by the General Fund. Internal Service Funds predominately serve the Governmental 
Funds. Accordingly, long-term liabilities for them are included as part of the above totals for Governmental Activities in 
Note 6A1.  Claims and Judgments are liquidated by the Risk Management Fund.

Interest expense incurred on the above noted debt for the year ended June 30, 2017, was $54,589,157.  Of this amount, 
$5,169,045 was capitalized in the Major Enterprise Funds and in the Business-Type Activities.

E. Agricultural Reserve Program

On May 9, 1995, City Council adopted an ordinance establishing the Agricultural Reserve Program (“ARP”). The primary 
purpose of the ordinance is to promote and encourage the preservation of farmland in the rural southern portion of the 
City. Through ARP, the City acquires development rights in designated areas within the southern portion of the City 
through the purchase of agricultural land preservation easements. Landowners who meet certain eligibility criteria may 
sell an easement to the City while holding fee simple title to the land and continuing to farm. The City acquires these 
development rights by executing installment purchase agreements with the landowners.

These agreements provide for the payment of the principal balance of the agreement in a single installment due 
approximately twenty-five years after execution of the agreement. Interest on the unpaid principal balance is payable semi-
annually.  On May 9, 1995, the City Council originally dedicated a one and one-half cent increase in the real estate tax to 
finance the program; on May 11, 2004, the City Council reduced this amount to one cent; on May 9, 2006 the City Council 
reduced the tax rate to nine tenths of one cent; and on May 12, 2015, the City Council reduced this amount to 56 one-
hundredths of one cent; and on May 9, 2017, the City Council increased this amount to nine tenths of one cent to preserve 
property in the Transition Area of the City and other Agricultural Reserve Program costs.

These obligations constitute indebtedness within the meaning of Article VII, Section 10 of the Virginia Constitution and 
will be general obligations of the City, pledging the full faith and credit and unlimited taxing power of the City. By policy,
interest and principal payments will be paid from a dedicated portion of real estate taxes.  Principal payments will be made 
from maturing zero coupon Treasury securities purchased from the dedicated portion of real estate taxes.

As of June 30, 2017, 97 installment purchase agreements totaling 9,584 acres at a total purchase price of $46,102,662 have 
been executed.

Annual Debt Service requirements to maturity for Agricultural Reserve Program:
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Year Ending  
June 30 Principal Interest

2018 -$                    2,374,569$         
2019 -                      2,374,569           
2020 -                      2,374,569           
2021 -                      2,374,569           
2022 2,211,066           2,356,507           
2023-2027 16,238,086         8,124,205           
2028-2032 6,092,414           5,206,975           
2033-2037 14,258,278         2,790,816           
2038-2043 7,302,818           671,991              

Totals 46,102,662$       28,648,770$       
6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

F. Legal Debt Margin

The Legal Debt Margin is a charter requirement which sets the upper limit on the amount of debt Virginia Beach may 
issue. At June 30, 2017, the legal debt margin was $4.8 billion. However, the City Council has adopted four affordability 
polices that restrict the amount of debt below the amount indicated by the “Legal Debt Margin”, including a ceiling of 
$3,000 debt per capita.

G. Water and Sewer Enterprise Revenue Bonds

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds are obligations of the City, payable solely from pledged revenues of the System (Water 
and Sewer Fund), subject to the prior application thereof to the payment of Operating Expenses. The City has pledged 
future water and sewer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay the following bond issues:

• $7.2 million in Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds issued in January 1997. The bonds are payable solely from water 
and sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2018. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds is $284,771.

• $5.8 million in Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds issued in August 1998. The bonds are payable solely from water 
and sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2019. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds is $878,080.

• $65 million in Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds issued in June 2010. The bonds are payable solely from water and 
sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2036. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds is $88,588,094.

• $8.4 million in Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds issued in June 2010. The bonds are payable solely from 
water and sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2022. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and 
interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $8,370,500.

• $24.9 million in Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds issued in June 2010. The bonds are payable solely 
from water and sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2028. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and 
interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $21,394,422.

• $44.9 million in Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds issued in November 2013. The bonds are payable solely from 
water and sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2039. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and 
interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $63,191,300.
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• $46.7 million in Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds issued in June 2017. The bonds are payable solely from water 
and sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2042. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds is $69,224,688.

• $42.9 million in Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds issued in June 2017. The bonds are payable solely 
from water and sewer customer net revenues and are payable through 2031. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and 
interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $54,627,638.

The aforementioned Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds were issued for rehabilitation of aging infrastructure, neighborhood 
improvement projects, system expansion, and roadway and storm water coordination projects adopted in the City's Capital 
Improvement Program. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the outstanding Water and Sewer Revenue 
Bonds is $306,559,493. The City will fix, charge, collect and revise its fees, rates and other charges for the use of and for 
the services furnished by the system so as to produce revenues sufficient to meet its cash requirements each fiscal year. 
Furthermore, the City will pursue the goal of debt service coverage on its water and sewer revenue bonds at not less than 
1.50 times. At June 30, 2017, the debt service coverage on the water and sewer revenue bonds is 3.5 times. The total 
principal and interest expense for the current year and total customer operating income (excluding depreciation) were 
$16,569,317 and $57,589,286, respectively.

6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

H. Storm Water Revenue Bonds

Storm Water Revenue Bonds are obligations of the City, payable solely from pledged revenues of the System (Storm 
Water Fund), subject to the prior application thereof to the payment of Operating Expenses. The City has pledged future 
storm water revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay the following bond issues:

• $20 million in Storm Water Revenue Bonds issued in November 2010. The bonds are payable solely from storm 
water customer net revenues and are payable through 2036. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds is $26,150,282.

• $7.4 million in Storm Water Revenue Bonds issued in November 2010. The bonds are payable solely from storm 
water customer net revenues and are payable through 2025. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds is $5,145,159.

• $23.5 million in Storm Water Revenue Bonds issued in January 2015. The bonds are payable solely from storm 
water customer net revenues and are payable through 2040. At June 30, 2017, the total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds is $31,279,659.

The aforementioned Storm Water Revenue Bonds were issued to address flood control, water quality and capital 
maintenance adopted in the City's Capital Improvement Program. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on 
the outstanding Storm Water Revenue Bonds is $62,575,100. The City will fix, charge, collect and revise its fees, rates 
and other charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the system so as to produce revenues sufficient to meet 
its cash requirements each fiscal year. Furthermore, the City will pursue the goal of debt service coverage on its storm 
water revenue bonds at not less than 1.50 times. At June 30, 2017, the debt service coverage on the storm water revenue 
bonds is 4.2 times. The total principal and interest expense for the current year and total customer operating income 
(excluding depreciation) were $3,408,804 and $14,396,190, respectively.

I. Debt Service Expenditures
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Principal* Interest and Fiscal
General Government City: Retirement Charges Total
General Obligation Bonds 59,124,860$        28,691,607$            87,816,467$       
State Literary Fund Loans 375,000               67,500                     442,500              
Public Facility Revenue Bonds 23,203,720          12,012,316              35,216,036         
Agriculture Reserve Program -                       2,316,354                2,316,354           
Bank Charges & Bond Issuance Costs -                       217,898                   217,898              

Total Tax Supported Debt Service 82,703,580$        43,305,675$            126,009,255$     

Principal* Interest and Fiscal
Retirement Charges Total

Enterprise Funds:
Revenue Bonds 9,512,707$          10,427,579$            19,940,286$       
Public Facility Revenue Bonds 6,291,280            3,390,155                9,681,435           
Bank Charges & Bond Issuance Costs -                       37,835                     37,835                

Total Enterprise Debt Service 15,803,987$        13,855,569$            29,659,556$       

Total Debt Service 98,507,567$        57,161,244$            155,668,811$     

* Excludes bonds refunded

6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

J. Accrued Compensated Leave

The accrued compensated leave is as follows at June 30, 2017:

Governmental Business-Type School Board
Activities Activities Component Unit Total

City - Annual 30,965,097$      3,869,166$          -$                     34,834,263$      
City - Compensatory 9,216,127          466,929               -                       9,683,056          
City - Sick 3,237,413          664,250               -                       3,901,663          
School - Annual -                     -                       10,229,141          10,229,141        
School - Sick -                     -                       8,446,006            8,446,006          
School - Personal -                     -                       1,976,814            1,976,814          

Total 43,418,637$      5,000,345$          20,651,961$        69,070,943$      

Primary Government

K. Authorized But Unissued Bonds
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Purpose June 30, 2017

General Obligation Debt:   
   2014 Charter Bonds 15,113,072$             
   2015 Charter Bonds 61,778,816               
   2015 Charter Bonds 70,800,000               
   2017 Charter Bonds 69,272,406               
       Total General Obligation Debt 216,964,294$           

Water and Sewer Debt:
   2013 W & S Revenue Bonds 5,682,666$               
   2014 W & S Revenue Bonds 27,000,000               

2015 W & S Revenue Bonds 20,000,000               
       Total Water and Sewer Debt 52,682,666$             

Storm Water Utility Revenue Bonds:
   2013 Storm Water Utility Revenue Bonds 11,748,440$             
   2014 Storm Water Utility Revenue Bonds 9,000,000                 
   2015 Storm Water Utility Revenue Bonds 16,656,167               
   2015 Storm Water Utility Revenue Bonds 15,977,102               
   2017 Storm Water Utility Revenue Bonds 30,143,013               
       Total Storm Water Utility Debt 83,524,722$             
       Total Authorized and Unissued Debt - June 30, 2017 353,171,682$           

L. Revenue Covenants

Management believes the City is in compliance with all significant financial covenants contained in the various bond 
indentures, including those found in the Master Resolution adopted February 1992, as amended and supplemented, for the 
Water & Sewer Revenue Bonds.

M. Notes Payable - Discretely Presented Component Unit Community Development Corporation

Various mortgage loan agreements and notes payable with interest at 3.25% to 7.1%,
collateralized by real property. 21,310,426$        

6. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

N. Compliance

Management believes the City has no violations of finance related legal and contractual provisions.

O. Public Facility Revenue Bonds and Associated VBDA Support Agreements

 The Virginia Beach Development Authority (VBDA), a blended component unit of the City, issued Public Facility 
Revenue Bonds (PFRB), Series 2005B, and 2007A & B, to finance the acquisition of three public parking garages and 
appurtenant structures for the Town Center Project - Phase II and III. VBDA issued 2014A Public Facility Revenue 
Bonds and paid $20.5 million (includes premium) to purchase the Block 11 garage in Town Center Phase V during 
FY2014. These bonds are limited obligations of the Authority, payable from certain payments to be made by the City 
pursuant to a Support Agreement dated June 1, 2002, as amended.

The Authority issued Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2010B & C, Series 2012B, 2014B, 2015B, and 2016B to
advance refund certain maturities of the previously issued PFRB's series 2002A, 2003A, 2005A, 2007A, 2005B, 2007B 
and its 1998 Lease Revenue Bonds.
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A portion of the Public Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2003, 2005A, 2007A, 2010A, Series 2012A, and 2014A was 
used to finance acquisition and construction of various capital improvements in the City of Virginia Beach.

The obligation of the City is subject to annual appropriation by the City Council and therefore, these bonds do not constitute 
a general obligation debt of the City or a pledge of the full faith and credit of the City. The bonds are limited obligations 
of the Authority, payable solely from payments made by the City pursuant to a Support Agreement dated September 1, 
2003, as supplemented and amended.  

7. ASSETS AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASES

Operating Leases Governmental Activities

Social Services Facility

The City is leasing the Social Services Facility through a financing arrangement with the Virginia Beach Development 
Authority.   Under the arrangement, the Authority issued $9,800,000 in tax-exempt Lease Revenue Bonds to finance the 
Facility.  In June 2012, the remaining balance of the Lease Revenue Bonds for Social Services was refinanced with a 
public facility revenue bond.

The leasing arrangement allows additional rent of $50,000 to be paid semi-annually to be placed in a reserve to be used as 
needed for capital and structural improvements, maintenance and repair of the facility.

8. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Custodial credit risk – All cash of the City including the School Board Component Unit (excluding the School Board Activity 
Funds) is maintained in accounts collateralized in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act, Section 2.2-
4400 et. seq. of the  Code of Virginia or covered by Federal depository insurance.

The City has compensating balance arrangements with two financial institutions.  Bank of America provides services to the 
City while a $3.5 million balance is maintained in a demand deposit account.  A fluctuating checking balance based on monthly
investment services is a requirement of Branch Banking & Trust (BB&T).

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting
principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure fair value of the assets. Level 1 inputs are quoted 
prices in an active market for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are 
significant unobservable inputs (the City does not value any of its investments using level 3 inputs).

8. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

As of June 30, 2017, the City had the following recurring investments.  Except for the investments in the State Non Arbitrage 
Program (SNAP), Virginia Investment Pool (VIP), and Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), all investments are in an 
internal investment pool.
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Quoted Prices in Significant Significant
Active Markets for Other Other Weighted

Identical Assets Observable Unobservable Average
Inputs Inputs Maturities

6/30/2017 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level3) (in months)
Investments at Fair Value:
Money Market funds 10,000,000$           -$                         10,000,000$        -$                         0.02
Commercial Paper  45,857,199             -                           45,857,199          -                           0.21
U. S. Government Securities 79,500,000             -                           79,500,000          -                           0.12

135,357,199$         -$                         135,357,199$      -$                         

Investments Measured at other than Fair Value:
Certificates of Deposits 80,000,000$           0.72
State Non Arbitrage Program – SNAP 21,679,965             0.03
State Treasurer's Local Government Pool (LGIP) 405,000,000           0.61
Virginia Investment Pool (VIP) 10,252,249             
Virginia Investment Pool (VIP) - Liquidity Pool 10,064,084             0.02
Total Fair Value 526,996,298$         

Total Investments 662,353,497$         
Portfolio Weighted Average Maturity 0.49

Reconciliation of total deposits and investments to the government-wide financial statements at June 30, 2017:
School Board

Primary Component 
Government Unit Total

Cash and Investments 401,681,643$            137,931,396$         539,613,039$        
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 466,686,683              -                         466,686,683          
Fiduciary Funds 359,776                     18,157,437             18,517,213            
     Total 868,728,102$            156,088,833$         1,024,816,935$     

     Less:  Cash on Deposit (362,463,438)         
662,353,497$             Total Market Value of Investments at June 30, 2017

The City has investments in U. S. Government securities valued at $79.5 million (Level 2 inputs).  These investments are 
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and are valued using matrix pricing techniques maintained by various pricing
vendors.  Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices. Fair value
is defined as the quoted market value on the last trading day of the period. These prices are obtained from various pricing
sources by our custodian bank.

Investments in Money Market Funds (Level 2 inputs) and Commercial Paper (Level 2 inputs) are classified in Level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy and are valued in accordance with pricing sources by our custodian bank.

The remaining investments, measured in accordance with existing GASB standards and at amortized costs, totaled 
$526,996,298 at June 30, 2017. Investments within the SNAP Investment Pool are held there to meet the debt service reserve 
requirements of the bond covenants and therefore cannot be withdrawn for any other purpose.  Investments within the Local 
Government Investment Pool (LGIP) have no restrictions on withdrawals and can be obtained upon demand.   Investments 
in the Virginia Investment Pool (VIP) fall within two primary funds, 1-3 Year High Quality Bond Fund and Stable NAV 
Liquidity Pool.  The 1-3 High Quality Bond Fund redemptions are available twice a month and participants are required to 
provide 5 days’ notice.  Redemptions greater than $5 million are requested to be submitted 60 days in advance and if the 
redemption is greater than 10% of the portfolio’s net asset value without the 60 days’ notice, the redemption can be executed 
over time.  The Stable NAV Liquidity Pool has no restrictions on withdrawals and funds are available the same day.

A-69



CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

8. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

Interest Rate Risk:

As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value loses arising from rising interest rates, the City’s investment policy limits 
maximum final stated maturities of investments to five years.  In addition, the City will structure the investment portfolio so 
that securities mature to meet cash requirements and by investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities.

Investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustees are governed by provisions of the debt agreements.  Reverse and escrow 
funds may be invested in securities exceeding five years to maturity if the maturities of such investments are made to coincide 
as nearly as practicable with the expected use of the funds. 

The City assumes all investments will be held until maturity or until called at their par value. However, an investment may be
sold at an earlier date to meet certain obligations or if the investment’s credit quality drops. This makes the City’s investments 
sensitive to market rate fluctuations. To mitigate the impact of market rate fluctuations, the City maintains enough liquidity to 
meet its short-term needs with a smaller portion invested in long-term government-sponsored organizations and high-quality 
corporate notes.

Credit Risk:

Credit risk is the risk an investor is subject to as a result of the credit quality of investments in debt securities.  Statutes as well 
as the City’s investment policy authorize the City to invest in obligations of the United States or agencies thereof; the 
Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivisions thereof; obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (World Bank); the Asian Development Bank; the African Development Bank; commercial paper rated A-1 by
Standard & Poor's Corporation or P-1 by Moody's Commercial Paper Record; bankers’ acceptance instruments; repurchase 
agreements which are collateralized with securities approved for direct investment; State Treasurer’s Local Government 
Investment Pool (LGIP); and corporate notes with at least a rating of Aa by Moody's or AA by Standard and Poor's.

The LGIP is an externally managed investment pool that is not registered with the Securities Exchange Commission but is 
managed as a “2a-7 like pool”.  Pursuant to the Code of Virginia, the Treasury Board of the Commonwealth sponsors the LGIP 
and has delegated certain functions to the State Treasurer. The LGIP reports to the Treasury Board at their regularly scheduled 
monthly meetings. The LGIP values portfolio securities by the amortized cost method and on a monthly basis this valuation is 
compared to current market to monitor any variance. The fair value of the City’s position in the pool is the same as the value
of the pool shares.

Custodial Credit Risks Investments – For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of a failure of the counterparty, the 
City will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
The City requires that all investments be clearly marked as to ownership and to the extent possible, be registered in the name 
of the City. In addition, the City pre-qualifies the financial institutions, brokers/dealers, intermediaries and advisors with which 
the City will do business.

The City’s rated debt investments as of June 30, 2017 were rated by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s and/or an equivalent 
national rating organization and the ratings are presented below using the respective rating scale from both agencies.

AAA A1/P1/F1+

State Treasurer's Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) 405,000,000$       -$                      
U. S.  Government Securities 79,500,000           -                        
State Non Arbitrage Program (SNAP) 21,679,965           -                        

Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk represents the risk of investments in any one issue that represents 
five percent or more of investments.  The City’s investment policy limits the amount it can invest in commercial paper and 
bankers’ acceptance instruments.  By policy, investments in commercial paper are limited to 35% of the total available for 
investment, and not more than 5% of the total available for investment can be invested in any one issuing corporation.  Bankers’ 
acceptance instruments shall not exceed 50% of the total investment portfolio’s book value on the date of acquisition.
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8. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

At June 30, 2017, investments in bankers’ acceptance instruments and U.S. Government Securities are recorded at fair value.  
All other investments are reported utilizing amortized cost due to maturity dates less than one year.  The fair valuing of bankers’ 
acceptance instruments and U.S. Government Securities at June 30, 2017 resulted in a net increase of $701,048.

All City and School Board Funds participate in a centralized cash and investment pool. Interest earnings on investments are 
allocated to the appropriate funds based upon the average monthly cash balance of each fund. As of June 30, 2017 $939 in
interest income from investments associated with one fund was assigned to another fund.

9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A. Litigation

The City is a named defendant in litigation filed by parties concerning alleged personal injuries, property damage, and 
other causes of action.  The City is vigorously defending all cases and expects no losses will be incurred which would have 
a material effect on the City's financial position.

B. Intergovernmental Grants, Entitlements, and Shared Revenues

The City participates in a number of federal and state grants, entitlements, and shared revenues programs. These programs 
are subject to program compliance audits by the applicable federal or state agency or their representatives.  

Furthermore, the U.S. Congress passed legislation called the "Single Audit Act Amendment of 1996" which required most 
governmental recipients of federal assistance to have an annual independent organization-wide financial and compliance 
audit.  The results thereof are incorporated in this report. The amounts, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed 
by these audits cannot be determined at this time although the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

C. City Manager Employment Contract

On January 26, 2016 City Council appointed David L. Hansen as City Manager for the City. Mr. Hansen’s contract is for 
the period January 26, 2016 to January 31, 2018.

D. Salaries Payable

The outstanding School Board Component Unit Funds' amount represents salaries due (2 months) to school teachers who 
have opted to be paid over a twelve-month period, and to substitute and supplemental school personnel.

E. Landfill Closure and Environmental Trust Fund Claims

On August 8, 1984, the City entered into two agreements with Southeastern Public Service Authority of Virginia (SPSA).  
Under the first agreement, which continues until January 2018, the City agreed to use SPSA's solid waste disposal system 
to dispose of solid waste generated within and collected by the City.  For this service, the City agreed to pay tipping fees 
to SPSA.

Under the second agreement, which expired December 31, 2015, the City agreed to accept at its sanitary landfill ash and 
process residue generated by SPSA's refuse derived fuel processing plant.  For these disposal services, SPSA agreed to 
pay the City the reasonable costs incurred in operating the landfill, including all operating costs as well as capital 
expenditures relative to regulatory compliance. Federal and State laws and regulations require that a final cover be placed 
on the landfill site when it stops accepting waste and to perform maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for 30 
years after closure.

The total remaining capacity as of the end of Calendar Year 2016 of the developed cells at the landfill is 1.84 million tons. 
Future development will increase the total landfill capacity to 5.4 million tons. The City used 3.597 million tons prior to 
the date of the agreements (August 1984). Total usage to date has been estimated at 8.2 million tons. Estimated remaining 
life of the landfill is 24 years.
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9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

E. Landfill Closure and Environmental Trust Fund Claims (continued)

To date, approximately 80 percent of the developed landfill has been used. Based on a 2012 study, the present value of the 
estimated cost for both closure and post-closure care is $25,874,700, an amount based on landfill capacity used to date.
Until another cell of the landfill is opened, no additional estimated closure and post-closure care costs will be recognized, 
except for the effects of inflation, changes in estimates, changes in technology or changes in laws or regulations. This 
amount is reflected in the government-wide financial statements.  

These estimates are subject to adjustment for inflation and to account for any changes in landfill conditions, regulatory 
requirements, technologies, or cost estimates.  The City is required by law to submit a worksheet that demonstrates the 
ability to fund landfill closure and post-closure care costs.

The Environmental Trust Funds were established through agreements between the City, Suffolk and SPSA which include 
the Suffolk Environmental Trust fund and the Virginia Beach Environmental Trust Fund.  The purpose of these accounts 
are to provide for all costs relating to legal suits and other similar claim activity relating to environmental pollution that
are made against the Regional Landfill and the Virginia Beach Landfill during a 30-year period after cessation of each 
landfill’s operation.  The City’s proportionate share of the funds, held by SPSA, total $289,908 as of June 30, 2017.

F. Water Services Contract

The City and Norfolk have entered into a Water Services Contract effective July 1, 1993 expiring in the year 2030.  The 
Services Contract establishes engineering, water quality, and operational standards for Norfolk to receive, convey, treat, 
and deliver Lake Gaston water to the City. Norfolk is required to reset rates every two years based upon a cost of services 
study performed by an independent consulting firm that compares projected versus actual water expenses.  On a biennial 
basis an adjustment is made based upon the actual costs incurred in the previous two years. 

G. Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, the recording of purchase orders, contracts, and other monetary commitments in order to reserve 
an applicable portion of an appropriation is used as an extension of formal budgetary control by the City. At June 30, 2017
the City had outstanding encumbrances as follows:

General Fund

   General Government 1,490,885$                     
   Computer Replacement Program 1,101,765                       

Cultural Activities 227,042                          
   Information Technology 1,359,293                       

Planning 343,158                          
Sandler Center for the Performing Arts 1,690,061                       

   Police 430,970                          
   Public Works 2,490,116                       

Parks and Recreation 390,505                          
   Vehicle Replacement 665,027                          
     Total General Fund 10,188,822$                   
Capital Projects Fund
   Engineering and Highways 74,899,311$                   
   Buildings 34,595,587                     
   Parks and Recreation 4,964,798                       
   Coastal 1,100,809                       
   Economic and Tourism 45,481,642                     
     Total Capital Projects Fund 161,042,147$                 
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 2,091,163                       
     Total 173,322,132$                 
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10. TAX ABATEMENTS

Tourism Development Financing Program 
(TDFP)

Cavalier 

1) Purpose of Program

Provides incentive payment annually of  "but for" 
project revenues after a  project is operational 
and has paid sales taxes.  This annual incentive 
payment is to assist in closing a financing gap 
between debt and equity a developer currently 
has and the total financing required by a tourism 
project.

Incentive program providing partial tax exemption 
for new businesses, and will foster business 
development and encourage entrepreneurialism. 

Developed to meet the requirements of the Base 
Realignment and Closure (BRAC) Commission to 
protect our citizens and keep the Navy's East 
Coast master jet base, Naval Air Station (NAS) 
Oceana, in Virginia Beach. Consists of zoning 
ordinances and incentives to foster the conversion 
of nonconforming businesses in APZ-1 into 
conforming ones and relocating ones that cannot 
be converted to another part of Virginia Beach.

2) Tax being abated.

1% local sales tax Business License Tax Real Estate Tax; Business License Tax and Fees

3) Authority under 
which abatement 
agreements are 
entered into.

VA Code 58.1-3851.1
City Code Chapter 35.4

City Code Chapter 18.202-208 VA Code 58.1-3220.1 and 58.1-3221
Ord. No. 2786, 9-23-03; Ord. No. 2932, 3-28-
06
VB Code 35-72.1, 35.2-11

4) Criteria to be 
eligible to receive 
abatement.

Capital investment greater than $30 million and 
taxable sales greater than $1 million annually.  
Compensates for a shortfall in project funding, not 
to exceed 30% of a qualified project's total cost.

A qualifying business that locates in the City of 
Virginia Beach for the first time and anticipates 
gross receipts greater than $100K.

The assessed value after the rehabilitation, 
renovation, or replacement of the structure shall 
be at least 20% greater than the base assessed 
value; for commercial or industrial use; consistent 
with the City's Comprehensive Plan and Zoning 
Ordinances; result in conversion of a 
nonconforming use to a conforming use.

5) How recipients’ 
taxes are reduced.

Through sales tax rebate/incentive payment based 
on generated sales.

Pay maximum license fee of $50 for the first 2 
calendar years. 

Credit on tax bill, rebate, and reimbursements of 
fees. All last 15 years. 

6) How amount of 
abatement is 
determined.

1) 1% of local sales tax  generated on-premise is 
paid to developer by the City as an incentive 
payment - total of $8.17M                                    
2) 1% of state sales tax generated on-premise  is 
paid to developer by the State as an incentive 
payment - total of $8.17M                                    
3)1% developer access fee that is paid to the 
state is provided to the developer as an incentive 
payment - total of $8.17M

Business License Tax reduced to $50. The difference between the taxes computed upon 
the base value and the initial rehabilitated 
assessed value of the property for each year of 
the partial exemption from real estate taxes; credit 
shall not increase.
90% of business license taxes imposed by 
Chapter 18. 

7) Provisions for 
recapturing abated 
taxes.

N/A N/A N/A

8) Types of 
commitments made by 
the City other than to 
reduce taxes.

1) Economic Development Investment Program 
Grant - $8.2M (FY14)                                         
2) Green Space/Historic Preservation Easement - 
$2.37M  (FY14)                                                 
3) Cavalier Drive Improvements - $2.45M 
(FY14 and FY17)                                                
4) Annual Grants based on increased Real Estate 
Tax Revenues - capped at $5M it total; not yet 
paid

Eligible for Economic Development Investment 
Program Grant:                                                     
FY17 - $250,097                                                 
FY16 - $185,059 

Eligible for Economic Development Investment 
Program Grant:                                                     
FY17 - $109,517                                                 
FY16 - $144,100

9) Gross dollar 
amount, on accrual 
basis, by which the 
City’s tax revenues 
were reduced as a 
result of abatement 
agreement.

Project is not yet operational so no real estate tax 
or sales tax rebates have been made at this time.

FY17 - $541,215                                                 
FY16 - $489,874

Business License Tax:                                           
FY17 - $50,320                                                   
FY16 - $61,460                                                   
No Real Estate Taxes have been credited to-date

Virginia Beach Tax 
Abatement Disclosure as 

required by Statement 
No. 77 of the 
Governmental 

Accounting Standards 
Business License Incentive Program (BPOL) Yes Oceana APZ-1 Incentives

Programs Administered by City of Virginia Beach
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10. TAX ABATEMENTS (continued)

Field House 25th Street Parking Garage and iFLY

1) Purpose of Program

To attract creative industries to the City, new 
establishments at which creative activities area 
carried on, establish framework for broadening 
economic development through creative 
endeavors, and to encourage creative activities at 
existing venues.

The Virginia Beach Field House is a 175,000 sf 
Indoor Multipurpose Field House Venue opened 
in September 2010.  It is located in the Princess 
Anne Athletic Complex filling a need for 
recreational facilities. Eastern Sports Management 
operates the facility. Private investment was 
$15.7 million and included a ground lease from 
the City (percentage rent of 5% for annual sales 
over $5.5 million).   

The City partnered with a private company to 
develop a unique tourism amenity to provide 
public parking in the resort area.  The project 
includes a public garage, and privately owned 
entertainment facility and apartments.  The project 
is aligned with Council’s Resort Strategic Action 
Plan (2008) for year-round entertainment, a year-
round residential development/presence, and 
public parking.  The Venue opened in 2016 and 
had private investment of $21.66 million.

2) Tax being abated.

Real Estate Tax; Business License Tax and Fees Real Estate Tax Admissions Tax

3) Authority under 
which abatement 
agreements are 
entered into.

VB Code Section 9-1. through 9-9.
Ord. No. 3402

Development Agreement approved by City 
Council

Virginia Public-Private Education Facilities and 
Infrastructure Act of 2002 

4) Criteria to be 
eligible to receive 
abatement.

Being a qualifying organization including one that 
is intended for unique production of works 
created by artists, a museum, theater, entity 
engaged in architecture, culinary arts, design, film, 
publishing, and software development, etc.; and 
shall be physically located within a Creative 
District designated by the City Council.

The project's comprehensive agreement was 
approved by City Council February 2010.

The project's comprehensive agreement was 
approved by City Council February 2013.

5) How recipients’ 
taxes are reduced.

Credit on bill for real estate tax. Through 
reimbursement of business, professional, and 
occupational license taxes. Reimbursement of 
fees.

Company receives a rebate/incentive payment. Company receives a rebate/incentive payment.

6) How amount of 
abatement is 
determined.

Real estate credit is amount equal to the greater 
of initial increase in assessed value of the structure 
above its base value resulting from the 
rehabilitation of the structure or an amount equal 
to fifty percent of the qualifying costs of 
rehabilitating the structure, for 10 years.  
Entitled to reimbursement for up to 10 years of 
BPOL taxes.  Total reimbursement of fees if 
qualified. 

100 % of annual real estate taxes, paid to the city 
are rebated back as an incentive payment "but for 
revenues" for the first 10 years.

90% of admission taxes remitted to the city are 
rebated back as an incentive payment "but for 
revenues" until a total of $1.6 million have been 
returned.

7) Provisions for 
recapturing abated 
taxes.

N/A N/A N/A

8) Types of 
commitments made by 
the City other than to 
reduce taxes.

Eligible for Economic Development Investment 
Program Grant

N/A The City sold the 25th Street parking lot to the 
developer for $7.65 million. After the developer 
built 147 apartment units, 2,500 square feet of 
retail space, “iFly” entertainment facility, and a 
565-space garage, the City purchased the 
parking garage for $7.65 million. Also, the City 
contributed approximately $250,000 towards 
landscaping and $586,000 for streetscape 
improvements.

9) Gross dollar 
amount, on accrual 
basis, by which the 
City’s tax revenues 
were reduced as a 
result of abatement 
agreement.

There is currently only one qualifying 
establishment under this program and due to 
Virginia Law this amount cannot be disclosed, 
therefor it is included with the amount in APZ-1.

FY17 - $145,643                                                 
FY16 - $153,112

FY17 - $85,839                                                   
FY16 - $98,345

Virginia Beach Tax 
Abatement Disclosure as 

required by Statement 
No. 77 of the 
Governmental 

Accounting Standards 
ViBE Creative District

Programs Administered by City of Virginia Beach

Public Private Partnerships
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11. INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS, FUND RESULTS AND RECONCILIATIONS

A. Interfund Transfers

Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2017 were made up of the following:

Nonmajor
General Nonmajor Parking

Transfer To: Fund Governmental Enterprise Total
General Fund -$                  20,160,315$     -$               20,160,315$         
Capital Projects Fund 26,940,842       20,412,622       850,000          48,203,464           
Storm Water Fund 1,310,000         29,873              -                 1,339,873             
Waste Management 10,062,505       -                    -                 10,062,505           
Nonmajor Governmental 82,591,949       2,745,569         104,697          85,442,215           
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds 4,429                37,250              -                 41,679                  
Internal Service Funds 1,800,000         -                    -                 1,800,000             

Total 122,709,725$   43,385,629$     954,697$        167,050,051$       

Purpose:

Transfers From General Fund:

$ 26,940,842 Capital Projects Fund: Funding for Pay-As-You-Go Capital Projects Fund.
1,310,000

10,062,505
Stormwater Fund: Funding for support of Capital Projects.
Waste Management Fund: Funding for support of Waste Management with loss of SPSA.

82,591,949 Nonmajor Governmental Funds: Funding for Special Revenue programs and Debt Fund.
         4,429 Nonmajor Enterprise Fund: Funding for Parking support.

1,800,000 Internal Service Funds: For Risk Management support.

Transfers From Nonmajor Governmental Funds:

$ 20,160,315 General Fund: Special Revenue Funds, primarily surplus funds from Sandbridge TIF and Multimodal.
20,412,622 Capital Projects Fund: Funding for Pay-As-You Go capital projects. 

29,873 Storm Water Fund: Funding for support of Storm Water operations.
2,745,569 Nonmajor Governmental Funds: Funding for support of existing programs

37,250 Nonmajor Enterprise Funds: Funding for Parking support.

Transfer From Nonmajor Enterprise Fund:

$ 850,000 Capital Project Funds: Economic and Tourism.
104,697 Nonmajor Governmental Funds: Funding for support of existing programs.

B. Net Position Deficit

The following Primary Government fund has a deficit balance in equity at June 30, 2017:

Proprietary Funds:
Risk Management Fund 22,232,614$       
City Garage 52,648$             
School Site Landscaping 613,008$           

The deficit in the Risk Management Fund represents the actuarially estimated liability for future claims. The rate structure 
for the Risk Management Fund is continually being evaluated for adjustments thereto.

The deficit in the City Garage and School Site Landscaping Funds are a result of the recognition of their share of June 30, 
2017 Pension Liability. The respective rate structure will be evaluated for future adjustments.
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11. INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS, FUND RESULTS AND RECONCILIATIONS (continued)

C. Accounting Changes, Restatements and Fund Combinations

The City adopted GASB Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Plans other than Pension Plans for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. Implementation of GASB 74 required the reporting of Other Postemployment Benefits 
(OPEB) that are administered through Trusts.  Prior to this implementation the City was reporting the total Assets and 
Liabilities for both the City and School Board’s OPEB trust funds. To ensure transparency in reporting both the City and 
School Board will be reporting their respective information separately necessitating the restatement of prior period net 
position for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016.

12. RISK MANAGEMENT

A. Primary Government Self-Insurance Program

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and 
omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The City is also exposed to the risk of loss for employee medical 
benefits. These benefits are accounted for in the School Health Insurance Internal Service Fund. This fund accounts for 
and finances this joint self-insured program between the City and the School Board. During Fiscal Year 1973, the City 
established a Risk Management Fund (an internal service Fund) to account for and finance its uninsured risks of loss.  
Under this program, the Risk Management Fund provides coverage for up to a maximum of $1,250,000 for each workers’ 
compensation claim, $2,000,000 for each general and auto liability claim, $50,000 for each fire and property claim, and 
$2,000,000 for each public officials (errors and omissions) claim.  The insurance coverage for each major category of risk
is the same as those reported in the prior fiscal year. There have not been any reductions in commercial insurance coverage 
from the prior year and the amount of settlements applied against this coverage in each of the past three years did not 
exceed the commercial insurance.  The City has $10 million of excess insurance coverage per claim and $20 million 
aggregate.

All funds of the City participate in the program (except for School Board Component Unit Funds) and make payments to 
the Risk Management Fund based on normal underwriting criteria and each agency’s loss experience.  The City uses an 
actuary to aid in the determination of self-insurance liabilities.

The estimated claims and judgments liability of $37,732,500 reported in the Fund at June 30, 2017 is based on the 
requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 10, which requires that a liability for claims 
be reported if information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has 
been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The City 
prepares a biannual update of the actuarial liability and believes the estimates contained in its latest actuarial analysis, 
dated June 30, 2017, substantially reflects estimated claims and judgments for the period ending June 30, 2017.

Beginning  Claims & Changes Claims Balance at
Liability  in Estimates Payments Year-End

2015-2016 30,857,594$           11,519,552$              11,276,936$           31,100,210$          
2016-2017 31,100,210$           18,305,526$              11,673,236$           37,732,500$          

B. School Board Self-Insurance Program

The School Board is self-insured for a portion of its risks. This self-insurance coverage for Fire and Property Insurance is 
$100,000 per occurrence and 1% of the total insured value of the damaged covered property when such loss or damage 
results from a named storm (minimum deductible - $250,000 per occurrence); Boiler and Machinery is $10,000 per 
occurrence; School Leaders Liability (errors and omissions) is $350,000 per occurrence; Student Professional & 
International Travel Liability coverage is $2,250,000 per claim; Crime (Employee Dishonesty) coverage is $1,000 per 
occurrence; Environmental Impairment and Cyber Liability coverage has a $1,000,000 limit per occurrence; General 
Liability and Wrongful Act coverage is $350,000 per occurrence; Automobile Liability coverage (engine on) is $450,000 
per occurrence; Automobile Physical Damage coverage (engine off) is $60,000 per occurrence; General and Automobile 
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12. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

B. School Board Self-Insurance Program (continued)

Liability has a $4,000,000 excess limit per occurrence; and Workers’ Compensation Excess coverage is $850,000 per 
claim.

Commercial insurance is purchased to cover the amount in excess of the above self-insured levels for specific losses.  
When economically feasible, commercial insurance is purchased to cover certain exposures completely. The amount of 
settlements did not exceed insurance coverage for each of the past three fiscal years. The insurance coverage is 
substantially the same as in prior fiscal years.

Claims processing and payments for all insurance claims are made through commercial carriers and third-party 
administrators.  The School Board uses the information provided by the third-party administrators to aid in the 
determination of self-insurance liabilities. The computed liability as of June 30, 2017 is $7,367,000 (undiscounted) as 
follows:

Beginning -of Current-Year Balance at
Fiscal Fiscal-Year Claims & Changes Claims Fiscal
Year Liability  in Estimates Payments Year-End

2015-2016 8,590,000$             5,052,000$                6,088,000$             7,554,000$            
2016-2017 7,554,000$             5,837,000$                6,024,000$             7,367,000$            

Effective January 1, 2000, the School Board established a self-insured health care benefits program for all School 
Board and City employees. Certain claims expenses paid on behalf of each employee during a single policy year are 
covered by excess loss insurance with a specific stop-loss limit of $600,000. The amount of settlements did not exceed 
insurance coverage for each of the past three fiscal years. Claims processing and payments for all health care claims are
made through third-party administrators. The School Board uses the information provided by the third-party administrators 
and a health care benefits consultant to aid in the determination of self-insurance liabilities. The computed liability as of 
June 30, 2017 is $7,324,000 (undiscounted), as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal-Year Claims & Changes Claims Fiscal
Year Liability  in Estimates Payments Year-End

2015-2016 8,528,000$             132,638,000$            133,627,000$         7,539,000$            
2016-2017 7,539,000$             132,594,000$            132,809,000$         7,324,000$            

C. Surety Bonds

All City employees, including employees of elected constitutional officers (Commissioner of the Revenue, Treasurer, 
Commonwealth's Attorney, Sheriff, Clerk of the Circuit Court), are bonded in favor of the City in the amount of 
$1,000,000.  This bond is written by the Travelers Insurance Company.

The Commonwealth of Virginia has secured a blanket bond for the City Treasurer and Finance Director ($1,600,000)
Commissioner of Revenue ($3,000) and the Sheriff ($30,000) which covers the bonds required by law or contract for the 
position they hold.  The bond is written by Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America.

The Commonwealth of Virginia also provides coverage through the “Faithful Performance of Duty Bond Plan” in the 
amount of $500,000 for the constitutional officers.  This does take the place of a separate bond required by law or contract.

All School Board employees are covered by a faithful performance bond in the amount of $100,000 to protect the School 
Board in the event of fraudulent acts.
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13. RETIREMENT

A. Virginia Retirement System

Plan Description

Name of Plan: Virginia Retirement System (VRS)
Identification of Plan: Agent and Cost-Sharing, Multiple Employer Pension Plan
Administering Entity: Virginia Retirement System (System)

Plan Description

The City and School Board Nonprofessional (non-teacher) are a separate cost-sharing pool within VRS, and makes 
contributions based on rates set by VRS’s actuarial calculations of the annual required contributions.  All full-time, salaried 
permanent employees of the City and School Board are automatically covered by VRS Retirement Plan upon employment. 
This plan is administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the System) along with plans for other employer groups in
the Commonwealth of Virginia. Members earn one month of service credit for each month they are employed and for
which they and their employer are pay contributions to VRS. Members are eligible to purchase prior service, based on
specific criteria a defined in the Code of Virginia, as amended. Eligible prior service that may be purchased includes prior
public service, active military service, certain periods of leave, and previously refunded service.

Within the VRS Plan, the System administers three different benefit structures for covered employees – Plan 1, Plan 2, and,
Hybrid. Each of these benefit structures has a different eligibility criteria. The specific information for each plan and the
eligibility for covered groups within each plan are set out in the table below:
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13. RETIREMENT (continued)

A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

PLAN 1 PLAN 2
HYBRID

RETIREMENT PLAN

About Plan 1:
Plan 1 is a defined benefit plan.
The retirement benefit is based on a
member’s age, creditable service
and average final compensation at
retirement using a formula.
Employees are eligible for Plan 1 if
their membership date is before
July 1, 2010, and they were vested
as of January 1, 2013.

About Plan 2:
Plan 2 is a defined benefit plan.
The retirement benefit is based on a
member’s age, creditable service
and average final compensation at
retirement using a formula.
Employees are eligible for Plan 2 if
their membership date is on or after
July 1, 2010, or their membership
date is before July 1, 2010, and they
were not vested as of January 1, 2013.

About the Hybrid Retirement
Plan:
The Hybrid Retirement Plan
combines the features of a defined 
benefit plan and a defined 
contribution plan. Most members
hired on or after January 1, 2014 are
in this plan, as well as Plan 1 and
Plan 2 members who were eligible
and opted into the plan during a
special election window. (see
“Eligible Members”)

• The defined benefit is based on a
member’s age, creditable service
and average final compensation at
retirement using a formula.
• The benefit from the defined 
contribution component of the plan
depends on the member and
employer contributions made to the
plan and the investment
performance of those
contributions.
• In addition to the monthly
benefit payment payable from the 
defined benefit plan at retirement,
a member may start receiving
distributions from the balance in
the defined contribution account,
reflecting the contributions,
investment gains or losses, and any
required fees.

Eligible Members:
Employees are in Plan 1 if their
membership date is before July 1,
2010, and they were vested as of
January 1, 2013.

Eligible Members:
Employees are in Plan 2 if their
membership date is on or after July 1,
2010, or their membership date is
before July 1, 2010, and they were not
vested as of January 1, 2013.

Eligible Members:
Employees are in the Hybrid
Retirement Plan if their 
membership date is on or after
January 1, 2014. This includes:

• Political subdivision employees*
• Members in Plan 1 or Plan 2 who
elected to opt into the plan during
the election window held January
1-April 30, 2014; the plan’s
effective date for opt-in members
was July 1, 2014.
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13. RETIREMENT (continued)

A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Hybrid Opt-In Election:
VRS non-hazardous duty covered
Plan 1 members were allowed to
make an irrevocable decision to opt
into the Hybrid Retirement Plan
during a special election window
held January 1 through April 30,
2014.

The Hybrid Retirement Plan’s 
effective date for eligible Plan 1
members who opted in was July
1, 2014.

If eligible deferred members
returned to work during the
election window, they were also
eligible to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan.

Members who were eligible for an
optional retirement plan (ORP) and
had prior service under Plan 1 were
not eligible to elect the Hybrid
Retirement Plan and remain as Plan
1 or ORP.

Hybrid Opt-In Election:
Eligible Plan 2 members were
allowed to make an irrevocable
decision to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan during a special 
election window held January 1
through April 30, 2014.

The Hybrid Retirement Plan’s 
effective date for eligible Plan 2
members who opted in was July
1, 2014.

If eligible deferred members
returned to work during the
election window, they were also
eligible to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan.

Members who were eligible for an
optional retirement plan (ORP) and
have prior service under Plan 2
were not eligible to elect the
Hybrid Retirement Plan and remain
as Plan 2 or ORP.

*Non-Eligible Members:
Some employees are not eligible
to participate in the Hybrid
Retirement Plan. They include:

• Political subdivision employees
who are covered by enhanced 
benefits for hazardous duty
employees.

Those employees eligible for an 
optional retirement plan (ORP)
must elect the ORP plan or the 
Hybrid Retirement Plan. If these 
members have prior service under
Plan 1 or Plan 2, they are not
eligible to elect the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan and must select
Plan 1 or Plan 2 (as applicable) or
ORP.

Retirement Contributions:
Employees contribute 5% of their 
compensation each month to their
member contribution account
through a pre-tax salary reduction.
Some political subdivisions elected 
to phase in the required 5% member 
contribution but all employees will
be paying the full 5% by July
1, 2016. Member contributions
are tax-deferred until they are 
withdrawn as part of a retirement
benefit or as a refund.
The employer makes a separate
actuarially determined contribution
to VRS for all covered employees.
VRS invests both member and
employer contributions to provide
funding for the future benefit 
payment.

Retirement Contributions:
Employees contribute 5% of their 
compensation each month to their
member contribution account
through a pre-tax salary reduction.
Some political subdivisions elected 
to phase in the required 5% member 
contribution but all employees will
be paying the full 5% by July
1, 2016.

Retirement Contributions:
A member’s retirement benefit is
funded through mandatory and 
voluntary contributions made by
the member and the employer
to both the defined benefit and the 
defined contribution components of
the plan. Mandatory contributions
are based on a percentage of the
employee’s creditable
compensation and are required from
both the member and the employer. 
Additionally, members may choose
to make voluntary contributions to
the defined contribution component
of the plan, and the employer is 
required to match those voluntary
contributions according to specified 
percentages.
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A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Creditable Service:
Creditable service includes active
service. Members earn creditable
service for each month they are 
employed in a covered position.
It also may include credit for prior
service the member has purchased 
or additional creditable service the
member was granted. A member’s
total creditable service is one of the 
factors used to determine their 
eligibility for retirement and to
calculate their retirement benefit. It 
also may count toward eligibility
for the health insurance credit in
retirement, if the employer offers
the health insurance credit.

Creditable Service:
Same as Plan 1.

Creditable Service
Defined Benefit Component:
Under the defined benefit component
of the plan, creditable service
includes active service. Members
earn creditable service for each 
month they are employed in a
covered position. It also may include
credit for prior service the member
has purchased or additional
creditable service the member was
granted. A member’s total creditable
service is one of the factors used to
determine their eligibility for
retirement and to calculate their 
retirement benefit. It also may count
toward eligibility for the health 
insurance credit in retirement, if the
employer offers the health insurance
credit.

Defined Contributions
Component:
Under the defined contribution
component, creditable service is
used to determine vesting for the 
employer contribution portion of the
plan.

Vesting:
Vesting is the minimum length of
service a member needs to qualify for
a future retirement benefit. Members
become vested when they have at least 
five years (60 months) of creditable
service. Vesting means members are
eligible to qualify for retirement if they
meet the age and service requirements
for their plan. Members also must be
vested to receive a full refund of
their member contribution account
balance if they leave employment
and request a refund. Members are 
always 100% vested in the
contributions that they make.

Vesting:
Same as Plan 1.

Vesting
Defined Benefit Component:
Defined benefit vesting is the
minimum length of service a
member needs to qualify for a 
future retirement benefit. Members
are vested under the defined 
benefit component of the Hybrid
Retirement Plan when they reach 
five years (60 months) of
creditable service. Plan 1 or Plan 2
members with at least five years
(60 months) of creditable service
who opted into the Hybrid
Retirement Plan remain vested in
the defined benefit component.
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A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Defined Contributions
Component:
Defined contribution vesting refers
to the minimum length of service a
member needs to be eligible to
withdraw the employer contributions
from the defined contribution
component of the plan.

Members are always 100% vested 
in the contributions that they make.

Upon retirement or leaving covered
employment, a member is eligible to
withdraw a percentage of employer 
contributions to the defined
contribution component of the plan,
based on service.

• After two years, a member is
50% vested and may withdraw
50% of employer contributions.
• After three years, a member is 
75% vested and may withdraw
75% of employer contributions.
• After four or more years, a
member is 100% vested and
may withdraw 100% of
employer contributions.

Distribution is not required by 
law until age 70½.

Calculating the Benefit:
The Basic Benefit is calculated
based on a formula using the member’s
average final compensation, a
retirement multiplier and total service
credit at retirement. It is one of the
benefit payout options available to a
member at retirement.

Calculating the Benefit:
See definition under Plan 1.

Calculating the Benefit Defined
Benefit Component:
See definition under Plan 1.
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A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

An early retirement reduction
factor is applied to the Basic
Benefit if the member retires with 
a reduced retirement benefit or
selects a benefit payout option
other than the Basic Benefit.

Defined Contribution
Component:
The benefit is based on contributions
made by the member and any
matching contributions made by the
employer, plus net investment 
earnings on those contributions.

Average Final Compensation:
A member’s average final
compensation is the average of the 
36 consecutive months of highest
compensation as a covered
employee.

Average Final Compensation:
A member’s average final
compensation is the average of their 
60 consecutive months of highest
compensation as a covered
employee.

Average Final Compensation:
Same as Plan 2. It is used in the
retirement formula for the defined 
benefit component of the plan.

Service Retirement Multiplier VRS: 
The retirement multiplier is a factor
used in the formula to determine a
final retirement benefit. The
retirement multiplier for non-
hazardous duty members is 1.70%.

Sheriffs and regional jail
superintendents:  
The retirement multiplier for sheriffs 
and regional jail superintendents is
1.85%.

Political subdivision hazardous duty
employees: 
The retirement multiplier of eligible
political subdivision hazardous duty
employees other than sheriffs and
regional jail superintendents is 1.70%
or 1.85% as elected by the employer.

Service Retirement Multiplier
VRS:  
Same as Plan 1 for service earned, 
purchased or granted prior to January
1, 2013. For non-hazardous duty
members the retirement multiplier is
1.65% for creditable service earned, 
purchased or granted on or after 
January 1, 2013.

Sheriffs and regional jail
superintendents:  
Same as Plan 1.

Political subdivision hazardous
duty employees: 
Same as Plan 1.

Service Retirement Multiplier
Defined Benefit Component: VRS:  
The retirement multiplier for the
defined benefit component is 1.00%.

For members who opted into the
Hybrid Retirement Plan from Plan 1
or Plan 2, the applicable multipliers
for those plans will be used to
calculate the retirement benefit for
service credited in those plans.

Sheriffs and regional jail
superintendents:  
Not applicable.

Political subdivision hazardous
duty employees: 
Not applicable.

Defined Contribution
Component:
Not applicable.
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Normal Retirement Age VRS:  
Age 65.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
Age 60.

Normal Retirement Age VRS:  
Normal Social Security
retirement age.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
Same as Plan 1.

Normal Retirement Age
Defined Benefit Component:
VRS:  
Same as Plan 2.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
Not applicable.

Defined Contribution
Component:
Members are eligible to receive
distributions upon leaving
employment, subject to restrictions.

Earliest Unreduced
Retirement Eligibility
VRS:
Age 65 with at least five
years (60 months) of creditable
service or at age 50 with at least
30 years of creditable service.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
Age 60 with at least five years of
creditable service or age 50 with at
least 25 years of creditable service.

Earliest Unreduced
Retirement Eligibility
VRS:
Normal Social Security
retirement age with at least five
years (60 months) of creditable
service or when their age and
service equal 90.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
Same as Plan 1.

Earliest Unreduced Retirement
Eligibility Defined Benefit
Component: VRS:  
Normal Social Security
retirement age and have at least
five years (60 months) of
creditable service or when their 
age and service equal 90.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
Not applicable.

Defined Contribution
Component:
Members are eligible to receive
distributions upon leaving
employment, subject to restrictions.
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Earliest Reduced Retirement
Eligibility VRS:  
Age 55 with at least five
years (60 months) of creditable
service or age 50 with at least 10
years of creditable service.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
50 with at least five years of
creditable service.

Earliest Reduced Retirement
Eligibility VRS:  
Age 60 with at least five
years (60 months) of creditable
service.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
Same as Plan 1.

Earliest Reduced Retirement
Eligibility Defined Benefit
Component: VRS:  
Age Members may retire with a
reduced benefit as early as age 60
with at least five years (60 months)
of creditable service.

Political subdivisions hazardous
duty employees: 
Not applicable.

Defined Contribution
Component:
Members are eligible to receive
distributions upon leaving
employment, subject to restrictions.

Cost-of-Living Adjustment
(COLA) in Retirement:
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment
(COLA) matches the first 3%
increase in the Consumer Price Index
for all Urban Consumers (CPI-U)
and half of any additional increase
(up to 4%) up to a maximum COLA
of 5%.

Eligibility:
For members who retire with an 
unreduced benefit or with a reduced 
benefit with at least 20 years of
creditable service, the COLA will go
into effect on July 1 after one full
calendar year from the retirement 
date.

For members who retire with a 
reduced benefit and who have less than
20 years of creditable service, the
COLA will go into effect on July 1
after one calendar year following the
unreduced retirement eligibility
date.

Cost-of-Living Adjustment
(COLA) in Retirement:
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment
(COLA) matches the first 2%
increase in the CPI-U and half of
any additional increase (up to
2%), for a maximum COLA of 3%.

Eligibility:
Same as Plan 1.

Cost-of-Living Adjustment
(COLA) in Retirement Defined
Benefit Component:
Same as Plan 2.

Defined Contribution
Component:
Not applicable.

Eligibility:
Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2.
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Exceptions to COLA Effective
Dates:
The COLA is effective July 1
following one full calendar year 
(January 1 to December 31) under
any of the following circumstances:

• The member is within five
years of qualifying for an 
unreduced retirement benefit 
as of January 1, 2013.
• The member retires on
disability.

• The member retires directly from
short-term or long-term disability
under the Virginia Sickness and
Disability Program (VSDP).

• The member is involuntarily
separated from employment for
causes other than job
performance or misconduct and
is eligible to retire under the 
Workforce Transition Act or the
Transitional Benefits Program.

• The member dies in service and
the member’s survivor or
beneficiary is eligible for a
monthly death-in-service benefit. 
The COLA will go into effect on
July 1 following one full calendar 
year (January 1 to December 31)
from the date the monthly benefit
begins.

Exceptions to COLA Effective
Dates:
Same as Plan 1.

Exceptions to COLA Effective
Dates:
Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2.

Disability Coverage:
Members who are eligible to be
considered for disability retirement
and retire on disability, the retirement 
multiplier is 1.7% on all service,
regardless of when it was earned,
purchased or granted.

VSDP members are subject to a 
one-year waiting period before 
becoming eligible for non-work-
related disability benefits.

Disability Coverage:
Members who are eligible to be
considered for disability retirement
and retire on disability, the retirement 
multiplier is 1.65% on all service,
regardless of when it was earned,
purchased or granted.

VSDP members are subject to a one-
year waiting period before becoming
eligible for non-work related 
disability benefits.

Disability Coverage:
Employees of political subdivisions
(including Plan 1 and Plan2 opt-ins)
participate in the Virginia Local
Disability Program (VL governing
body provides and employer-paid
comparable program for its
members.

Hybrid members (including Plan
1 and Plan 2 opt-ins) covered under
VLDP are subject to a one-year
waiting period before becoming
eligible for non-work-related 
disability benefits.

A-86



CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

13. RETIREMENT (continued)

A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Purchase of Prior Service:
Members may be eligible to purchase
service from previous public
employment, active duty military
service, an eligible period of leave or
VRS refunded service as creditable
service in their plan. Prior creditable
service counts toward vesting,
eligibility for retirement and the
health insurance credit. Only active
members are eligible to purchase
prior service. When buying service,
members must purchase their most
recent period of service first.
Members also may be eligible to
purchase periods of leave without
pay.

Purchase of Prior Service:
Same as Plan 1.

Purchase of Prior Service
Defined Benefit Component:
Same as Plan 1, with the 
following exceptions:

� Hybrid Retirement Plan 
members are ineligible
for ported service.

� The cost for purchasing
refunded service is the
higher of 4% of
creditable compensation
or average final
compensation.

� Plan members have one year 
from their date of hire or
return from leave to
purchase all but refunded 
prior service at approximate
normal cost. After that one
year period, the rate for
most categories of service
will change to actuarial
cost.

Defined Contribution
Component:
Not applicable.

The System issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplemental information for VRS. A copy of the most recent report may be obtained from the VRS website at 
http://www.varetire.org/pdf/publications/2016-annual-report.pdf, or by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Officer
at P.O. Box 2500 Richmond, VA., 23218-2500.
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Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

As of the June 30, 2015 actuarial valuation, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms of the pension 
plan:

Number
Inactive Members or Their Beneficiaries
   Currently Receiving Benefits 3,482           
Inactive Members:
Vested 803              
Non-Vested 1,074           
Active Elsewhere in VRS 780              
Total Inactive Members 2,657           
Active Members 5,920           

Total 12,059         

Contributions

The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, but
may be impacted as a result of funding options provided to political subdivisions by the Virginia General Assembly.
Employees are required to contribute 5.00% of their compensation toward their retirement.  Prior to July 1, 2012,
all or part of the 5.00% member contribution may have been assumed by the employer.  Beginning July 1, 2012
new employees were required to pay the 5.00% member contribution.  In addition, for existing employees, employers
were required to begin making the employee pay the 5.00% member contribution. This could be phased in over a period
of up to 5 years and the employer was required to provide a salary increase equal to the amount of the increase in the
employee-paid member contribution.

The actuarially determined employer contribution rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to 
finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued 
liability.

The City contractually required employer contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 13.88% of covered
employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June
30, 2015.

The School Board’s contractually required employer contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 14.66% of 
covered employee compensation, Professional employees. This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015 adjusted for the transfer in June 2015 of $192,884,000 as an accelerated payback 
of the deferred contribution in the 2010-12 biennium. The actuarial rate for the Professional Plan (Teacher Retirement 
Plan) was 16.32%. The actuarially determined rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to finance 
the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued 
liability. Based on the provisions of §51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, the contributions were funded at 
89.84% of the actuarial rate for the year ended June 30, 2017.

In addition, for the Nonprofessional (non-teacher) employees, the School Board is contractually required to contribute 
the remaining amounts necessary to fund its participation in the VRS using the actuarial basis specified by the Code of 
Virginia and approved by the VRS Board of Trustees.  The School Board’s contribution rate for the fiscal year ended 
2017 was 7.02% of annual covered payroll.  This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial 
valuation as of June 30, 2015. When combined with employee contributions, this rate was expected to finance the costs 
of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.
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Contributions (continued)

These rates, when combined with employee contributions, were expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by
employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contribution made by 
the Employer and Employee are listed in the table below:

Year Ended Employer Employee Employer Employee Employer Employee
Date Contributions Contributions Contributions Contributions Contributions Contributions
2017 43,919,386$        16,158,074$        57,698,763$        19,678,978$        2,956,311$          2,105,635$          
2016 49,847,919          12,735,099          54,463,409          19,368,211          3,857,605            2,117,236            

School Board - NonprofessionalCity School Board - Teachers

In addition to the above contributions, in 2016 the City and School Board contributed amounts paid on behalf of the 
employee.  The amount for the City was $2,263,572 and the amounts for School Board for the teachers plan and for the 
nonprofessional plan were $3,873,642 and $423,453, respectively.

Net Pension Liability

The C i t y ’ s  net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2016 and totaled $411,098,059.  The total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30,
2015, using updated actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to
the measurement date of June 30, 2016.

At June 30, 2016, the School Board reported a net pension liability of $717,924,000 for its proportionate share of the 
Net Pension Liability of the Teacher Retirement Plan (Professional). The Net Pension Liability was measured as of June 
30, 2016 and the total pension liability used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of that date. The “School Board’s proportion of the Net Pension Liability was based on the School’s 
actuarially determined employer contributions to the pension plan for the year ended June 30, 2016 relative to the total 
of the actuarially determined employer contributions for all participating employers. At June 30, 2016, the School 
Board’s proportion was 5.12286% as compared to 5.19364% at June 30, 2015.

In addition, the School Board’s Net Pension Liability for the Nonprofessional (non-teacher) Retirement Plan was 
measured as of June 30, 2016. The total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2015, using updated actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included 
in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2016. At June 30, 2017, the School Board’s 
reported a liability of $22,855,053 for the Nonprofessional (non-teacher) Retirement Plan. 

Actuarial Assumptions – City General Employees

The total pension liability for General Employees in the City and School Board’s Retirement Plans was based on an
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June
30, 2016.

Inflation 2.5 percent
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.5 percent – 5.35%
Investment rate of return 7.0 Percent, net of pension plan investment expense, including

inflation*
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Actuarial Assumptions – City General Employees (continued)

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were found to be
approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return
rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a
more conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the
projected benefit payments, the long- term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify
preparation of pension liabilities.

Mortality rates: 14 % of deaths are assumed to be service related.

Largest 10 – Non-LEOS: Pre-Retirement:
RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 4 years and females were
set back 2 years.

Post-Retirement:
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year.

Post-Disablement:
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no provision for future
mortality improvement.

All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-LEOS: Pre-Retirement:
RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 4 years and females were
set back 2 years.

Post-Retirement:
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year.

Post-Disablement:
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no provision for future
mortality improvement.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study
for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience
study are as follows:

Largest 10-Non-LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in rates of service retirement
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year

All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in rates of service retirement
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year
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Actuarial Assumptions – City Public Safety Employees

The total pension liability for Public Safety employees in the City Retirement Plan was based on an actuarial valuation
as of June 30, 2015, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2016.

Inflation 2.5 percent
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.5 percent – 4.75 percent
Investment rate of return 7.0 percent, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation*

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were found to be
approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return
rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a
more conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the
projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify
preparation of pension liabilities.

Mortality rates: 60% of deaths are assumed to be service related.

Largest 10-LEOS: Pre-Retirement:
RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 2 years and females set back
2 years.

Post-Retirement:
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year.

Post-Disablement:
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no provision for future
mortality improvement.

All Others (Non 10 Largest) – LEOS: Pre-Retirement:
RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 2 years and females set back
2 years.

Post-Retirement:
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year.

Post-Disablement:
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no provision for future
mortality improvement.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience
study for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the
experience study are as follows:

Largest 10 –LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in male rates of disability
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All Others (Non 10 Largest) – LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Adjustments to rates of service retirement for females
- Increase in rates of withdrawal
- Decrease in male and female rates of disability

Actuarial Assumptions – School Board

Professional/Teacher Retirement Plan

The total pension liability for the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan was based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015,
using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2016.

Inflation 2.5 percent
Salary increases, includingInflation 3.5 percent – 5.95
Investment rate of return 7.0 Percent, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation*

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were found to be 
approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return 
rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a 
more conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the 
projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify 
preparation of pension liabilities.

Mortality rates:

Pre-Retirement:
RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 3 years and females were set 
back 5 years.

Post-Retirement:
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 2 years and females were set 
back 3 years.

Post-Disablement:
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 1 year and no provision for future 
mortality improvement.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study 
for the four-year period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the 
experience study are as follows:

- Update mortality table
- Adjustments to the rates of service retirement
- Decrease in rates of withdrawals for 3 through 9 years of service
- Decrease in rates of disability
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year
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Nonprofessional (non-teacher) Retirement Plan

The total pension liability for Nonprofessional Retirement Plan (non-teacher) was based on an actuarial valuation as of 
June 30, 2015, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2016.

Inflation 2.5 percent
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.5 percent – 5.35%
Investment rate of return 7.0 Percent, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation*

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were found to be 
approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return rate 
for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a more 
conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit 
payments, the long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify preparation of pension 
liabilities.

Mortality rates: 14% of deaths are assumed to be service related.

Pre-Retirement:
RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 4 years and females were 
set back 2 years.

Post-Retirement:
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 2020 with males set forward 1 year.

Post-Disablement:
RP-2000 Disability Life Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set back 3 years and no provision for future 
mortality improvement

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study 
for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience 
study are as follows:

- Update mortality table
- Decrease in rates of service retirement
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year

A-93



CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

13. RETIREMENT (continued)

A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension System investments was determined using a log-normal distribution
analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension System
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the 
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation 
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of
return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Arithmetic Weighted Average
Long-Term Long-Term

Target Expected Expected
Asset Class (Strategy) Allocation Rate of Return Rate of Return

U.S. Equity 19.50% 6.46% 1.26%
Developed Non  U.S  Equity 16.50% 6.28% 1.04%
Emerging Market Equity 6.00% 10.00% 0.60%
Fixed Income 15.00% 0.09% 0.01%
Emerging Debt 3.00% 3.51% 0.11%
Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 3.51% 0.16%
Non  Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 5.00% 0.23%
Convertibles 3.00% 4.81% 0.14%
Public Real Estate 2.25% 6.12% 0.14%
Private Real Estate 12.75% 7.10% 0.91%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.41% 1.25%
Cash 1.00% -1.50% -0.02%
Total 100.00% 5.83%

Inflation 2.50%
*Expected arithmetic nominal return 8.33%

*Using stochastic projection results provides an expected range of real rates of return over various time 
horizons. Looking at one year results produces an expected real return of 8.33% but also has a high standard 
deviation, which means there is high volatility.  Over larger time horizons the volatility declines significantly and 
provides a median return of 7.44%, including expected inflation of 2.50%.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made per the VRS Statutes and the employer
contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates equal to the difference between
actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS Board of Trustees and the member rate.  Through
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, the rate contributed by the City and School Board’s Retirement Plans will be
subject to the portion of the VRS Board-certified rates that are funded by the Virginia General Assembly. From 
July 1, 2018 on, participating employers are assumed to contribute 100% of the actuarially 
determined contr ibution rates.  Based o n t h o s e assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was
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projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.  
Therefore the Long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine
the total pension liability.

Changes in Net Pension Liability

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Net Pension
Liability   Position  Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at June 30, 2015 1,797,793,322$     1,460,420,988$       337,372,334$        
Changes for the Year:

Service Cost 36,304,048            -                           36,304,048            
Interest 122,642,141          -                           122,642,141          
Difference between expected and actual experience 3,527,958              -                           3,527,958              
Contribution - Employer -                         49,521,364              (49,521,364)           
Contribution - Employee -                         15,185,917              (15,185,917)           
Net Investment Income -                         24,961,833              (24,961,833)           
Benefit payments, including refunds of
   Employee Contributions (91,525,484)           (91,525,484)             -                         

Administrative Expense -                         (910,017)                  910,017                 
Other Changes -                         (10,675)                    10,675                   

Net Changes 70,948,663            (2,777,062)               73,725,725            
Balances at June 30, 2016 1,868,741,985$     1,457,643,926$       411,098,059$        

City

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Net Pension
Liability   Position  Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at June 30, 2015: 205,828,203$         192,255,288$           13,572,915$          
Changes for the Year:

Service Cost 4,079,432               -                            4,079,432              
Interest 14,020,741             -                            14,020,741            
Changes of Assumptions:
Difference between expected/actual experience: 264,387                  -                            264,387                 
Contribution - Employer -                         3,876,348                 (3,876,348)             
Contribution - Employee -                         2,113,676                 (2,113,676)             
Net Investment Income -                         3,214,427                 (3,214,427)             
Benefit payments (11,063,812)           (11,063,812)              -                         
Administrative Expenses -                         (120,635)                   120,635                 
Other Changes -                         (1,394)                       1,394                     

Net Changes 7,300,748               (1,981,390)                9,282,138              
Balances at June 30, 2016 213,128,951$         190,273,898$           22,855,053$          

School Board Nonprofessional
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A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the City using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.00%) or one
percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Increase

(6.00% ) Rate (7.00% ) (8.00% )

Plan's Net Pension Liability 644,506,573$  411,098,059$   215,876,792$      

City

The following presents the net pension liability of the Nonprofessional (non-teacher) Retirement Plan using the 
discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that 
is one percentage point lower (6.00%) or one percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Increase

(6.00% ) Rate (7.00% ) (8.00% )

Plan's Net Pension Liability 48,246,849$     22,855,053$       1,509,060$         

School Board Nonprofessional

In addition, the following presents the School Board’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the 
Professional/Teacher Retirement Plan using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the School Board’s proportionate 
share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower 
(6.00%) or one percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Increase

(6.00% ) Rate (7.00% ) (8.00% )

School Board’s Proportionate Share of the
Net Pension Liability for the VRS Teacher
Retirement Plan 1,023,402,000$     717,924,000$     466,283,000$     

School Board Professional
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A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the City’s recognized pension expense was $39,242,500.

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the School Board recognized pension expense of $57,448,000 of the Teacher Retirement 
Plan (Professional). Since there was a change in proportionate share between measurement dates, a portion of the pension 
expense was related to deferred amounts from changes in proportion and from differences between employer contributions 
and the proportionate share of employer contributions.

In addition, for the year ended June 30, 2017, the School Board recognized pension expense of $2,711,033 for the 
Nonprofessional (non-teacher) Retirement Plan.

At June 30, 2017, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 2,754,283$                      14,043,746$                  
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

plan investments 38,083,856                      -                                 
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 43,919,386                      -                                 

Total 84,757,525$                    14,043,746$                  

City

$43,919,386 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the City’s  contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Net Pension Liability in the  year ended 
June 30, 2017. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources  related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year Ended June 30:
2018 (4,179,856)$        
2019 (4,179,857)          
2020 19,461,493          
2021 15,692,613          
Total 26,794,393$        

City

At June 30, 2017, for the Teacher Retirement Plan (Professional), the School Board reported deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:
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A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience -$                                23,264,000$                  
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

plan investments 41,010,000                     -                                 
Changes in proportion and differences between employer

contributions and porportionate share of contributions -                                  12,744,000                    
Employer contributions subsequent to the Measurement Date 57,699,000                     -                                 

Total 98,709,000$                   36,008,000$                  

School Board Professional

$57,699,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the School Board's 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Net Pension Liability in 
the  year ended June 30, 2017. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year Ended June 30:
2018 (9,090,000)$          
2019 (9,090,000)            
2020 15,300,000           
2021 10,179,000           
2022 (2,297,000)            
Total 5,002,000$           

School Board Professional

In addition, at June 30, 2017, for the Nonprofessional (non-teacher) Retirement Plan, the School Board reported 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience -$                                68,000$                         
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

plan investments 5,013,000                       -                                 
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 2,956,311                       -                                 

Total 7,969,311$                     68,000$                         

School Board Nonprofessional

$2,956,311 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the School Board's 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Net Pension Liability in 
the year ended June 30, 2017. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
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A. Virginia Retirement System (continued)

Year Ended June 30:
2018 (116,000)$           
2019 129,000               
2020 2,920,000            
2021 2,012,000            
2022 -                      
Total 4,945,000$          

School Board Nonprofessional

B. Sheriff’s Supplemental Retirement Plan

1. Description of the Plan

The Sheriff’s Supplemental Plan is a defined contribution plan that was established by the City Council of Virginia 
Beach, Virginia (“City Council”) in 1995 in accordance with Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Section 401. The 
Plan sponsor and participating employer is the City of Virginia Beach Sheriff’s Office (“Employer”).  The Plan is 
available to all employees of the City of Virginia Beach Sheriff’s Office, who have completed one year of service, 
as defined by the Plan. 

The City Code of Virginia Beach, Virginia establishes a Deferred Compensation Board (“Board”) to supervise, 
administer and implement the Plan. The Board has full power and authority to adopt rules and regulations for the 
administration of the Plan. The Board also contracts with providers to manage the investment of plan assets and is 
responsible for selecting the Plan investment options. Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established 
and may be amended by the City Council.

As of June 30, 2016, the number of participants was as follows:
Employed participants with ending balances 405                      
Terminated participants with ending balances 115                      
Participants with zero ending balances 4                          

524                      

Participants may not contribute to the Plan. The Employer may contribute discretionary amounts to be determined by the
City of Virginia Beach Sheriff’s Office annually. During the plan year end, the employer contribution totaled 
$4,962, which consisted of excess funds remitted to participant accounts. Current year forfeitures totaled $70.
Employer contributions to the Plan, and any earnings they generate, are vested as follows:

Years of Service Vested Percentage
0 – 5 years 0%
5 years or more 100%

Participants may withdraw from their accounts during a qualifying distribution event. Qualifying distribution events 
are: retirement, permanent disability, termination from employment, attainment of age 59½, and death. Ordinary 
income tax will apply to each withdrawal. Withdrawals received prior to age 59½ may also be assessed a 10% early 
withdrawal federal tax penalty.

Participant Accounts – Each participant’s account is credited with an allocation of the City’s discretionary 
contributions as well as Plan earnings. Participant accounts are charged with an allocation of administrative 
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B. Sheriff’s Supplemental Retirement Plan (continued)

1. Description of the Plan (continued)

expenses that are paid by the Plan. Allocations are based on participant compensation, account balances, or specific 
participant transactionsas defined. The benefit to which the participant is entitled is the benefit that can be provided from
the participant’s vested account.

Payment of Benefits – On termination of service due to death, disability, or retirement, a participant may elect to 
receive either a lump-sum amount equal to the value of the participant’s vested interest in his or her account, or 
annual installments not to exceed the lifetime of the payee. For termination of service for other reasons, a participant may
receive the value of the vested interest in his or her account as a lump-sum distribution.

Investment Options – Participants direct the investment of their accounts into various investment options offered by 
the Plan.  The Plan’s investments are stated at fair value (except for fully benefit-responsive investment contracts, 
which are valued at contract value).  Fair value is the price received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Contract value is the relevant measure 
for the portion of net assets available for benefits attributable to fully benefit-responsive investment contracts because 
contract value is the amount participants normally would receive if they were to initiate permitted transactions under 
the terms of the Plan.  

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting – The Plan’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America using the financial reporting framework established by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”).

Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported 
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Investments Valuation and Income Recognition – Investments are reported at fair value. Plan management determines 
the Plan’s valuation policies utilizing information provided by the custodian

Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis.  Interest income is recorded on the accrual basis.  
Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date.  Net depreciation includes the Plan’s gains and losses on investments 
bought and sold as well as held during the year.

Contributions – Contributions are recognized in the period when due in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

Benefit Payments – Benefit payments are recorded when paid.

Administrative Expenses – Administrative expenses are recorded when incurred. Certain administrative functions are 
performed by the City and are not reflected in these statements.

New Accounting Pronouncements – The Plan adopted Statement No. 72 of the Government Accounting Standards 
Board entitled Fair Value Measurement and Application for the year ended June 30, 2016.  This statement provides 
guidance for determining the fair market value of an asset for financial reporting and guidance for applying fair 
value to certain investments and disclosures.  
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B. Sheriff’s Supplemental Retirement Plan (continued)

3. Investments

The Board has adopted an investment policy that sets forth the goals and objectives of the investment options 
available to the Plan. The Board chooses which investment options will be available under the Plan and monitors the 
investment options’ compliance to the investment policy.  The Plan’s authorized investments consist of funds in 
twelve major asset classes defined by either investment objective or risk category.

The Plan had the following investments as of June 30, 2016:
Investments 2016
AB Discovery Value Fund 99,474$               
American Century Equity Growth Fund 46,199                 
American Funds Growth Fund R4 101,441               
Baron Small Cap Fund 132,516               
Delaware Value Inst 172,423               
Eagle Small Cap Growth R5 13,631                 
Janus Henderson Forty S 16,221                 
MAXIM Aggressive Profile 220,379               
MAXIM Conservative Profile 93,814                 
MAXIM Moderate Profile 250,440               
MAXIM Moderately Aggressive Profile 144,406               
MAXIM Moderately Conservative Profile 79,181                 
MFS Massachusetts Investors Growth Fund 60,556                 
Morgan Stanley Inst. Mid Cap Growth I 10,881                 
Templeton World Fund 63,062                 
Vanguard Institutional Index I 408,303               
Vanguard Mid Cap Index Fund 45,090                 
Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inv 87,502                 
William Blair International Growth N 52,859                 

2,098,378$          

Separate account contract, at contract value:
Virginia Beach Fixed Income Fund 1,299,531            

3,397,909$          

Custodial Credit Risk – This is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the Plan will not be able to 
recover the value of the investment of collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Plan 
limits its exposure to custodial credit risk by maintaining its investments in custodial accounts. Wells Fargo Bank, 
N.A. serves as custodian to the Plan. Securities that exist in book entry form are held in trust by the custodian in the 
name of the Plan.

As part of the investment objectives of the investment policy, the Board has established the Virginia Beach Fixed 
Income Fund (“Stable Value Fund”), which meets the fully benefit-responsive investment contract criteria and, 
therefore, is reported at contract value. Contract value represents contributions made under each contract, plus 
earnings, less participant withdrawals, and administrative expenses.  The objective of the Stable Value Fund is to 
provide principal preservation, benefit responsiveness, liquidity, and current income at levels that typically are higher 
than those provided by money market funds over an interest rate cycle. The investments of the Stable Value Fund are 
expected to produce relatively stable annual returns on fund assets with little to no fluctuation in account values. A 
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3. Investments (continued)

security-backed contract has similar characteristics as a traditional investment contract and is comprised of two parts: 
the first part is a fixed-income security or portfolio of fixed-income securities; the second part is a contract value 
guarantee (wrapper) provided by a third-party. Wrappers provide contract value payments for certain participant-
initiated withdrawals and transfers, a floor crediting rate, and return of fully accrued contract value at maturity.

The Stable Value Fund is a separate account contract with Empower Retirement Services (“Empower”). Elective
contributions are invested in the Stable Value Fund at the option of the Plan’s participants. Empower maintains the
assets of the Stable Value Fund in a separate account. Participant accounts are credited with contributions and 
earnings on the underlying investments and charged for participant withdrawals and administrative expenses charged 
by the issuer. Empower is contractually obligated to repay the principal and a specified interest rate that is guaranteed 
to the Plan. As of and for the year ended June 30, 2016, the crediting interest rate on the separate account contract 
was 1.80%.

At June 30, 2016 the fair value of the contract was as follows:

Components:
Underlying investments 1,299,531$          
Wrap contract (814)                    

Total 1,298,717$          

The Plan’s ability to receive amounts due in accordance with fully benefit-responsive investment contracts are
dependent on the third-party issuer’s ability to meet its financial obligations. The issuer’s ability to meet its 
contractual obligations may be affected by future economic and regulatory developments. Certain events might limit
the ability of the Plan to transact at contract value with the contract issuers. These events may be different under each 
contract. Examples of such events include the following:

- The Plan’s failure to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code or the failure of the trust to 
be tax-exempt under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

- Premature termination of the contracts.
- Plan termination or merger.
- Changes to the Plan’s prohibition on competing investment options.
- Bankruptcy of the Plan sponsor or other Plan sponsor events (for example, divestitures or spinoffs of a 

subsidiary) that significantly affect the Plan’s normal operations.

No events are probable of occurring that might limit the ability of the Plan to transact at contract value with the
contract issuers and that also would limit the ability of the Plan to transact at contract value with the participants.
In addition, certain events allow the issuer to terminate the contracts with the Plan and settle at an amount different 
from contract value. Those events may be different under each contract. Examples of such events include the 
following:

- An uncured violation of the Plan’s investment guidelines.
- A breach of material obligation under the contract.
- A material misrepresentation.
- A material amendment to the agreements without the consent of the issuer.

The Board has established the following guidelines for the investment of assets and management of certain risks 
related to the Stable Value Fund:

Authorized Investments – Subject to quality and diversification guidelines, Empower invests the assets of the Stable 
Value Fund in any or all of the following: United States Treasury Securities including Treasury Bills, Notes, Bonds 
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or Strips; Repurchase agreements fully collateralized by the United States Government; Commercial paper; Corporate 
and non-corporate credit bonds rated A-A/3 or better as rated by S&P, Moody’s or Fitch at time of purchase; Non-
agency securities, United States Agency Securities; Mortgaged-backed securities issued by Government National 
Mortgage Association (“GNMA”), Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”), or Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC”), Federal Home Loan Banks (“FHLB”), Veteran Affairs’ Vendee Loan, or other 
United States Agency or Government Sponsored Enterprise (“GSE”), Collateralized mortgage obligations secured
by GNMA, FNMA, FHLMC, FLHB, VA Vendee Loan, or other U.S. Agency or GSE securities, and instruments of 
commercial banks domiciled in the United States of America, with the requirement that all money deposited into 
these banks be 100% guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  

Credit Risk – This is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation. The 
Plan manages its credit risk of the Stable Value Fund by monitoring the credit quality of the guaranteed investment 
contract’s issuer.

Concentration of Credit Risk – This is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Plan’s investment in a single 
issuer.  The Board manages the Stable Value Fund’s exposure to concentrations of credit risk by ensuring the fund 
invests in a diversified portfolio of high credit quality securities. As of June 30, 2016, the Stable Value Fund was the 
only Plan investment that represented 5% or more of the Plan’s net assets (other than those explicitly guaranteed or 
issued by the U.S. government or those invested in mutual funds, external investment pools, or other pooled 
investments).

Interest Rate Risk – This is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of investments. 
The Board’s investment policy for the Stable Value Fund states that the average duration of the portfolio will not 
exceed 4 years.

4. Fair Value Measurements

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. 
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable 
inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The Plan has the following recurring fair value 
measurements as of June 30, 2016:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Mutual Funds  $       2,098,378  $                        -  $                     -    $        2,098,378 

Total  $       2,098,378  $                        -  $                       -  $        2,098,378 

Assets at Fair Value as of June 30, 2016

5. Revenue Sharing Fee Agreement

The Plan sponsor has contracted with Empower Retirement Services (“Empower”) under an agreement (the 
“Agreement”) to provide certain administrative services.  The Agreement calls for the Plan to pay Empower a
monthly recordkeeping and communication fee of 0.021% (i.e. 0.25% per annum) of the average Plan assets in 
exchange for certain defined services.
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5. Revenue Sharing Fee Agreement (continued)

The Agreement specifies that the recordkeeping and communication fee is to be paid from certain revenues Empower
and its affiliates receive from mutual fund families and other investment options offered by the Plan, including an 
annual fee of .20% on the average asset balance of the Stable Value Fund.  Additionally, there is an explicit 0.10% 
per annual charge (0.025% per quarter) on participants investing in Vanguard investment options.

In the event that the revenues received total more than the annual recordkeeping and communication fee, Empower
agrees to place any excess amounts into separate Plan unallocated trust accounts (“general account”) to be solely 
used for Plan purposes. In the event the revenues received total less than the annual recordkeeping and communication 
fee, Empower will present an invoice to the Plan Sponsor for the amounts owed and unpaid. If the Plan Sponsor fails 
to authorize payment within 60 calendar days, Empower is instructed to withdraw the unpaid fees on a prorate basis 
from the participant accounts.  

There is also an annual reconciliation conducted capping the per-head cost at $80, with an amount in excess of $80 
remitted back to the Plans’ General Accounts. In the 2016 annual reconciliation, there was no excess remitted to the 
Plan.

For the year ended June 30, 2016, activity in the general account was as follows:
2016

Balance, beginning of the year: 5,856$             
Dividends and interest 130                  
Revenue sharing and restitution receipts 3,391               
Plan level administrative expenses (508)                
Other (4,962)             

Total 3,907$             

6. Plan Termination

Although it has not expressed any intent to do so, the City has the right to terminate the Plan at any time. Upon Plan 
termination, all amounts deferred will be distributed to participants or beneficiaries as soon as administratively 
practicable after the termination date.

A stand-alone financial report can be obtained by contacting Sheriff Ken Stolle, City of Virginia Beach Sheriff’s 
Office, 2501 James Madison Avenue, Virginia Beach, VA 23456.

14. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Plan Description.

The City and School Board Other Postemployment Benefit Plans are each a single-employer, defined benefit plan,
administered by the City and School Board in accordance with State and City statutes.   Section 15.2-1500 of the Virginia 
State Code provides that every locality shall provide for the governmental functions of the locality, including employment of
the officers and other employees. In connection with this employment, the City has established certain plans to provide post-
employment benefits other than pensions as defined in Section 15.2-1545 of the Virginia Code to retirees and their spouses 
and eligible dependents.  
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In accordance with Article 8, Chapter 15, Subtitled II of Title 15.2 of the Virginia Code, the City and School Board have 
elected to establish a trust for the purpose of accumulating and investing assets to fund Other Postemployment Benefits.  In
accordance with this election, the City and School Board have joined the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund (Trust), which 
was established by the Virginia Municipal League and the Virginia Association of Counties in 2008 for the purpose of 
accumulating and investing assets to fund post-employment benefits other than pensions for counties, cities, towns, school 
divisions and other authorized political subdivisions of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

The Trust’s Board of Trustees has fiduciary responsibility for the investment of monies and administration of the Trust 
pursuant to the Trust Agreement. The Board of Trustees is composed of nine members. Trustees are members of Local Finance 
Boards of participating employers and are elected for staggered three-year terms by the participants in the Trust. In accordance 
with Section 15.2-1547 of the Virginia Code, City Council appointed the City’s Deferred Compensation Board Trust as the 
OPEB’s Local Finance Board to serve as the trustee of the City and School Board with respect to the OPEB trust. The board 
includes City employees, an appointee from City Council, a member of the Sheriff’s Office, a member of the School Board, 
and the Schools’ Chief Financial Officer. The trust does not administer the retiree health benefits of each participating 
employer.  Deposits to this trust are irrevocable and are held solely for the payment of OPEB benefits for the City and School 
Board. 

Plan Membership

The membership as of January 1, 2016 includes:
School

City Board
Active participants 5,861                 10,062             
Retirees and Surviving Spouses 758                    739                  
Spouses of Current Retirees 116                    75                    

Total 6,735                 10,876             

Benefits Provided 

The City and School Board provide health insurance benefits for their retirees. These benefits are provided through a self-
insured program. Employees that retire under VRS guidelines with at least 25 years of service with the City and/or School 
Board or City employees with 5 years or more of service with a work related disability compensable under the Workers’
Compensation Act are eligible to health insurance coverage.  This benefit is payable until the retiree becomes eligible for 
Medicare.

Contributions

Contribution requirements of the City, School Board and plan members are established and may be amended by the respective 
legislative bodies. The required contributions were actuarially determined and are based upon projected pay as you go
financing requirements with an additional amount to prefund benefits. For the period ending June 30, 2017 the City and School 
Board actuarially determined contribution was set at $5,296,700 for the City and at $4,542,400 for the School Board. 

Plan members from each organization contributed $3,044.40, $2,082.00, and $1,444.68 for the POS Premier, POS Standard, 
and POS Basic plans, respectively, annually for retiree-only point of service coverage. City and School Board retirees with 
coverage for their spouses contributed $10,182.12, $7,939.80, and $6,454.68 for the POS Premier, POS Standard, and POS 
Basic plans, respectively, annually until Medicare eligibility. The City and School Board have determined that all current 
employees and retirees shall contribute to the cost of their health care coverage and no level of benefit shall be provided free 
of charge. Rates are calculated by an actuary with the City and School Board health care consultant and finalized by the 
Benefits Executive Committee, comprised of City and School Board executive leadership.
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Investments Policy, Target Allocation, and Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

The OPEB plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the Virginia 
Pooled OPEB Trust Fund Board of Trustees. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term objective of 
achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the OPEB plan. 

The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to expected long-
term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The capital market assumptions are per Milliman's 
investment consulting practice as of June 30, 2017.

The following is for the City:

Expected Expected
Arithmetic Geometric

Target Real Rate Real Rate
Asset Class Index Allocation of Return of Return

Core Fixed Income Barclays Aggregate 21.00% 2.17% 2.04%
Core Bonds Barclays Gov/Cred 12.00% 2.01% 1.86%
Large Cap US Equities S&P 500 22.00% 4.55% 3.37%
Small Cap US Equities Russell 2000 10.00% 5.77% 3.86%
Developed Foreign Equities MSCI EAFE NR 10.00% 5.76% 4.15%
Emerging Market Equities MSCI Emerging Markets 5.00% 8.30% 4.84%
Hedge Funds/Absolute Return HFRI Fund of Funds 10.00% 1.97% 1.66%
Real Estate (REITS) FTSE NAREIT Equity REIT 7.00% 5.04% 3.27%
Commodities DJ UBS 3.00% 3.04% 1.42%

100.00%
Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.32% 2.30%

Assumed Inflation - Standard Deviation 1.85% 1.85%

Portfolio Real Mean Return 3.90% 3.39%

Portfolio Nominal Mean Return 6.21% 5.77%

Portfolio Standard Deviation 1.79%

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 7.00%
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The following is for the School Board:

Long-Term Long-Term
Expected Expected

Arithmetic Geometric
Target Real Rate Real Rate

Asset Class Index Allocation of Return of Return

Core Fixed Income Barclays Aggregate 21.00% 1.76% 1.64%
Core Bonds Barclays Gov/Cred 12.00% 1.99% 1.83%
Large Cap US Equities S&P 500 22.00% 4.80% 3.62%
Small Cap US Equities Russell 2000 10.00% 6.02% 4.10%
Developed Foreign Equities MSCI EAFE NR 10.00% 6.01% 4.40%
Emerging Market Equities MSCI Emerging Markets 5.00% 8.30% 5.08%
Hedge Funds/Absolute Return HFRI Fund of Funds 10.00% 3.37% 2.93%
Real Estate (REITS) FTSE NAREIT Equity REIT 7.00% 5.04% 3.27%
Commodities DJ UBS 3.00% 3.04% 1.42%

100.00%
Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.32% 2.30%

Assumed Inflation - Standard Deviation 1.85% 1.85%

Portfolio Real Mean Return 3.90% 3.39%

Portfolio Nominal Mean Return 6.21% 5.77%

Portfolio Standard Deviation 1.79%

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 7.00%

Receivables

None reported.

Allocated Insurance Contracts

None reported.

Reserves

None reported.
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

14. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Components of the Net OPEB Liability of the City and School Board

June 30, 2016 June 30, 2017

Total OPEB Liability 83,525,542$             85,327,774$             
Fiduciary Net Position 34,212,904               38,584,199               
Net OPEB Liability 49,312,638$             46,743,575$             
Fiduciary Net Position as a % of Total OPEB Liability 40.96% 45.22%
Covered Payroll 306,050,000$           
Net OPEB Liability as a % of Covered Payroll 15.27%

June 30, 2016 June 30, 2017

Total OPEB Liability 71,666,051$             72,462,906$             
Fiduciary Net Position 24,060,265               27,134,224               
Net OPEB Liability 47,605,786$             45,328,682$             
Fiduciary Net Position as a % of Total OPEB Liability 33.57% 37.45%
Covered Payroll 426,884,300$           
Net OPEB Liability as a % of Covered Payroll 10.62%

City

School Board

Actuarial Assumption. The Total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of the valuation date, calculated 
based on the discount rate and actuarial assumptions below, and projected forward to the measurement date. There have been 
no significant changes between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. 

Discount Rate
Discount Rate: 7.00%
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return, Net of Investment Expense: 7.00% 
Municipal Bond Rate N/A

The plan's Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active 
and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the Total OPEB Liability is equal to the long-term expected 
rate of return.
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

14. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Other Key Actuarial Assumptions:
The demographic assumptions used are predominantly consistent with those used in the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation of 
the Virginia Retirement System (VRS). The following represent the summary of information included in the January 1, 2016 
actuarial valuation prepared by Milliman, Inc. for the period:

Valuation Date: January 1, 2016
Measurement Date: June 30, 2017
Inflation: 2.50%
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal
Salary Increases Per Year of Service (Including Inflation): General Employees with 1 to 19 years of service, the  

increases range from 5.35% to 3.65% and for those with 20 
or more years of service the increase is 3.50%
Law Officers with 1 to 19 years of service, the  increases 
range from 4.75% to 4.00% and for those with 20 or more 
years of service the increase is 3.50%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates: 3.70% for 2016, 9.00% for 2017, 5.40% for 2018, gradually 
moving to an ultimate rate of 4.50% for 2082 and beyond. 

Mortality Rates: Based on the RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table for Males 
or Females, as appropriate, with adjustments for mortality 
improvements based on Scale AA.

Sensitivity Analysis

The following presents the Net OPEB Liability of the City and School Board, calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as 
well as what the Net OPEB Liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower 
(6.00%) or 1 percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate.

1%  Decrease Discount Rate 1%  Increase
6.00% 7.00% 8.00%

Total OPEB Liability 92,386,208$             85,327,774$            78,990,894$             
Fiduciary Net Position 34,212,904               38,584,199              38,584,199               
Net OPEB Liability 58,173,304$             46,743,575$            40,406,695$             

Total OPEB Liability 78,748,599$             72,462,906$            66,819,772$             
Fiduciary Net Position 27,134,224               27,134,224              27,134,224               
Net OPEB Liability 51,614,375$             45,328,682$            39,685,548$             

School Board

City
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2017

14. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

The following table presents the Net OPEB Liability of the City and School Board, calculated using the current healthcare 
cost trend rates, as well as what the Net OPEB Liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that 
are 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current rates.

Current
1%  Decrease Trend Rate 1%  Increase

Total OPEB Liability 74,731,431$             85,327,774$            94,758,905$             
Fiduciary Net Position 38,584,199               38,584,199              38,584,199               
Net OPEB Liability 36,147,232$             46,743,575$            56,174,706$             

Total OPEB Liability 64,744,213$             72,462,906$            81,513,408$             
Fiduciary Net Position 27,134,224               27,134,224              27,134,224               
Net OPEB Liability 37,609,989$             45,328,682$            54,379,184$             

Schools

City
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

VIRGINIA RETIREMENT SYSTEM PENSION 

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 

(UNAUDITED) 

In accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the following information is a required part of the Basic 
Financial Statements. 
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER’S SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS  

City
FY16 FY15 FY14

Total Pension Liability
Service Cost 36,304,048$          35,932,562$          35,838,242$          
Interest 122,642,141 119,573,242 114,650,965
Changes of benefit terms - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience 3,527,958 (24,723,400) -
Changes in assumptions - - -
Benefit Payments, including refunds of employee contributions (91,525,484) (82,356,519) (77,985,409)
Net change in total pension liability 70,948,663 48,425,885 72,503,798
Total pension liability - beginning 1,797,793,322 1,749,367,437 1,676,863,639
Total pension liability - ending (a) 1,868,741,985$     1,797,793,322$     1,749,367,437$     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer 49,521,364$          48,703,360$          45,827,648$          
Contributions - employee 15,185,917 14,937,006 14,813,559
Net investment income 24,961,833 64,442,330 194,451,721
Benefit Payments, including refunds of employee contributions (91,525,484) (82,356,519) (77,985,409)
Administrative expenses (910,017) (887,459) (1,053,309)
Other (10,675) (13,597) 10,242
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (2,777,062) 44,825,121 176,064,452
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 1,460,420,988 1,415,595,867 1,239,531,415
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 1,457,643,926$     1,460,420,988$     1,415,595,867$     

Political subdivision's net pension liability, ending (a) - (b) 411,098,059$          337,372,334$        333,771,570$        

Political fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 
liability 78.0% 81.2% 80.9%

Covered-employee payroll 329,620,903$        322,555,290$        315,341,888$        

City's net pension liability as a percentage of covered -employee 
payroll 124.7% 104.6% 105.8%

*Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be included as they become available.
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER’S SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS  

School Board
FY16 FY15 FY14

Total Pension Liability
Service Cost 4,079,432$            4,089,939$            4,171,321$            
Interest 14,020,741 13,574,596 13,051,394
Changes of benefit terms - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience 264,387 (747,303) -
Changes in assumptions - - -
Refunds of Contributions - (465,012) -
Benefit Payments, including refunds of employee contributions (11,063,812) (9,558,643) (9,473,141)
Net change in total pension liability 7,300,748 6,893,577 7,749,574
Total pension liability - beginning 205,828,203 198,934,626 191,185,052
Total pension liability - ending (a) 213,128,951$        205,828,203$        198,934,626$        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - employer 3,876,348$            3,739,486$            3,646,317$            
Contributions - employee 2,113,676 2,041,468 2,000,972
Net investment income 3,214,427 8,507,018 25,850,848
Benefit Payments, including refunds of employee contributions (11,063,812) (9,558,643) (9,473,141)
Refunds of Contributions 0 (465,012) -
Administrative expenses (120,635) (118,985) (141,126)
Other (1,394) (1,792) 1,363
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (1,981,390) 4,143,540 21,885,233
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 192,255,288 188,111,748 166,226,515
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 190,273,898$        192,255,288$        188,111,748$        

Political subdivision's net pension liability, ending (a) - (b) 22,855,053$            13,572,915$          10,822,878$          

Political fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 
liability 89.28% 93.41% 94.56%

Covered-employee payroll 42,344,732$          41,802,052$          40,427,033$          

School Board's net pension liability as a percentage of covered -
employee payroll 53.97% 32.47% 26.77%

*Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be included as they become available.
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER VRS CONTRIBUTIONS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

Contributions in Contributions
Relation to Employer's as a % of

Contractually Contractually Contribution Covered Covered
Required Required Deficiency Employee Employee

Contribution Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll
Date (1) (2) (3) (4) (5)

2014 45,827,648$     45,827,648$     -$                315,341,888$   14.53              

2015 48,703,360     48,703,360     -                  322,555,290   15.10              

2016 49,847,919 49,847,919 -                  329,620,903 15.12              

2017 43,919,386 43,919,386 -                  345,784,261 12.70              

2014 3,646,317$       3,646,317$       -$                40,427,033$     9.02                

2015 3,739,486       3,739,486       -                  41,802,052     8.95                

2016 3,857,605 3,857,605 -                  42,344,732 9.11                

2017 2,956,311 2,956,311 -                  42,112,697 7.02                

*Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be included as they become available.

 The amounts presented have a measurement date of the prior fiscal year-end.

Employer's
Proportionate Plan Fiduciary

Employer's Employer's Share of the Net Position
Proportion Proportionate Employer's NPL as a % as a % of the

of the Share of the Covered of its Total
Net Pension Net Pension Employee Employee Pension

Liability Liability Payroll Payroll Liability
Date (a) (b) (c) (d) (e)

June 30, 2015 5.16303% 623,937,000$   377,297,007$   165.37            70.88              

June 30, 2016 5.19364% 653,690,000 385,231,385 169.69            70.68              

June 30, 2017 5.12286% 717,924,000 387,364,218 185.34            68.28

*Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be included as they become available.

 The amounts presented have a measurement date of the prior fiscal year-end.

School Board Nonprofessional

School Board Professional (Teacher)

City
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
NOTES TO VRS REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

Changes of benefit terms – There have been no actuarially material changes to the System benefit provisions since the prior 
actuarial valuation. The 2014 valuation includes Hybrid Retirement Plan members for the first time.  The hybrid plan applies to
most new employees hired on or after January 1, 2014 and not covered by enhanced hazardous duty benefits.  Because this is a 
fairly new benefit and the number of participants was relatively small, the impact on the liabilities as the measurement date of June 
30, 2016 are not material. 

Changes of assumptions – The following changes in actuarial assumptions were made effective June 30, 2013 based on the most 
recent experience study of the System for the four- year period ending June 30, 2012: 

Largest 10 – Non-LEOS: 
- Update mortality table 
- Decrease in rates of service retirement 
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement 
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year 

Largest 10 –LEOS: 
- Update mortality table 
- Decrease in male rates of disability 

All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-LEOS: 
- Update mortality table 
- Decrease in rates of service retirement 
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement 
- Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year 

All Others (Non 10 Largest) – LEOS: 
- Update mortality table 
- Adjustments to rates of service retirement for females 
- Increase in rates of withdrawal 
- Decrease in male and female rates of disability 
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS  

Total OPEB Fiduciary Net Net OPEB
Liability   Position  Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at June 30, 2016 71,666,051$        24,060,265$        47,605,786$        
Changes for the Year:

Service Cost 1,529,672            -                           1,529,672            
Interest 4,928,893            -                           4,928,893            
Benefit payments (5,661,710)           (5,661,710)           -                           
Employer Contributions -                           5,661,710            (5,661,710)           
Net Investment Income -                           3,098,316            (3,098,316)           
Administrative Expense -                           (24,357)                24,357                 
Net Changes 796,855$             3,073,959            (2,277,104)           

Balances at June 30, 2017 72,462,906$       27,134,224$       45,328,682$        

Fiduciary Net Position as a % of Total OPEB Liability 37.45%
Covered Payroll 426,884,300$      
Net OPEB Liability as a % of Covered Payroll 10.62%

School Board
Increase (Decrease)

* Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. The first year for this presentation is 2017; additional years will 
be included as they become available.  
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CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF OPEB ANNUAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

Fiscal Year Actuarially Actual Contribution Contribution
Ending Determined Employer Deficiency Covered as a Percent of
June 30 Contributions Contribution 1 (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2009 8,932,300$             8,932,300$             -$                        280,202,000$         3.19%
2010 8,854,100$             8,854,100$             -$                        285,407,400$         3.10%
2011 8,854,100$             8,854,100$             -$                        285,407,400$         3.10%
2012 8,714,600$             8,714,600$             -$                        283,026,400$         3.08%
2013 8,871,000$             8,871,000$             -$                        283,026,400$         3.13%
2014 7,101,900$             7,101,900$             -$                        290,297,000$         2.45%
2015 7,259,200$             7,259,200$             -$                        290,297,000$         2.50%
2016 5,186,400$             5,998,200$             (811,800)$               306,050,000$         1.96%
2017 5,296,700$             6,074,700$             (778,000)$               306,050,000$         1.98%

Fiscal Year Actuarially Actual Contribution Contribution
Ending Determined Employer Deficiency Covered as a Percent of
June 30 Contributions Contribution 1 (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2009 8,829,800$             8,829,800$             -$                        440,959,600$         2.00%
2010 8,881,900$             8,881,900$             -$                        432,476,800$         2.05%
2011 8,881,900$             8,881,900$             -$                        432,476,800$         2.05%
2012 7,721,500$             7,721,500$             -$                        409,662,700$         1.88%
2013 7,858,100$             7,858,100$             -$                        409,662,700$         1.92%
2014 5,700,900$             5,700,900$             -$                        421,065,100$         1.35%
2015 5,832,200$             5,832,200$             -$                        421,065,100$         1.39%
2016 4,462,800$             5,748,000$             (1,285,200)$            426,884,300$         1.35%
2017 4,542,400$             5,661,700$             (1,119,300)$            426,884,300$         1.33%

Valuation Timing

Actuarial Cost Method Project unit credit
Amortization Method Level dollar
Amortization Period 29 years yemaining as of January 1, 2017
Asset Valuation Method 5-year asset smoothing
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases

Payroll Growth None Assumed
Discount Rate 7.50%
Retirement Age VRS Plan 1: 65 and VRS Plans 2/Hybrid: Normal social security retirement age
Mortality

1 Employer contributions include trust contributions and explicit subsidy payments provided directly to retirees from the City and School Board
own resources. They also include estimated implicit subsidy payments for retirees from the City and School Board own resources

Actuarial valuations for OPEB funding purposes are performed annually as of January 1. The
most recent valuation was performed as of January 1, 2016.

City

School Board

Based on the RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table for Males or Females, as appropriate, with
adjustments for mortality improvements based on Scale AA.

General Employees with 1 to 19 years of service, the increases range from 5.35% to 3.65% and
for those with 20 or more years of service the increase is 3.50%. Law Officers with 1 to 19 years
of service, the increases range from 4.75% to 4.00% and for those with 20 or more years of
service the increase is 3.50%
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December __, 2017 
 
City of Virginia Beach, Virginia  
2401 Courthouse Drive 
Virginia Beach, Virginia 23456 

 
City of Virginia Beach, Virginia 

 
$71,530,000 General Obligation Public Improvement Refunding Bonds 

Series 2017A 
 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as bond counsel to the City of Virginia Beach, Virginia (the 
“City”) in connection with the issuance by the City of its $71,530,000 General Obligation Public 
Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2017A (the “Bonds”), dated December 28, 2017. We 
have examined the applicable law and certified copies of such proceedings and other papers, 
including a Resolution adopted by the City Council on December 12, 2017 (the “Bond 
Resolution”), as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion.  

The Bonds recite that they are authorized and issued pursuant to the Bond 
Resolution, the City Charter (Chapter 147, Acts of Assembly of 1962, as amended) and the 
Public Finance Act of 1991 (Chapter 26, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended). The 
proceeds of the Bonds are being used to refund all or a portion of certain previously issued 
general obligation bonds of the City (the “Refunded Bonds”), and may also be used to pay 
issuance costs of the Bonds. 

 
Without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation, we have 

also relied on (a) computations provided to Samuel Klein and Company, Certified Public 
Accountants the mathematical accuracy of which has been verified by them, relating to the yield 
of investments in the escrow fund established in connection with the refunding of the Refunded 
Bonds, the sufficiency of such investments to pay when due the principal of, premium and 
interest on the Refunded Bonds and the yield on the Bonds and (b) certifications by 
representatives of the City and other public officials furnished to us as to certain facts relevant to 
both our opinion and requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”), including (i) the proceedings authorizing the issuance of the Bonds and the Refunded 
Bonds, (ii) the use, investment and expenditure of the proceeds of the  Bonds and Refunded 
Bonds and (iii) the projects financed by the proceeds of the Bonds and the Refunded Bonds. 
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City of Virginia Beach, Virginia 
December __, 2017 
Page 2 
 

K U T A K  R O C K  L L P  

Based upon the foregoing, we are of the opinion that, under existing law: 

(1) The City is a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the 
“Commonwealth”), and has all necessary power and authority to enter into and perform its 
obligations under the Bond Resolution and the Bonds. 

(2) The Bonds have been duly authorized and issued in accordance with the 
Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth, including the City Charter and the Public 
Finance Act of 1991, and constitute valid and legally binding general obligations of the City, for 
the payment of which the City's full faith and credit have been irrevocably pledged. The City is 
authorized and required, unless other funds are lawfully available and appropriated for timely 
payment of the Bonds, to levy and collect annually on all locally taxable property in the City an 
ad valorem tax over and above all the taxes authorized or limited by law, and without limitation 
as to rate or amount, sufficient to pay the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest 
on the Bonds when due. 

(3) All proceedings for the issuance of the Bonds have been held and 
adopted in due time, form and manner as required by the laws of the Commonwealth. 

(4) Interest on the Bonds (including any original issue discount properly 
allocable to an owner thereof) is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes 
and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed 
on individuals and corporations; however, such interest is taken into account in determining 
adjusted current earnings for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on 
certain corporations. The opinion set forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the condition 
that the City comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 
that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest thereon be, 
or continue to be, excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The City has 
covenanted to comply with all such requirements. Failure to comply with certain of such 
requirements could cause interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal 
income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds.  

(5) Interest on the Bonds is exempt from income taxation by the 
Commonwealth. 

The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds are 
limited by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium and other similar laws affecting 
creditors' rights generally, heretofore or hereafter enacted, and by equitable principles, whether 
considered at law or in equity. 

Our services as bond counsel to the City have been limited to a review of the 
legal proceedings required for the authorization of the Bonds and to rendering the opinions set 
forth above. We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the 
Official Statement dated December 19, 2017 relating to the Bonds. Further, we express no 
opinion regarding tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds other than as expressly set 
forth herein. 
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December __, 2017 
Page 3 
 

K U T A K  R O C K  L L P  

Our opinion is based upon statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions in 
effect on the date hereof.  We undertake no obligation to update this opinion to reflect any facts 
or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention, or any changes in law that may 
hereafter occur. 

      Very truly yours, 
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FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

 This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT dated as of December __, 2017 (the 
“Disclosure Agreement”), is executed and delivered by the City of Virginia Beach, Virginia (the “City”), 
in connection with the issuance by the City of its $71,530,000 General Obligation Public Improvement 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2017A (collectively, the “Bonds”).  The City hereby covenants and agrees as 
follows: 
 
 Section 1.  Purpose.  This Disclosure Agreement is being executed and delivered by the City for 
the benefit of the holders of the Bonds and in order to assist the purchasers of the Bonds in complying 
with the provisions of Section (b)(5)(i) of Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”) promulgated by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) by providing certain annual financial information and  event notices 
required by the Rule (collectively, “Continuing Disclosure”). 
 
 Section 2.  Annual Disclosure.  
 
  (a)  The City shall provide annually certain financial information and operating data 
in accordance with the provisions of Section (b)(5)(i) of the Rule as follows: 
 
  (i) audited financial statements of the City, prepared in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles; and 
 
  (ii) the operating data with respect to the City of the type described in the subsection of 

Section Five of the City’s Official Statement dated December 19, 2017, entitled “Operating 
Data.” 

 
If the financial statements filed pursuant to Section 2(a)(i) are not audited, the City shall file such 
statements as audited when available. 
 
  (b) The City shall provide annually the financial information and operating data 
described in subsection (a) above (collectively, the “Annual Disclosure”) within 180 days after the end of 
the City’s fiscal year, commencing with the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, to the Municipal 
Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”) utilizing its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) 
System or such other system designated by the MSRB. 
 
  (c) Any Annual Disclosure may be included by specific reference to other 
documents previously provided to the MSRB or filed with the SEC; provided, that any final official 
statement incorporated by reference must be available from the MSRB. 
 
  (d) The City shall provide in a timely manner to the MSRB notice specifying any 
failure of the City to provide the Annual Disclosure by the date specified. 
 
 Section 3.  Event Disclosure.  The City shall provide in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) 
business days after the occurrence of the event to the MSRB through the EMMA system notice of the 
occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds: 
 
  (a)  principal and interest payment delinquencies; 
  (b) non-payment related defaults, if material; 
  (c)  unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 
  (d)  unscheduled draws on credit enhancement reflecting financial difficulties; 
  (e)  substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 
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  (f)  adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed 
or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material 
notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the 
tax status of the Bonds; 
  (g)  modifications to rights of Bond holders, if material; 
  (h)  bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 
  (i)  defeasances; 

(j)  release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 
material;  

  (k)  rating changes; 
  (l) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City; 

Note to paragraph (l):  For the purposes of the event identified in paragraph (l), the event is considered to 
occur when any of the following occur:  The appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for an obligated person in 
proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or 
governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the obligated person, or if such 
jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the 
supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, 
arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the 
assets or business of the obligated person. 
  (m) the consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the City or 
sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than in the ordinary course of business, the 
entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement 
relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 
  (n) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 
trustee, if material. 
 
 Section 4. Termination.  The obligations of the City will terminate upon the redemption, 
defeasance (within the meaning of the Rule) or payment in full of all the Bonds. 
 
 Section 5.  Amendment.  The City may modify its obligations hereunder without the consent of 
Bondholders, provided that this Disclosure Agreement as so modified complies with the Rule as it exists 
at the time of modification. The City shall within a reasonable time thereafter send to the MSRB a 
description of such modification(s). 
 
 Section 6.  Defaults.  
 
  (a)  If the City fails to comply with any covenant or obligation regarding Continuing 
Disclosure specified in this Disclosure Agreement, any holder (within the meaning of the Rule) of Bonds 
then outstanding may, by notice to the City, proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the 
holders by an action for specific performance of the City’s covenant to provide the Continuing 
Disclosure. 
 
  (b)  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any failure of the City to 
comply with any obligation regarding Continuing Disclosure specified in this Disclosure Agreement (i) 
shall not be deemed to constitute an event of default under the Bonds or the resolution providing for the 
issuance of the Bonds and (ii) shall not give rise to any right or remedy other than that described in 
Section 6(a) above. 
 
 Section 7.  Additional Disclosure.  The City may from time to time disclose certain information 
and data in addition to the Continuing Disclosure. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the 
City shall not incur any obligation to continue to provide, or to update, such additional information or 
data. 
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 Section 8.  Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several counterparts 
each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
 Section 9.  Governing Law.  This Disclosure Agreement shall be construed and enforced in 
accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
 
     CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 
 
 
 
     By         
      City Manager,  

City of Virginia Beach, Virginia 
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INFORMATION REGARDING 
THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY 

AND ITS BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM 
 

 The description which follows of the procedures and recordkeeping with respect to beneficial 
ownership interests in the Bonds, payments of principal of,  premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to 
The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), its nominee, Participants or Beneficial 
Owners (each as hereinafter defined), confirmation and transfer of beneficial ownership interests in the 
Bonds and other bond-related transactions by and between DTC, Participants and Beneficial Owners is 
based solely on information furnished by DTC. 
 
 The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository 
for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered bonds and notes registered in the name of 
Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC.  One fully-registered certificate for the Bonds will be issued for each maturity as 
set forth on the cover page of this Official Statement, each in the aggregate principal amount of such 
maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 
 

 DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under 
the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking 
Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New 
York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 
17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million 
issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market 
instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  
DTC also facilitates the post-trade-settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities 
transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges 
between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities 
certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, 
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company 
for DTC National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which 
are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the 
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  DTC has a Standard & 
Poor’s rating of AA+.  The DTC rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 
purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of 
the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the 
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on 
behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership 
interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration 
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in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership.  
DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the 
identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be 
the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account 
of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Bonds within an issue are being 
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in 
such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under 
its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to issuers of obligations such as the Bonds as soon as 
possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to 
those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a 
listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee 
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 
Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City, 
on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by 
Direct and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and 
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or 
registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Direct or Indirect Participant and not of 
DTC or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to 
time.  Payment of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City, disbursement of such payments to 
Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the 
Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Bonds at 
any time by giving reasonable notice to the City.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor 
securities depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 
from sources that the City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy 
thereof. 

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a 
successor securities depository).  In that event, either a successor securities depository will be selected by 
the City or Bond certificates will be prepared, executed and delivered as set forth in the Indenture of Trust.  

 
In the event of insolvency of DTC, if DTC has insufficient securities in its custody (e.g., due to 

theft or loss) to satisfy the claims of its Direct Participants with respect to deposited securities and is 
unable by application of (i) cash deposits and securities pledged to DTC to protect DTC against losses 
and liabilities, (ii) the proceeds of insurance maintained by DTC and/or its Direct Participants or Indirect 
Participants, or (iii) other resources, to obtain securities necessary to eliminate the insufficiency, no 
assurances can be given that Direct Participants will be able to obtain all of their deposited securities. 
 
 THE CITY HAS NO RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO THE DIRECT OR INDIRECT 
PARTICIPANTS OR THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS WITH RESPECT TO (A) THE ACCURACY OF 
ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT; (B) 
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THE PAYMENT BY ANY DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO 
ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER IN RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, AND 
INTEREST ON THE BONDS; (C) THE DELIVERY OR TIMELINESS OF DELIVERY BY ANY 
DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY NOTICE TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER THAT 
IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE RESOLUTION TO BE GIVEN TO 
BONDHOLDERS; OR (D) ANY OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC, OR ITS NOMINEE, CEDE & 
CO., AS BONDHOLDER, INCLUDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ANY ACTION TAKEN 
PURSUANT TO AN OMNIBUS PROXY. 
 
 So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references in 
this Official Statement to the Owners of the Bonds shall mean Cede & Co. and shall not mean the 
Beneficial Owners, and Cede & Co. will be treated as the only holder of Bonds for all purposes under the 
Resolution. 

 The City may enter into amendments to the agreement with DTC or successor agreements with a 
successor securities depository relating to the book-entry system to be maintained with respect to the 
Bonds without the consent of Beneficial Owners or Bondholders. 
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DESCRIPTION OF REFUNDED BONDS 

BASE CUSIP NUMBER: 927734 
 
 

 
Bonds 

Maturity 
Date 

CUSIP 
Suffix

Interest 
Rate 

Par 
Amount 

Call 
Date 

Call 
Price 

General Obligation Public 6/1/2019* WB5 5.000% $310,000 N/A N/A 
Improvement Bonds, 6/1/2020* WC3 2.500 320,000 N/A N/A 
Series 2011A 6/1/2021* WD1 2.600 330,000 N/A N/A 
 6/1/2022 WE9 2.750 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000%
 6/1/2023 WF6 3.000 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
 6/1/2024 WG4 3.250 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
 6/1/2025 WH2 3.400 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
 6/1/2026 WJ8 4.000 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
 6/1/2027 WK5 4.500 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
 6/1/2028 WL3 4.500 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
 6/1/2029 WM1 5.000 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
 6/1/2030 WN9 5.000 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
 6/1/2031 WP4 4.000 4,500,000 6/1/2021 100.000
    $45,960,000   
       
General Obligation Public 4/1/2023 XA6 5.000% $3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000%
Improvement Bonds, 4/1/2024 XB4 5.000 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
Series 2012A 4/1/2025 XC2 5.000 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
 4/1/2026 XD0 5.000 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
 4/1/2027 XE8 4.000 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
 4/1/2028 XF5 4.000 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
 4/1/2029 XG3 4.000 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
 4/1/2030 XH1 4.500 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
 4/1/2031 XJ7 4.500 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
 4/1/2032 XK4 4.500 3,250,000 4/1/2022 100.000
    $32,500,000   
       
       

 

                                                 
*Partial refunding.  The 2019, 2020 and 2021 maturities of the 2011A Bonds were each issued in the original 
principal amount of $4,500,000.  Such partially refunded maturities have been assigned new CUSIP suffixes:  2019 
(H63), 2020 (H71) and 2021 (H89).  The unrefunded portion of each such maturity has been assigned the following 
new CUSIP suffixes:  $4,190,000 2019 (H97), $4,180,000 2020 (J20) and $4,170,000 2021 (J38). 
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